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Page(s)  AGENDA Item Type  
  Any item on the agenda may result in Board Action   
     
 A. CALL TO ORDER – President Zendle, MD   
       Roll Call   
  ____Director Wortham, DrPH____Director Hazen_____Director Matthews 

_____Vice-President/Secretary Rogers, RN ______President Zendle, MD 
  

     
 B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
     

1-3 C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA Action  
     
 D. PUBLIC COMMENT   
  At this time, comments from the audience may be made on 

items not listed on the agenda that are of public interest and 
within the subject-matter jurisdiction of the District.  The 
Board has a policy of limiting speakers to no more than 
three minutes.  The Board cannot take action on items not 
listed on the agenda.  Public input may be offered on agenda 
items when they come up for discussion and/or action. 

  

     
 E. CONSENT AGENDA Action  
  All Consent Agenda item(s) listed below are considered to be 

routine by the Board of Directors and will be enacted by one 
motion.  There will be no separate discussion of items unless 
a Board member so requests, in which event the item(s) will 
be considered following approval of the Consent Agenda. 

  

  1.  BOARD MINUTES    
4-10 

 
11-23 

        a. Special Meeting of the Board of Directors – Public 
Forum - September 25, 2018 

       b. Board of Directors Meeting - September 25, 2018 

  

  2.  FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION   
24-46         a. Approval of September 2018 Financial Statements - 

F&A Approved October 9, 2018 
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47-73 

 
 

74-102 
 

103-117 

F. RESOURCES AND PHILANTHROPY 
1. Consideration to Approve Joslyn Center:  

Joslyn Wellness Senior Behavioral Health Services  
Program Grant - $112,050 

2. Consideration to Approve Desert Arc: Desert  
Arc Healthcare Program Grant - $164,738 

3. Consideration to Approve Ready Set Swim Grant to the 
Desert Healthcare Foundation - $136,000 

 
Action 

 
 

Action 
 

Action 

 

     
 
 
 

118-246 

G. NEW PROVIDERS, FACILITIES, PROGRAMS, AND  
SERVICES AD HOC COMMITTEE –  
Chair/Treasurer Mark Matthews and President Les Zendle 

1. Desert Regional Medical Center Appraisal Report – 
Colin McDermott, Managing Director, VMG Health 

 
 
 

Information & 
Discussion 

 

     
 
 

247-250 

H. DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT CEO REPORT  
– Chris Christensen, Interim CEO 

1. Priorities-Milestones-Progress Measures Update 

 
 

Information  

 

     
 I. DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER CEO REPORT  

– Michele Finney, CEO 
Information  

     
 J. DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER GOVERNING 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT –  
President Les Zendle, MD and Vice-President/Secretary 
Carole Rogers, RN 

Information 
 
 

 

 

     
 
 
 

251-254 
255-256 

 
257-266 

 
267-309 
310-327 
328-349 

 

K. 1.  FINANCE, ADMINISTRATION, REAL ESTATE AND 
LEGAL COMMITTEE – Chair/Director Mark Matthews 
and Director Jennifer Wortham, DrPH 
a. Minutes of September 11, 2018  
b. CFO Report & Las Palmas Leasing Update 
c. FY 2018 Audit Reports  

• Management Letter, Communication Letter, 
Internal Controls Report 

• Desert Healthcare District Audit Report 

• Retirement Protection Plan Audit Report 
       d.  LPMP Lease Extension – Suite 2W 203 – Desert 

Family Medical 

 
 
 
 
 

Action 
 
 
 
 

Action 
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350-352 
353 

354-355 

       e.  LPMP Lease Addendums – Dr. Awad 
 f.   Proposed Vacation Cash Out Option 
 g.  Proposed District & Foundation Alternative Workweek  

Action 
Action 
Action 

     
 
 
 

356-361 
 

362-375 

 2.  HOSPITAL GOVERNANCE AND OVERSIGHT 
COMMITTEE – Chair/Vice-President Carole Rogers, RN 
and President Les Zendle, MD  
a. Minutes of September 20, 2018  
b.  2018 Patient Safety and Quality Initiatives 
c.  Hospital Safety and Compliance Inspections 

 
 
 

Information 
Information 
Information 

 

     
  4.  BOARD AND STAFF COMMUNICATIONS AD HOC  

COMMITTEE – Chair/Director Hazen and Director Wortham 
  

     
 L. NEW BUSINESS    
     
 M. OLD BUSINESS   
     
 

376-377 
N. LEGAL COMMENTS & REPORT 

1. AB 2329 - Directors Compensation and Ribakoff Case 
on Public Comments 

 
Information  

 

     
 

378-381 
O. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

1. CV Link Q3 2018 Progress Report  
 

Information 
 

     
 
 

382-417 
 
 

P. DIRECTORS’ COMMENTS, REPORTS, & STAFF 
DIRECTION AND GUIDANCE 

1. Association of California Healthcare Districts (ACHD) 
66th Annual Meeting – President Zendle, MD  

2. California Special District Association (CSDA) Annual 
Conference – Carole Rogers, RN 

 
 

Information 
 

Information 

 

     
  Q. ADJOURNMENT    
     
  If you have any disability which would require accommodation to 

enable you to participate in this meeting, please email Andrea S. 
Hayles, Special Assistant to the CEO and Board Relations Officer, 
at ahayles@dhcd.org or call (760) 323-6110 at least 24 hours prior 
to the meeting. 

  

mailto:ahayles@dhcd.org


 
 

DESERT  HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
September 25, 2018 

Page 1 of 6 
Desert Healthcare District Meeting Minutes 

September 25, 2018 

 
Directors Present District Staff Present Absent 

President Zendle, MD  
Vice-President/Secretary Carole Rogers, RN 
Treasurer Mark Matthews  
Director Kay Hazen  
Director Jennifer Wortham, DrPH 
 
 

Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, CFO 
Lisa Houston, COO 
Donna Craig, Senior Program Officer 
Alejandro Espinoza, Program Officer and 
Outreach Director 
Will Dean, Communications and 
Marketing Director 
Stephen Huyck, Accounting Manager 
Meghan Kane, Community Health 
Analyst  
Annalisa Wurm, Health Policy Analyst 
Andrea S. Hayles, Clerk of the Board 
 
Legal Counsel 
Jeff Scott 

Vanessa Smith, 
Health Educator 

AGENDA ITEMS    DISCUSSION                   ACTION  

A.  Call to Order 
       

 
Roll Call 

 

President Zendle called the meeting 
to order at 4:01 p.m. 
 
The Clerk of the Board called the roll 
with all Directors present except for 
Director Matthews.  Director 
Matthews arrived at 4:07 p.m. 

 

C.  Approval of Agenda President Zendle asked for a motion 
to approve the agenda. 

#18-98 MOTION WAS MADE by 
President Zendle and seconded by 
Vice-President Rogers to approve 
the agenda. 
Motion passed unanimously.   

D.  Public Comment None  

E.   Convene to Closed Session 
of the Desert Healthcare 
District Board of Directors 

       REPORT INVOLVING 
TRADE SECERTS pursuant 
to Health & Safety Code 
32106 – concerning 
proposed new facilities, 
programs, and services.  
(Discussion only, no action 
will be taken).  Estimated 
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dated of public disclosure: 
March 2019. 

F.    Reconvene to Open 
Session of the Desert 
Healthcare District Board 
of Directors  

  

G.   Report After Closed 
Session  

The Board in closed session 
discussed potential providers, 
facilities, programs, and services in 
the context of an expanded District 
and took no action. 

 

H.  Public Forum 
1. Desert Healthcare 

District Education 
Forum on 
Expansion in the 
Eastern Coachella 
Valley 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, gave 
a presentation on Measure BB – the 
proposed expansion outlining the 
District’s mission and vision, grant 
funding, the three-year strategic plan 
and priorities, healthcare disparities, 
significant issues affecting the 
Coachella Valley, the 
annexation/expansion timeline, and 
a map of the proposed area. 
 
Public Comments 
Steve Brown, City Councilmember, 
City Coachella, explained that the 
City of Coachella appreciates the 
work of the Board to move the 
Measure to the ballot. The city will 
provide a resolution of support for 
the measure. Linda Evans, Mayor, 
City of La Quinta also confirmed the 
city will provide a resolution of 
support.  
 
Leticia Delara, CEO, Regional Access 
Project (RAP) Foundation, explained 
that RAP is appreciative of the Board, 
Staff, and the District and described 
the letter of support RAP Foundation 
provided during the process, and 
once again thanked the Board.  
 

 

Page 5 of 417



 
 

DESERT  HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
September 25, 2018 

Page 3 of 6 
Desert Healthcare District Meeting Minutes 

September 25, 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Michele Finney, CEO, Desert 
Regional Medical Center, Desert Care 
Network, provided a letter of 
support to the District.  Mrs. Finney 
read the letter indicating Tenet’s 
support of the expansion early on to 
connect residents to programs and 
services in the expanded boundaries. 
(See attached letter of support). 
 
Councilmember Shelley Kaplan 
inquired on the population in the 
current district versus the proposed 
expanded area. Chris Christensen, 
Interim CEO, explained that the 
current boundary population is 
200,000 and the expanded boundary 
population would be 240,000 – 1,760 
square miles.  
 
Ezra Kaufman, District Resident, 
inquired on the District’s Fact Sheet 
insert in the Strategic Plan’s 2017-
2020 brochure that states the 
residents voted to lease to the 
hospital to for-profit Tenet 
Healthcare.  Jeff Scott, Legal Counsel, 
explained that the District residents 
did not vote to lease the hospital to 
Tenet, it was determined that the 
language is incorrect, and Mr. 
Christensen stated that Staff would 
make the appropriate correction.  
Mr. Kaufman asked Mr. Christensen 
to elaborate on the history and the 
extent of the robust lease 
compliance process with Tenet to 
ensure transparency for the public. 
President Zendle explained that the 
Tenet lease is not the current topic 
of the public forum and Mr. Kaufman 
is welcome to inquire during the 6 
p.m. Board of Directors meeting.  
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Mr. Kaufman explained that he 
believes the expansion is about 
capturing 100% of parcels to pay for 
the fact that the district only has 
approximately $33M at its disposal 
to rebuild facilities.  Further, Mr. 
Kaufman explained that according to 
the Riverside County Assessor, the 
District would raise $9M at $100 per 
parcel tax in the expanded area.  The 
current boundaries have the same 
valuation with $100 per parcel tax, 
which equates to $18M per year. If 
the District is not expanded the 
parcel tax revenue is approx. $9M 
per year. Mr. Kaufman explained 
that the District should be 
researching lease revenue to pay for 
the expansion and that no lease 
revenues for expansion funding 
should be used.   
 
Mr. Christensen explained that 
Measure BB does not have a funding 
mechanism, and although all 
Coachella Valley residents pay the 
same property tax, there will be no 
allocation of the expanded area’s 
residents property taxes 
redistributed to the District. The 
funding is from the current District 
resident’s property taxes, and the 
District and Foundation has 
committed to funding $300k per 
year to the expansion. 
 
Vice-President Rogers described her 
conversation with Jan Pye, 
Councilmember, Desert Hot Springs, 
expressing her desire for assurance 
that taxpayer funding from the west 
is not spent on programs in the east. 
Vice-President Rogers explained the 
discussion and that the Board would 
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2. Appointment 
Process for the 
Potential of 2 New 
Directors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

be diligent on spending similar to 
current funding to organizations 
such as Martha’s Village and 
Coachella Valley Rescue Mission. 
Further, Vice-President Rogers 
confirmed to Councilmember Pye 
and members of the public that no 
allocation of West Valley resident’s 
property taxes would be 
redistributed to the newly expanded 
area if voters pass the measure. 
 
Leticia Delara, CEO, Regional Access 
Project (RAP) Foundation asked if the 
measure passes what steps would 
the Board take to gain input and 
understand the community needs 
and how it affects the Strategic Plan.  
President Zendle explained that Mr. 
Christensen, Interim CEO, will 
provide details on the timeline for 
expanding the Board. 
 
Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, 
described the new Board member 
appointment process and timeline 
that would commence with a 
process of appointment in January 
2019.  Mr. Christensen also detailed 
the terms of the resolution to 
increase the number of Board 
members effective on the date of 
and subject to any conditions 
specified in the resolution. 
 
Public Comments 
Kimberly Barranza, District 
Representative, Assemblymember 
Eduardo Garcia’s Office, expressed 
her gratitude and that the 
Assemblymember looks forward to 
the expansion. 
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3. Zone Mapping 
Process for the 
Potential New 
District Boundaries 
– 7 Zones 

 

Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, 
explained the most recent rezoning 
process of the current boundaries, 
and the timeline (March 2019 – 
October 2019) and process to 
increase the zones from 5 to 7 in the 
proposed expanded area.  
 
President Zendle explained that the 
Board meetings would be moved to 
a central location in the east possibly 
at UCR Palm Desert, which is one 
way that the Board will ensure 
community input and involvement in 
the monthly meetings.  
 
President Zendle described the two 
years and four-year terms of the 
potentially new Board members – a 
complex process the Board will 
undertake. 

F.  Adjournment President Zendle adjourned the 
meeting at 5:52 p.m.  

Audio recording available on the 
website at 
http://dhcd.org/Agenda-Board-of-
Directors 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST: _____________________________________________________________ 
  Carole Rogers, Vice-President/Secretary 
  Desert Healthcare District Board of Directors 
 
Minutes respectfully submitted by Andrea S. Hayles, Clerk of the Board 
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Directors Present District Staff Present Absent 

President Zendle, MD  
Vice-President/Secretary Carole Rogers, RN 
Treasurer Mark Matthews  
Director Kay Hazen 
Director Jennifer Wortham, DrPH 
 
 

Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, CFO 
Lisa Houston, COO 
Donna Craig, Senior Program Officer 
Alejandro Espinoza, Program Officer and 
Outreach Director 
Will Dean, Communications and 
Marketing Director 
Andrea S. Hayles, Clerk of the Board 
 
Legal Counsel 
Jeff Scott 
 

 

AGENDA ITEMS    DISCUSSION                   ACTION  

A.  Call to Order 
       

 
Roll Call 

 

President Zendle called the meeting 
to order at 6:01 p.m. 
 
The Clerk of the Board called the 
roll with all Directors present. 

 

B.  Pledge of Allegiance President Zendle asked Director 
Matthews to lead the pledge of 
allegiance. 
 
President Zendle introduced the 
two candidates for zones 4 – 
Cathedral City Councilman Kaplan 
and Community Health Worker 
Evett Perezgil.  President Zendle 
also explained that Vice-President 
Rogers’ name will not appear on 
the ballot (no contest) as the 
elected incumbent.  

 

C.  Approval of Agenda President Zendle asked for a 
motion to approve the agenda. 
 

#18-99 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Matthews and seconded 
by Vice-President Rogers to 
approve the agenda.  
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 5 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, Director Hazen, and 
Director Wortham 
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – 0 
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ABSTAIN – 0 

D.  Public Comment No public comment. 
 

 

E.  Consent Agenda 
E.1.  Board Minutes 
         a.  Special Meeting of the 

Board of Directors – 
Closed Session – July 24, 
2018 

         b.  Special Meeting of the 
Board Study Session  

       c.  Board of Directors 
Meeting – July 24, 2018 

 
E.2.  a.  Approval of July and 

August 2018 Financial 
Statements F&A 
Approved September 
11, 2018 

President Zendle pulled item E.1.c. 
– the minutes of the July 24, 2018 
Board of Directors meeting for a 
correction to the Governing Board 
of Directors’ Report.  
 
 

#19-01 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Vice-President Rogers and 
seconded by Director Matthews to 
pull item E.1.c. – the July 24, 2018 
Board of Directors Minutes from 
the Consent Agenda. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 5 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, Director Hazen, and 
Director Wortham 
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – 0 
ABSTAIN – 0 
 
#19-02 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Wortham and seconded by 
Vice-President Rogers to approve 
the changes to the Consent Agenda. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 5 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, Director Hazen, and 
Director Wortham 
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – 0 
ABSTAIN – 0 

F.  Resources and Philanthropy 
 

1. Progress and Final 
Reports on Current 
Grants  

 
 
 
 

2. Proposed New Grant 
Structure 

 
 
 

 
 
Donna Craig, Senior Program 
Officer, described the Progress and 
Final Reports of the current 
proactive grant structure that 
includes Letters of Interest and 
Grant Applications. 
 
Lisa Houston, CFO, explained the 
proposed new grant structure as it 
relates to the three-year Strategic 
Plan. The new structure includes 
moving to a quarterly grant cycle, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
#19-03 MOTION WAS MADE by 
President Zendle and seconded by 
Vice-President Rogers to approve 
the proposed new grant structure 
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increased proactive grants driven 
by initiatives and four new 
community focus health areas, AB 
2019 consideration, and evolving 
the policies to reflect the new grant 
structure.  Mrs. Houston elaborated 
on the scoring structure to remove 
any potential bias such as 
alignment with the strategic plan, 
capacity, engagement with Board 
members and other platforms 
through the RFP process with a 
common structure and strategy 
that will consist of two Board 
members and community 
members.   
 
Vice-President Rogers expressed 
her objections to the Board not 
allowing community members to 
participate in the grant structure 
process. Mrs. Rogers explained the 
Community Advisory Committee at 
her former board position in 
northern California as a form of 
training and mentoring and 
proposes the inclusion of five 
community members and five 
community members to the 
Finance, Administration, Real 
Estate, and Legal Committee (F&A). 
 
Director Matthews explained the 
current and prior makeup of the 
community members of the F&A 
Committee, stating that he has no 
issue appointing additional 
community members.  
 
Director Hazen explained the 
advantages and disadvantages of 
the new structure – guiding future 
accomplishments and proactive 
community engagement. Further, 

and revisit in 6 months for possible 
modifications. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 4 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, and Director Hazen  
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 
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3. Consideration to 
Approve Grant #974 
– Health Assessment 
and Research for 
Communities 
(HARC): 2019 
Coachella Valley 
Community Health 
Survey - $399,979 
with contingencies 
over a maximum of 
three (3) years to 
cover the costs of 
developing the 
triennial survey. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Director Hazen explained that the 
scoring structure is different than in 
the past and possibly requires a 
broader view of the scoring that 
would be advantageous to include 
community input for gaining 
insight; reviewing the options and 
discussing assignments for point 
value and criteria.  Director Hazen 
stated that the structure is a 
complex system and she is 
concerned about the Staff capacity 
and execution due to the lengthy 
process.   
 
Director Wortham exited the 
meeting at 6:27 p.m. 
 
Donna Craig, Senior Program 
Officer, described the Health 
Assessment and Research for 
Communities (HARC) application 
for $399,979 for three years to 
cover the costs of the Community 
Health Monitor that the District has 
supported in the past with a 
difference in funding for this grant 
that includes five contingencies. 
 
Janet Collins, board president, 
HARC, explained that as the prior 
Chronic Disease Director, Center or 
Disease Control and Prevention 
(CDC), she is amazed by the local 
data in the Valley to help, design, 
focus, and identify at-risk 
populations.  The partnership will 
continue to grow over time with 
the interaction between the District 
and HARC. 
 
Karen Borja, board member, HARC, 
detailed her prior work with HARC 
data such as the revisions to the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
#19-04 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Wortham and seconded by 
Director Matthews to approve 
Grant #974 – Health Assessment 
and Research for Communities 
(HARC): 2019 Coachella Valley 
Community Health Survey 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 4 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, Director Hazen, and  
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 
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4. Ready Set Swim to 
Desert Recreation 
District Update 

 
 

 

North Shores Sunline Transit 
Agency route to assist with 
transportation needs in the east 
valley.  Ms. Borja also explained the 
various requests from students for 
health data that she helps in 
connecting to HARC’s annual 
report. 
 
Teresa Hodgkins, board treasurer, 
HARC, explained the vital support 
of the District for the survey to 
point to the needs of the 
community. 
 
Bill Ballas, board member, HARC, 
and CEO of Help to Hope Clinics, 
commended the District for 
investing in the project that will 
produce greater results in the 
future as outlined in the proposed 
proposal.  
 
Brett Klein, Clinics Marketing 
Specialist, Eisenhower Medical 
Center, explained that Eisenhower 
is in favor of the grant and the data.  
Mr. Klein has worked with HARC 
and other agencies over the years 
whose data has helped train and 
assist physicians in programs and 
improve the communities 
understanding of the need based 
on the data.  
 
Lisa Houston, COO, described the 
preliminary aspects of working with 
Desert Recreation District to take 
possession of the Ready Set Swim 
grant program; however, due to the 
30% indirect costs that are above 
the government standard of 
operating costs, Staff requests not 
moving forward and suspending 
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the program for the 2017-2018 
year.  Mrs. Houston requests board 
guidance on the next steps. 
 
Director Hazen inquired on the 
impact of continuing with the grant, 
which would require adjustments in 
District staffing and reallocations to 
staffing time.  Director Hazen 
suggested that the District continue 
with the program while searching 
for a new operator, contractor, 
sponsor, or partnership that the 
District has done in the past and 
maintain program operations while 
continuing to search.   
 
Director Matthews expressed his 
concern with underlining financial 
matters at the Desert Recreation 
District and the District paying the 
Desert Recreation District to fulfill 
the obligation – expressing that he 
will not support the program and 
prefers the $110,000 funding for 
2017/2018. 

 
 
 
 
#19-05 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Hazen and seconded by 
Vice-President Rogers to authorize 
up to $145,000 – the current level 
of funding to continue to invest in 
the Ready, Set, Swim program. 
Motion passed 3-1.   
AYES – 3 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, and Director 
Hazen 
NOES – Director Matthews 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 
 

G.  Desert Healthcare District 
CEO Report 

      
1. Priorities-

Milestones-
Progress Measures 
Update 

 
 
 

2. November 27 and 
December 18 
Holiday Schedules 

 
 
 
Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, 
summarized the updates of the 
Priorities, Milestones, and Progress 
Measures also explaining that work 
continues with the potential 
expansion. 
 
Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, 
explained the upcoming holiday 
season and outlined the November 
meeting date the week after 
Thanksgiving, and proposing the 
December 18 meeting due to the 
December 25 Christmas holiday.  
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H.  Desert Regional Medical 
Center Governing Board 
Report 

President Zendle explained that the 
Governing Board reviewed and 
discussed the open and closed 
cases from the California 
Department of Public Health, 
evaluated the quality measures 
focusing on three components, and 
the review of credentialing and re-
credentialing. 

 

I. Desert Regional Medical 
Center CEO Report – Michele 
Finney, CEO, Desert Regional 
Medical Center, Desert Care 
Network 

Michele Finney, CEO, Desert 
Regional Medical Center, Desert 
Care Network, described several 
updates at Desert Regional Medical 
Center (DRMC) that include the 
capital investment of a new less 
invasive pacemaker; expansion in 
the GI lab such as additional 
ultrasounds; more treatment bays 
were approved and licensed; 
licensure related to cardiac patients 
in the Stergios Building; new 
surgical robots; Governance 
Committee conversations for 
additional resources for medically 
trained individuals with the 
hearing-impaired community; and 
two new urgent care centers. As 
reported last month, the Chief 
Nursing Officer (CNO) transferred 
to the Bay Area, and DRMC 
recruited an internal transfer from 
AZ that will begin as the new CNO 
in October. Details about the 
second patient safety officer hiring 
were provided. $5M for capital 
expenditures and completing the 
physical plan assessment in the 
next month were detailed, and the 
completion of rebuilding the 
Sinatra One elevator and the 
repairs for Sinatra Five are 
underway. 
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I.  Finance, Administration, Real 
Estate, and Legal 
Committee 

  
     a.  CFO Report & Las Palmas 

Leasing Update  
 
     b.  District and Desert 

Hospital Retirement Plan 
(RPP) Investment Report 
2Q18 

 
c.  Retirement Protection 

Plan Actuarial Valuation 
Report – 06/30/18 

 
     d.  Kaufman Hall Service 

Agreement Addendum #2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     e.  Auditor Firm 5 Year 

Consideration for RFP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Director Matthews outlined the 
CEO Report and Las Palmas Leasing 
Update.   
Director Matthews also described 
the aspects of the District and 
Hospital Retirement Plan 
Investment Report and the 
Retirement Protection Plan 
Actuarial Valuation Report as of 
June 30, 2018. 
 
 
Director Matthews explained the 
coordination of work between 
Kaufman Hall and Desert Regional 
Medical Center on the seismic 
upgrade requirements due by 2030 
and the valuable work of Kaufman 
Hall to extend those services with a 
second addendum.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Director Mathews explained that 
normally after 5 years the District 
would begin an RFP process for a 
new firm. However, due to the 
extensive work the District is 
undertaking such as the expansion 
and rezoning, the F&A Committee 
feels that a one-year extension of 
the current firm is adequate.  
 
Vice-President Rogers requested 
that at some point the auditing firm 
give an in-person overview to the 
full board.    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
#19-06 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Matthews and seconded 
by Vice-President Rogers to 
approve the Kaufman Hall Service 
Agreement Addendum #2. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 4 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, Director Hazen, and  
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 
 
 
#19-07 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Matthews and seconded 
by Vice-President Rogers to 
approve a one-year extension of 
the current firm until the end of the 
November election. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 4 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, and Director Hazen 
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 
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f. Proposed Desert Healthcare 
District Hours of Operation  

Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, 
explained the discussion amongst 
staff for a possible 9/80 or 4/10 
schedule as outlined in the Staff 
Report options including the 
positive aspects of an alternative 
workweek. The F&A Committee 
recommended a 4/10 workweek 
instead of alternating staff 
schedules and office hours that 
could potentially confuse the 
public. 
 
Director Matthews moved to 
approve the proposed hours of 
operation and re-evaluate the 
policy in one year.  
 
Questions concerning mandatory 
participation in a 9/80 or 4/10 
schedule for exempt and non-
exempt staff was discussed and 
agreed upon to table the matter 
until Staff brings forth a policy for 
Board review. 

#19-08 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Matthews and seconded 
by Vice-President Rogers to table 
the proposed District Hours of 
Operation and for Staff to present a 
policy with a one-year trial. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 4 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, and Director Hazen 
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 

J. 2.  Hospital Governance and 
Oversight Committee 

 
1. Desert Regional 

Medical Center 2017-
2018 Annual Report 

Vice-President Rogers explained 
Desert Regional Medical Center’s 
2017-2018 Annual Report that was 
presented to the Hospital 
Governance and Oversight 
Committee – a lease compliance 
requirement. 

 
 
 
 

J.3. New Providers, Facilities, 
Programs, and Services Ad 
Hoc Committee 

 
1. Phase O Seismic Results 

Presentation and Phase 
1 Updated – Kevin 
Moore, Senior Principal, 
Simpson, Gumpertz & 
Heger (SGH) 

 

Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, 
explained that Phase 0 has been 
completed with the estimated costs 
and introduced Kevin S. Moore, 
Senior Principal, Simpson, 
Gumpertz & Heger (SGH).   
 
Kevin S. Moore, Senior Principal, 
SGH, described his report on Desert 
Regional Medical Center’s seismic 
results explaining that most of the 
hospital is compliant.  Mr. Moore 
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outlined the structural building 
challenges of Desert Regional 
Medical Center and the retrofit due 
by 2030. 

J.4. Board and Staff 
Communications Ad Hoc 
Committee 

Director Hazen explained the role 
of the Committee and the 
comprehensive and broad 
framework to strengthen Board 
and Staff communications. Director 
Hazen requested that Staff develop 
a workshop/special meeting of the 
board in October to review the 
policies for improved content and 
new suggestions.  The workshop 
will set aside time for a full 
discussion and Board input.  

 

K.    New Business 
 

1. Chief Executive 
Officer Recruitment 
Process 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Board Meeting 
Schedule 

 

 
 
Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, 
explained the potential for new 
board members, outlined the 
timeline and process for recruiting 
the new CEO, and proposed waiting 
until the first of the year to bring 
forth an executive search firm to 
recruit a new CEO.   
 
The Board acknowledged that the 
CEO may have a new set of 
expectations, recommends a firm 
that specializes in special districts, 
and to wait for the new board to 
make the final determination.  
 
 
Chris Christensen, Interim CEO, 
explained that due to the rezoning 
and expansion the District moved 
to the 6 p.m. start time to allow 
more public accessibility to the 
meetings.  Staff requests 
consideration to revise the Board 
meeting start time to 4 p.m., which 

 
 
#19-09 MOTION WAS MADE by 
President Zendle and seconded by 
Director Hazen to approve waiting 
until the new board is seated and 
bring back a timeline in January 
2019 with recommendations for a 
search firm. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 4 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, and Director Hazen 
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 
 
 
 
#19-10 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Hazen and seconded by 
Director Matthews to table 
changing the Board meeting 
schedule time change until the new 
Board members can participate in 
the discussion. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
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would still allow for public 
participation.  
 
Director Hazen cautioned that the 
meeting time change may be 
difficult for the public to attend. 
The change to 6 p.m. was to 
increase engagement from the 
public. The new Board members 
may not agree and determine that 
the 6 p.m. time will suffice, which 
could potentially change again – 
reiterating that now is not the time 
to change the meeting schedule.  
 
Bruce Underwood, Board Member, 
Coachella Valley Cemetery District 
and Desert Recreation District, 
explained that most public 
participants are unable to attend 
before 5 p.m. – also taking 
commute time into account. 

AYES – 4 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, Director Hazen, and  
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 
 

L.  Old Business 
 

1. Communications and 
Marketing Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Will Dean, Director 
Communications and Marketing, 
described the Communications and 
Marketing Plan that has been 
revised to lay the foundation for a 
robust communications and 
marketing system.  The plan 
includes individual projects with 
staff recommendations for 
approval.  
 
Director Hazen explained that the 
plan is a good framework, but 
internal communications should be 
included in the plan.  Director 
Hazen suggested possibly having a 
separate plan for internal 
communications that outlines 
internal communications for staff 
to stay informed. Further, Director 

 
 
#19-11 MOTION WAS MADE by 
Director Hazen and seconded by 
Vice-President Rogers to approve 
the Communications and Marketing 
Plan. 
Motion passed unanimously.   
AYES – 4 President Zendle, Vice-
President Rogers, Director 
Matthews, Director Hazen, and  
NOES – 0 
ABSENT – Director Wortham 
ABSTAIN – 0 
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2. Policy Manual/Bylaws 
Timeline 

Hazen would like more content on 
the website while Staff works to 
devise the new website. Vice-
President Rogers explained that 
recent legislation requires that 
certain information is published to 
the website. 
 
Lisa Houston, COO, explained the 
Policy Manual/Bylaws Timeline 
outlining the changes and tying the 
communications with the Ad Hoc 
Committee on Board and Staff 
Communications.  
 
Legal Counsel, Jeff Scott, suggested 
that the Board incorporates the 
Policy Manual/Bylaws Timeline into 
the workshop/special meeting of 
the board discussion on policies 
and communication. 
 
At the direction of Director Hazen, 
she recommended that the Board 
direct Staff to move the item to the 
Ad Hoc Committee on Board and 
Staff Communications for review 
and discussion at the workshop. 

M.  Legal Comments & Reports 
 

Jeff Scott, Legal Counsel, explained 
the AB 2019 (Aguiar-Curry) new 
grant policy guidelines and 
requirements.  AB 2123 (Cervantes) 
California Voters Rights Act 
amendment to permit public 
agencies to extend the period for 
the rezoning process with an 
extension of 180 days. 

 

N.  Directors’ Comments, 
Reports, Staff Direction, and 
Guidance 

 
1. Association of 

California 
Healthcare Districts 

 
 
 
 
Vice-President Rogers outlined the 
aspects of her written report from 
her attendance at the Association 
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Wellness Summit 
(ACHD) 

 
 
 

2. Association of 
California 
Healthcare Districts 
(ACHD) 66th Annual 
Meeting – President 
Zendle, MD and Vice 
President Rogers, 
RN 

 

of California Healthcare District 
(ACHD) Wellness Summit that 
included an overview of the 
speakers and informative topics 
such as preventable causes of 
death. 
 
President Zendle explained that he 
and Vice-President Rogers attended 
the Association of Healthcare 
Districts 66th Annual meeting and 
will provide a copy of the 
PowerPoint slides to the Staff and 
public at the October meeting. 
President Zendle also explained 
that he presented Staff with the 
report on the state of psychiatric 
beds in California that may assist 
with the Districts Behavioral Health 
Initiative.  

O.  Adjournment President Zendle adjourned the 
meeting at 8:14 p.m.  

Audio recording available on the 
website at 
http://dhcd.org/Agenda-Board-of-
Directors 

 
 
 
ATTEST: _____________________________________________________________ 
  Carole Rogers, Vice-President/Secretary 
  Desert Healthcare District Board of Directors 
 
 
Minutes respectfully submitted by Andrea S. Hayles, Clerk of the Board 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

OUTSTANDING GRANTS AND GRANT PAYMENT SCHEDULE

 As of 09/30/18

TWELVE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Approved Current Yr 6/30/2018 Total Paid Open

Grant ID Nos. Name Grants - Prior Yrs 2018-2019 Bal Fwd/New July-June BALANCE

2013-759-BOD 02/26/13 Desert Hot Springs Wellness FDN - Oversampling - HARC -3yr 30,000$                  15,000$          -$                       15,000$                   

2014-MOU-BOD-11/21/13 Memo of Understanding CVAG CV Link Support 10,000,000$           10,000,000$   -$                       10,000,000$             

2015-866-BOD-4-28-15 The LGBT Center of PS - Desert Low-Cost Counseling Clinic - 3 yr 140,000$                32,000$          18,000$                 14,000$                   

2015-875-BOD-6-23-15 Desert AIDS Project - Sexually Transmitted Infection Clinic - 3 Yr 800,000$                17,500$          17,500$                 -$                             

2015-876-BOD-6-23-15 Arrowhead Neuroscience Fndtn-NeuroInterventional & NeuroCritical Care Fellowship 2 Yr 373,540$                121,401$        84,047$                 37,354$                   

2016-886-BOD-9-22-15 B&G Club of Cathedral City - Main Club House Capital Improvements - 1 Yr 150,000$                15,000$          -$                       15,000$                   

2016-887-BOD-9-22-15 CVEP - Mental Health College & Career Pathways Development Initiative - 2 Yr-ext 9/18 737,900$                73,790$          73,790$                 -$                             

2016-889-BOD-10-27-15 HARC - 2016 Community Health Monitor - 3 Yr 499,955$                49,996$          -$                       49,996$                   

2016-891-BOD-11-17-15 Jewish Family Services of the Desert - Mental Health Outpatient Treatment - 3 Yr 570,000$                131,089$        58,500$                 72,589$                   

Unexpended funds from Year 1 of Grant #891 (75,792)$        (75,792)$                  

2016-908-BOD-06-28-16 Angel View Support for the Outreach Stabilization Program - 2 Yr 144,600$                14,460$          12,411$                 2,049$                     

2016-920-BOD-10-25-16 LifeStream Blood Bank - Support Protate Cancer Treatment Program 60,000$                  6,000$            -$                       6,000$                     

2016-927-BOD-12-20-16 SafeHouse of the Desert - "What's Up" Crisis Texting Application - 3 Yr 679,357$                373,646$        101,904$               271,743$                 

2017-929-BOD-05-23-17 Gilda's Club Desert Cities: HeLP - Healthy Living Program - 1 Yr 142,000$                14,200$          14,200$                 -$                             

2017-934-BOD-07-25-17 Well in the Desert - New Vans for Client Pickup & Deliveries 84,798$                  8,480$            -$                       8,480$                     

2017-936-BOD-07-25-17 Hidden Harvest - Senior Markets & Healthy Fairs 95,000$                  9,500$            9,500$                   -$                             

2017-938-BOD-07-25-17 Mizell Senior Center  - A Matter of Balance Phase 2 - 2 Yr 400,300$                220,165$        90,068$                 130,098$                 

2017-939-BOD-07-25-17 Loma Linda University - Dream Homes Initiative - 16 months 178,016$                57,855$          40,054$                 17,802$                   

2017-947-BOD-09-26-17 Coachella Valley Volunteers in Medicine - Primary Healhcare & Support Services - 1 Yr 121,500$                12,150$          -$                       12,150$                   

2017-948-BOD-09-26-17 Pegasus Hippo Therapy - Equine Therapy for District Residents - 1 Yr 93,829$                  9,383$            -$                       9,383$                     

2017-953-BOD-11-28-17 FIND Food Bank - Project Produce - 1 Yr 387,068$                212,887$        87,090$                 125,797$                 

2017-954-BOD-11-28-17 CVRM - Emergency Food, Shelter with Wrap Around Services for West CV Homeless 1Yr 100,000$                55,000$          45,000$                 10,000$                   

2017-955-BOD-11-28-17 Martha's Village & Kitchen - Heatlh in Housing: Emergency Housing With Wrap Around 1Yr 186,150$                102,383$        83,768$                 18,615$                   

2018-960-BOD-02-27-18 Desert Cancer Foundation - Patient Assistance and Suzanne Jackson Breast Cancer 200,000$                110,000$        -$                       110,000$                 

2018-962-BOD-03-27-18 EMC - CV Collaborative Program-Antibiotic Resistance Prevention Partnership(3yr w/ 1st yr funding) 55,805$                  30,693$          25,112$                 5,581$                     

2018-967-BOD-05-22-18 The City of DHS-Public Safety Emergency Response Program - Purchase AEDs 30,000$                  30,000$          27,000$                 3,000$                     

2018-968-BOD-05-22-18 One Future Coachella Valley - Health Career Connection Summer Intern at DHCD/F 7,314$                    7,314$            6,583$                   731$                        

2018-974-BOD-09-25-18 HARC - 2019 Coachella Valley Community Health Survey - 3 Yr 399,979$        399,979$        -$                       399,979$                 

-$                   -$                       -$                             

-$                   -$                       -$                             

TOTAL GRANTS 16,267,132$           399,979$        12,054,078$   794,525$               11,259,553$             

Amts available/remaining for Grant/Programs - FY 2018-19:

Amount budgeted 2018-2019 3,500,000$     G/L Balance: 9/30/2018

Amount granted through June 30, 2019: (399,979)$       2131 1,111,907$              

Mini Grants: 972; 973 (8,000)$          2281 10,147,646$             

Net adj - Grants not used: Total 11,259,553$             

Balance available for Grants/Programs 3,092,021$     Difference - Rdg (0)$                           
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Date: October 23, 2018 

 

To: Board of Directors 

 

Subject: RESOURCES AND PHILANTHROPY PROGRAM 

                          Community Health Focus Area: Primary Care & Behavioral Health Access 

 
 

 

 

Grant Request: Joslyn Center: Joslyn Wellness Center Senior Behavioral 

Services Program - $112,050 
 

Staff Team Recommendation: an award of $112,500 be approved to support the Behavioral 

Services Program at the Joslyn Wellness Center. 

 

Nexus to Community Health Focus Area Primary Care and Behavioral Health Access 

by supporting programs, services and workforce development efforts that increase 

access to primary care and behavioral health services for Coachella Valley residents:  

The Joslyn Senior Wellness Center is based around four pillars of need: Mental Health, 

Healthy Aging, Exercise and Active Living, and Nutritional and Health Education. The 

Joslyn Wellness Center is designed to help aging individuals meet the emerging challenges 

of living longer, such as disappearing retirement plans; the rising costs of daily living 

expenses; and coping with at least one chronic health condition, to name a few. 

 

Use of Funds: Desert Healthcare District funds will support the core components of four 

main evidence-based programs – The Aging Mastery Program; Problem Solving Cognitive 

Behavior Therapy; Brain Boot Camp, and Go4Life – delivered by a Licensed Clinical Social 

Worker, two behavioral health program interns, and a certified personal trainer. HARC will 

conduct an evaluation of the programs’ effectiveness and adherence to goals in conjunction 

with the outcomes set by each of the evidence-based programs. 
 

Background:  The Joslyn Wellness Center has been a priority of the Joslyn Center Board of 

Directors for the past three years. Prior to embarking on the project, a great deal of research 

was accomplished on emerging and existing evidence-based programs upon which to base a 

holistic-based wellness program. The four programs listed above were gradually introduced 

and expanded upon over the past years.  

 

With the preliminary success of the pilot program, Joslyn is moving forward to expand the 

programs by creating a robust community engagement plan that will draw in younger senior 

participants as the aging process inevitably begins and facing those challenges that could 

lead to poor physical and mental health.  

 

Fiscal Impact: allocated from the approved FY 2018/2019 Grant Budget. 
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Date: October 23, 2018 

 

To: Board of Directors 

 

 Subject: RESOURCES AND PHILANTHROPY PROGRAM 

               Community Health Focus Area: Primary Care & Behavioral Health Access 

 
 

Grant Request: Desert Arc: Desert Arc Health Care Program - $167,738 
 

Staff Recommendation: an award of $167,738 be approved to support the Desert Arc Health 

Care Program at Desert Arc. 

 

Nexus to Community Health Focus Area Primary Care and Behavioral Health Access by 

supporting programs, services and workforce development efforts that increase access to 

primary care and behavioral health services for Coachella Valley residents:  

The Desert Arc Health Care Program provides health and wellness services for adults with 

disabilities who would otherwise not be able to participate in the Adult Day Center Program and 

the Behavior Management Program. These programs serve adults with severe disabilities and 

support Desert Arc staff with specialized training to ensure clients have the opportunity to 

participate fully in programs at Desert Arc. 

 

Use of Funds: Desert Healthcare District funds will support the two Licensed Vocational Nurses 

that attend to the medical needs of the vulnerable clients and if necessary, to Desert Arc staff; 

allow an attending physician consultant to oversee the medical license requirements for the Adult 

Day Center Program; and to provide specialized training to Desert Arc staff in the Behavior 

Management Program.   
 

Background:   The Adult Day Center Program design has its foundational roots in sensory 

exploration and sensory integration and designed to assist the severely disabled adults in learning 

daily living skills as well as social and communication skills while promoting community-based 

instruction and client independence. The LVNs have been an integral part of the program since 

1990. 

 

The Behavioral Management Program, with staff training provided by a behavioral specialist that 

came on board in 2003, is divided into two components: the first includes a program modeled after 

the Adult Day Center Program with an emphasis on addressing behavioral challenges of clients 

while the second component is designed to provide paid vocational training to individuals with 

significant behavioral challenges. Both components have enhanced staffing ratios, and staff 

participates in additional training by the specialist to learn how to deal with aggressive behaviors. 

 

Both the Adult Day Center and Behavioral Management Programs are regulated by Community 

Care Licensing.  

Fiscal Impact:   to be allocated from the approved FY 2018/2019 Grant Budget. 

Page 74 of 417



Page 75 of 417



Page 76 of 417



Page 77 of 417



Page 78 of 417



Page 79 of 417



Page 80 of 417



Page 81 of 417



Page 82 of 417



Page 83 of 417



Page 84 of 417



Page 85 of 417



Page 86 of 417



Page 87 of 417



Page 88 of 417



Page 89 of 417



Page 90 of 417



Page 91 of 417



Page 92 of 417



Page 93 of 417



Page 94 of 417



Page 95 of 417



Page 96 of 417



Page 97 of 417



Page 98 of 417



Page 99 of 417



Page 100 of 417



Page 101 of 417



Page 102 of 417



t 

 
 

 

Date: October 23, 2018 

 

To: Board of Directors -District 

 

Subject: Ready Set Swim Program 

  
 

 

Staff Recommendation:  

      Consideration to approve a grant to the Desert Healthcare Foundation to fund the 

2018/19 Ready Set Swim Program as guided at the September 25, 2018 Board meeting.   

 

Background:  

 

• September 25, 2018 Board Meeting – staff brought forth the challenges of a proposed 

grant from the Desert Recreation District. 

• Board guided staff to determine an alternative solution, including maintaining program 

in-house, to ensure program did not have a year of downtime (Budget not to exceed 

$145,000). 

 

Update:  

 

• Staff has determined a mutually agreeable contract for services between the Desert 

Healthcare Foundation and Desert Recreation District.  

• Program Start Date:  October 22, 2018.  

• Total budget for the program including allocation of DHCD/F staff, as performed in the 

previous year, will not exceed $136,000.  

• Program will serve 672 students this school calendar year and will end June 1, 2019. 

• Alejandro Espinoza will be the staff liaison for the program at .15 FTE. 

• Staff recommends approval of the grant to the Desert Healthcare Foundation. 

 

 

Discussion & Board Direction:  

• Future of Ready Set Swim Junior. 

• If Measure BB passes, do we expand our program(s)? 

• Future of the current Nutrition Education and Obesity Prevention program that 

compliments Ready Set Swim and Ready Set Swim Junior currently.  

 

 

Fiscal Impact;  

Budget not to exceed $136,000.    
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Value Management Group, LLC d/b/a VMG Health (“VMG”) has been engaged by Desert Healthcare District (the “District) & Desert Healthcare
Foundation to provide a third party, independent fair market value (“FMV”) analysis of Desert Regional Medical Center (the “Hospital”).

The intended user of this analysis is Desert Healthcare District and the Desert Healthcare Foundation and its duly authorized representatives. Our
valuation analysis does not constitute a fairness opinion or investment advice in that we will not conduct all of the steps necessary to issue such an
opinion. The term FMV means the price at which property would change hands between a willing buyer and willing seller when the former is not under
any compulsion to buy and the latter is not under any compulsion to sell, both parties having reasonable knowledge of the relevant facts.

VMG has not taken any steps in auditing the financials statements provided. We have relied upon the representation that the latest internal financial
statements are accurate and represent the financial and operational assets of the Hospital in a reasonable manner. The obligation of VMG is solely a
corporate obligation, and no officer, principal, director, employee, agent, shareholder, or controlling person shall be subjected to any personal liability
whatsoever to any person or entity, nor will any such claim be asserted by or on behalf of any other party to this agreement or any person relying on the
opinion. Where appropriate, VMG considered the factors set forth in Revenue Ruling 59-60, 1959-1, C.b. 237, including:

• The nature of the business and the history of the enterprise from its inception;
• The economic outlook in general and the condition and outlook of the specific industry in particular;
• The book value of the stock and the financial condition of the enterprise;
• The earning capacity of the enterprise;
• The dividend-paying capacity of the enterprise;
• Whether or not the enterprise has goodwill or other intangible value;
• Prior sales of the stock and the size of the block of stock to be valued; and,
• The market price of stock of corporations engaged in the same or a similar line of business, having their stocks actively traded on an exchange or

over-the-counter market.

Valuation Overview
Executive Summary
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The valuation opinion presented in this report is contingent on the following list of qualifying assumptions.

1. Desert Healthcare District (the "District" or "Lessor") is a political subdivision of the State of California. The District was established to own and operate an
acute-care hospital located at 1150 N. Indian Canyon Dr. in Palm Springs, CA, which is now commonly known as Desert Regional Medical Center (the
"Hospital"). The District entered into a Hospital Lease Agreement (the "Hospital Lease") on May 30, 1997 with a subsidiary of Tenet Healthcare, Inc.
("Tenet" or "Lessee") for a 30 year term whereby Tenet would lease from the District all real property and personal property ("Leased Premises") which
were used in the operation of the Hospital and its related activities including outpatient centers, clinics, physician practices, and medical office buildings
(collectively, the "Desert Business").

2. The Hospital Lease included provisions related to termination by Lessee or Lessor during, or at expiration of the 30 year lease period. Upon expiration or
early termination of the Hospital Lease, all alterations, additions or improvements to the leased premises made by Lessee, including any additional or
replacement items of personal property acquired by the Lessee during the term of the Hospital Lease (collectively, the "Termination Assets"), would be
transferred to the Lessor; provided, however, that the Lessor would purchase and pay Lesse the cumulative fair market value or net book value, whichever
is less, of the identified Termination Assets upon termination or expiration. VMG was not provided a list of the specific Termination Assets and their
associated net book values, nor has VMG provided an opinion on their current fair market value, however, we acknowledge the potential for adjustments
related to the Termination Assets' where appropriate in this report.

3. Seismic renovation and retrofit activities in California hospitals are dictated by a broad legislative and regulatory framework, all of which originated with
California SB 1953. This legislation established seismic safety goals for California hospitals and mandated compliance for hospital structural support systems
by January 2030. VMG was provided a copy of the Phase 0 Seismic Evaluation Services Report of September 2018 prepared by Simpson, Gumpertz & Heger,
which evaluated both structural and non-structural requirements, and estimated a range between $84 million and $141 million (“Seismic Upgrade Costs”).
A more detailed Phase 1 report is scheduled to be completed in December 2018. The Hospital Lease term is set to expire in 2027, prior to the January 2030
compliance deadline established by California SB 1953. VMG understands the Hospital Lease dictates that the Lessee is only responsible for costs to comply
with California SB 1953 during the term of the Hospital Lease, and if the Hospital Lease is terminated or allowed to expire, the District would be required to
pay any remaining costs to comply with the law. Where appropriate, this report acknowledges the potential impact of Seismic Upgrade Cost and the
uncertainty regarding the estimate indicated in the Seismic and PML Assessment, but VMG does not have an opinion as to the amount of Seismic Upgrade
Costs.

4. VMG understands the District is evaluating its strategic options, given the above pending seismic upgrade requirements, the remaining lease term, and has
requested VMG provide a current Fair Market Value ("FMV") opinion for the Hospital as of a current date. Accordingly, VMG estimated the Fair Market
Value of the Business Enterprise Value ("BEV") of the Hospital. Given that the BEV estimate does not account for the impact of the remaining Hospital Lease
term and other factors specific to the Hospital and the District, we have acknowledged "placeholder" adjustments detailed further on the following pages in
order to assist the District with understanding the estimated value of their current ownership position.

5. Tenet has provided VMG with unaudited internal financial statements for the reporting entity "694 - Desert Regional Medical Center." Tenet provided
Income Statement data for the fiscal year ("FY") periods ended December 31, 2015, 2016, 2017 and the trailing twelve months ("TTM") ended May 31,
2018 and Balance Sheet data for FY 2017 and as of May 31, 2018. VMG has not independently audited or confirmed the accuracy of the data provided and
we are relying on the data as materially true and correct. To the extent that the information provided to VMG is inaccurate, we reserve the right to amend
our analysis accordingly.

Qualifying Assumptions

Executive Summary
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6. We understand the financial statements provided by Tenet do not include allocation of certain corporate overhead and management-related costs which 
would typically be incurred at the Hospital level. Tenet provided a list of certain costs typically directly charged to its facilities as well as a list of pooled 
allocations typically charged to its facilities. VMG was not provided a specific list of corporate overhead charges currently included in the TTM 2018 
financials or the actual amounts incurred in any period, but we have discussed with Tenet the items currently captured at the corporate level and included 
an estimated Management Fee in the Normalized Base Year Income Statement which is applicable to those charges not currently included in the TTM 2018 
period. The selected Management Fee of 2.0% of Net Revenue is based on proprietary data obtained by VMG and is detailed further in this report.

7. VMG understands the Hospital is currently operated by a large public company as a part of the Desert Care Network, which includes JFK Memorial Hospital 
and Hi-Desert Medical Center. The Hospital may benefit operationally and financially from this affiliation through network management, improved 
contracting strength or expense management. If the Hospital is not affiliated with Tenet or the Desert Care Network, the future impact, if any, to its 
financial performance is unknown.

8. VMG understands that the Hospital financial statements do not include revenues and expenses associated with certain physician practice operations which 
contribute to the operations of the Hospital. These entities are captured under separate financial statements, which were provided to VMG for the most 
recent TTM 2018 period. VMG has calculated the net loss during the TTM 2018 period and adjusted the Normalized Base Year Income Statement to include 
the TTM 2018 losses of approximately $6.8 million. These adjustments are detailed further in this report.

9. VMG understands the Hospital participates in the Hospital Qualify Assurance Fee ("HQAF") program which provides a supplemental source of revenue to 
participating California hospitals which serve Medi-Cal and uninsured patients. The Hospital also incurs related assessment fees associated with 
participation in the HQAF program. These costs are typically accrued for on a monthly basis by the Hospital, but the TTM 2018 Income Statement has been 
adjusted in the Normalized Base Year to eliminate the impact of an accrual which occurred for a full twelve month period during FYE 2017. These 
adjustments are detailed further in this report.

10. El Mirador Medical Plaza is an MOB owned by the District and leased to Tenet. VMG understands that a majority of the suites in the MOB are owner 
occupied and that El Mirador Medical Plaza will revert back to the District along with the Hospital at the expiration of the Lease. Additionally, VMG 
understands that the Stergios Building, where the District's office is located, will also revert back to the District at the expiration of the Lease. VMG has not 
included any adjustments to this analysis for these properties.

11. Three distinct approaches to estimate the BEV were explored - Cost, Market, & Income Approaches. Ultimately, VMG relied upon the Income Approach in 
determining value due to the ability to factor a discrete cash flow projection unique to the Hospital and the lack of available directly comparable transaction 
data to be utilized in the Market Approach. Additionally, it was our determination that the Cost Approach did not provide adequate consideration to the 
going concern value of the Hospital.

12. BEV, reflects the value of the Hospital operations inclusive of a normalized level of cash-free working capital. Working capital includes accounts receivables 
and other current assets less non-interest bearing current liabilities that permit a business to conduct daily operations and maintain liquidity. Normalized 
net working capital is estimated at approximately 8.0% of net operating revenue based the observed net working capital for comparable publicly traded 
companies which further detailed in this analysis. 

Qualifying Assumptions

Executive Summary
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Based on and subject to the facts, limiting conditions, and assumptions presented in this report and the attached exhibits, as of a current date, the FMV of
the business enterprise value (“BEV”) of the Hospital is reasonably represented in a range between approximately $580 million and $640 million.

Business Enterprise Value reflects the value of the Hospital inclusive of a normalized level of cash-free net working capital. Net working capital includes
accounts receivables and other current assets less non‐interest-bearing current liabilities that permit a business to conduct daily operations and maintain
liquidity. Normalized net working capital is estimated to be 8.0% of net operating revenue. Incremental net working capital requirements are projected at
8.0% of net operating revenue throughout the projection period.

Please refer to the following pages for further detail regarding adjustments to the Midpoint BEV presented above.

Business Enterprise Value Recommendation
Executive Summary

Range of Fair Market Value, BEV Level Low (5.0%) Midpoint High (+5.0%)

Fair  M arket  Value  Indicat ion, Bus ines s  Ent erpr is e  Leve l $580,000,000 $610,000,000 $640,000,000

Implied Market Multiples Financial Metric  ($) Low Mid High

BEV/ NBY EBITDA 96,468,473                         6.01x 6.32x 6.63x
BEV/ NBY Revenue 544,133,376                      1.07x 1.12x 1.18x

BEV/ Year 1 EBITDA 94,983,961                         6.11x 6.42x 6.74x
BEV/ Year 1 Revenue 559,522,715                      1.04x 1.09x 1.14x
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The adjustments to the BEV presented below have been identified and calculated, where appropriate, based on parameters of the Hospital Lease. The
midpoint BEV of $610 million is inclusive of a normalized level of net working capital which is controlled by the lessee.

The BEV reflects the value of the Hospital and its associated cash flows into perpetuity. Given that the District would not have access to the cash flow
generated by the Hospital until the expiration in approximately nine years, the present value of the projected cash flows during the first nine years of
the Income Approach’s Discounted Cash Flow Projection are included below as a reduction to the BEV. These cash flows are estimated at approximately
$299 million and result in a BEV (less working capital and the remaining lease term value) of approximately $267 million.

Two adjustments below are included as placeholders (“TBD”) due to the uncertainty regarding the current value of these items. The District would be
required to incur the necessary Seismic upgrade costs to comply with state requirements. Additionally, Termination Assets, as defined in the Hospital
Lease, must be purchased by the District upon Termination of the Hospital Lease.

Adjustments to Business Enterprise Value

Executive Summary

Value Ind icat ion , Business Enterprise Value ( Includ ing Working Capi tal ) $610 ,000 ,000

Less: Normalized Working Capital included in Business Enterprise Calculation (44,000,000)

Subtotal  - Business Enterprise Value, less Working Capi tal  ( rounded) $566 ,000 ,000

Less: Value Indication for Total Year 1 - Year 9 Present Value of Cash Flows ($299,231,472)

Subtotal  - Business Enterprise Value, A d justed for Remain ing Lease Term & Working Capi tal $267 ,000 ,000

Less: Seismic Upgrade Cost TBD

Less: Termination Assets TBD

BEV A djusted for Remain ing Lease Term, Seismic Requ i rements, Working Capi tal  & Termination  A ssets TBD

A DJUSTMEN TS TO BEV
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Desert Regional Medical Center was initially established in 1948 and was operated by the District until the establishment of the Hospital Lease which
allowed Tenet to take over the operations and bring it into their portfolio of health care facilities in the region. The Hospital is located in Palm Springs, CA,
and is a member of Desert Care Network which was established by Tenet Healthcare. Desert Care Network includes Desert Regional Medical Center, High
Desert Medical Center, and John F. Kennedy Memorial Hospital as well as four skilled nursing facilities, eight physician practices, two ambulatory surgery
centers, and two urgent care facilities.

During the trailing twelve months ended (“TTM”) May 31, 2018, the Hospital generated total net operating revenue of approximately $562.9 million, an
increase of 4.6% from FYE 2017 net operating revenue of approximately $538.2 million. Overall, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and
amortization (“EBITDA”) was approximately $133.1 million (23.6% of net operating revenue) in TTM 2018 and approximately $112.1 million (20.8% of net
operating revenue) in FYE 2017. The Hospital’s admissions remained relatively constant compounded annually from 19,738 in FYE 2015 to 19,694 in TTM
2018. The Hospital's patient days increased 1.6% compounded annually from 88,855 in FYE 2015 to 92,271 in TTM 2018.

During TTM 2018, the largest payors as a percentage of net collections were Commercial (33.9%) and Medicare (16.1%). Other payors include Managed
Medicare (15.9%) and Medicaid (13.4%). Desert also is largest provider of charity care in its community. According to staffing data provided by hospital
management, the Hospital employs approximately 1,933 full-time equivalent (“FTE”) employees. The average FTE per adjusted occupied bed was 5.3 in
TTM 2018, and the average hourly salary per FTE was approximately $46.49 during TTM 2018.

As previously mentioned, the Hospital is located in Palm Springs, California, which is in Riverside County. Recent population estimates indicate that the
population of Riverside County increased 2.6% compounded annually, from approximately 1,558,985 residents in 2000 to approximately 2,423,266
residents in 2017. The Hospital is situated in an area with a seasonal population change in which the overall population usually decreases during the
summer months and experiences an increase in population during the winter months. The Hospital’s closest competitors in terms of proximity are
Eisenhower Medical Center and John F. Kennedy Memorial Hospital. As mentioned above John F. Kennedy Memorial Hospital is also a part of the Desert
Care Network operated by Tenet.

This engagement was conducted in accordance with generally accepted valuation methodologies. In the valuation of a privately-held business, three
general approaches are considered in the determination of value: Cost Approach, Market Approach, and the Income Approach. The nature and
characteristics of the business and the objective of the engagement indicate which approach, or approaches, are most applicable for valuation purposes.
The Income Approach was fully relied upon, the applicability of which is discussed later in this report.

Situational Analysis
Executive Summary
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The federal budget deficit continues to be an area of concern for lawmakers. According to estimates from the Congressional Budget Office
(“CBO”), the federal deficit as a percent of GDP increased from -3.2% of GDP in 2016 to -3.5% of GDP in 2017. The CBO projects that the federal
deficit as a percentage of GDP will increase to -4.0% in 2018 increasing further to -5.4% by 2022. As a result, the federal debt held by the public as
a percentage of GDP is projected to increase from 76.5% in 2017 to 85.7% in 2022. The increased deficits are projected to be driven by declines in
revenue as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. In its report, the CBO notes the increased uncertainty associated with estimating the
economic impact of recent changes in fiscal policy. Deficit reduction has been identified as a priority of the Trump administration. However, in
order to accomplish this revenue reductions resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 must be off-set by economic growth and/or
additional spending cuts.

Economic Analysis

Market Overview

Source: The Budget and Economic Outlook: 2018 to 2028 published by the Congressional Budget Office
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Presented in the chart below is the Consumer Price Index for Urban Consumers (“CPI-U”) from April 2008 to April 2018. The CPI-U measures the
average change in price for a market basket of goods and services over time for urban consumers. The percentage change in the CPI-U is
commonly used to measure the general inflation in the price of goods and services for urban consumers in the United States. From January 2008
to May 2018, CPI-U increased at a compound annual rate of approximately 1.7%. More recently, CPI-U has increased 2.8% from May 2017 to May
2018.
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Market Overview

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 
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Since the recovery from the recession in 2008 and 2009, annual real GDP growth has ranged from a low of 1.0% in Q1 of 2013 to a high of 3.8% in
Q1 of 2015. For Q1 of 2018, YOY growth in real GDP was 2.8%. Overall, YOY quarterly real GDP growth has averaged 2.5% over the past four
quarters. According to the Survey of Professional Forecasters, real GDP growth is expected to grow at an average rate of 2.7% over the next four
quarters. The unemployment rate reached 10% in October of 2009, the highest rate in over 30 years. Since that time, the unemployment rate has
declined to 4.1% as of March 2018 and is expected to decrease over the next three quarters according to the Survey of Professional Forecasters.

Economic Analysis

Market Overview
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According to the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”)
healthcare spending as a percentage of GDP has increased from 5.0% in
1960 to 17.9% in 2016. More recently, healthcare expenditures as a
percentage of GDP increased from 17.2% in 2013 to 17.9% in 2016 after
remaining relatively flat for the previous five years. According to the OECD,
the United States spends more on healthcare, both per capita, and as a
share of GDP, than any other country in the world as illustrated in the chart
on the right.

United States Healthcare System

Market Overview
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United States Healthcare System

Market Overview

Healthcare spending growth in the United States moderated in 2016 as compared to 2014 and 2015 when ACA coverage expansions and double
digit growth in prescription drug spending caused overall healthcare spending to increase more than 5.0% annually. Overall, from 2015 to 2016 total
national health expenditures increased 4.3% from approximately $3.2 trillion in 2015 to approximately $3.3 trillion in 2016. In 2016 hospital care
and physician & clinical services were the largest spending categories accounting for $1,082.5 billion (33.8% of total) and $664.9 billion (20.7% of
total) of the total health expenditures, respectively. From 2010 to 2016 hospital services and prescription drugs have experienced the largest
growth in spending with an average annual growth rate of 4.7% and 4.4%, respectively. According to CMS, the increase in hospital spending is
primarily attributable to an increase in overall utilization and acuity of services. While the large increase in prescription drug spending is the result of
a shift from small molecule drugs to specialty pharmaceuticals which are more expensive. It should be noted that spending on prescription drugs
increased just 1.3% in 2016 due to fewer new drug approvals, slower growth in brand-name drug spending, and pricing decreases for generic drugs.

Source: CMS
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United States Healthcare System

Market Overview

A number of private and public sources combine to finance healthcare expenditures in the United States. The majority of Americans under the age
of 65 have health coverage through a private insurance provider. According to the Kaiser Family Foundation, during 2016 approximately 49% of
Americans had employer based private insurance while approximately 7.0% obtained private insurance through the individual plan market. The
largest government payors, Medicaid and Medicare covered approximately 19.0% and 14.0% of Americans, respectively. According to CMS, private
health insurance accounted for approximately 35.0% of total national health expenditures in 2016. Over the same time period, Medicare and
Medicaid accounted for 21.0% and 18.2% of total spending, respectively.

Sources: Kaiser Family Foundation and CMS
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United States Healthcare System

Market Overview

Government Funding
During 2016 Medicare provided federal health insurance for approximately 57.1 million1 people who are elderly, disabled, have end-stage renal
disease, or amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (also known as Lou Gehrig’s disease). Individuals become eligible for Medicare on the basis of age when
they reach 65 while disabled individuals become eligible for Medicare 24 months after they become eligible for benefits under the Social Security
Disability Insurance program. Since 1980, Medicare spending has grown 8.4% compounded annually from approximately $37.4 billion in 1980 to
approximately $672.1 billion in 2016. More recently total Medicare spending growth has slowed, increasing 4.4% compounded annually from
$519.8 billion in 2010 to $672.1 billion in 2016.

Medicaid is a joint federal–state program that pays for healthcare services for a variety of low-income individuals. The Medicaid program, created
in 1965 by the same legislation that created Medicare, replaced an earlier program of federal grants given to states to provide medical care to low
income residents. As of 2016, approximately 75.0 million2 people were enrolled in the Medicaid program. It should be noted that certain
individuals, often referred to as “dual-eligible,” are covered by both Medicaid and Medicare. Since 1980, Medicaid spending has grown 9.0%
compounded annually from approximately $26.0 billion in 1980 to approximately $582.4 billion in 20163. More recently Medicaid expenditures
increased 8.3% compounded annually from $458.9 billion in 2013 to $582.4 billion in 2016 due to the expansion of coverage resulting from The
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.

1. Medicare Enrollment Dashboard published by CMS
2. Medicaid & Children’s Health Insurance Program (“CHIP”) monthly applications, eligibility determinations, and enrollment report published by CMS
3. Healthcare Expenditure data published by CMS
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Presented in the chart below is a summary of the United States’ historical and projected population by age category from 1980 to 2060 provided by the
U.S. Census Bureau. As of 2017, there were approximately 50.8 million Americans (15.6% of the total population) 65 years of age or older. In addition,
there are approximately 63.3 million Americans (19.5% of the total population) between the ages of 50 and 64 who will become eligible for Medicare
over the next 10-15 years. Based on projections published by the U.S. Census Bureau, the total percentage of the United States’ population over the age
of 65 is projected to increase from 15.6% in 2017 to 19.7% by 2027 and 21.6% by 2037. The aging of the United States’ population is projected to drive
increased demand for a variety of healthcare services. However, the projected increase in the number of Medicare beneficiaries and the historical
increases in spending per beneficiary is forcing policy makers to re-evaluate how Medicare pays for healthcare services.

Demographic Analysis
Market Overview
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The Hospital is located in Palm Springs, California, which is in Riverside County. Recent population estimates indicate that the population of Riverside
County increased 2.6% compounded annually, from approximately 1,558,985 residents in 2000 to approximately 2,423,266 residents in 2017.
Approximately 13.9% of the population of Riverside County is over the age of 65 (Source: United States Census Bureau). According to the United States
Department of Labor, the June unemployment rate for the Riverside-San Bernardino-Ontario, CA metropolitan statistical area ("MSA") was 4.7%.
Furthermore, according to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Riverside County had 352,217 people enrolled in Medicare.

In addition, the 2016 median household income of Riverside County, California, was $59,951, which is 10.0% lower than the 2016 California state
median income of $66,637.

According to the United States Census Bureau, the top five industries in Riverside County are listed below:

• Educational services, and healthcare and social assistance (20.6%);
• Retail trade (13.0%);
• Arts, entertainment, and recreation, and accommodation and food services (11.4%)
• Professional, scientific, and management, and administrative and waste management services (10.2%); and,
• Manufacturing (8.9%).

Local Demographics

Market Overview

Population Estimates 1990 2000 2005 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
RIVERSIDE COUNTY 1,193,156 1,558,985 1,931,785 2,202,001 2,235,890 2,264,804 2,291,406 2,321,738 2,352,080 2,386,522 2,423,266
*CAGR since 1990 N/A 2.7% 3.3% 3.1% 3.0% 3.0% 2.9% 2.8% 2.8% 2.7% 2.7%
*CAGR since 2000 N/A 4.4% 3.5% 3.3% 3.2% 3.0% 2.9% 2.8% 2.7% 2.6%
*CAGR since 2010 N/A 1.5% 1.4% 1.3% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4% 1.4%
*CAGR = Compounded annual growth rate.
Source: U.S. Census Bureau Population Finder for RIVERSIDE COUNTY,  CALIFORNIA
Population estimates are from July 1st of that year.
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According to the United States Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics, the April 2016 Metropolitan Area Occupational Employment and Wage
Estimate relevant for the Hospital is detailed below:

Local Demographics

Market Overview

SOC Code Occupation Title Employment(1) Median
Hourly

Mean
Hourly

Mean 
Annual(2)

Mean 
RSE(3)

29-1141 Registered Nurses 27,720 $45.72 $46.88 $97,520 2.0%
29-2034 Radiologic Technologists 1,620 $34.19 $33.57 $69,820 2.0%
29-2061 Licensed Practical and Licensed Vocational Nurses 7,210 $23.11 $23.26 $48,390 1.9%
29-2071 Medical Records and Health Information Technicians 1,740 $19.24 $22.46 $46,720 3.1%
29-2099 Health Technologists and Technicians,  All Other 2,760 $19.94 $20.32 $42,260 2.1%
31-1014 Nursing Assistants 7,120 $14.61 $15.87 $33,000 2.9%
31-9092 Medical Assistants 8,600 $14.31 $14.92 $31,040 1.4%
31-9093 Medical Equipment Preparers 540 $22.46 $22.57 $46,940 2.8%
31-9094 Medical Transcriptionists 310 $22.00 $21.12 $43,940 7.5%

(1) E stimates for detailed occupations do not sum to the totals because the totals include occupations not shown separately. E stimates do not include self-employed workers.

(3) The relative standard error (RSE ) is a measure of the reliability of a survey statistic. The smaller the relative standard error,  the more precise the estimate.

(2) Annual wages have been calculated by multiplying the hourly mean wage by a "year-round, full-time" hours figure of 2,080 hours; for those occupations where there is not an hourly mean wage
published,  the annual wage has been directly calculated from the reported survey data.
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Hospital is general term used to describe a facility which provides a wide variety of inpatient and outpatient healthcare services to patients. The
most common hospital type is a general short term acute care hospital, however there are different types of general acute care hospitals and
other specialty hospitals (rehabilitation, behavioral, long term, and children’s). Most of the hospitals operate as part of a network of hospitals
and outpatient facilities designed to provide comprehensive health services to patients within the community. Below is a brief description of the
different types of hospitals.

• General Acute Care Hospitals – Also known as short terms hospitals, these hospitals provide a wide range of medical and surgical services
including inpatient, intensive, trauma, neo-natal, cardiac, and other specialty care along with emergency diagnostic services. Care is intended
to be on a short term basis with most hospital stays lasting three to six days. In addition, general acute care hospitals provide a wide range of
outpatient services including surgery, physician services, primary care services, laboratory, diagnostic imaging, cardiology, and physical
therapy among others. Outpatient services can be provided in hospital outpatient departments, freestanding facilities, or combination of the
two. General acute care hospitals are generally separated into two categories: urban and rural hospitals. Urban hospitals tend to be larger as
measured in terms of total revenue and number of beds. In addition, urban hospitals are more likely to have additional designations for
trauma, cardiology, neurology, or other types of specialty emergency services. Of the almost 7,000 Medicare licensed hospitals as of 2017,
3,399 (49.2% of the total Medicare licensed hospital) were general acute care hospitals. This includes a segment of general acute care
hospitals that specialize in one line of care such as surgery, cardiac care, or orthopedics.

• Critical Access Hospital – The “Critical Access Hospital” designation was created by the Balanced Budget Act of 1997 in response to a string of
rural hospital closures. In order for a hospital to be classified as a Critical Access Hospital, it must meet the following requirements: the
hospital must have 25 acute care inpatient beds or fewer, provide emergency care services 24/7, maintain an annual average length of stay
of 96 hours or fewer, and be located at least 35 miles away from another hospital. The primary advantage of the Critical Access Hospital
designation is that the provider is reimbursed on a cost-based methodology as opposed to a prospective payment system. In general, critical
access hospitals can provide a limited range of services as compared to general acute care hospitals. Patients requiring intensive emergency
or specialty care must be transferred to larger urban hospitals. In 2017, there were 1,346 Medicare licensed critical access hospitals (19.5%
of the total Medicare licensed hospitals).

• Non-Participating Provider – A non-participating hospital accepts Medicare patients but does not agree to accept the Medicare approved
amount as full payment. However, there are limits on the amounts that non-participating providers can charge for services. There are
approximately 783 non-participating hospitals as of 2017 (11.3% of the total Medicare licensed hospitals). A majority of these hospitals are
operated by the Department of Veteran Affairs or the Indian Health Service.

Overview of Hospital Types

Market Overview
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• Rehabilitation Hospital – Also known as an inpatient rehabilitation facility (“IRF”), is a specialized facility type focused on restoring patient’s
physical and cognitive abilities. Patients in these hospitals have significant physical and cognitive disabilities due to an array of medical
conditions such as strokes, hip fractures, brain injuries, spinal cord injuries, orthopedic problems, neuromuscular disease, and debilitating
neurological conditions. IRFs can operate as a freestanding hospital or a hospital within a hospital (“HIH”). A HIH is a facility which will lease
space from a general acute care hospital and then operate as a separately licensed hospital, while freestanding IRFs operate independently. The
majority of rehab hospital patients are transferred from general acute care hospitals. IRFs differ from general acute care hospitals in that their
patients typically have a longer length of stay with conditions that require rehabilitative services on an inpatient basis. In addition, IRFs tend to
have an older patient base as compared to acute care hospitals. CMS reimburses IRFs based on a separate fee schedule known as the IRF
Prospective Payment System (“IRF PPS”). In order to be reimbursed under the IRF PPS, the facility must meet a number of criteria regarding the
severity of patients that are admitted to the hospital. As of 2017 there were approximately 282 freestanding IRFs (4.1% of total the Medicare
licensed hospitals).

• Behavioral Hospital – Specialize in the treatment of individuals with mental illness and behavioral issues. For behavioral hospitals, there are
often different types of facilities that treat patients with different mental or behavioral problems. An acute inpatient psychiatric facility provides
high levels of care to patients with mental illness. Sometimes these patients may be a harm to others or themselves, therefore, there is 24-hour
monitoring and treatment by a psychiatrist. Special treatment facilities treat patients with specific or severe behavioral disorders, such as an
eating disorder. These facilities classify and treat patients by severity of condition. Comprehensive treatment centers specialize in the use of
medication and abstinent-based treatment. This treatment when combined with behavioral therapy are used to help patients with substance
abuse problems and addiction. Residential treatment centers treat patients in a non-hospital setting. This includes social activities and outdoor
programs, making these facilities less intensive and demanding. As of 2017 there were approximately 584 inpatient behavioral hospitals (8.5%
of the total Medicare licensed hospitals).

• Long Term Acute Care Hospital (“LTACH”) – These hospitals are designed to meet the needs of patients with serious medical problems that
require a longer hospital stay and more focused medical treatment. The average patient stay at an LTACH is between 20-30 days. As with IRFs,
LTACHs can operate as a HIH or freestanding facility. Both types of LTACHs receive their patients on referral from general acute care hospitals.
These patients have serious and complex medical issues usually stemming from complex infectious disease, heart failure, respiratory failure,
pulmonary disease, renal disease, trauma, or a complex surgery that requires a long recovery. As of 2017 there were approximately 411 LTACHs
(6.0% of the total Medicare licensed hospitals).

• Children’s Hospital – Focus on the care and treatment of children (this includes any patient from infancy to 18 years of age). All medical
physicians working within the hospital have experience caring for children and all doctors are specially trained. As of 2017 there were
approximately 98 children’s hospitals (1.4% of the total Medicare licensed hospitals).

Overview of Hospital Types (Continued)

Market Overview
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Presented in the chart below is the number of Medicare licensed general acute care hospitals by type from 2000 to 2017, excluding specialty
hospitals and nonparticipating providers as defined on the previous page. As of 2017, there were a total of 4,743 general acute care hospitals. Of
the total licensed hospitals, approximately 54.4% were urban hospitals and 45.6% were rural hospitals. Rural hospitals are further segmented into
rural hospital hospitals that bill under the prospective payment system (herein referred to as “Rural PPS” hospitals) and Critical Access Hospitals
which are reimbursed on a cost basis. Overall, the total number of Medicare licensed hospitals has declined 0.2% compounded annually from
4,911 in 2000 to 4,743 in 2017. Over the same time period the number of urban hospitals declined 0.7% compounded annually while the number
of rural hospitals increased 0.4% compounded annually. The number of critical access hospitals increased significantly from 2000 to 2006 as rural
hospitals converted to the newly created critical access designation. It should be noted that multiple hospitals can be operated under a single
Medicare certification.

Total Medicare Licensed Facilities

Market Overview

Source: 2017 Medicare Provider of Services File 
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According to the national health expenditure data published by CMS, spending on hospital services accounted for the largest percentage of total
personal health expenditures. Personal health expenditures represents health expenditures spent directly for patient care. During 2016 total
expenditures on hospital services were approximately $1.1 trillion or approximately 38.2% of total national personal health expenditures. Total
hospital spending has increased 4.7% compounded annually from $822.3 billion in 2010 to $1.1 trillion in 2016. The growth in hospital spending
has accounted for a significant portion of growth in total national healthcare expenditures in recent years.

Analysis Of Total Hospital Spending

Market Overview
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As mentioned previously, acute care hospitals provide a variety of inpatient and outpatient services. Presented in the chart below is the
cumulative growth in inpatient admissions vs. outpatient visits per 1,000 people from 2000 to 2016 based on data published by the American
Hospital Association. Since 2000, the number of inpatient admissions per 1,000 people has decreased 12.1% cumulatively. Over the same time
period, the total number of outpatient visits per 1,000 individuals has increased 24.8% cumulatively from 2000 to 2016. These volume trends are
the result of an increased migration of services from the inpatient setting to the outpatient setting due to technological advances and pressure
from payors to reduce costs.

Analysis of Utilization Trends

Market Overview
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Presented in the chart below is the percentage of total hospital spending by payor for 2016 based on data published by CMS. As illustrated in the
chart the below, hospital spending was comprised primarily of private health insurance, Medicare, and Medicaid which accounted for
approximately 39.4%, 24.7%, and 17.9%, respectively of the total 2016 hospital spending. Payment rates from private health insurers are
negotiated with the individual payors and typically are paid a predetermined rate per diagnosis, per-diem, discount of charges, or other
contractual arrangements. The following pages give additional detail on the Medicare reimbursement methodology.

Analysis Of Hospital Payor Mix

Market Overview
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The Patient Protection and Accountable Care Act (“PPACA”) and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, signed into law on March 23,
2010, have significantly changed the way that healthcare services in the United States are covered, delivered, and reimbursed. The overall goal of
this comprehensive legislation is to extend health coverage to millions of uninsured legal U.S. residents through a combination of private sector
health insurance reforms and public program expansion. In order to fund the expansion of insurance coverage, PPACA contains measures
designed to promote quality and cost efficiency in health care delivery in order to generate budgetary savings for the Medicare & Medicaid
programs. The statutes and regulations of the PPACA have been the subject of various administrative appeals and lawsuits, however some of the
key provisions of the legislation include:

Individual Mandate: The legislation contains an “Individual Mandate” which requires most Americans to maintain “minimum essential” health
insurance coverage. Those that do not comply with the mandate will be required to make a “shared responsibility payment” to the federal
government in the form of a tax penalty. The tax penalty for non-exempt individuals without health coverage in 2014 was the greater of 1.0% of
income or $95 per individual and increased to 2.5% of income or $695 per individual in 2016. For individuals under the age of 18 the tax penalty is
reduced 50%.

Health Exchanges: To assist individuals who are not exempt from the individual mandate and who do not receive health insurance through an
employer or government program in obtaining insurance coverage, PPACA established health exchanges. Health exchanges are government
regulated organizations which provide competitive markets for buying health insurance for individuals and small employers. Certain states have
established their own health exchanges while other states have chosen to utilize the federal government’s health insurance exchange. Individuals
who purchase a plan through the exchange may be eligible for a premium credit or cost sharing subsidy.

Employer Mandate: The employer mandate provision of PPACA requires the imposition of penalties on employers with over 50 employees that
do not offer affordable health insurance to employees working 30 or more hours per week. In February of 2014, the implementation of the
employer mandate was delayed until January 1, 2016 for companies with 50 to 100 employees. For companies with more than 100 employees,
the percentage of full-time workers required to be covered was reduced to 70% in 2014 & 2015. In 2016 and subsequent years employers with
over 100 employees must offer health coverage to 95% of employees. Affordable health insurance is defined as premiums of no more than 9.5%
of an employee’s income and the employer must pay 60% of the actuarial value of a worker’s coverage. Companies that fail to comply with the
employer mandate can face fines of up to $2,000 for each employee not covered.

Healthcare Overview

Market Overview
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Medicaid Expansion: PPACA extended eligibility under Medicaid to almost all individuals under the age of 65 with incomes up to 138% of the
Federal Poverty Limit (“FPL”) beginning in 2014. Under PPACA the federal government will pay 100% of the cost of Medicaid expansion in 2014
through 2016. Federal funding will be reduced to 90% over the course of a four year period from 2017 through 2020 and will remain at 90.0%
after 2021. Historically, the income levels for Medicaid eligibility were determined by the state and were typically around 106% of the FPL.
Initially, PPACA required all states to expand Medicaid coverage or face possible reductions in existing funding for the Medicaid programs.
However, the constitutionality of this mandate was challenged in September of 2011 in the court case of the National Federation of Independent
Businesses vs. Sebelius (Secretary of the Department of HHS). The Supreme Court ruled that Congress had no authority to require the states to
expand their respective Medicaid programs. Congress may offer grants to the individual states for expanding Medicaid coverage but existing
Medicaid funding cannot be threatened. As a result of the ruling, the individual states were given the choice to expand Medicaid coverage.
Please see the following page for additional detail on the states that elected to expand Medicaid and the resulting increase in enrollment.

PPACA also contains a number of provisions designed to improve the quality and efficiency of medical care provided to Medicare and Medicaid
beneficiaries. These provisions include: the prohibition of Medicare or Medicaid funds from paying for the treatment of Hospital-Acquired
Conditions (“HACs”); reductions in reimbursement for hospitals with excessive readmissions; creation of the Medicare value-based purchasing
program; and the creation of the Center for Medicare & Medicaid Innovation to further explore potential hospital payment bundles.

PPACA also establishes a number of additional health insurance reforms including:

• Establishes a minimum medical loss ratio of 85% for large group plans and 80% for small group plans.
• Health insurers may not establish lifetime or annual limits on the dollar value of benefits.
• May not rescind coverage of any enrollee except in instances of fraud.
• Health insurers must reimburse hospitals for emergency services provided to enrollees without the need for prior authorization and without

regard to whether or not there is an existing contract with the provider.
• Extends dependent coverage until the age of 26

Healthcare Overview (Continued)

Market Overview
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Presented in the chart below is the total growth in Medicaid enrollment by state from 2013 through June 2017. Medicaid enrollment in states that 
have chosen to expand Medicaid coverage has increased 38.3% from 2013 to 2017. Over the same time period, Medicaid enrollment in states that 
have not elected to expand Medicaid coverage has increased 12.9% from 2013 to 2017. 

Healthcare Overview (Continued)

Market Overview
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PPACA also contains a number of provisions designed to reduce Medicare and Medicaid program spending. These provisions include negative
adjustments to the annual inflation updates for the Medicare fee schedules and reductions to the Medicare and Medicaid Disproportionate Share
Hospital Payments (“DSH”). Beginning in 2010, CMS has made negative adjustments to the annual market basket updates for Medicare’s IPPS,
OPPS, LTACH PPS, and IRF PPS fee schedules. Below is a summary of the proposed changes to the Medicare and Medicaid DSH programs:

Medicare DSH Payments: In addition to payments made under the inpatient prospective payment system for services provided directly to
beneficiaries, Medicare makes payments to hospitals which treat a disproportionately high share of low-income patients. Prior to October 31,
2013, Medicare DSH payments were made based on statistical information defined by CMS and calculated as a percentage add-on to the MS-DRG
payments. PPACA revised the DSH adjustment effective for discharges occurring on or after October 31, 2013. Under the revised methodology,
hospitals will receive 25% of the amount they previously would have received under the pre-PPACA formula. This portion is referred to as the
“Empirically Justified Payment”.

Hospitals that qualify for the Empirically Justified Payment are also eligible to receive additional payments for uncompensated care, referred to as
the “UC DSH Payment”. The UC DSH payment comprises the remaining 75% of the total DSH payments that would have been paid under the
historical formula. Each eligible hospital will receive a UC DSH payment based on its share of uninsured low income days (which is the sum of the
Medicaid days and Medicare SSI days). The total UC DSH payments are calculated at 75% of DSH payments that would have been made under
previous methodology and will be reduced annually by the percentage change in uninsured individuals under the age of 65.

Medicaid DSH Payments: In addition, CMS makes Medicaid DSH payments to states who then determine the methodology for distributing the
payments to the individual hospitals. Federal law requires that state Medicaid programs make DSH payments to qualifying hospitals that serve a
large number of Medicaid and uninsured individuals. In the fiscal year 2016 Medicaid DSH payments totaled approximately $19.1 billion. PPACA
called for reductions in Medicaid DSH payments beginning in 2014. However, the decision not to expand Medicaid coverage by certain states
have resulted in several delays in the Medicaid DSH cuts. Most recently, The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 pushed Medicaid DSH reductions back
to FY 2020. In FY 2020 Medicaid DSH payments are scheduled to be reduced by $4.0 billion increasing to $8.0 billion annually from FY 2020 to FY
2025.

Healthcare Overview (Continued)

Market Overview

Sources: MedPac and Medicaid & CHIP Payment and Access Commission
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Medicare payments for inpatient services are made per the Inpatient Prospective Payment System, known as (“IPPS”). Under the IPPS, hospitals
are paid a pre-determined amount for each hospital discharge based on the patient’s diagnosis, called a Diagnosis Related Group (”DRG”). DRG
payments are based on national averages and not on specific hospitals costs, but DRG payments are adjusted by a predetermined geographic
adjustment factor assigned to the hospital’s locale. DRG rates are adjusted by an update factor each federal fiscal year, which begins October 1st.
The index used to adjust the DRG rates is referred to as the market basket index. This index gives consideration to the inflation experienced by
hospitals in purchasing its required goods and services.

The majority of hospital outpatient services furnished to patients are paid by Medicare through the Outpatient Prospective Payment System
(“OPPS”). These outpatient services are classified into Ambulatory Payment Classifications (“APCs”). A patient may be assigned into a single or
multiple APCs depending on the service ordered during the patient encounter. Medicare pays a set price for each group, regardless of the actual
costs incurred in providing care. Medicare sets the payment rate for each APC based on historical median cost data and adjusts the payment for
geographic location. Similar to the payments based on DRGs, APC payments are updated each federal fiscal year based on the market basket
index. The following services are paid based on other fee schedules established by Medicare: physical, occupational and speech therapy; durable
medical equipment; diagnostic laboratory services; and services at freestanding surgical centers and diagnostic facilities.

CMS adopted a final rule on August 22, 2007 that established Medicare Severity DRGs (“MS-DRGs”). The rule’s goal was to refine the DRG
weighting system to fully capture differences in severity of illness among patients, replacing 538 DRGs with 745 MS-DRGs. The switch to the MS-
DRG system was intended to be budget neutral in that total Medicare payments to hospitals should not increase or decrease solely due to
changes in documentation and coding practices. In order to ensure that improvements in coding and documentation do not lead to an increase in
aggregate payments without a corresponding growth in patient severity, CMS will initiate a negative coding adjustment every fiscal year.

Medicare Payment Overview

Market Overview
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Medicare Payment Overview (Continued)

Market Overview

IPPS FY 2018 Final Rule
On August 2, 2017 the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
released the Inpatient Prospective Payment System fiscal year (FY) 2018
final rule which called for a 1.2% increase in hospital operating
payments for hospitals reporting all quality metrics. The increase is
slightly below the proposed increase of 1.6%. The increase is the result
of the following adjustments:

• Market Basket Update (Inflation) – The hospital market basket
update for FY 2018 of positive 2.7%.

• PPACA Reduction – The ACA mandated reduction for FY 2018 of
negative 0.8%.

• 21st Century Care Act – One time increase mandated by 21st Century
Care Act of positive 0.5%

• Two-Midnight Policy Offset – One time adjustment to offset the
previous increase related to Two-Midnight Rule of negative 0.6%.

• Productivity Adjustment – The productivity adjustment for FY 2018
of negative 0.6%.

Changes to DSH Payments
Medicare is making two changes to the calculation for uncompensated care payments to DSH hospitals. First, CMS finalized the proposal to
incorporate data from the National Health Expenditure Accounts into its estimate of the percentage change in the rate of uninsurance. The
percentage change in the rate of uninsurance is utilized in calculating the total amount of uncompensated care payments available to be distributed.
In addition, CMS will incorporate uncompensated care cost data from worksheet S-10 of the FY 2014 cost reports, in combination with the Medicare
and Medicaid low income days, to determine the distribution of uncompensated care payments to individual hospitals.

Based on these changes, CMS estimates that it will distribute roughly $6.8 billion in uncompensated care payments in FY 2018, an increase of
approximately $800 million from FY 2017. As required by the ACA and subsequent legislation, this amount is equal to 75% of what otherwise would
have been paid as Medicare DSH payments under the original formula, adjusted for the change in uninsured individuals and other factors.

Sources: CMS FY 2018 IPPS Final Rule Fact Sheet
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Historical IPPS Reimbursement
Presented in the chart below are the net proposed and final IPPS payment increases for the past thirteen years. Since FY 2010 the average annual
payment increase has been approximately 1.1% which is below the average annual increase for the five prior years of 3.6%. The decrease in the
annual updates is primarily due to the productivity adjustment mandated by the PPACA and the documentation and coding adjustment mandated
by the American Taxpayer Relief Act. It should be noted that payment increases presented below do not reflect any DSH or outlier payment
adjustments.

Medicare Payment Overview (Continued)
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Medicare Payment Overview (Continued)

Market Overview

Sources: CMS CY 2017 OPPS Final Rule Fact Sheet

OPPS CY 2017 Final Rule
On November 1, 2016, CMS released the CY 2017 OPPS final payment
update which resulted in an increase of 1.4% for hospital outpatient
departments (“HOPDs”). The increase is the result of the following
adjustments:

• Inflation Update – The OPPS market basket update for CY 2017 is
positive 2.7%.

• Productivity Adjustment – The multi-factor productivity adjustment
for CY 2017 is negative 0.6%.

• PPACA Reduction – The PPACA mandated reduction for CY 2017 is
negative 0.8%.

Other miscellaneous payment provisions from the CY 2017 ruling include:

• Certain provider-based departments that started billing under the
OPPS on and/or after November 2, 2015 will no longer be paid for
most services under the OPPS. On January 1, 2017 these facilities will
be reimbursed at a site neutral rate. Services provided in a dedicated
emergency department will continue to be paid under the OPPS.
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The summary above presents certain operating results for FYE 2015, 2016, 2017, and TTM 2018. Net operating revenue increased 5.8% compounded
annually, from approximately $491.1 million in FYE 2015 to approximately $562.9 million in TTM 2018. More recently, net operating revenue increased
4.6%, from approximately $538.2 million in FYE 2017 to approximately $562.9 million in TTM 2018.

Operating expenses increased 6.7% compounded annually, from approximately $367.3 million in FYE 2015 to approximately $429.9 million in TTM 2018.
More recently, operating expenses increased 0.9%, from approximately $426.1 million in FYE 2017 to approximately $429.9 million in TTM 2018.

As a result of the operating expenses growth rate exceeding the net operating revenues growth rate, EBITDA as a percentage of net revenue decreased
from approximately 25.2% in FYE 2015 to 23.6% in TTM 2018.

Note: Detailed Income Statement can be found in the Appendix.

Selected Financial Data
Executive Summary

FYE FYE FYE TTM
2015 2016 2017 2018

Total Net Operating Revenue 491,063,987 549,132,545 538,194,797 562,925,293

Operating Expenses 367,253,350 423,350,259 426,119,146 429,861,588
EBITDA 123,810,637 125,782,286 112,075,651 133,063,705
Earnings before Taxes 109,090,945 110,351,215 95,837,470 117,226,839

Percentage of Net Revenue:
Operating Expenses 74.8% 77.1% 79.2% 76.4%
EBITDA 25.2% 22.9% 20.8% 23.6%
Earnings before Taxes 22.2% 20.1% 17.8% 20.8%

Selected Financial Data
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Income Statement Analysis – FYE 2017 vs. TTM 2018

Net Operating Revenue:

Net operating revenue increased 4.6%, from approximately $538.2 million in FYE 2017 to approximately $562.9 million in TTM 2018. The increase in net
operating revenue is detailed below:

• Total Net Patient Revenue increased 1.5%, from approximately $484.1 million in FYE 2017 to approximately $491.3 million in TTM 2018;
• Total Supplemental Payments increased 34.1% from approximately $53.3 million in FYE 2017 to approximately $71.5 million in TTM 2018.

Operating Expenses:

Operating expenses increased 0.9%, from approximately $426.1 million in FYE 2017 to approximately $429.9 million in TTM 2018. The Hospital’s
operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenue fluctuated as follows:

• Employee salaries & wages expense for TTM 2018 was 33.2% of net operating revenue (below 34.8% in FYE 2017);
• Employee benefits expense for TTM 2018 was 9.1% of net operating revenue (below 9.5% in FYE 2017);
• Occupancy costs for TTM 2018 were 1.0% of net operating revenue (same as in FYE 2017);
• Drugs & medical supplies expense for TTM 2018 was 13.6% of net operating revenue (below 14.0% in FYE 2017);
• Other medical costs for TTM 2018 were 6.7% of net operating revenue (above 6.6% in FYE 2017);
• Insurance expense for TTM 2018 was 1.2% of net operating revenue (below to 1.4% in FYE 2017); and,
• General & administrative expenses for TTM 2018 were 11.6% of net operating revenue (below 12.0% in FYE 2017).

As a result of the higher increase in net operating revenue compared to the slight increase in operating expenses as a percentage of net operating
revenue, the Hospital’s EBITDA margin increased from 20.8% in FYE 2017 to 23.6% in TTM 2018.

Financial Statement Analysis
Executive Summary
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Illustrated above are the Hospital’s volume statistics for FYE 2015, 2016, 2017, and TTM 2018. The Hospital’s admissions remained relatively constant
compounded annually from 19,738 in FYE 2015 to 19,694 in TTM 2018. More recently, the Hospital’s admissions increased 0.2% from 19,650 in FYE 2017 to
19,694 in FYE 2017.

The Hospital's patient days increased 1.6% compounded annually from 88,855 in FYE 2015 to 92,271 in TTM 2018. More recently, patient days decreased 0.5%
from 92,724 in FYE 2017 to 92,271 in TTM 2018.

Volume Analysis
Executive Summary

FYE FYE FYE TTM
2015 2016 2017 2018

Utilization Statistics:
Admissions 19,738         20,184         19,650         19,694         

Growth 2.3% (2.6%) 0.2%
Adjusted Admissions 28,041         28,740         28,669         28,622         

Growth 2.5% (0.2%) (0.2%)
Patient Days 88,855         97,083         92,724         92,271         

Growth 9.3% (4.5%) (0.5%)
Adjusted Patient Days 126,233       138,239       135,282       134,100       

Growth 9.5% (2.1%) (0.9%)
Outpatient Visits 159,534       164,406       168,102       167,037       

Growth 3.1% 2.2% (0.6%)
Census Data:

Average Daily Census 243.44 265.25 254.04 252.80
Other Key Statistics:

Case Mix Index n/a 1.57 1.54 1.61

Total Hospital Volume:

Page 157 of 417



Page | 41FINAL REPORT | Desert Regional Medical Center

As shown above, the Hospital’s staff currently consists of approximately 1,933 full-time equivalent (“FTE”) employees as of TTM 2018, a 0.9% decrease
from 1,951 employees in FYE 2017.

The average hourly salary per FTE was approximately $46.49 during TTM 2018, which represented a 0.8% increase over the FYE 2017 average hourly
salary per FTE of approximately $46.13. The average FTE per adjusted occupied bed was 5.3 in TTM 2018.

Staffing Analysis
Executive Summary

FYE FYE FYE TTM
2015 2016 2017 2018

Hospital Employed FTEs 1,720               1,976               1,951               1,933               
Growth 14.9% (1.3%) (0.9%)

Paid Hours 3,577,600       4,110,080       4,058,080       4,020,640       
Growth 14.9% (1.3%) (0.9%)

Paid Hours per Adjusted Patient Day 28.3                 29.7                 30.0                 30.0                 
Growth 4.9% 0.9% (0.0%)

FTEs per Adjusted Occupied Bed 5.0                    5.2                    5.3                    5.3                    
Growh 5.2% 0.6% (0.0%)

Average Hourly Salary per FTE $45.14 $46.39 $46.13 $46.49
Growth 2.8% (0.6%) 0.8%

Average Hourly Benefits per FTE $12.34 $12.09 $12.54 $12.75
Growth (2.1%) 3.7% 1.7%

Historical Staffing Summary
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Medicare, 16.1% 

Medicaid, 13.4% 

Managed Medicare, 
15.9% Managed Medicaid, 

12.4% 

Commercial Managed Care, 
33.9% 

Managed Exchange, 
4.2% 

Self Pay / Charity, 
0.2% Other, 3.9% 

Net Patient Revenue Payor Mix - YTD 2018

Illustrated above is the Hospital’s payor mix based on net collections for FYE 2015, 2016, 2017, and YTD 2018. During YTD 2018, the largest payors as a
percentage of net collections were Commercial Managed Care (33.9%) and Medicare (16.1%). Other payors include Managed Medicare (15.9%) and
Medicaid (13.4%).

Payor Mix Analysis
Historical Operations Analysis

Historical Payor Mix FYE FYE FYE YTD
Expressed as  % of Net Patient Revenue 2015 2016 2017 2018

Medicare 14.2% 14.5% 15.7% 16.1%
Medicaid 14.0% 12.7% 14.1% 13.4%
Managed Medicare 15.6% 16.9% 17.3% 15.9%
Managed Medicaid 12.7% 13.7% 13.5% 12.4%
Commercial Managed Care 31.7% 34.0% 30.5% 33.9%
Managed Exchange 4.9% 4.0% 4.3% 4.2%
Self Pay / Charity 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 0.2%
Other 5.7% 2.9% 3.4% 3.9%
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Source: Hospital's payor mix report which is reported in terms of net patient revenue.
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IRS Revenue Ruling 59-60 is a landmark ruling by the IRS that provides general guidelines for the valuation of closely held companies. We define FMV as
established by IRS Revenue Ruling 59-60 as “the amount at which property would change hands between a willing seller and a willing buyer when neither
is acting under compulsion and when both have reasonable knowledge of all relevant facts and circumstances.” IRS Revenue Ruling 59-60 calls for
examination of the following elements in connection with the subject Hospital:

• The nature and history of the Hospital from inception;
• The economic outlook in general and the outlook for the specific specialty area and market area of the Hospital;
• The financial condition of the Hospital;
• The earning capacity of the Hospital;
• The dividend paying capacity of the Hospital;
• The goodwill or other intangible value of the Hospital;
• Prior sales of the stock and the size of the block of stock to be valued; and,
• The market prices of Hospitals in the same or similar specialty areas.

In light of the general guidelines set forth in IRS Revenue Ruling 59-60, VMG’s investigation and analysis includes the following:

• Interviews with management concerning past, present and prospective operating results of the Hospital;
• Analysis of the financial condition and historical operating and financial performance of the Hospital;
• Consideration of the economic outlook in general and the outlook for the specific specialty area and market area of the Hospital;
• With the assistance of Hospital personnel, our analysis estimates the earning and dividend paying capacity of the Hospital; and,
• Consideration of the Cost, Market, and Income Approaches to value.

As discussed, we have considered the use of the Cost, Market and Income Approaches to value. The following briefly describes each approach:

• Cost Approach - estimates the cost to recreate a business;
• Market Approach - estimates value by examining the value of similar businesses in a free and open market; and,
• Income Approach - estimates value by projecting a future income stream attributable to a business and then discounts those earnings back to

present value.

Each approach is suitable in different situations. The subsequent sections of this report provide the benefits and challenges of using the three
approaches.

Valuation Methodologies & Assumptions
Valuation Overview
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While we have considered the use of each approach to value, we have relied on the Income Approach to value the Hospital. Unlike the Cost and Market
Approach, the Income Approach evaluates the future economic income stream that is specific to the Hospital. In determining the applicability of the Cost
or Market Approach, we considered the following difficulties:

 Cost Approach
− The book value of the Hospital’s identified tangible assets may not reflect market value.
− Does not consider the going-concern, goodwill, or other intangible value of the Hospital.

 Market Approach
− Similar publicly traded companies have diversified business lines and are not “pure play” acute care hospital operators and are not comparable to

the Subject Hospital from a size or growth standpoint.
− Many of the private transactions involve hospitals with low or negative profitability. Additionally, there are very few transaction observations

involving California Hospitals which have a similar dependence on the revenue generated through the Hospital Quality Assurance Fee program.

It should be noted that Market Approach results were considered in the determination of the selected value indication as the results support the Income
Approach.

The following sections discuss in more detail the application of the Cost, Market, and Income Approaches to the Hospital.

Selection of the Income Approach
Valuation Overview
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The Cost Approach, also known as the asset or build-up approach, is a method that attempts to value a business by identifying and valuing each tangible
and intangible asset. The valuation premise used in this method may be one of the following:

 Value in continued use as part of a going concern;
 Value in place as part of a mass assemblage of assets;
 Value in exchange as part of an orderly disposition or forced liquidation.

The Cost Approach can be considered to provide a “floor” or lowest minimum value related to a business. This method may be an appropriate method
when the Market Approach and Income Approach produce a value lower than the Cost Approach. In determining the applicability of the Cost Approach,
we must also consider the earnings generated by the business as indicated in its historical and projected financial statements.

Under this approach, the identified tangible and intangible assets are valued based on the cost associated with “recreating” each asset. The asset
components are examined and the related valuation assumptions for each are noted in the appendix.

Identified Tangible Assets:

Non Cash Net Working Capital - We have determined the normalized net working capital excluding cash to be 26.6% of net operating revenue, or
approximately $43.5 million.

Net Fixed Assets – The value of net fixed assets was determined to be $93.1 million based on either the balance sheet as of May 31, 2018, or a fair
market value analysis as of May 31, 2018.

As a result, the BEV of the Hospital under the cost approach is estimated at approximately $136.6 million. VMG has not relied upon the value indication
produced by the Cost Approach as the book value of the Hospital’s identified tangible assets does not consider the going-concern, goodwill, or other
intangible value of the Hospital.

General Assumptions
Cost Approach
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The Market Approach estimates value by comparing the subject entity to similar businesses, business ownership interests, securities, or other assets that
have been purchased or sold. The underlying premise of the Market Approach to valuation is the economic principle of substitution— assets of similar
utility should have similar relative value. The Market Approach relies on observable market data to estimate indications of value. Appropriate market
comparisons can provide some evidence of the value of a business or a business interest. The Market Approach uses relative value measures called
“multiples” where selected fundamental financial or operational variables (typically revenue and/or EBITDA) are multiplied to derive a value indication.

In our application of the Market Approach, we considered two distinct methods: the Guideline Public Company Method (“GPCM”) and the Merger &
Acquisition Method (“M&A Method”). These methods are summarized below and discussed in greater detail on the following pages.

 Guideline Public Company Method: is a method whereby market multiples are derived from the market prices of stocks of companies that are
engaged in the same or similar lines of business and actively traded on a free and open public market. Market multiples are developed by dividing the
value of a publicly traded company’s stock or invested capital by a financial measure, such as revenue, EBITDA or net income—these multiples
provide an indication of how much a knowledgeable investor in the marketplace is willing to pay for an ownership interest in a company. The selected
market multiples are then applied to the financial measure of the subject to provide a value indication. The selected guideline public companies
should be similar to the subject business in terms of industry, product, market, growth and risk.

 Merger & Acquisition Method: is a method whereby pricing multiples are derived from transactions of ownership interests in companies engaged in
the same or similar lines of business. This method reviews published data regarding actual transactions in either publicly traded or privately held
companies. Similar to the GPCM, market multiples are developed by dividing the TIC paid by the seller by the financial metrics of the target company.
In judging whether a reasonable basis for comparison exists, consideration must be given to certain factors, such as the similarity of ownership
interest acquired, investor characteristics, the extent to which reliable data is known about the selected transactions (i.e. ownership interest
acquired, consideration paid, and target company financial information) and whether the price paid for the guideline companies was negotiated at an
arms-length transaction and not forced/distressed sale.

Source: The Market Approach to Valuing a Business – Second Edition by Shannon Pratt

General Assumptions
Market Approach
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The GPCM derives a value for the subject company by applying the observed market multiples for similar publicly traded companies. These similar
companies are referred to as “guideline” companies. The TIC for the guideline companies is estimated by adding the market value of firm’s equity plus the
book value of the firm’s outstanding debt, non-controlling interest, and preferred equity. Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) represent the estimated value
of the minority shareholders ownership interest in the firm’s consolidated businesses. It is common for healthcare guideline companies to operate
facilities in partnership with third parties including physicians and non-profit health systems. In this case, the entities' consolidated financial statements
include 100% of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the facilities in which the guideline companies have sufficient ownership and rights to
assert “significant influence” over the facility operations as defined by accounting standards. The value of the NCI is recorded on the balance sheets of the
guideline companies at the fair value at the time of acquisition adjusted annually by net income attributable to the NCI less distributions to the NCI.

The BEV value indication derived for the guideline companies are then divided by the firm’s consolidated revenue and EBITDA to derive applicable market
multiples for the subject entity. It should be noted that consolidated EBITDA has been adjusted to account for the earnings in unconsolidated affiliates
(i.e. partnerships of the guideline company which are accounted for under the equity method of accounting). Based on the publicly available financial
statements for the guideline companies, VMG is unable to adjust the consolidated revenue to account for the unconsolidated affiliates. Since the TIC
value indications presented for the guideline companies include the estimated equity values of NCI, VMG has not reduced the consolidated EBITDA by the
net income attributable to NCI.

In order to utilize this approach, similar businesses must be identified that have publicly available data. When selecting guideline companies, several
factors are considered, including but not limited to the following:

• Similarity of services offered by the subject company;
• Size of the subject company, in terms of revenue, assets, number of operating locations, etc.;
• Product/service line diversification;
• Geographic diversification;
• Profitability of the company;
• Capital structure;
• Historical and prospective growth rates of the company; and
• Financial risk of the company.

Please see the following pages for a description of companies considered for the GPCM.

Guideline Public Company Method
Market Approach
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Public Company Comparables
A variety of public companies specialize in the ownership and operation of acute care hospitals. The companies we have identified are traded on the NYSE
and NASDAQ. We have provided a brief description of the companies below.

• Community Health Systems, Inc. (CYH): Community Health Systems, Inc., together with its subsidiaries, owns, leases, and operates general acute
care hospitals in the United States. It offers general acute care, emergency room, general and specialty surgery, critical care, internal medicine,
obstetrics, diagnostic, psychiatric, and rehabilitation services, as well as skilled nursing and home care services. The company also provides outpatient
services at urgent care centers, occupational medicine clinics, imaging centers, cancer centers, ambulatory surgery centers, and home health and
hospice agencies. As of December 31, 2016, it owned or leased 155 hospitals, including 152 general acute care hospitals and 3 stand-alone
rehabilitation or psychiatric hospitals with an aggregate of 26,222 licensed beds in 21 states. The company was founded in 1985 and is headquartered
in Franklin, Tennessee.

• HCA Healthcare, Inc. (HCA): HCA Healthcare, Inc., through its subsidiaries, provides health care services in the United States and England. The
company operates general, acute care hospitals that offer medical and surgical services, including inpatient care, intensive care, cardiac care,
diagnostic, and emergency services; and outpatient services, such as outpatient surgery, laboratory, radiology, respiratory therapy, cardiology, and
physical therapy services. It also operates psychiatric hospitals, which provide therapeutic programs comprising child, adolescent and adult
psychiatric care, and adolescent and adult alcohol and drug abuse treatment and counseling. In addition, the company operates outpatient health
care facilities consisting of freestanding ambulatory surgery centers, freestanding emergency care facilities, urgent care facilities, walk-in clinics,
diagnostic and imaging centers, rehabilitation and physical therapy centers, radiation and oncology therapy centers, physician practices, and various
other facilities. As of December 31, 2016, it operated 166 general, acute care hospitals with 43,778 licensed beds; 3 psychiatric hospitals with 412
licensed beds; and 1 rehabilitation hospital, as well as 118 freestanding surgery centers. The company was formerly known as HCA Holdings, Inc. HCA
Healthcare, Inc. was founded in 1968 and is headquartered in Nashville, Tennessee.

• Quorum Health Corporation (QHC): Quorum Health Corporation provides hospital and outpatient healthcare services in the United States. Its general
hospital and outpatient healthcare services include general acute care, emergency room, general and specialty surgery, critical care, internal
medicine, obstetric, diagnostic, psychiatric, and rehabilitation services. Quorum Health Corporation offers its healthcare services through its hospitals
and affiliated facilities, including urgent care centers, diagnostic and imaging centers, physician clinics, and surgery centers. The company, through its
subsidiary, Quorum Health Resources, LLC, provides management advisory and consulting services to non-affiliated hospitals. As of December 31,
2016, it owned or leased 36 hospitals with an aggregate of approximately 3,459 licensed beds in 16 states. The company was incorporated in 2015
and is headquartered in Brentwood, Tennessee.

Source: S&P Capital IQ, www.capitaliq.com

Guideline Public Company Method
Market Approach
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• LifePoint Health, Inc. (LPNT): LifePoint Health, Inc., through its subsidiaries, owns and operates community hospitals, regional health systems,
physician practices, outpatient centers, and post-acute facilities in the United States. Its hospitals offer a range of medical and surgical services, such
as general surgery, internal medicine, obstetrics, emergency room care, radiology, oncology, diagnostic care, coronary care, rehabilitation, and
pediatric services, as well as specialized services, including open-heart surgery, skilled nursing, psychiatric care, and neuro-surgery. The company’s
hospitals also provide various outpatient services comprising same-day surgery, laboratory, X-ray, respiratory therapy, imaging, sports medicine, and
lithotripsy. In addition, it owns and operates schools of nursing and other allied health professions. As of December 31, 2016, the company operated
72 hospital campuses, including 9,424 licensed beds in 22 states. The company was formerly known as LifePoint Hospitals, Inc. and changed its name
to LifePoint Health, Inc. in May 2015. LifePoint Health, Inc. was founded in 1997 and is based in Brentwood, Tennessee.

• Tenet Healthcare Corp. (THC): Tenet Healthcare Corporation, together with its subsidiaries, operates as a diversified healthcare services company. It
operates in three segments: Hospital Operations and Other, Ambulatory Care, and Conifer. The company’s general hospitals offer acute care services,
operating and recovery rooms, radiology and respiratory therapy services, clinical laboratories, and pharmacies. It also provides intensive and critical
care, and coronary care units; physical therapy, orthopedic, oncology, and outpatient services; tertiary care services, including open-heart surgery,
neonatal intensive care, and neurosciences; quaternary care in heart, liver, kidney, and bone marrow transplants areas; tertiary and quaternary
pediatric, and burn services; and limb-salvaging vascular procedures, acute level 1 trauma services, intravascular stroke care, minimally invasive
cardiac valve replacement, imaging technology, and telemedicine access for various medical specialties. In addition, the company offers ambulatory
surgery and urgent care centers, imaging centers, and short-stay surgical hospitals, as well as Aspen’s hospitals and clinics; healthcare business
process services in the areas of hospital and physician revenue cycle management and value-based care solutions; and microhospitals, physician
practices, and health plans. Further, it provides accounts receivable and health information management, and revenue integrity and patient financial
services; patient communications and engagement services; and clinical integration, financial risk management, and population health management
services. As of February 27, 2017, the company operated 80 general acute care hospitals, 20 short-stay surgical hospitals, and approximately 470
outpatient centers, as well as 239 ambulatory surgery, 34 urgent care, and 21 imaging centers in the United States; and 9 private hospitals and clinics
in the United Kingdom. Tenet Healthcare Corporation was founded in 1967 and is headquartered in Dallas, Texas.

• Universal Health Services (UHS): Universal Health Services, Inc., through its subsidiaries, owns and operates acute care hospitals, behavioral health
facilities, and ambulatory centers. The company’s hospitals offer general and specialty surgery, internal medicine, obstetrics, emergency room care,
radiology, oncology, diagnostic care, coronary care, pediatric services, pharmacy services, and/or behavioral health services. As of February 28, 2017,
it owned and/or operated 26 inpatient acute care hospitals, 4 free-standing emergency departments, 1 surgical hospital, and 319 inpatient and 33
outpatient behavioral health care facilities located in 37 states, Washington, D.C.; the United Kingdom; Puerto Rico; and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The
company was founded in 1978 and is headquartered in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania.

Source: S&P Capital IQ, www.capitaliq.com

Guideline Public Company Method
Market Approach
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The table below summarizes the key valuation multiples for the identified publicly traded hospital companies. Due to Community Health Systems, Inc.
(“CYH”) and Quorum Health Corporation (“QHC”) being an outlier in relation to TTM EBITDA multiples, VMG has calculated multiples both with and
without CYH & QHC. The mean trailing twelve month (“TTM”) revenue multiples with and without CYH & QHC are 1.1x and 1.3x, respectively, while the
median multiples are 1.0x and 1.3x, respectively. The mean TTM EBITDA multiples with and without CYH & QHC are 11.3x and 8.5x, respectively, while
the median multiples are 9.2x and 8.6x, respectively. This data was sourced on August 22, 2018, and the TTM is as of the last reported quarter.

Guideline Public Company Method
Market Approach

Ticker Market 
Capitalization

Total
Debt Minority Interest Preferred Equity Cash & Short-Term 

Investments
Business 

Enterprise Value
Community Health Systems,  Inc. CYH $340,818 $13,715,000 $590,000  -                         $208,000 $14,437,818
HCA Healthcare,  Inc. HCA $44,401,162 $33,192,000 $1,864,000  -                         $913,000 $78,544,162
LifePoint Health,  Inc. LPNT $2,499,732 $2,928,400 $135,400  -                         $143,800 $5,419,732
Quorum Health Corporation QHC $120,236 $1,199,412 $17,013  -                         $2,822 $1,333,839
Tenet Healthcare Corporation THC $3,276,718 $14,867,000 $2,159,000  -                         $403,000 $19,899,718
Universal Health Services,  Inc. UHS $11,467,395 $3,990,464 $78,968  -                         $76,886 $15,459,941

Ticker TTM
Revenue

FY + 1
Revenue

FY + 2
Revenue

TTM
EBITDA

FY + 1
EBITDA

FY + 2
EBITDA

Community Health Systems,  Inc. CYH $13,975,000 $13,923,850 $13,220,249 $825,000 $1,603,707 $1,552,429
HCA Healthcare,  Inc. HCA $45,210,000 $46,199,801 $48,372,743 $8,481,000 $8,768,293 $9,239,939
LifePoint Health,  Inc. LPNT $6,239,000 $6,304,101 $6,427,871 $660,700 $741,383 $763,346
Quorum Health Corporation QHC $1,858,462 $1,944,077 $1,982,244 $80,722 $148,978 $169,200
Tenet Healthcare Corporation THC $18,769,000 $18,140,912 $18,028,498 $2,663,000 $2,602,447 $2,655,960
Universal Health Services,  Inc. UHS $10,553,520 $10,819,941 $11,348,893 $1,701,019 $1,770,035 $1,872,305

Ticker TTM
Revenue

FY + 1
Revenue

FY + 2
Revenue

TTM
EBITDA

FY + 1
EBITDA

FY + 2
EBITDA

Community Health Systems,  Inc. CYH 1.0x 1.0x 1.1x 17.5x 9.0x 9.3x
HCA Healthcare,  Inc. HCA 1.7x 1.7x 1.6x 9.3x 9.0x 8.5x
LifePoint Health,  Inc. LPNT 0.9x 0.9x 0.8x 8.2x 7.3x 7.1x
Quorum Health Corporation QHC 0.7x 0.7x 0.7x 16.5x 9.0x 7.9x
Tenet Healthcare Corporation THC 1.1x 1.1x 1.1x 7.5x 7.6x 7.5x
Universal Health Services,  Inc. UHS 1.5x 1.4x 1.4x 9.1x 8.7x 8.3x

 
Mean: 1.1 x 1.1 x 1.1 x 11.3 x 8.4 x 8.1 x

Median: 1.0 x 1.1 x 1.1 x 9.2 x 8.8 x 8.1 x

Mean: 1.3 x 1.3 x 1.2 x 8.5 x 8.2 x 7.8 x
Median: 1.3 x 1.3 x 1.2 x 8.6 x 8.2 x 7.9 x

Market Multiples

Market Multiples - Excluding CYH & QHC

Company Name

Company Name

Operating Revenue Operating EBITDA

Company Name

Implied Multiples
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Although the concept of using publicly traded guideline companies as surrogates is intended to be based on comparability, it is often not possible to
identify public companies similar to the subject business. There are many key differences between small to mid-size companies similar to the Hospital and
publicly traded companies, such as commercial payor negotiating leverage, service mix, patient mix, access to capital, and geographic diversification. In
addition, external microeconomic and macroeconomic events cause fluctuations in the prices of public company common stock prices, which will result in
changes in the calculated public company market caps and enterprise values.

With consideration to the mentioned disadvantages of the guideline company method, we believe that the key differences identified above are applicable
in the consideration of the Hospital’s value under this method. For these reasons, the guideline companies do not reflect comparable market multiples for
valuing the Hospital. We have not relied upon the pricing multiples and subsequent value indications generated by the guideline company method to
establish the value of the Hospital.

Guideline Public Company Method
Market Approach
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The M&A Method relies on the observation of recent transactions involving the sale of businesses or business units that are similar to the subject Hospital
(“Guideline Transactions”). The general notion of the M&A Method is consistent with the GPCM in that a relationship is developed between the price of
transactions to a fundamental financial variable which can be used to arrive at an indication of value. These multiples may be stated as BEV to revenue,
BEV to EBITDA, or another relevant relationship. In order to utilize this approach, Guideline Transactions must be identified which have available, reliable
and relevant data.

In order to identify Guideline Transaction multiples, we have extensively reviewed and analyzed information on transactions involving Hospitals. In
performing this analysis, VMG utilized the following multi‐tiered approach:

 Reviewed Market Commentary: Considered public commentary from Hospital operators regarding the current M&A environment. This commentary
provides background regarding the range of multiples buyers are utilizing to price transactions, the volume of M&A activity and the motivations for all
involved parties.

 Gathered Generally Comparable Publicly Announced M&A Transactions: VMG reviewed available data for publicly announced Hospital transactions
published by Irving Levin Associates, Capital IQ, and the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

 Proprietary Transaction Information: VMG has developed extensive knowledge of factors driving Hospital transaction pricing. In addition, VMG
maintains an internal database of all Hospital valuations performed by VMG.

Merger & Acquisition Method
Market Approach
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Public Transaction Database

In order to apply the M&A method for the Hospital, VMG has created a database of acquisition multiples for publicly announced transactions. Sources of
information initially include Irving Levin and Capital IQ, but additional sources are utilized to refine and verify public data available, including American
Hospital Directory, Electronic Municipal Market Access, U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission (8-K reports, 10-K reports, etc.), attorney general offices,
and online / general research. In certain instances, proprietary information obtained by VMG is utilized. The sample set below primarily consists of
independent single-site acute care hospitals and large health systems. VMG has omitted transactions where insufficient data was publicly available, or
where the multiples calculated were unreliable (primarily involving multiples of EBITDA). In addition, VMG has excluded transactions involving the
affiliation or merger of two or more entities as these transactions do not produce accurate acquisition multiples. VMG has presented below the
consolidated data for all acute care hospital transactions of non-distressed hospitals since January 2014:

For all observed transaction multiples, the BEV to revenue multiples ranged from a low of 0.1x to a high of 1.7x, with a median multiple of 0.6x and a
mean multiple of 0.7x. The BEV to EBITDA multiples ranged from a low of 0.8x to a high of 20.4x, with a median multiple of 8.6x and a mean multiple of
8.8x.

Merger & Acquisition Method
Market Approach

VMG  Complete Data Set    

Metric Business Enterprise Value / Revenue Business Enterprise Value / EBITDA

Median 0.6x 8.6x

Mean 0.7x 8.8x

25th Percentile 0.4x 7.0x

75th Percentile 1.0x 9.9x

High 1.7x 20.4x

Low 0.1x 0.8x
Number of Observations with 
Reported Statistics 119 70 
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Additionally, VMG considered transaction multiples from a subset of the transactions presented on the prior page in order to develop an understanding of
market multiples in relation to target hospital profitability. We have applied the following criteria in order to obtain additional information from a set of
transactions similar to the subject Hospital:

In each chart above certain transactions were eliminated (based on the target’s EBITDA margin) to illustrate the relationship between profitability and the
implied valuation multiples. As the charts above indicate, as profitability increases, the implied transaction BEV / EBITDA multiples declines.

Merger & Acquisition Method
Market Approach

EBITDA Margin G reater than 5.0%     

Metric Business Enterprise Value / Revenue Business Enterprise Value / EBITDA

Median 0.7x 8.4x

Mean 0.8x 8.2x

25th Percentile 0.6x 6.7x

75th Percentile 1.1x 9.4x

High 1.7x 20.4x

Low 0.1x 0.8x
Number of Observations with 
Reported Statistics 53 51 

EBITDA Margin G reater than 10.0%

Metric Business Enterprise Value / Revenue Business Enterprise Value / EBITDA

Median 1.0x 7.9x

Mean 1.0x 7.4x

25th Percentile 0.8x 6.2x

75th Percentile 1.3x 8.9x

High 1.7x 10.7x

Low 0.1x 0.8x
Number of Observations with 
Reported Statistics 26 24 

EBITDA Margin G reater than 15.0%

Metric Business Enterprise Value / Revenue Business Enterprise Value / EBITDA

Median 1.3x 7.6x

Mean 1.1x 6.9x

25th Percentile 0.6x 5.3x

75th Percentile 1.4x 8.7x

High 1.7x 9.6x

Low 0.1x 3.3x
Number of Observations with 
Reported Statistics 10 8 
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Based on the observed transaction multiples of the merger and acquisition method, as well as consideration of the unique characteristics of the subject
Hospital, it is our opinion that the appropriate BEV to revenue multiple is reasonably represented in a range between approximately 1.1x and 1.3x and a
BEV to EBITDA multiple is reasonably represented in a range between approximately 5.5x and 7.5x for an interest in an acute care hospital similar to the
Hospital.

As illustrated in the chart, we applied the selected range of revenue and EBITDA multiples to the Hospital’s Year 1 revenue and EBITDA. Based on the
average of the revenue and EBITDA multiple selections, VMG has calculated a blended average BEV for the Hospital of approximately $610 million. We
have utilized the Market Approach to corroborate the results of the Income Approach.

Merger & Acquisition Method
Market Approach

Multiple Year 1

Low High Low High

BEV/Revenue 1.1x to 1.3x $506,850,753 $560,000,000 to $660,000,000

BEV/EBITDA 5.5x to 7.5x $94,983,961 $520,000,000 to $710,000,000

Selected Multiple Range 520,000,000$               to 710,000,000$               

Midpoint (B EV/EB ITDA) &  (B EV/Revenue) $610,000,000

Range of Multiple Selections 
(Control Level)

Value Indication (Rounded)
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The Income Approach provides for two general methods for determining value: the capitalization of a single period’s net cash flow or the discounting of
several future periods’ net cash flow. We have employed the multi-period method (the discounted cash flow method) which allows for the forecasting of
a finite period of annual net cash flows. An important assumption of any method of the Income Approach is that the business or asset being valued
remains a going concern.

The first step of the discounted cash flow methodology is to estimate the net cash flows available to the firm (total invested capital level). For purposes of
the discounted cash flow methodology employed in our analysis, we have defined net cash flow as follows:

 Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”)
 Less: depreciation, amortization, and other applicable non-cash expenses
 Less: applicable federal and state income taxes payable
 Plus: depreciation, amortization, and other applicable non-cash expenses
 Less: incremental capital expenditure requirements
 Less: incremental working capital requirement
 Equals: net cash flow to invested capital

Because we are calculating net cash flow to invested capital, we have eliminated interest expense in the projection period. Estimated net cash flows are
projected for five years and then into perpetuity. The projected or future net cash flows are then discounted to arrive at a present value. The discount
rate (also known as the required rate of return, cost of capital, or hurdle rate) incorporates the estimated time value of money, inflation, and the risks
associated with the business entity. As mentioned before, this approach is based on the fundamental valuation principle that the value of a business is
equal to the present value (or worth) of the future benefits of ownership.

Please see the following pages for more detail on the application of the Income Approach.

General Assumptions
Income Approach
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Discount rate 12.0%
Terminal growth rate 3.0%
Tax rate 28.0%
Inflation Rate 3.0%
Incremental Non-Cash Net Working Capital requirements 8.0%
Terminal Capital Expenditures 2.5%

• Discount rate: The discount rate above refers to the estimated weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). This discount rate is an after-tax rate and
is described in detail, along with the WACC calculations, on the following pages.

• Terminal growth rate: The rate that operating revenue and expenses are expected to grow beyond Year 5 of our projections and into perpetuity.

• Tax rate: The blended federal and state income tax rate applicable to businesses operating in California.

• Inflation rate (“CPI”): The estimated rate of inflation, as reflected by the Consumer Price Index.

• Incremental non-cash net working capital requirements: Non-cash net working capital is current assets (accounts receivable, inventory, etc.) less
current liabilities (accounts payable and other accrued expenses) and is required to conduct day-to-day operations, maintain liquidity, and to
recognize revenue and expenses on an accrual accounting basis. Please note the net working capital value does not include cash. Although these
items are not reported on the income statement, an increase in non-cash net working capital should be considered as a use of cash. We are
projecting incremental non-cash net working capital to be 8.0% of incremental net operating revenue. In other words, for every $1 increase in net
operating revenue, non-cash net working capital will increase by $0.08.

• Forecast Development: All forecast assumptions were based on input from Hospital management and reviewed by VMG along with the District’s
financial consultants.

• Terminal Capital Expenditures: The estimated level of capital expenditures allowing the Hospital to maintain operations into perpetuity.

The income statement used to formulate the normalized base year is the income statement for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2018. Non-recurring and
non-operational items are adjusted out of the normalized income statement to give a clearer picture of the entity’s operations. In addition, the
normalized income statement applies federal and state income taxes and eliminates interest expense. All these adjustments are made to make the
normalized base year income statement a more accurate base from which to project the income statement in Year 1.

General Assumptions
Income Approach
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Non-recurring and non-operational items are adjusted out of the TTM 2018 income statement to give a clearer, more accurate picture of the Hospital’s
operations from which to project the income statement in Year 1.

Development of the Normalized Base Year
Income Approach

Major adjustments include the 
following:

1. Management indicated several 
one-time or non-recurring 
expenses were included in the 
Hospital's TTM 2018 income 
statement. Please refer to 
Appendix Normalized Base Year 
Schedule 1 for additional detail;

2. Medicaid Supplemental -
Income Provider' and 'Medicaid 
Supplemental - Assessment 
Provider' accounts are related to 
the Hospital's participation in 
the Hospital Qualify Assurance 
Fee ("HQAF") program Please 
refer to Appendix Normalized 
Base Year Schedule 2 for 
additional detail regarding this 
adjustment.

Normalized Base Year Footnotes TTM Normalized
Trail ing Twelve Month Period Ended May 31, 2018 2018 Base Year

Hospital Operating Revenue
Patient Revenue

Gross Inpatient Revenue $2,562,224,502 - $2,562,224,502
Inpatient Contractual 1 (2,220,650,822) $2,653,632 (2,217,997,190)

Net Inpatient Revenue 341,573,680 2,653,632 344,227,312

Gross Outpatient Revenue 1 1,161,536,693 ($1,870,000) 1,159,666,693
Outpatient Contractual (1,009,294,506) - (1,009,294,506)

Net Outpatient Revenue 152,242,187 (1,870,000) 150,372,187

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt $493,815,867 $783,632 $494,599,499

Bad Debt 1 (2,546,776) ($585,481) (3,132,257)

Total Net Patient Revenue $491,269,091 $198,151 $491,467,242

Supplemental Payments
Medicaid DSH 7,203,734 - 7,203,734
Medicaid Supplemental - Income Provider 2 97,750,754 (28,134,779) 69,615,975
Medicaid Supplemental - Assessment Provider 2 (33,794,251) 9,144,711 (24,649,540)
Electronic Health Record Incentives 301,700 - 301,700

Total 71,461,937 (18,990,068) 52,471,869

Other Revenue
Rental Income - - -
Other Revenue 194,265 - 194,265

Total 194,265 - 194,265

Total Net Operating Revenue $562,925,293 ($18,791,917) $544,133,376

Total Operating Expenses 3,4 429,861,588 17,803,316 447,664,904

EBITDA 133,063,705 (36,595,232) 96,468,473

Adjustments
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Non-recurring and non-operational items are adjusted out of the TTM 2018 income statement to give a clearer, more accurate picture of the Hospital’s
operations from which to project the income statement in Year 1.

Development of the Normalized Base Year
Income Approach

Major adjustments include the 
following:

3. Management Fees not captured 
in the Hospital's TTM 2018 
Income Statement have been 
estimated at 2.0% of revenue. 
Please refer to Appendix 
Normalized Base Year Schedule 
3, which provides support for 
the selected level of revenue;

4. Physician losses not captured in 
the TTM 2018 financial 
statements have been added in 
the Normalized Base Year. 
Please refer to Appendix 
Normalized Base Year Schedule 
4 for supporting calculations.

Normalized Base Year Footnotes TTM Normalized
Trail ing Twelve Month Period Ended May 31, 2018 2018 Base Year

Hospital Operating Revenue
Patient Revenue

Gross Inpatient Revenue $2,562,224,502 - $2,562,224,502
Inpatient Contractual 1 (2,220,650,822) $2,653,632 (2,217,997,190)

Net Inpatient Revenue 341,573,680 2,653,632 344,227,312

Gross Outpatient Revenue 1 1,161,536,693 ($1,870,000) 1,159,666,693
Outpatient Contractual (1,009,294,506) - (1,009,294,506)

Net Outpatient Revenue 152,242,187 (1,870,000) 150,372,187

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt $493,815,867 $783,632 $494,599,499

Bad Debt 1 (2,546,776) ($585,481) (3,132,257)

Total Net Patient Revenue $491,269,091 $198,151 $491,467,242

Supplemental Payments
Medicaid DSH 7,203,734 - 7,203,734
Medicaid Supplemental - Income Provider 2 97,750,754 (28,134,779) 69,615,975
Medicaid Supplemental - Assessment Provider 2 (33,794,251) 9,144,711 (24,649,540)
Electronic Health Record Incentives 301,700 - 301,700

Total 71,461,937 (18,990,068) 52,471,869

Other Revenue
Rental Income - - -
Other Revenue 194,265 - 194,265

Total 194,265 - 194,265

Total Net Operating Revenue $562,925,293 ($18,791,917) $544,133,376

Total Operating Expenses 3,4 429,861,588 17,803,316 447,664,904

EBITDA 133,063,705 (36,595,232) 96,468,473

Adjustments
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Hospital inpatient admissions are projected to increase 0.5% per year throughout the projection period. Therefore, admissions are projected to increase
from 19,694 in the NBY to 20,191 in Year 5.

Gross inpatient charge per admission is projected to increase by 2.0% in each year throughout the projection period. Inpatient Contractual Allowances are
projected to remain at the NBY level as a percentage of gross inpatient charges. Net Inpatient Revenue per Admission is projected to increase at 2.0%
annually from approximately $17,479 in the NBY to $19,298 in Year 5.

Based on these assumptions, net inpatient revenue is projected to increase by approximately 2.5% compounded annually throughout the projection
period, from approximately $344.2 million in the NBY to approximately $389.7 million in Year 5.

Revenue Assumptions
Income Approach

INPATIENT REVENUE

Volume Assumptions

Admissions per year

  Growth

Inpatient R eimbursement (per Admission)

Gross Inpatient Charge per Admission %  of NBY Charges

Inpatient Contractual per Admission 86.6%

Average Net Inpatient Revenue per Admission

Growth

Inpatient Gross Charges

Estimated Inpatient Contractual

  Net Inpatient Revenue

Growth

REVENUE ASSUMPTIONS:
Normalized
B ase Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

19,694 19,792 19,891 19,991 20,091 20,191

- 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%

$130,102 $132,704 $135,358 $138,065 $140,826 $143,643

(112,623) (114,875) (117,173) (119,516) (121,907) (124,345)

$17,479 $17,828 $18,185 $18,549 $18,920 $19,298

0.8% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

$2,562,224,502 $2,626,536,337 $2,692,462,399 $2,760,043,205 $2,829,320,290 $2,900,336,229

(2,217,997,190) (2,273,668,919) (2,330,738,009) (2,389,239,533) (2,449,209,446) (2,510,684,603)

$344,227,312 $352,867,418 $361,724,390 $370,803,672 $380,110,844 $389,651,626

0.8% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

Projection Period
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Hospital outpatient visits are projected to increase 2.5% per year throughout the projection period. Therefore, outpatient visits are projected to increase
from 167,037 in the NBY to 188,987 in Year 5.

Gross outpatient charges per visit are projected to increase by 2.0% in each year throughout the projection period. Outpatient Contractual Allowances are
projected to remain at the NBY level as a percentage of gross outpatient charges. Net Outpatient Revenue per Visit is projected to increase at 2.0%
annually from approximately $900 in the NBY to $994 in Year 5.

Based on these assumptions, net outpatient revenue is projected to increase by approximately 4.5% compounded annually throughout the projection
period, from approximately $160.4 million in the NBY to approximately $187.8 million in Year 5.

Revenue Assumptions
Income Approach

REVENUE ASSUMPTIONS:
Normalized
B ase Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Projection Period

OUTPATIENT REVENUE

Outpatient Volume

Outpatient Visits per year

  Growth

Outpatient R eimbursement

Gross Charge per Outpatient Visit %  of NBY Charges

Outpatient Contractual per Admission 87.0%

Average Net Revenue per Outpatient Visit

Growth

Outpatient Gross Charges

Estimated Outpatient Contractual

Net Outpatient Revenue

Growth

(2,217,997,190)         (2,273,668,919)         (2,330,738,009)         (2,389,239,533)         (2,449,209,446)         (2,510,684,603)         

167,037 171,213 175,493 179,881 184,378 188,987

- 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

$6,943 $7,081 $7,223 $7,368 $7,515 $7,665

(6,042) (6,163) (6,286) (6,412) (6,540) (6,671)

$900 $918 $937 $955 $974 $994

(1.2% ) 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

$1,159,666,693 $1,212,431,528 $1,267,597,162 $1,325,272,833 $1,385,572,747 $1,448,616,307

(1,009,294,506) (1,055,217,406) (1,103,229,798) (1,153,426,754) (1,205,907,671) (1,260,776,470)

$150,372,187 $157,214,122 $164,367,364 $171,846,079 $179,665,076 $187,839,837

(1.2% ) 4.5% 4.6% 4.6% 4.5% 4.5%
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Total net patient revenue before bad debt is projected to increase at 3.1% compounded annually, from approximately $494.6 million in the NBY to
approximately $577.5 million in Year 5. Bad debt is projected to increase 3.1% compounded annually, from approximately $3.1 million in the NBY to
approximately $3.7 million in Year 5. Supplemental payments (including Medicaid payments) have no growth projected. Furthermore, other revenue is
projected to increase at the CPI (3.0%) throughout the projection period.

Based on the aforementioned volume and reimbursement growth assumptions, total net operating revenue is projected to increase at a 2.9%
compounded annual growth rate, from approximately $544.1 million in the NBY to approximately $626.5 million in Year 5.

Revenue Assumptions
Income Approach

HOSPITAL OPERATING REVENUE SUMMARY

Total Patient R evenue

Total Gross Charges (IP & OP)

Total Contractuals (IP & OP)

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt

Net Inpatient Revenue

Net Outpatient Revenue

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt

Growth

NBY %  of Total Gross Charges

Bad Debt 0.1%

Growth

Total Net Patient Revenue

Growth

Supplemental Payments

Medicaid DSH No Growth

Medicaid Supplemental - Income Provider No Growth

Medicaid Supplemental - Assessment Provider No Growth

Electronic Health Record Incentives No Growth

Total

Growth

Other R evenue

Other Revenue Increase at CPI

Total 

Growth

Total Net Operating Revenue

Growth

3,721,891,195          3,838,967,865          3,960,059,561          4,085,316,038          4,214,893,037          4,348,952,536          

(3,227,291,696)         (3,328,886,325)         (3,433,967,807)         (3,542,666,287)         (3,655,117,117)         (3,771,461,073)         

494,599,499             510,081,539             526,091,754             542,649,751             559,775,920             577,491,463             

$344,227,312 $352,867,418 $361,724,390 $370,803,672 $380,110,844 $389,651,626

$150,372,187 $157,214,122 $164,367,364 $171,846,079 $179,665,076 $187,839,837

$494,599,499 $510,081,539 $526,091,754 $542,649,751 $559,775,920 $577,491,463

0.2% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.2% 3.2%

(3,132,257)                (3,230,786) (3,332,694) (3,438,107) (3,547,156) (3,659,977)

23.0% 3.1% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2%

491,467,242             506,850,753             522,759,060             539,211,644             556,228,764             573,831,486             

0.0% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.2% 3.2%

7,203,734                  7,203,734 7,203,734 7,203,734 7,203,734 7,203,734

69,615,975               69,615,975 69,615,975 69,615,975 69,615,975 69,615,975

(24,649,540)              (24,649,540) (24,649,540) (24,649,540) (24,649,540) (24,649,540)

301,700                     301,700 301,700 301,700 301,700 301,700

52,471,869               52,471,869               52,471,869               52,471,869               52,471,869               52,471,869               

-26.6% - - - - -

194,265                     200,093 206,096 212,279 218,647 225,206

194,265                     200,093                     206,096                     212,279                     218,647                     225,206                     

0.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

$544,133,376 $559,522,715 $575,437,025 $591,895,792 $608,919,280 $626,528,561

(3.3% ) 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 2.9% 2.9%
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Total operating expenses as a percentage of revenue are projected to decrease from 82.3% in the NBY to 86.1% in Year 5 based on expense projections
provided by Hospital management. Employee salaries & wages, medical supplies, and general & administrative expenses comprise the majority of the
operating expense over the projection period.

It should be noted that operating expenses as a percentage of revenue increase throughout the projection period. The estimated operating expenses
imply an EBITDA margin of between 17.7% in the Normalized Base Year and 13.9% in Year 5 consistent with the observed comparable hospital EBITDA
margins presented in the Supplemental D-Exhibits.

Expense Assumptions & Capital Expenditures
Income Approach

Operating Expenses:

Employee Salaries & Wages

Employee Benefits

Occupancy Costs

Supplies

Medical Costs

Insurance

General & Administrative

Total Operating Expenses

Normalized
B ase Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

34.4% 34.8% 35.2% 35.7% 36.1% 36.6%

9.5% 9.6% 9.7% 9.8% 10.0% 10.1%

1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%

14.1% 14.3% 14.4% 14.6% 14.8% 15.0%

6.9% 6.9% 6.9% 6.9% 6.9% 6.9%

1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2%

15.2% 15.2% 15.2% 15.2% 15.2% 15.2%

82.3% 83.0% 83.8% 84.5% 85.3% 86.1%

Projection Period
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Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures are investments in equipment and other long-term tangible assets that are necessary for the operation of the Hospital. These items
are usually recorded on the balance sheet but must be recognized as cash consumption for the purposes of the Income Approach. Desert Regional
Medical Center management provided capital expenditure estimates for Years 1 through 3. Capital expenditures are projected at 2.5% of net operating
revenue in Year 4 and Year 5. Terminal capital expenditures are projected at approximately 2.5% of net operating revenue, as illustrated in the chart
below:

Expense Assumptions & Capital Expenditures
Income Approach

Capital Expenditures Projection Detail (provided by Hospital Management):

Equipment - Replacement

Business Development

Facility Maintenance (Infrastructure)

ALCM (Replacement Equipment and Replacement of Pumps)

Other Capital

Total Capital Expenditures

%  of R evenue (R ounded)

DEPRECIATION SCHEDULE :
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

2,386,000 2,374,000 -

2,217,000 1,500,000 3,380,000

3,077,000 4,860,000 2,700,000

3,200,000 3,279,000 4,050,000

3,027,000 2,423,000 3,249,000

13,900,000 14,400,000 13,400,000 15,200,000 15,700,000

2.5% 2.5% 2.3% 2.5% 2.5%

Note : Years 2018, 2019 and 2020 Capital E xpenditures were provided by Management in the "3.0 DR MC
Capital Plan.pptx"  document. Years 2021 forward are projected as a percent of revenue at 2.5% .

Projection Period
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The selection of an appropriate discount rate is an integral part of the valuation process. Two factors must be considered in estimating the present value of any
projected cash flow stream:

 Financial Risk: The risk inherent in an entity’s financial structure (i.e., the utilization of debt vs. equity financing).
 Business Risk: The uncertainty associated with the economy, operations and specific risk profile.

The WACC is a discount rate that takes into account the required rate of return necessary to justify investment based on the prevailing economic, market,
industry and specific company risks, as well as the capital structure, as of the valuation date.

Most business entities have a capital structure consisting of both debt and equity. The party lending debt capital to a business requires a return on the debt,
which comes out of the business in the form of interest payments. Lenders have a higher claim against assets of a business and therefore, are exposed to less risk
than are the equity investors. Because of the lower risk level, the cost of debt is less than the cost of equity. Also, the interest payments are tax deductible to the
business entity, which further lowers the cost of debt.

Equity investors require a higher rate of return on their investment than do debt holders, because their claim on a facility’s assets are secondary to that of the
debt holder. In addition, a business entity is not required to pay dividends, whereas interest payments are usually fixed over the term of the debt.

The WACC incorporates the claims of both the debt and equity holders in proportion to their relative capital contribution. To estimate an enterprise’s WACC,
both the subject entity’s capital structure and the prevailing industry averages are examined as of the valuation date.

Discount Rate Assumptions
Income Approach
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In estimating the WACC for this valuation, we relied on the capital asset pricing model (“CAPM”). The basic formula for computing the after-tax WACC is
as follows:

WACC = (Ke * We) + (Kd * [1 - t] * Wd)

WACC = Weighted average cost of capital
Ke = Cost of common equity capital
Kd = Cost of debt capital
We = Equity as a percentage of total capital
Wd = Debt as a percentage of total capital
t = Blended federal and state income tax rate

The equity portion of the WACC was calculated by using the CAPM. The basic formula for computing the equity portion is as follows:

Ke = Rf + (Rm * Bi) + Rs + Ru

Ke = Expected rate of return on the subject security
Rf = Rate of return on a risk free security
Rm = Risk premium associated with the market
Bi = Beta for related companies in the industry
Rs = Risk premium associated with a small company
Ru = Risk premium associated with the specific company

Please see the following pages and Appendix B for more detail on each component utilized in the CAPM and development of the WACC.

Discount Rate Assumptions
Income Approach
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CAPM - Risk Free Rate (“Rf”)
The “risk-free rate” is a proxy for the return available on a security that the market generally regards as free of default risk. The rate of return on a risk-free
security was found by looking at the yields of U.S. Treasury securities. Ideally, the duration of the security used as an indication of the risk-free rate should match
the horizon of the projected cash flows, which are being discounted (which is into perpetuity in the present case). We used a 20-year Treasury rate, which was
equal to 3.1% as of August 22, 2018.

CAPM – Equity Risk Premium (“Rm”)
The equity risk premium is the additional return an investor expects to receive to compensate for the risk associated with investing in equities as opposed to
investing in riskless assets. The market risk premium utilized was based on figures provided in the Duff & Phelps 2017 Valuation Handbook – Guide to Cost of
Capital (“2017 Valuation Handbook”) published by Duff & Phelps, LLC. Per the 2017 Valuation Handbook, the market risk premium utilized for the Hospital was
6.0%.

CAPM - Beta (“Bi”)
The beta is a measure of statistical volatility, or systemic risk, of an industry in comparison to the market as a whole. Beta is used to measure the price sensitivity
of a company, or in this case an industry, in relation to changes in overall market prices. The levered beta utilized was 0.635 based on the average unlevered beta
of 0.429 as reported by Capital IQ for the following select guideline companies: Community Health Systems, Inc. (CYH), HCA Healthcare, Inc. (HCA), LifePoint
Health, Inc. (LPNT), Quorum Health Corp. (QHC), Tenet Healthcare Corp. (THC), and Universal Health Services (UHS).

CAPM – Small Company Premium (“Rs”)
The small company or small size premium is the additional return an investor expects to receive to compensate for the additional risk associated with investing in
a small and inherently more risky company. Per the 2017 Valuation Handbook, the small company risk premium utilized for the Hospital was 5.6%.

Specific Company Risk Premium (“Ru”)

The final common component of the CAPM model is the specific company risk premium. The specific company risk quantifies the risk associated with the specific
operations of the company or the “unsystematic” risk of the company. Our selection of a company specific risk premium adjusts not only for the additional risks
inherent in the operations, but also accounts for the mitigating factors present in the operations. These risks are relative to the public markets from which the
market equity risk premium, industry risk premium and small company risk premium were derived. The specific company premium selected was based on certain
factors that included the margin of the Hospital as compared to other comparable California Hospitals and the Hospitals significant dependence on government
subsidies and particall. The specific company risk is estimated to be approximately 5.0%.

Cost of Equity Conclusion (“Ke”)

Based on the aforementioned factors, the cost of equity derived through the CAPM method is presented in the schedule on the following page and in Appendix
B.

Source: Cost of Capital – Estimation and Applications 2nd Edition by Shannon P. Pratt.

Discount Rate Assumptions
Income Approach
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Federal & State Income Tax Rate (“t”)

To calculate the after-tax cost of debt component in the WACC formula, we utilized the blended state and federal income tax rate applicable to the
Hospital, which was approximately 28.0%.

Cost of Debt (“Kd”)

The cost of debt utilized in the calculation of the WACC was based on the available Moody's yield on seasoned corporate bonds, rating Baa, as of the
valuation date, which was approximately 4.8%.

Capital Structure (“We” and “Wd”)

We reviewed capital structures for public companies operating in the industry, the current capital structure of the Hospital, and our experience with
similar businesses in selecting the capital structure utilized in the WACC analysis. Please see the following page for further detail.

Discount Rate Assumptions
Income Approach

Market Risk Premium (RM)(5) 6.0%

x Subject Company Re-levered Beta 0.635

= Adjusted Market Risk Premium 3.8%

+ Risk-Free Rate of Return (RF)(6) 3.1%

+ Size Premium(7) 5.6%

+ Specific Company Risk Premium(8) 5.0%

= Cost of Equity 17.5%

Cost of Equity Calculation
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WACC Conclusion

Discount Rate Assumptions
Income Approach

BETA CALCULATIO N

Levered Cash & ST Debt/ Debt/ Unlevered

5 Year (1) Investments BEV(2) Equity Beta

Market Risk Premium (RM)(5) 6.0%

CYH Community Health Systems, Inc. 1.058 CCC+ $340,818 $13,715,000 $208,000 $590,000 93.6% 1473.4% n/a x Subject Company Re-levered Beta 0.635

HCA HCA Healthcare, Inc. 0.634 BB+ $44,401,162 $33,192,000 $913,000 $1,864,000 41.8% 71.7% 33.1% 0.423 = Adjusted Market Risk Premium 3.8%

LPNT LifePoint Health, Inc. 0.661 BB- $2,499,732 $2,928,400 $143,800 $135,400 52.6% 111.1% 28.5% 0.342 + Risk-Free Rate of Return (RF)(6) 3.1%

Q HC Q uorum Health Corporation 0.389 B- $120,236 $1,199,412 $2,822 $17,013 89.7% 873.9% n/a + Size Premium(7) 5.6%

THC Tenet Healthcare Corporation 1.181 B $3,276,718 $14,867,000 $403,000 $2,159,000 73.2% 273.5% 45.0% 0.472 + Specific Company Risk Premium(8) 5.0%

UHS Universal Health Services, Inc. 0.603 BB+ $11,467,395 $3,990,464 $76,886 $78,968 25.7% 34.6% 29.1% 0.480 = Cost of Equity 17.5%

x Equity as a Percent of Total Capital 60.0%

= Cost of Equity Portion 10.5%

Average 0.754 0.429  Cost of Debt(9) 4.8%

Median 0.647 0.448 x Tax Rate(10) 28.0%

= After-Tax Cost of Debt 3.5%

Average Unlevered Beta for Comps 0.429 x Debt as a Percent of Total Capital 40.0%

 D/E, Target Company 66.7% = Cost of Debt Portion 1.4%

Federal & State Income Tax Expense 28.0%

Re-Levered Beta, Subject Company(4) 0.635 WACC 11.9%

           Selected WACC 12.0%

Footnotes:

(1)
0                            40.0% 50.0% 60.0%

(2) 4.0% 11.3% 10.0% 8.7%

(3) 5.0% 11.9% 10.5% 9.1%

(4) 6.0% 12.5% 11.0% 9.5%

(5)
7.0% 13.1% 11.5% 9.9%

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

Capital IQ - Levered Beta 5 Year computed taking the slope of a weekly regression line of the percentage change of the stock relative to the percentage price change in the S&P 500 as of August 22, 2018.
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Capital Structure (Debt to BEV)

Capital IQ - average of public companies debt structure as of August 22, 2018.

Unlevered Beta = Levered Beta / ( 1 + ((D/E) * (1 - T)) + P/E)

Re-levered Beta = Unlevered Beta * ( 1 + ((D/E) * (1 - T)) + P/E)

The equity risk premium of 6.0%  was selected based upon VMG ’s review of published articles and academic studies that attempt to quantify the expected market risk premium for U.S. common stocks by utilizing both historical 
and forward

‐

looking sources. The selected 6.0% equity risk premium was considered to reasonably represent a consensus viewpoint of the market equity risk premium.

Yield of 20-year U.S. Treasury securities as of August 22, 2018, as published by Federal Reserve Statistical Release.

Duff & Phelps: 2017 Valuation Handbook, Market Cap

Risk associated with the specific operations of the company or the “unsystematic” risk of the company. 

Moody's yield on seasoned corporate bonds, rating Baa as of August 22, 2018, as published by Capital IQ .

Blended State and Federal Tax rate for California.

S&P Credit Rating
Market 

Capitalization
Total
Debt Minority Interest

Effective
Tax RateCompany NameTicker

WACC
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In utilizing the assumptions for volume, revenues, expenses, net working capital and capital expenditures, we have estimated the after-tax free cash flows
of the Hospital for the next five years. An estimated after-tax WACC of 12.0% was applied to the future after-tax free cash flows to arrive at a present
value.

Goodwill, including all intangible assets, is created in a transaction when the purchase price exceeds the value of the working capital and fixed assets
purchased by the buyer. Depending on the structure of the transaction, asset purchases and some stock purchases may result in an allocation of the
purchase price to goodwill for tax purposes. The buyer’s ability to amortize the goodwill for tax purposes results in an additional tax shield that is not
reflected in the discounted cash flow. The Tax Amortization Benefit (“TAB”) is simply the present value of the tax savings from this additional tax shield.
We have applied this TAB to the control level valuation.

The FMV indication of the business enterprise value of the Hospital with the tax amortization benefit is approximately $610.0 million. We have fully
relied on the Income Approach to value the Hospital.

Valuation Conclusion
Income Approach
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After obtaining value indications under the Cost, Market, and Income Approaches, we examined the value outcomes based on the following factors:

• Cost Approach: The Cost Approach utilizes book values for certain fixed assets and may not reflect fair market value. Based on this factor, we have
not relied on the Cost Approach to generate a value indication.

• Market Approach: Typically, the M&A method is a reasonable approach to apply in acute care hospital valuations when the appropriate diligence has
been performed to understand and accurately calculate market multiples. However, given the specific facts and circumstances surrounding the
Hospital, we have not relied upon the pricing multiplies and value indications generated by the M&A method to establish the value of the Hospital.
We have utilized the Market Approach to corroborate the results of the Income Approach.

• Income Approach: Unlike the Cost and Market Approach, the Income Approach evaluates the future economic income stream that is specific to the
Hospital. Accordingly, we have fully relied on the Income Approach value indication.

Based on and subject to the facts, limiting conditions, and assumptions presented in the report and attached exhibits, it is our opinion that the FMV of the
Hospital at the business enterprise level is reasonably represented as approximately $610.0 million.

Valuation Reconciliation
Valuation Reconciliation & Summary

Reconciliation of Valuation Approaches Value Weight Conclusion

Income Approach Value Indication (Midpoint) $610,000,000 100.0% $610,000,000

Cost Approach Value Indication n/a - -

Market Approach Value Indication (Midpoint) $610,000,000 - -

Fair Market Value Indication, B usiness Enterprise Level $610,000,000
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Based on and subject to the facts, limiting conditions, and assumptions presented in this report and attached exhibits, as of a current date, the FMV of the
business enterprise value (“BEV”) of the Hospital is reasonably represented in a range between approximately $580 million and $640 million.

Business Enterprise Value reflects the value of the Hospital inclusive of a normalized level of cash-free net working capital. Net working capital includes
accounts receivables and other current assets less non‐interest-bearing current liabilities that permit a business to conduct daily operations and maintain
liquidity. Normalized net working capital is estimated to be 8.0% of net operating revenue. Incremental net working capital requirements are projected at
8.0% of net operating revenue throughout the projection period.

Valuation Summary

Range of Fair Market Value, BEV Level Low (5.0%) Midpoint High (+5.0%)

Fair Market Value Indication, Bus iness Enterprise Level $580,000,000 $610,000,000 $640,000,000

Valuation Reconciliation & Summary
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The value recommendations contained in this report are qualified as follows:

 The facts described in this report were provided by management or obtained from independent third parties including the Center’s accountants, 
published sources, and commercial databases. We have accepted this information without further verification. Our value recommendations assume 
this information is materially true and correct.

 The value recommendations assume competent management in the context of a going concern.  

 Neither our employment nor the fee for this assignment is contingent upon the reported value(s). No professional involved in this assignment has any 
financial interest in the property appraised.

 Certain matters are outside the purview of our expertise. As a result, our value recommendations assume: (1) The company complies fully with all 
federal, state, and local laws and ordinances; (2) Funding for pensions and health care liabilities, if any, is adequate; and (3) There are no undisclosed 
factors that might render the company materially more or less valuable. Any statements in this report about the above issues are based on 
management representations. The user is responsible for independent investigation of these matters, and his own determination of their impact on 
the recommended value(s).

 Nothing contained in the report should be construed as either investment, legal, or tax advice. This valuation is intended only for the use of the 
addressee and only for the purpose described. All other uses of this report are unauthorized and prohibited. The report may not be distributed, either 
in whole or part, to any third party, and mere possession of the report does not convey a right of reliance.

 VMG Health has not, as part of this assignment, examined either the historical, interim, or prospective financial statements according to generally 
accepted auditing standards, and so expresses no opinion thereon in this valuation report.

 Any estimates of future performance described in this report (or the exhibits hereto), pertain to a specific valuation method. This method matches 
performance scenarios with their associated risk rates as a means of quantifying the value parameters. Use of either the future performance 
scenarios or the discount rate separately or outside the valuation context is unauthorized and prohibited. Actual operating results may vary materially 
from those described.

 The fee for this assignment is provided only for the preparation of this report for the specific valuation date. All other services including updates of 
value for any other date; preparation and testimony in court or before governmental agencies; or meetings about the valuation report after its 
delivery will be provided at additional cost for fees and expenses.

Statement of Limiting Conditions
Statement of Limiting Conditions
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 Neither VMG Health nor any individuals signing or associated with this report have any present or future contemplated interest in the assets being 
appraised.

 Neither our employment nor our compensation in connection with this report is in any way contingent upon the conclusions reached or values 
estimated.

 The report analysis, opinions, and conclusions are limited by the reported assumptions and limiting conditions and represent our unbiased 
professional analysis, opinions, and conclusions.

 We have not made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report, but have extensively discussed the operations of the 
business with management.

 No persons other than the undersigned or those acknowledged in this report prepared analysis, values, and conclusions set forth in this report. 

 To the best of our knowledge and belief, the statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

______________________________________

Colin M. McDermott CFA CPA/ABV
Managing Director
VMG Holdings LLC

Contributing Appraisers: David LaMonte, CFA and Blake Madden

Appraisers’ Certification
Appraisers’ Certification

Page 197 of 417



WE VALUE HEALTHCARE

(214) 369-4888

info@vmghealth.com

Contact us:

2515 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1500, Dallas, TX 75201

200 Columbine Street, Suite 350, Denver, CO 80206 

150 3rd Avenue South, Suite 2120, Nashville, TN 37201

Locations:
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
VALUATION RECONCILIATION

FINAL REPORT

Reconciliation of Valuation Approaches Value Weight Conclusion

Income Approach Value Indication (Midpoint) $610,000,000 100.0% $610,000,000

Cost Approach Value Indication n/a - -

Market Approach Value Indication (Midpoint) $610,000,000 - -

Fair Market Value Indication, Business Enterprise Level $610,000,000

*The value indications above are inclusive of a normalized level of cash-free net working capital.

Reconciliation of Valuation Approaches - BEV Level

Range of Fair Market Value, BEV Level Low (5.0%) Midpoint High (+5.0%)

Fair Market Value Indication, Business Enterprise Level $580,000,000 $610,000,000 $640,000,000

Implied Market Multiples Financial Metric ($) Low Mid High

BEV/ NBY EBITDA 96,468,473                             6.01x 6.32x 6.63x
BEV/ NBY Revenue 544,133,376                          1.07x 1.12x 1.18x

BEV/ Year 1 EBITDA 94,983,961                             6.11x 6.42x 6.74x
BEV/ Year 1 Revenue 559,522,715                          1.04x 1.09x 1.14x

Fair Market Value

`

Market (0.0%)

Page 201 of 417



Strictly Private and Confidential Executive Summary Page │ 4

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
BUSINESS ENTERPRISE VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

FINAL REPORT

Value Indication, Business Enterprise Value (Including Working Capital) $610,000,000

Less: Normalized Working Capital included in Business Enterprise Calculation (44,000,000)

Subtotal - Business Enterprise Value, less Working Capital (rounded) $566,000,000

Less: Value Indication for Total Year 1 - Year 9 Present Value of Cash Flows ($299,231,472)

Subtotal - Business Enterprise Value, Adjusted for Remaining Lease Term & Working Capital $267,000,000

Less: Seismic Upgrade Cost TBD

Less: Termination Assets TBD

BEV Adjusted for Remaining Lease Term, Seismic Requirements, Working Capital & Termination Assets TBD

Notes:
1. Calculated on the prior page.
2. Calculated on the Working Capital page in Exhibit A.

ADJUSTMENTS TO BEV

3. Calculations based on an assumed nine year period until the current Hospital Lease Agreement expires at May 30, 2027. Given that the financial data provided to VMG was through a 
historical period ended May 30, 2018, there are an estimated nine years remaining in the lease term.
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
HISTORICAL RESTATED BALANCE SHEET

FINAL REPORT

Fiscal Year End December 31, Footnotes FYE May-31 FYE May-31
2017 2018 2017 2018

ASSETS:
Current Assets:

Cash & Equivalents $65,218 $2,750 0.0% 0.0%
Net Patient Receivables 109,933,068 110,424,102 31.1% 32.9%
Prepaid Expenses 2,343,626 1,943,633 0.7% 0.6%
Inventory 6,838,808 6,796,874 1.9% 2.0%
Physician / Group Guarantees & Other Receivable 28,447,822 26,147,270 8.1% 7.8%
Other Current Assets (258,627) 5,398,848 (0.1%) 1.6%
Medicaid Supplemental Payment Receivable 91,174,585 69,620,022 25.8% 20.8%

Total Current Assets 238,544,500 220,333,499 67.6% 65.7%

Property, Plant & Equipment:
Buildings & Improvements 134,701,822 137,519,653 38.1% 41.0%
Capitalized Leases 16,732,230 17,052,582 4.7% 5.1%
Equipment 92,243,711 94,946,925 26.1% 28.3%
Land & Land Improvements 6,194,989 6,194,989 1.8% 1.8%
Construction in Progress 1,238,020 2,042,061 0.4% 0.6%
Accumulated Depreciation (159,158,131) (164,664,039) (45.1%) (49.1%)

Net Property, Plant & Equipment 91,952,641 93,092,171 26.0% 27.8%

Other Non-current Assets:
Investments and Other Long-Term Assets 315,210 291,094 0.1% 0.1%
Net Intangible Assets 22,319,818 21,733,298 6.3% 6.5%

Total Other Non-current Assets 22,635,028 22,024,392 6.4% 6.6%

Total Assets 353,132,169 335,450,062 100.0% 100.0%
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
HISTORICAL RESTATED BALANCE SHEET

FINAL REPORT

Fiscal Year End December 31, Footnotes FYE May-31 FYE May-31
2017 2018 2017 2018

LIABILITIES:
Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 16,556,550 15,741,196 4.7% 4.7%
Accrued Liabilities 13,469,021 15,786,094 3.8% 4.7%
Other Current Liabilities 5,668,468 4,957,592 1.6% 1.5%
Current Portion of Capital Lease Obligation 4,441,205 4,788,363 1.3% 1.4%
Estimted Physician / Group Guarantee Liability 24,046,504 25,208,543 6.8% 7.5%
Medicaid Assessment Payable 30,107,689 13,966,633 8.5% 4.2%

Total Current Liabilities 94,289,437 80,448,421 26.7% 24.0%

Long-Term Liabilities:
Capitalized Lease Obligation, net of Current Portion 3,197,158 2,951,612 0.9% 0.9%
Deferred Income 615,522 541,894 0.2% 0.2%
Other Long-Term Liabilities 2,095,906 2,162,166 0.6% 0.6%

Total Long-Term Liabilities 5,908,586 5,655,672 1.7% 1.7%

Total Liabilities 100,198,023 86,104,093 28.4% 25.7%

EQUITY AND INTERCOMPANY:
Intercompany Accounts (177,670,315) (265,661,759) (50.3%) (79.2%)
Common Stock and Additional Paid-in Capital 118,624,448 254,864,205 33.6% 76.0%
Retained Earnings 311,980,013 260,143,523 88.3% 77.6%

Total Equity and Intercompany 252,934,146 249,345,969 71.6% 74.3%

Total Liabilities & Equity and Intercompany $353,132,169 $335,450,062 100.0% 100.0%

Sources: Balance Sheet detail provided for entity "694 - Desert Regional Medical Center" for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 ("FYE 2017") and as of May 31, 2018.
Note: FYE 2017 period information is based on the "Period 13 2017" Balance Sheet detail provided.
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
HISTORICAL WORKING CAPITAL ANALYSIS

FINAL REPORT

ACTUAL WORKING CAPITAL CALCULATION FYE May 31 / TTM Normalized
($) 2017 2018 Base Year

Current Assets:

Cash & Equivalents Excluded from cash-free working capital -                              -                              -                              

Net Patient Receivables 109,933,068          110,424,102          110,424,102          

Prepaid Expenses 2,343,626              1,943,633              1,943,633              

Inventory 6,838,808              6,796,874              6,796,874              

Physician / Group Guarantees & Other Receivable 28,447,822            26,147,270            26,147,270            

Other Current Assets (258,627)                5,398,848              5,398,848              

Medicaid Supplemental Payment Receivable 91,174,585            69,620,022            69,620,022            

Total Current Assets 238,479,282          220,330,749          220,330,749          

Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable 16,556,550            15,741,196            15,741,196            

Accrued Liabilities 13,469,021            15,786,094            15,786,094            

Other Current Liabilities 5,668,468              4,957,592              4,957,592              

Current Portion of Capital Lease Obligation Excluded from working capital -                              -                              -                              

Estimted Physician / Group Guarantee Liability 24,046,504            25,208,543            25,208,543            

Medicaid Assessment Payable 30,107,689            13,966,633            13,966,633            

Total Current Liabilities 89,848,232            75,660,058            75,660,058            

Total Working Capital (Rounded) 148,631,000          144,671,000          144,671,000          

Total Net Operating Revenue (Rounded) 538,195,000          562,925,000          544,133,000          

Working Capital as a % Total Net Operating Revenue (Rounded) 27.6% 25.7% 26.6%

Normalized Working Capital Calculation

NBY Net Operating Revenue $544,133,376

Times: Required Net Working Capital Level 8.0%

Equals: Normalized Net Working Capital (Rounded) $43,530,000
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
HISTORICAL WORKING CAPITAL ANALYSIS

FINAL REPORT

Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS High Low Average Median Desert Regional 
Medical Center

FYE - 2 11.0% 8.0% 7.4% 15.6% 3.4% 6.9% 15.6% 3.4% 8.7% 7.7% n/a

FYE - 1 10.8% 6.7% 7.1% 11.8% 3.6% 4.5% 11.8% 3.6% 7.4% 6.9% n/a

FYE 7.7% 7.4% 6.8% 10.5% 4.0% 4.0% 10.5% 4.0% 6.8% 7.1% 27.6%

TTM 10.5% 7.8% 7.5% 9.7% 3.3% 4.6% 10.5% 3.3% 7.2% 7.7% 25.7%

Average 9.8% 7.7% 7.9% 9.9% 4.0% 6.8% 12.4% 5.6% 7.7% 7.6% 26.7%

Median 10.5% 7.8% 7.4% 10.5% 3.6% 4.6% 11.8% 3.6% 7.4% 7.7% 26.7%

Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS High Low Average Median Desert Regional 
Medical Center

FY Total Asset Turnover 0.8x 1.3x 1.0x 1.0x 0.8x 1.0x 1.3x 0.8x 1.0x 1.0x 1.7x

FY Accounts Receivable Turnover 5.1x 7.1x 7.7x 5.5x 6.0x 7.1x 7.7x 5.1x 6.4x 6.5x 5.1x

FY Inventory Turnover 22.0x 17.6x 30.5x 22.9x 39.2x 46.5x 46.5x 17.6x 29.8x 26.7x 11.3x

FY Avg. Days Inventory Out. 16.7 Days 20.8 Days 12.0 Days 16.0 Days 9.3 Days 7.9 Days 20.8 Days 7.9 Days 13.8 Days 14.0 Days 5.8 Days

FY Days Cash on Hand 5.4 Days 7.1 Days 6.2 Days 4.7 Days 15.1 Days 1.5 Days 15.1 Days 1.5 Days 6.7 Days 5.8 Days 0.0 Days

FY Avg. Days Sales Out. 71.3 Days 51.8 Days 47.6 Days 66.0 Days 60.8 Days 51.4 Days 71.3 Days 47.6 Days 58.2 Days 56.3 Days 82.0 Days

FY Avg. Days Payables Out. 35.7 Days 31.7 Days 18.0 Days 41.6 Days 39.8 Days 26.2 Days 41.6 Days 18.0 Days 32.2 Days 33.7 Days 13.4 Days

Source: Capital IQ as of August 22, 2018.

Net Working Capital (Excluding Cash) as a % of Revenue

Other Related Working Capital Statistics
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
HISTORICAL RESTATED INCOME STATEMENT

FINAL REPORT

Fiscal Year End December 31, FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year

Hospital Operating Revenue
Patient Revenue

Gross Inpatient Revenue 2,172,776,766 2,466,134,357 2,508,873,783 2,562,224,502 2,562,224,502 442.5% 449.1% 466.2% 455.2% 470.9%
Inpatient Contractual (1,856,157,763) (2,106,525,179) (2,167,492,991) (2,220,650,822) (2,217,997,190) (378.0%) (383.6%) (402.7%) (394.5%) (407.6%)

Net Inpatient Revenue 316,619,003 359,609,178 341,380,792 341,573,680 344,227,312 64.5% 65.5% 63.4% 60.7% 63.3%

Gross Outpatient Revenue 914,018,727 1,045,447,306 1,151,497,930 1,161,536,693 1,159,666,693 186.1% 190.4% 214.0% 206.3% 213.1%
Outpatient Contractual (775,273,263) (892,476,375) (998,786,817) (1,009,294,506) (1,009,294,506) (157.9%) (162.5%) (185.6%) (179.3%) (185.5%)

Net Outpatient Revenue 138,745,464 152,970,931 152,711,113 152,242,187 150,372,187 28.3% 27.9% 28.4% 27.0% 27.6%

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt 455,364,467 512,580,109 494,091,905 493,815,867 494,599,499 92.7% 93.3% 91.8% 87.7% 90.9%

Bad Debt (14,573,495) (14,301,275) (10,016,605) (2,546,776) (3,132,257) (3.0%) (2.6%) (1.9%) (0.5%) (0.6%)

Total Net Patient Revenue 440,790,972 498,278,834 484,075,300 491,269,091 491,467,242 89.8% 90.7% 89.9% 87.3% 90.3%

Supplemental Payments
Medicaid DSH 8,436,631 7,962,995 7,402,065 7,203,734 7,203,734 1.7% 1.5% 1.4% 1.3% 1.3%
Medicaid Supplemental - Income Provider 62,013,094 68,421,637 67,523,469 97,750,754 69,615,975 12.6% 12.5% 12.5% 17.4% 12.8%
Medicaid Supplemental - Assessment Provider (26,897,084) (30,390,480) (21,947,306) (33,794,251) (24,649,540) (5.5%) (5.5%) (4.1%) (6.0%) (4.5%)
Electronic Health Record Incentives 1,020,542 497,371 301,700 301,700 301,700 0.2% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1%

Total 44,573,183 46,491,523 53,279,928 71,461,937 52,471,869 9.1% 8.5% 9.9% 12.7% 9.6%

Other Revenue 5,699,832 4,362,188 839,569 194,265 194,265 1.2% 0.8% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0%

Total Net Operating Revenue 491,063,987 549,132,545 538,194,797 562,925,293 544,133,376 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Page 208 of 417



Strictly Private and Confidential Page A │ 11

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
HISTORICAL RESTATED INCOME STATEMENT

FINAL REPORT

Fiscal Year End December 31, FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year 2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year

Operating Expenses:
Employee Salaries & Wages

Employee Salaries & Wages 161,480,723 190,660,210 187,195,604 186,925,096 186,925,096 32.9% 34.7% 34.8% 33.2% 34.4%
Total 161,480,723 190,660,210 187,195,604 186,925,096 186,925,096 32.9% 34.7% 34.8% 33.2% 34.4%

Employee Benefits
Payroll Taxes 11,763,690 14,067,020 13,885,432 13,998,001 13,998,001 2.4% 2.6% 2.6% 2.5% 2.6%
Employee Benefits 32,383,647 35,607,391 36,987,851 37,264,605 37,577,605 6.6% 6.5% 6.9% 6.6% 6.9%

Total 44,147,337 49,674,411 50,873,283 51,262,606 51,575,606 9.0% 9.0% 9.5% 9.1% 9.5%
Occupancy Costs

Rent / Lease - Real Property 715,595 852,565 877,241 785,280 785,280 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%
Utilities 3,899,993 3,330,300 3,499,157 3,678,255 3,678,255 0.8% 0.6% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7%
Property Taxes 1,242,032 1,193,427 1,271,050 1,147,173 1,147,173 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%

Total 5,857,620 5,376,292 5,647,448 5,610,708 5,610,708 1.2% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%
Supplies

Medical Supplies 38,219,014 42,323,381 40,338,078 41,083,832 41,083,832 7.8% 7.7% 7.5% 7.3% 7.6%
Drugs & Pharmaceuticals 26,510,658 30,850,978 30,247,697 31,110,577 31,110,577 5.4% 5.6% 5.6% 5.5% 5.7%
Non-medical Supplies 5,721,203 4,824,614 4,536,075 4,518,902 4,518,902 1.2% 0.9% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8%

Total 70,450,875 77,998,973 75,121,850 76,713,311 76,713,311 14.3% 14.2% 14.0% 13.6% 14.1%
 Medical Costs

Other Clinical Expenses 15,880 10,538 1,173,820 1,403,631 1,403,631 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3%
Medical Fees 22,918,405 28,155,709 32,217,548 34,086,074 34,086,074 4.7% 5.1% 6.0% 6.1% 6.3%
Physician Income Assist 1,531,647 1,490,747 1,974,964 2,002,993 2,002,993 0.3% 0.3% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4%

Total 24,465,932 29,656,994 35,366,332 37,492,698 37,492,698 5.0% 5.4% 6.6% 6.7% 6.9%
Insurance

Malpractice Insurance 3,986,073 7,591,366 6,394,474 5,692,256 5,692,256 0.8% 1.4% 1.2% 1.0% 1.0%
Other Insurance 676,531 842,166 900,543 949,693 949,693 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%

Total 4,662,604 8,433,532 7,295,017 6,641,949 6,641,949 0.9% 1.5% 1.4% 1.2% 1.2%
General & Administrative

Advertising 1,391,452 1,554,035 1,466,182 1,110,287 1,110,287 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2%
Information Technology 7,562,988 8,179,456 9,697,950 9,480,068 9,480,068 1.5% 1.5% 1.8% 1.7% 1.7%
Charitable Contributions 864,838 1,145,921 972,447 1,561,160 1,561,160 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.3%
Equipment Rent / Lease Expense 953,797 1,584,208 1,502,505 1,330,460 1,330,460 0.2% 0.3% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2%
Non-medical Professional Fees 3,217,597 3,291,038 4,713,103 4,299,393 4,299,393 0.7% 0.6% 0.9% 0.8% 0.8%
Conifer Collection Fees 12,705,711 13,447,841 13,027,365 13,114,847 13,114,847 2.6% 2.4% 2.4% 2.3% 2.4%
License Fees 858,407 899,169 836,289 769,873 769,873 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%
Other Controllable Expenses 13,375,934 15,129,997 16,342,488 16,561,992 16,311,992 2.7% 2.8% 3.0% 2.9% 3.0%
Other Non-medical Expenses 7,705,587 8,261,334 7,421,385 7,713,207 7,713,207 1.6% 1.5% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4%
Repairs & Maintenance 7,551,948 8,056,848 8,639,898 9,273,933 9,273,933 1.5% 1.5% 1.6% 1.6% 1.7%
Management Fees - - - - 10,882,668 - - - - 2.0%
Physician Subsidy - - - - 6,857,648 - - - - 1.3%

Total 56,188,259 61,549,847 64,619,612 65,215,220 82,705,536 11.4% 11.2% 12.0% 11.6% 15.2%

Total Operating Expenses 367,253,350 423,350,259 426,119,146 429,861,588 447,664,904 74.8% 77.1% 79.2% 76.4% 82.3%

EBITDA 123,810,637 125,782,286 112,075,651 133,063,705 96,468,473 25.2% 22.9% 20.8% 23.6% 17.7%

Depreciation & Amortization Expense 14,211,402 14,814,437 15,734,886 15,442,515 15,442,515 2.9% 2.7% 2.9% 2.7% 2.8%

Operating Income 109,599,235 110,967,849 96,340,765 117,621,190 81,025,958 22.3% 20.2% 17.9% 20.9% 14.9%

Other Income (Expense) (221,558) (254,082) (107,895) (540) - (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) -
Interest Expense 286,732 362,552 395,400 393,811 - 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% -

Earnings Before Income Taxes 109,090,945 110,351,215 95,837,470 117,226,839 81,025,958 22.2% 20.1% 17.8% 20.8% 14.9%

Federal & State Income Tax Expense - - - - 22,673,980 - - - - 4.2%

Earnings After Income Taxes $109,090,945 $110,351,215 $95,837,470 $117,226,839 $58,351,978 22.2% 20.1% 17.8% 20.8% 10.7%

Sources: Management provided financials for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015, 2016, and 2017 and the trailing twelve month period ended May 31, 2018.
Normalized Base Year based on the trailing twelve month period ended May 31, 2018. Normalized Base Year eliminates any unusual or nonrecurring items from revenue and expenses.
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STATISTICS AND RATIOS
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Fiscal Year End December 31st FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year 2016 2017 2018 Base Year

% / $ Growth
Utilization Statistics

Acute Admissions 18,508 18,945 18,565 18,641 18,641 2.4% (2.0%) 0.4% -
Psych Admissions - 1 2 - - n/a 100.0% (100.0%) n/a
Rehab Admissions 200 217 190 178 178 8.5% (12.4%) (6.3%) -
SNF Admissions 1,030 1,021 893 875 875 (0.9%) (12.5%) (2.0%) -
Admissions 19,738 20,184 19,650 19,694 19,694 2.3% (2.6%) 0.2% -

Avg Length of Stay ("ALOS") 4.5 4.8 4.7 4.7 4.7 6.8% (1.9%) (0.7%) -
Patient Days 88,855 97,083 92,724 92,271 92,271 9.3% (4.5%) (0.5%) -

Outpatient ER Visits 61,248 63,484 63,875 63,650 63,650 3.7% 0.6% (0.4%) -
Outpatient Surgeries 2,476 2,641 2,786 2,731 2,731 6.7% 5.5% (2.0%) -
Other Outpatient Visits 95,810 98,281 101,441 100,656 100,656 2.6% 3.2% (0.8%) -
Total Outpatient Visits 159,534 164,406 168,102 167,037 167,037 3.1% 2.2% (0.6%) -

Outpatient Equivalent Factor 1.4 1.4 1.5 1.5 1.5 0.2% 2.5% (0.4%) (0.1%)
Adjusted Patient Days 126,233 138,239 135,282 134,100 134,033 9.5% (2.1%) (0.9%) (0.1%)
Adjusted Admissions 28,041 28,740 28,669 28,622 28,608 2.5% (0.2%) (0.2%) (0.1%)

Census Data

Beds in Service 372 372 372 372 372 - - - -
Calendar Days 365 366 365 365 365 0.3% (0.3%) - -
Avg Daily Census ("ADC") 243.4 265.3 254.0 252.8 252.8 9.0% (4.2%) (0.5%) -

Percent Occupancy 65.4% 71.3% 68.3% 68.0% 68.0% 9.0% (4.2%) (0.5%) -
Percent Adjusted Occupancy 93.0% 101.5% 99.6% 98.8% 98.7% 9.2% (1.9%) (0.9%) (0.1%)

Consumer Price Index

Charity n/a 1.4516 1.4888 1.5845 1.5845 n/a 2.6% 6.4% -
Medicare n/a 1.7136 1.654 1.8102 1.8102 n/a (3.5%) 9.4% -
Medicare Managed Care n/a 1.5929 1.6078 1.5799 1.5799 n/a 0.9% (1.7%) -
Medicaid n/a 1.7468 1.7158 1.8701 1.8701 n/a (1.8%) 9.0% -
Medicaid Managed Care n/a 1.4111 1.3595 1.4421 1.4421 n/a (3.7%) 6.1% -
Self Pay / Uninsured n/a 1.2718 1.4366 1.3823 1.3823 n/a 13.0% (3.8%) -
Commercial / Other n/a 1.8479 2.0029 1.7573 1.7573 n/a 8.4% (12.3%) -
Managed Care n/a 1.465 1.3696 1.4996 1.4996 n/a (6.5%) 9.5% -
Managed Exchange n/a 1.445 1.5389 1.4712 1.4712 n/a 6.5% (4.4%) -
Total CMI n/a 1.5681 1.5365 1.6085 1.6085 n/a (2.0%) 4.7% -
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Fiscal Year End December 31st FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year 2016 2017 2018 Base Year

% / $ Growth
Other Key Statistics

Total Emergency Room Visits 72,981 75,940 76,250 76,700 76,700 4.1% 0.4% 0.6% -

Emergency Room Admits 11,733 12,456 12,375 13,050 13,050 6.2% (0.7%) 5.5% -

Total Surgeries 7,734 8,128 8,166 8,114 8,114 5.1% 0.5% (0.6%) -

Inpatient Surgeries 5,258 5,487 5,380 5,383 5,383 4.4% (2.0%) 0.1% -

Outpatient Surgeries 2,476 2,641 2,786 2,731 2,731 6.7% 5.5% (2.0%) -

Gross Charge & Net Revenue Statistics

Gross Charge Ratios

Gross Inpatient Charge per Admission 110,081 122,183 127,678 130,102 130,102 11.0% 4.5% 1.9% -

Gross Inpatient Charge per Patient Day 24,453 25,402 27,057 27,768 27,768 3.9% 6.5% 2.6% -

Gross Outpatient Charge per Visit 5,729 6,359 6,850 6,954 6,943 11.0% 7.7% 1.5% (0.2%)

Net Patient Revenue Ratios

Net Inpatient Revenue per Admission 16,041 17,817 17,373 17,344 17,479 11.1% (2.5%) (0.2%) 0.8%

Net Inpatient Revenue per Patient Day 3,563 3,704 3,682 3,702 3,731 4.0% (0.6%) 0.5% 0.8%

Net Outpatient Revenue per Visit 870 930 908 911 900 7.0% (2.4%) 0.3% (1.2%)

Total Net Patient Revenue per Adj. Admission 15,719 17,337 16,885 17,164 17,180 10.3% (2.6%) 1.7% 0.1%

Total Net Patient Revenue per Adj. Patient Day 3,492 3,604 3,578 3,663 3,667 3.2% (0.7%) 2.4% 0.1%

Total Operating Expense Ratios

Per Adj. Admission 13,097 14,730 14,864 15,019 15,648 12.5% 0.9% 1.0% 4.2%

Per Adj. Patient Day 2,909 3,062 3,150 3,206 3,340 5.3% 2.9% 1.8% 4.2%
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Fiscal Year End December 31st FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year 2016 2017 2018 Base Year

% / $ Growth
Historical Staffing Ratios

Employed FTE's 1,720 1,976 1,951 1,933 1,933 14.9% (1.3%) (0.9%) -
Paid Hours 3,577,600 4,110,080 4,058,080 4,020,640 4,020,640 14.9% (1.3%) (0.9%) -

Paid Hours per Adj. Patient Day 28.3 29.7 30.0 30.0 30.0 4.9% 0.9% (0.0%) 0.1%
FTEs per Adj. Occupied Bed 5.0 5.2 5.3 5.3 5.3 5.2% 0.6% (0.0%) 0.1%

P/L Salary $45.14 $46.39 $46.13 $46.49 $46.49 2.8% (0.6%) 0.8% -

P/L Benefits $12.34 $12.09 $12.54 $12.75 $12.83 (2.1%) 3.7% 1.7% 0.6%

Employee Salaries & Wages:

Employee Salaries & Wages 161,480,723 190,660,210 187,195,604 186,925,096        186,925,096        18.1% (1.8%) (0.1%) -
% of Revenue 32.9% 34.7% 34.8% 33.2% 34.4%

Employee Benefits & Taxes:

Payroll Taxes 11,763,690           14,067,020           13,885,432           13,998,001           13,998,001           19.6% (1.3%) 0.8% -
% of Salaries & Wages 7.3% 7.4% 7.4% 7.5% 7.5%

Employee Benefits 32,383,647           35,607,391           36,987,851           37,264,605           37,577,605           10.0% 3.9% 0.7% 0.8%
% of Salaries & Wages 20.1% 18.7% 19.8% 19.9% 20.1%

Occupancy Costs:

Rent / Lease - Real Property 715,595                852,565                877,241                785,280                785,280                19.1% 2.9% (10.5%) -
% of Revenue 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%

Utilities 3,899,993             3,330,300             3,499,157             3,678,255             3,678,255             (14.6%) 5.1% 5.1% -
% of Revenue 0.8% 0.6% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7%

Property Taxes 1,242,032             1,193,427             1,271,050             1,147,173             1,147,173             (3.9%) 6.5% (9.7%) -
% of Revenue 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
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Fiscal Year End December 31st FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year 2016 2017 2018 Base Year

% / $ Growth
Supplies

Medical Supplies 38,219,014           42,323,381 40,338,078 41,083,832           41,083,832           10.7% (4.7%) 1.8% -
% of Revenue 7.8% 7.7% 7.5% 7.3% 7.6%

Per Adj. Admission 1,363                     1,473                     1,407                     1,435                     1,436                     8.0% (4.5%) 2.0% 0.1%

Per Adj. Patient Day 303 306 298 306 307 1.1% (2.6%) 2.7% 0.1%

Drugs & Pharmaceuticals 26,510,658           30,850,978           30,247,697           31,110,577           31,110,577           16.4% (2.0%) 2.9% -
% of Revenue 5.4% 5.6% 5.6% 5.5% 5.7%

Per Adj. Admission 945                        1,073                     1,055                     1,087                     1,087                     13.5% (1.7%) 3.0% 0.1%

Per Adj. Patient Day 210 223 224 232 232 6.3% 0.2% 3.8% 0.1%

Non-medical Supplies 5,721,203             4,824,614             4,536,075             4,518,902             4,518,902             (15.7%) (6.0%) (0.4%) -
% of Revenue 1.2% 0.9% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8%

Per Adj. Admission 204                        168                        158                        158                        158                        (17.7%) (5.7%) (0.2%) 0.1%

Per Adj. Patient Day 45 35 34 34 34 (23.0%) (3.9%) 0.5% 0.1%
 

Medical Costs

Other Clinical Expenses 15,880                  10,538                  1,173,820             1,403,631             1,403,631             (33.6%) 11038.9% 19.6% -
% of Revenue 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% (5,342) 1,163,282             229,811                -

Medical Fees 22,918,405           28,155,709           32,217,548           34,086,074           34,086,074           22.9% 14.4% 5.8% -
% of Revenue 4.7% 5.1% 6.0% 6.1% 6.3% 5,237,304 4,061,839             1,868,526             -

Physician Income Assist 1,531,647             1,490,747             1,974,964             2,002,993             2,002,993             (2.7%) 32.5% 1.4% -
% of Revenue 0.3% 0.3% 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% (40,900) 484,217                28,029                  -

Insurance

Malpractice Insurance 3,986,073             7,591,366             6,394,474             5,692,256             5,692,256             90.4% (15.8%) (11.0%) -
% of Revenue 0.8% 1.4% 1.2% 1.0% 1.0%

Other Insurance 676,531                842,166                900,543                949,693                949,693                24.5% 6.9% 5.5% -
% of Revenue 0.1% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 165,635 58,377                  49,150                  -
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Fiscal Year End December 31st FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year 2016 2017 2018 Base Year

% / $ Growth
General & Administrative

Advertising 1,391,452             1,554,035             1,466,182             1,110,287             1,110,287             11.7% (5.7%) (24.3%) -
% of Revenue 0.3% 0.3% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2%

Information Technology 7,562,988             8,179,456             9,697,950             9,480,068             9,480,068             8.2% 18.6% (2.2%) -
% of Revenue 1.5% 1.5% 1.8% 1.7% 1.7%

Charitable Contributions 864,838                1,145,921             972,447                1,561,160             1,561,160             32.5% (15.1%) 60.5% -
% of Revenue 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.3%

Equipment Rent / Lease Expense 953,797                1,584,208             1,502,505             1,330,460             1,330,460             66.1% (5.2%) (11.5%) -
% of Revenue 0.2% 0.3% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 630,411 (81,703)                 (172,045)              -

Non-medical Professional Fees 3,217,597             3,291,038             4,713,103             4,299,393             4,299,393             2.3% 43.2% (8.8%) -
% of Revenue 0.7% 0.6% 0.9% 0.8% 0.8% 73,441 1,422,065             (413,710)              -

Conifer Collection Fees 12,705,711           13,447,841           13,027,365           13,114,847           13,114,847           5.8% (3.1%) 0.7% -
% of Revenue 2.6% 2.4% 2.4% 2.3% 2.4%

License Fees 858,407                899,169                836,289                769,873                769,873                4.7% (7.0%) (7.9%) -
% of Revenue 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%

Other Controllable Expenses 13,375,934           15,129,997           16,342,488           16,561,992           16,311,992           13.1% 8.0% 1.3% (1.5%)
% of Revenue 2.7% 2.8% 3.0% 2.9% 3.0%

Other Non-medical Expenses 7,705,587             8,261,334             7,421,385             7,713,207             7,713,207             7.2% (10.2%) 3.9% -
% of Revenue 1.6% 1.5% 1.4% 1.4% 1.4% 555,747 (839,949)              291,822                -

Repairs & Maintenance 7,551,948             8,056,848             8,639,898             9,273,933             9,273,933             6.7% 7.2% 7.3% -
% of Revenue 1.5% 1.5% 1.6% 1.6% 1.7% 504,900 583,050                634,035                -

Net Operating Revenue 491,063,987 549,132,545 538,194,797 562,925,293 544,133,376 11.8% (2.0%) 4.6% (3.3%)
% of Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Total Operating Expenses 367,253,350        423,350,259 426,119,146 429,861,588        447,664,904        15.3% 0.7% 0.9% 4.1%
% of Revenue 74.8% 77.1% 79.2% 76.4% 82.3%

EBITDA 123,810,637        125,782,286        112,075,651        133,063,705        96,468,473          1.6% (10.9%) 18.7% (27.5%)

% of Revenue 25.2% 22.9% 20.8% 23.6% 17.7%
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Historical Payor Mix FYE FYE FYE YTD Historical Payor Mix FYE FYE FYE YTD
Expressed as % of Gross Charges 2015 2016 2017 2018 Expressed as % of Net Patient Revenue 2015 2016 2017 2018

Medicare 21.0% 20.8% 21.6% 21.5% Medicare 14.2% 14.5% 15.7% 16.1%
Medicaid 15.6% 13.6% 12.6% 12.8% Medicaid 14.0% 12.7% 14.1% 13.4%
Managed Medicare 18.7% 19.0% 20.1% 19.0% Managed Medicare 15.6% 16.9% 17.3% 15.9%
Managed Medicaid 19.4% 21.7% 21.2% 22.1% Managed Medicaid 12.7% 13.7% 13.5% 12.4%
Commercial Managed Care 16.9% 17.8% 16.2% 17.1% Commercial Managed Care 31.7% 34.0% 30.5% 33.9%
Managed Exchange 2.6% 2.4% 2.9% 2.9% Managed Exchange 4.9% 4.0% 4.3% 4.2%
Self Pay / Charity 1.3% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% Self Pay / Charity 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 0.2%
Other 4.5% 3.0% 3.7% 2.9% Other 5.7% 2.9% 3.4% 3.9%
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Source: Hospital's payor mix report which is reported in terms of gross charges. Source: Hospital's payor mix report which is reported in terms of net patient revenue.

Sources: Management provided payor mix reports for FYE 2015, FYE 2016, FYE 2017 and for the year-to-date period ended May 31, 2018.

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
HISTORICAL PAYOR MIX
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Managed Medicare, 
19.0% 

Managed Medicaid, 
22.1% 

Commercial Managed 
Care, 17.1% 

Managed Exchange, 
2.9% 

Self Pay / Charity, 
1.7% Other, 2.9% 

Gross Charges Payor Mix - YTD 2018

Medicare, 16.1% 

Medicaid, 13.4% 

Managed Medicare, 
15.9% Managed Medicaid, 

12.4% 

Commercial Managed 
Care, 33.9% 

Managed Exchange, 
4.2% 

Self Pay / Charity, 
0.2% Other, 3.9% 

Net Patient Revenue Payor Mix - YTD 2018
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
NORMALIZED INCOME STATEMENT

December 31
FINAL REPORT

Normalized Base Year Footnotes TTM Normalized TTM Normalized
Trailing Twelve Month Period Ended May 31, 2018 2018 Base Year 2018 Base Year

Hospital Operating Revenue
Patient Revenue

Gross Inpatient Revenue $2,562,224,502 - $2,562,224,502 455.2% 470.9%
Inpatient Contractual 1 (2,220,650,822) $2,653,632 (2,217,997,190) (394.5%) (407.6%)

Net Inpatient Revenue 341,573,680 2,653,632 344,227,312 60.7% 63.3%

Gross Outpatient Revenue 1 1,161,536,693 ($1,870,000) 1,159,666,693 206.3% 213.1%
Outpatient Contractual (1,009,294,506) - (1,009,294,506) (179.3%) (185.5%)

Net Outpatient Revenue 152,242,187 (1,870,000) 150,372,187 27.0% 27.6%

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt $493,815,867 $783,632 $494,599,499 87.7% 90.9%

Bad Debt 1 (2,546,776) ($585,481) (3,132,257) (0.5%) (0.6%)

Total Net Patient Revenue $491,269,091 $198,151 $491,467,242 87.3% 90.3%

Supplemental Payments
Medicaid DSH 7,203,734 - 7,203,734 1.3% 1.3%
Medicaid Supplemental - Income Provider 2 97,750,754 (28,134,779) 69,615,975 17.4% 12.8%
Medicaid Supplemental - Assessment Provider 2 (33,794,251) 9,144,711 (24,649,540) (6.0%) (4.5%)
Electronic Health Record Incentives 301,700 - 301,700 0.1% 0.1%

Total 71,461,937 (18,990,068) 52,471,869 12.7% 9.6%

Other Revenue
Rental Income - - - - -
Other Revenue 194,265 - 194,265 0.0% 0.0%

Total 194,265 - 194,265 0.0% 0.0%

Total Net Operating Revenue $562,925,293 ($18,791,917) $544,133,376 100.0% 100.0%

Adjustments
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
NORMALIZED INCOME STATEMENT

December 31
FINAL REPORT

Normalized Base Year Footnotes TTM Normalized TTM Normalized
Trailing Twelve Month Period Ended May 31, 2018 2018 Base Year 2018 Base Year

Adjustments

Operating Expenses:
Employee Salaries & Wages

Employee Salaries & Wages 186,925,096 - 186,925,096 33.2% 34.4%
Total 186,925,096 - 186,925,096 33.2% 34.4%

Employee Benefits
Payroll Taxes 13,998,001 - 13,998,001 2.5% 2.6%
Employee Benefits 1 37,264,605 313,000 37,577,605 6.6% 6.9%

Total 51,262,606 313,000 51,575,606 9.1% 9.5%
Occupancy Costs

Rent / Lease - Real Property 785,280 - 785,280 0.1% 0.1%
Utilities 3,678,255 - 3,678,255 0.7% 0.7%
Property Taxes 1,147,173 - 1,147,173 0.2% 0.2%

Total 5,610,708 - 5,610,708 1.0% 1.0%
Supplies

Medical Supplies 41,083,832 - 41,083,832 7.3% 7.6%
Drugs & Pharmaceuticals 31,110,577 - 31,110,577 5.5% 5.7%
Non-medical Supplies 4,518,902 - 4,518,902 0.8% 0.8%

Total 76,713,311 - 76,713,311 13.6% 14.1%
Medical Costs

Other Clinical Expenses 1,403,631 - 1,403,631 0.2% 0.3%
Medical Fees 34,086,074 - 34,086,074 6.1% 6.3%
Physician Income Assist 2,002,993 - 2,002,993 0.4% 0.4%
Non-patient Provisions - - - - -

Total 37,492,698 - 37,492,698 6.7% 6.9%
Insurance

Malpractice Insurance 5,692,256 - 5,692,256 1.0% 1.0%
Other Insurance 949,693 - 949,693 0.2% 0.2%

Total 6,641,949 - 6,641,949 1.2% 1.2%
General & Administrative

Advertising 1,110,287 - 1,110,287 0.2% 0.2%
Information Technology 9,480,068 - 9,480,068 1.7% 1.7%
Charitable Contributions 1,561,160 - 1,561,160 0.3% 0.3%
Non-medical Contracted Departments - - - - -
Equipment Rent / Lease Expense 1,330,460 - 1,330,460 0.2% 0.2%
Non-medical Professional Fees 4,299,393 - 4,299,393 0.8% 0.8%
Conifer Collection Fees 13,114,847 - 13,114,847 2.3% 2.4%
License Fees 769,873 - 769,873 0.1% 0.1%
Other Controllable Expenses 1 16,561,992 (250,000) 16,311,992 2.9% 3.0%
Other Non-medical Expenses 7,713,207 - 7,713,207 1.4% 1.4%
Repairs & Maintenance 9,273,933 - 9,273,933 1.6% 1.7%
Management Fees 3 - 10,882,668 10,882,668 - 2.0%
Physician Subsidy 4 - 6,857,648 6,857,648 - 1.3%

Total 65,215,220 17,490,316 82,705,536 11.6% 15.2%

Total Operating Expenses 3,4 429,861,588 17,803,316 447,664,904 76.4% 82.3%
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
NORMALIZED INCOME STATEMENT

December 31
FINAL REPORT

Normalized Base Year Footnotes TTM Normalized TTM Normalized
Trailing Twelve Month Period Ended May 31, 2018 2018 Base Year 2018 Base Year

Adjustments

EBITDA 133,063,705 (36,595,232) 96,468,473 23.6% 17.7%

Depreciation & Amortization Expense 15,442,515 - 15,442,515 2.7% 2.8%

Operating Income 117,621,190 (36,595,232) 81,025,958 20.9% 14.9%

Other Income (Expense) 5 (540) 540 - (0.0%) -
Interest Expense 6 393,811 (393,811) - 0.1% -

Earnings Before Income Taxes 117,226,839 (36,200,881) 81,025,958 20.8% 14.9%

Federal & State Income Tax Expense 7 - 22,673,980 22,673,980 - 4.2%

Earnings After Income Taxes $117,226,839 ($58,874,861) $58,351,978 20.8% 10.7%

Sources: Management provided financials for the trailing twelve month period ended May 31, 2018.
Normalized Base Year based on the trailing twelve month period ended May 31, 2018. Normalized Base Year eliminates any unusual or nonrecurring items from revenue and expenses.
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
FOOTNOTES TO NORMALIZED BASE YEAR INCOME STATEMENT

FINAL REPORT

Footnotes to Normalized Base Year Income Statement 
Footnote Description

1

2

3

4 Physician losses not captured in the TTM 2018 financial statements have been added in the Normalized Base Year. Please refer to Normalized Base Year Schedule 4 for supporting calculations.

5

6

7

Eliminated Other Income (Expense) to projected only recurring patient service revenue.

Eliminated interest expense to derive debt-free operations.

Calculated a blended federal and state income tax rate for California businesses to be applied to the earnings before taxes.

Management indicated several one-time or non-recurring expenses were included in the Hospital's TTM 2018 income statement. Please refer to Normalized Base Year Schedule 1 for additional detail.

Medicaid Supplemental - Income Provider' and 'Medicaid Supplemental - Assessment Provider' accounts are related to the Hospital's participation in the Hospital Qualify Assurance Fee ("HQAF") program Please
refer to Normalized Base Year Schedule 2 for additional detail regarding this adjustment.

Management Fees not captured in the Hospital's TTM 2018 Income Statement have been estimated at 2.0% of revenue. Please refer to Normalized Base Year Schedule 3, which provides support for the selected 
level of revenue.
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
NORMALIZED BASE YEAR SUPPORTING SCHEDULE 1 - NON-RECURRING ITEMS IDENTIFIED BY MANAGEMENT

FINAL REPORT

Period January-18 February-18 February-18 March-18 April-18 June-18 June-18 Total 2018 Other Normalizing 
Adjustments Adjustments Included in NBY

Valuation Acct 
Chng IEHP OP PCR Adj IEHP True-Up Q1 

'18
Pension 2017 

True-UP
CDHP Penalties 

Q2 '18
Allianz Sttlmnt Q2 

'18
PCR / Historical 

Q2 '18

Note 1 Note 2 Note 3 Note 4 Note 5 Note 6 Note 7
Adjustment to Account

Inpatient Contractual $2,653,632 $2,653,632 $2,653,632

Gross Outpatient Revenue ($1,037,000) ($833,000) ($1,870,000) ($1,870,000)

Bad Debt ($261,000) ($324,481) ($585,481) ($585,481)

Total Operating Revenue Adjustment ($261,000) ($1,037,000) - - - ($324,481) ($833,000) $198,151 $198,151

Operating Expenses

Employee Benefits - - - $313,000 - - - $313,000 $313,000

Other Controllable Expenses - - - - ($250,000) - - ($250,000) ($250,000)

Total Operating Expenses - - - $313,000 ($250,000) - - $63,000 $63,000

Total Adjustments ($261,000) ($1,037,000) - ($313,000) $250,000 ($324,481) ($833,000) $135,151 $135,151

Notes:

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

CDHP Penalties Q2 ’18 – Management was notified by CDHP in April that the Hospital was going to be paying a minimum of two $125K penalties, which were accrued.

Allianz Sttlmnt Q2 ’18 – Allianz is an insurance company that Management settled prior year claims, which netted the facility with a favorable net revenue adjustment.

PCR / Historical Q2 ’18 – Management updated the Hospital's Managed OP Historical PCR based on current 6 month trending $204K balance along with a $629K “credit” balance for prior period paid claims.  The Hospital's historical practice of applying a PCR 

Valuation Acct Chng - Management changed the bad debt methodology to align with the 2019 uncollectible valuation.  The new approach begins “aging” while patients are in-house vs. the Hospital's historical practice of aging once accounts receivable exceeds 
30 days.  Management adjusted the reserve percentages under this new method, which impacted the Hospital's bottom line outside the normal operation.

IEHP OP PCR Adj – Management revisited the cancer center outpatient percent to charge ratio during Q1 to account for the trend of higher reimbursement specific to radiation oncology and chemo patients.  The Hospital's rate increase from historical PCR 
reflected paid claims from Oct. ‘17 to Feb ’18.  Over this time period, the PCR increased from 20.37 to 24.1%.

IEHP True-Up Q1 ’18 – In Oct. ’17 we had a discussion with IEHP regarding the available funds for the quality risk pool.  We understood at that time they had $7.5M in funds for DRMC based on 4 metrics.  This was in line with the 2016/2017 fund disbursements.  
When we received the actual cash for Q1 & Q2 2017 in Feb. 2018 (due to IEHP delayed payment trending) we received <$1.1> less than anticipated.  We clarified immediately with IEHP in March and understood $7.5M was their total pool of which DRMC was 
eligible to receive 5.2% on our percentage of the total.  Total funds in 2016 were $84M which dropped to $30.7M in 2017.  We reduced our estimate for Q3 & Q4 2017 in March 2018 for <$965K>.  In addition, we are taking a monthly “hit” to forecast and to prior 
2018 month reserves.

Pension 2017 True-Up – Management allocates annually the final “matching” for employees upon meeting certain eligibility requirements.  Management uses a per pay period matching estimate for all employees. In March this estimated expense accrual is trued-
up to the actual funds transferred to 401k accounts.
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
NORMALIZED BASE YEAR SUPPORTING SCHEDULE 2 - MEDICAID SUPPLEMENTAL PAYMENT & ASSESSMENT FEE ADJUSTMENT

FINAL REPORT

Note:

TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018
Source Income Statement Account VMG Income Statement Account

FYE 2017 - 
Janaury

FYE 2017 - 
February

FYE 2017 - 
March

FYE 2017 - 
April

FYE 2017 - 
May

FYE 2017 - 
June

FYE 2017 - 
July

FYE 2017 - 
August

FYE 2017 - 
September

FYE 2017 - 
October

FYE 2017 - 
November

FYE 2017 - 
December

FYE 2017 - 
Period 13

FYE 2017
Total

4791 - Medicaid Supplemental - Income 
Provider Fee State

Medicaid Supplemental - Income 
Provider

- - - - - - - - - - - 63,654,523 3,868,946 67,523,469 1

4796 - Medicaid Supplemental - 
Assessment Provider Fee State

Medicaid Supplemental - 
Assessment Provider 

- - - - - - - - - - - (25,352,385) 3,405,079 (21,947,306) 1

TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018 TTM 2018
Source Income Statement Account VMG Income Statement Account

YTD 2018 - 
January

YTD 2018 - 
February

YTD 2018 - 
March

YTD 2018 - 
April

YTD 2018 - 
May

FYE 2017
Total Accrued

TTM 2018
Total Accrued

TTM 2018 
Months 
Accrued

FYE 2017
Months to 
Eliminate

FYE 2017
Avg Monthly 

Accrual
Adjustment Normalized 

Base Year

4791 - Medicaid Supplemental - Income 
Provider Fee State

Medicaid Supplemental - Income 
Provider

6,045,457 6,045,457 6,045,457 6,045,457 6,045,457 67,523,469 97,750,754 17 Months 5 Months 5,626,956 28,134,779 125,885,533 2

4796 - Medicaid Supplemental - 
Assessment Provider Fee State

Medicaid Supplemental - 
Assessment Provider 

(2,369,389) (2,369,389) (2,369,389) (2,369,389) (2,369,389) (21,947,306) (33,794,251) 17 Months 5 Months (1,828,942) (9,144,711) (42,938,962) 2

Notes:
(1) During December 2017, Medicaid Supplemental Income & Assessment Fee accrual occurred for the full FYE 2017 period. The TTM 2018 Income Statement is overstated as a result as it included the December 2017 accruals.
(2) The Adjustment above eliminates an estimated 5 month period of accruals from FYE 2017 based on the Average accrued Income and Assessment Fee per month during FYE 2017.

Medicaid Supplemental - Income Provider' and 'Medicaid Supplemental - Assessment Provider' accounts are related to the Hospital's participation in the Hospital Qualify Assurance Fee ("HQAF") program which provides funding for supplemental payments to California hospitals that serve Medi-Cal and uninsured 
patients. The Hospital accrues Supplemental Revenue and related Assessment Fees as detailed in teh exhibits below.
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
NORMALIZED BASE YEAR SUPPORTING SCHEDULE 3 - MANAGEMENT FEE MARKET DATA

FINAL REPORT

Comparable Facility Selected Comparable ("X") Fee % of Net Revenue

Comparable #1 2.2%
Comparable #2 X 1.1%
Comparable #3 X 2.2%
Comparable #4 1.1%
Comparable #5 X 2.9%
Comparable #6 X 1.9%
Comparable #7 3.0%
Comparable #8 3.8%
Comparable #9 X 2.5%

Comparable #10 X 2.5%
Comparable #11 X 2.0%
Comparable #12 X 4.4%
Comparable #13 X 0.5%
Comparable #14 X 2.0%
Comparable #15 X 1.9%
Comparable #16 X 2.5%
Comparable #17 1.0%
Comparable #18 1.0%
Comparable #19 2.0%
Comparable #20 X 2.0%
Comparable #21 0.6%
Comparable #22 n/a
Comparable #23 n/a

Interview Response #1 1.3%
Interview Response #2 n/a
Interview Response #3 0.8%
Interview Response #4 1.8%

Third Party Quote 2.0%

Low High Mean Median
0.5% 4.4% 1.9% 2.0%

Note: Please refer to the supplemental exhibits for a list of management services provided by Tenet at the Hospital.

Description of Services / Fee

Fixed Fee
Fixed Fee

CEO employed by manager.
CEO's salary and benefits are paid for by the 
3% of net revenues for first two years; then 

Fixed Fee

Summary Data - All Data Points

Summary of VMG Data for Management Fees Observed for Acute Care Hospitals

Fixed fee; C-Suite is passed through on top of 
Fixed fee; C-Suite is passed through on top of 

C-suite not included in fee range
Fixed fee; C-Suite is passed through on top of 
Fee does not include salaries of CEO, CFO, or 
Fee does not include pass-through expenses 
Fee does not include pass-through expenses 

Fee does not include pass-through expenses 

Fixed Fee

Billing and collection services not included.
CEO, COO, CFO, and CNO are paid for by the 
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
NORMALIZED BASE YEAR SUPPORTING SCHEDULE 4 - PHYSICIAN PRACTICE FOUNDATION SUBSIDY CALCULATION

FINAL REPORT

Line Item FYE 2017 YTD May 2017 YTD May 2018 TTM 2018

Gross Patient Revenue 12,585,570 4,493,209 7,796,591 15,888,952

Revenue Deductions 9,167,991 3,013,359 5,880,135 12,034,767

Total Net Patient Revenue 3,417,579 1,479,850 1,916,456 3,854,185

Other Revenue 1,488,390 454,419 945,477 1,979,448

Total Net Operating Revenue 4,905,969 1,934,269 2,861,933 5,833,633

Bad Debt 109,954 43,247 (4,719) 61,988

Total Operating/Collectible Revenue 4,796,015 1,891,022 2,866,652 5,771,645

Salaries, Wages, & Benefits 90,150 2,002 159,709 247,857

Supplies 408,279 87,786 246,436 566,929

Medical & Clinical Fees 5,873,174 2,785,368 2,941,254 6,029,060

Other Professional Fees 171,226 75,641 171,618 267,203

Other Fees & Services 2,364,466 879,495 1,932,093 3,417,064

Utilities & Telephones 208,374 79,508 111,298 240,164

Repairs, Maintenance, & Equipment Rental 171,720 70,987 76,503 177,236

Total OCE 289,422 121,111 143,769 312,080

Rent & REIT 961,969 334,623 655,308 1,282,654

Other NCE 113,373 26,836 59,195 145,732

EHR Incentive (27,460) (1,960) - (25,500)

Depreciation & Amortization 619 350,828 317,752 (32,457)

Interest Expense 612 188 847 1,271

Total Expenses 10,625,924 4,812,413 6,815,782 12,629,293

Total Pre-Tax Income (5,829,909) (2,921,391) (3,949,130) (6,857,648) *

Note: Pre-tax income above was provided for the Physician Practice operations applicable to the operations of Desert Regional Medical Center. These 
Physician Practice's are accounted for under the Desert Foundation and have not historically been included in the Hospital Income Statements provided. 
The above Pre-tax Income (Loss) is applied as an expense for the Hospital in the NBY.
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FINAL REPORT

DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW - ASSUMPTIONS

Incremental Working Capital Requirements 8.0%
Normalized Working Capital 8.0% $43,531,000 = x Normalized Base Year Revenue
Standard Inflation Rate (CPI) 3.0%
Terminal Growth Rate 3.0%
CA - Income Tax Rate (Blended Federal & State) 28.0% CA

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized

2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Inpatient Admissions n/a 2.3% (2.6%) 0.2% - 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
Outpatient Visits n/a 3.1% 2.2% (0.6%) - 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

Total Adj. Patient Days 126,233                138,239               135,282              134,100                134,033 135,538 137,072 138,635 140,228 141,851
Growth n/a  9.5% (2.1%) (0.9%) (0.1%) 1.1% 1.1% 1.1% 1.1% 1.2%

 FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Net Inpatient Revenue per Inpatient Admissions n/a 11.1% (2.5%) (0.2%) 0.8% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
Net Outpatient Revenue per Outpatient Visits n/a 7.0% (2.4%) 0.3% (1.2%) 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Avg. Net Patient Revenue Revenue per Adj. Patient Day $3,492 $3,604 $3,578 $3,663 $3,667 $3,740 $3,814 $3,889 $3,967 $4,045
Growth n/a  3.2% (0.7%) 2.4% 0.1% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Total Adj. Patient Days 126,233 138,239 135,282 134,100 134,033 135,538 137,072 138,635 140,228 141,851
Medical Supplies per Adj. Patient Day Increase at CPI $302.76 $306.16 $298.18 $306.37 $306.52 $315.72 $325.19 $334.94 $344.99 $355.34
Total Medical Supplies $38,219,014 $42,323,381 $40,338,078 $41,083,832 $41,083,832 $42,791,627 $44,574,153 $46,434,855 $48,377,346 $50,405,416

Growth n/a 10.7% (4.7%) 1.8% - 4.2% 4.2% 4.2% 4.2% 4.2%

Total Adj. Patient Days 126,233 138,239 135,282 134,100 134,033 135,538 137,072 138,635 140,228 141,851
Drugs & Pharmaceuticals per Adj. Patient Day Increase at CPI $210.01 $223.17 $223.59 $231.99 $232.11 $239.07 $246.25 $253.63 $261.24 $269.08
Total Drugs & Pharmaceuticals $26,510,658 $30,850,978 $30,247,697 $31,110,577 $31,110,577 $32,403,798 $33,753,609 $35,162,619 $36,633,563 $38,169,311

Growth n/a 16.4% (2.0%) 2.9% - 4.2% 4.2% 4.2% 4.2% 4.2%

FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Total FTEs 1,720.0 1,976.0 1,951.0 1,933.0 1,933.0 1,954.7 1,976.8 1,999.4 2,022.3 2,045.7
Paid Hours per Adj. Patient Day 28.3 29.7 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 30.0
Growth n/a 4.9% 0.9% (0.0%) 0.1% - - - - -

Average Salary per FTE $96,702 $96,702 $99,603 $102,591 $105,669 $108,839 $112,104
  Growth 3.0% Annual Growth n/a - 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Total FTE Salaries $186,925,096 $186,925,096 $194,695,301 $202,805,516 $211,271,423 $220,109,460 $229,336,865

Payroll Taxes % of salaries 7.5% $13,998,001 $13,998,001 $14,579,878 $15,187,216 $15,821,191 $16,483,033 $17,174,032
Employee Benefits % of salaries 20.1% $37,264,605 $37,577,605 $39,139,651 $40,770,050 $42,471,954 $44,248,667 $46,103,655

Total Employee Salaries, Wages & Benefits $238,187,702 $238,500,702 $248,414,830 $258,762,783 $269,564,568 $280,841,160 $292,614,553
  per Adj. Patient Day $1,776 $1,779 $1,833 $1,888 $1,944 $2,003 $2,063

Growth n/a 0.2% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

 VOLUME GROWTH

 NET REVENUE GROWTH 

 SUPPLIES ASSUMPTIONS:

 FTE/STAFFING COMPENSATION ASSUMPTIONS:

Supplies per Adj. Patient Day Growth

Projection Period

Projection Period

Projection Period

Projection Period

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ASSUMPTIONS
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FINAL REPORT

FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

INPATIENT REVENUE

Volume Assumptions

Admissions per year 19,738 20,184 19,650 19,694 19,694 19,792 19,891 19,991 20,091 20,191

  Growth n/a  2.3% (2.6%) 0.2% - 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%

Average Length of Stay ("ALOS") 4.5 4.8 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.7

Patient Days 88,855 97,083 92,724 92,271 92,271 92,732 93,196 93,662 94,130 94,601

Inpatient Reimbursement (per Admission)

Gross Inpatient Charge per Admission % of NBY Charges $110,081 $122,183 $127,678 $130,102 $130,102 $132,704 $135,358 $138,065 $140,826 $143,643

Inpatient Contractual per Admission 86.6% (94,040) (104,366) (110,305) (112,758) (112,623) (114,875) (117,173) (119,516) (121,907) (124,345)

Average Net Inpatient Revenue per Admission $16,041 $17,817 $17,373 $17,344 $17,479 $17,828 $18,185 $18,549 $18,920 $19,298

Growth n/a  11.1% (2.5%) (0.2%) 0.8% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Inpatient Gross Charges $2,172,776,766 $2,466,134,357 $2,508,873,783 $2,562,224,502 $2,562,224,502 $2,626,536,337 $2,692,462,399 $2,760,043,205 $2,829,320,290 $2,900,336,229

Estimated Inpatient Contractual (1,856,157,763) (2,106,525,179) (2,167,492,991) (2,220,650,822) (2,217,997,190) (2,273,668,919) (2,330,738,009) (2,389,239,533) (2,449,209,446) (2,510,684,603)

  Net Inpatient Revenue $316,619,003 $359,609,178 $341,380,792 $341,573,680 $344,227,312 $352,867,418 $361,724,390 $370,803,672 $380,110,844 $389,651,626

Growth n/a  13.6% (5.1%) 0.1% 0.8% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

2,172,776,766        2,466,134,357        2,508,873,783        2,562,224,502        2,562,224,502        2,626,536,337        2,692,462,399        2,760,043,205        2,829,320,290        2,900,336,229        

OUTPATIENT REVENUE (1,856,157,763)       (2,106,525,179)       (2,167,492,991)       (2,220,650,822)       (2,217,997,190)       (2,273,668,919)       (2,330,738,009)       (2,389,239,533)       (2,449,209,446)       (2,510,684,603)       

Outpatient Volume

Outpatient Visits per year 159,534 164,406 168,102 167,037 167,037 171,213 175,493 179,881 184,378 188,987

  Growth n/a 3.1% 2.2% (0.6%) - 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 2.5%

Outpatient Reimbursement

Gross Charge per Outpatient Visit % of NBY Charges $5,729 $6,359 $6,850 $6,954 $6,943 $7,081 $7,223 $7,368 $7,515 $7,665

Outpatient Contractual per Admission 87.0% (4,860) (5,428) (5,942) (6,042) (6,042) (6,163) (6,286) (6,412) (6,540) (6,671)

Average Net Revenue per Outpatient Visit $870 $930 $908 $911 $900 $918 $937 $955 $974 $994

Growth n/a  7.0% (2.4%) 0.3% (1.2%) 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Outpatient Gross Charges $914,018,727 $1,045,447,306 $1,151,497,930 $1,161,536,693 $1,159,666,693 $1,212,431,528 $1,267,597,162 $1,325,272,833 $1,385,572,747 $1,448,616,307

Estimated Outpatient Contractual (775,273,263) (892,476,375) (998,786,817) (1,009,294,506) (1,009,294,506) (1,055,217,406) (1,103,229,798) (1,153,426,754) (1,205,907,671) (1,260,776,470)

Net Outpatient Revenue $138,745,464 $152,970,931 $152,711,113 $152,242,187 $150,372,187 $157,214,122 $164,367,364 $171,846,079 $179,665,076 $187,839,837

Growth n/a  10.3% (0.2%) (0.3%) (1.2%) 4.5% 4.6% 4.6% 4.5% 4.5%

914,018,727           1,045,447,306        1,151,497,930        1,161,536,693        1,159,666,693        1,212,431,528        1,267,597,162        1,325,272,833        1,385,572,747        1,448,616,307        

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ASSUMPTIONS - INCOME APPROACH

Projection Period
REVENUE ASSUMPTIONS:
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FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

HOSPITAL OPERATING REVENUE SUMMARY

Total Patient Revenue

Total Gross Charges (IP & OP) $3,086,795,493 3,511,581,663        3,660,371,713        3,723,761,195        3,721,891,195        3,838,967,865        3,960,059,561        4,085,316,038        4,214,893,037        4,348,952,536        

Total Contractuals (IP & OP) (2,631,431,026)       (2,999,001,554)       (3,166,279,808)       (3,229,945,328)       (3,227,291,696)       (3,328,886,325)       (3,433,967,807)       (3,542,666,287)       (3,655,117,117)       (3,771,461,073)       

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt 455,364,467           512,580,109           494,091,905           493,815,867           494,599,499           510,081,539           526,091,754           542,649,751           559,775,920           577,491,463           

Net Inpatient Revenue $316,619,003 $359,609,178 $341,380,792 $341,573,680 $344,227,312 $352,867,418 $361,724,390 $370,803,672 $380,110,844 $389,651,626

Net Outpatient Revenue $138,745,464 $152,970,931 $152,711,113 $152,242,187 $150,372,187 $157,214,122 $164,367,364 $171,846,079 $179,665,076 $187,839,837

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt $455,364,467 $512,580,109 $494,091,905 $493,815,867 $494,599,499 $510,081,539 $526,091,754 $542,649,751 $559,775,920 $577,491,463

Growth n/a 12.6% (3.6%) (0.1%) 0.2% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.2% 3.2%

NBY % of Total Gross Charges

Bad Debt 0.1% (14,573,495)            (14,301,275)            (10,016,605)            (2,546,776)              (3,132,257)              (3,230,786) (3,332,694) (3,438,107) (3,547,156) (3,659,977)

Growth n/a (1.9%) (30.0%) (74.6%) 23.0% 3.1% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2%

Total Net Patient Revenue 440,790,972           498,278,834           484,075,300           491,269,091           491,467,242           506,850,753           522,759,060           539,211,644           556,228,764           573,831,486           

Growth n/a 13.0% (2.9%) 1.5% 0.0% 3.1% 3.1% 3.1% 3.2% 3.2%

Supplemental Payments

Medicaid DSH No Growth 8,436,631               7,962,995               7,402,065               7,203,734               7,203,734               7,203,734 7,203,734 7,203,734 7,203,734 7,203,734

Medicaid Supplemental - Income Provider No Growth 62,013,094             68,421,637             67,523,469             97,750,754             69,615,975             69,615,975 69,615,975 69,615,975 69,615,975 69,615,975

Medicaid Supplemental - Assessment Provider No Growth (26,897,084)            (30,390,480)            (21,947,306)            (33,794,251)            (24,649,540)            (24,649,540) (24,649,540) (24,649,540) (24,649,540) (24,649,540)

Electronic Health Record Incentives No Growth 1,020,542               497,371                  301,700                  301,700                  301,700                  301,700 301,700 301,700 301,700 301,700

Total 44,573,183             46,491,523             53,279,928             71,461,937             52,471,869             52,471,869             52,471,869             52,471,869             52,471,869             52,471,869             

Growth n/a 4.3% 14.6% 34.1% -26.6% - - - - -

Other Revenue

Other Revenue Increase at CPI 5,699,832               4,362,188               839,569                  194,265                  194,265                  200,093 206,096 212,279 218,647 225,206

Total 5,699,832               4,362,188               839,569                  194,265                  194,265                  200,093                  206,096                  212,279                  218,647                  225,206                  

Growth n/a -23.5% -80.8% -76.9% 0.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Total Net Operating Revenue $491,063,987 $549,132,545 $538,194,797 $562,925,293 $544,133,376 $559,522,715 $575,437,025 $591,895,792 $608,919,280 $626,528,561

Growth n/a  11.8% (2.0%) 4.6% (3.3%) 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 2.9% 2.9%

Projection Period
REVENUE ASSUMPTIONS:
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FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
Footnotes: 2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Revenue:

Total Patient Revenue 455,364,467 512,580,109 494,091,905 493,815,867 494,599,499 510,081,539 526,091,754 542,649,751 559,775,920 577,491,463

Bad Debt & Other Deductions (14,573,495) (14,301,275) (10,016,605) (2,546,776) (3,132,257) (3,230,786) (3,332,694) (3,438,107) (3,547,156) (3,659,977)

Supplemental Payments 44,573,183 46,491,523 53,279,928 71,461,937 52,471,869 52,471,869 52,471,869 52,471,869 52,471,869 52,471,869

Other Revenue 5,699,832 4,362,188 839,569 194,265 194,265 200,093 206,096 212,279 218,647 225,206

  Total Net Operating Revenue $491,063,987 $549,132,545 $538,194,797 $562,925,293 $544,133,376 $559,522,715 $575,437,025 $591,895,792 $608,919,280 $626,528,561

Growth n/a  11.8% (2.0%) 4.6% (3.3%) 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 2.9% 2.9%

Implied Volume Statistics

Outpatient Equivalency Factor 1.42                         1.42                         1.46                         1.45                         1.45                         1.46                         1.47                         1.48                         1.49                         1.50                         

Admissions 19,738 20,184 19,650 19,694 19,694 19,792 19,891 19,991 20,091 20,191

Growth n/a  2.3% (2.6%) 0.2% - 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%

Adj. Admissions 28,041                     28,740                     28,669                     28,622                     28,608                     28,929                     29,256                     29,590                     29,930                     30,276                     

Growth n/a  2.5% (0.2%) (0.2%) (0.1%) 1.1% 1.1% 1.1% 1.1% 1.2%

Patient Days 88,855 97,083 92,724 92,271 92,271 92,732 93,196 93,662 94,130 94,601

Growth n/a  9.3% (4.5%) (0.5%) - 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5% 0.5%

Adj. Patient Days 126,233                  138,239                  135,282                  134,100                  134,033                  135,538                  137,072                  138,635                  140,228                  141,851                  

Growth n/a  9.5% (2.1%) (0.9%) (0.1%) 1.1% 1.1% 1.1% 1.1% 1.2%

Implied Reimbursement Statistics

Net Patient Revenue per Adj. Admission 15,719 17,337 16,885 17,164 17,180 17,521 17,868 18,223 18,584 18,953

Growth n/a  10.3% (2.6%) 1.7% 0.1% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Net Operating Revenue per Adj. Admission 17,512 19,107 18,773 19,668 19,021 19,341 19,669 20,003 20,345 20,694

Growth n/a  9.1% (1.7%) 4.8% (3.3%) 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7%

Net Patient Revenue per Adj. Patient Day 3,492 3,604 3,578 3,663 3,667 3,740 3,814 3,889 3,967 4,045

Growth n/a  3.2% (0.7%) 2.4% 0.1% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Net Operating Revenue per Adj. Patient Day 3,890 3,972 3,978 4,198 4,060 4,128 4,198 4,269 4,342 4,417

Growth n/a  2.1% 0.2% 5.5% (3.3%) 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7% 1.7%

Projection Period
REVENUE SUMMARY:
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FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized
Footnotes: 2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Operating Expenses:

Employee Salaries & Wages

Employee Salaries & Wages See Assumptions Summary $161,480,723 $190,660,210 $187,195,604 $186,925,096 $186,925,096 $194,695,301 $202,805,516 $211,271,423 $220,109,460 $229,336,865

Employee Benefits

Payroll Taxes See Assumptions Summary 11,763,690             14,067,020             13,885,432             13,998,001             13,998,001             14,579,878             15,187,216             15,821,191             16,483,033             17,174,032             

Employee Benefits See Assumptions Summary 32,383,647             35,607,391             36,987,851             37,264,605             37,577,605             39,139,651 40,770,050 42,471,954 44,248,667 46,103,655

Occupancy Costs

Rent / Lease - Real Property Increase at CPI 715,595                  852,565                  877,241                  785,280                  785,280                  808,838                  833,104                  858,097                  883,840                  910,355                  

Utilities Increase at CPI 3,899,993               3,330,300               3,499,157               3,678,255               3,678,255               3,788,603               3,902,261               4,019,329               4,139,908               4,264,106               

Property Taxes Increase at CPI 1,242,032               1,193,427               1,271,050               1,147,173               1,147,173               1,181,588               1,217,036               1,253,547               1,291,153               1,329,888               

Supplies

Medical Supplies See Assumptions Summary 38,219,014             42,323,381             40,338,078             41,083,832             41,083,832             42,791,627             44,574,153             46,434,855             48,377,346             50,405,416             

Drugs & Pharmaceuticals See Assumptions Summary 26,510,658             30,850,978             30,247,697             31,110,577             31,110,577             32,403,798             33,753,609             35,162,619             36,633,563             38,169,311             

Non-medical Supplies Increase at CPI 5,721,203               4,824,614               4,536,075               4,518,902               4,518,902               4,654,469               4,794,103               4,937,926               5,086,064               5,238,646               

Medical Costs

Other Clinical Expenses % of Revenue 15,880                     10,538                     1,173,820               1,403,631               1,403,631               1,443,329               1,484,381               1,526,838               1,570,751               1,616,175               

Medical Fees % of Revenue 22,918,405             28,155,709             32,217,548             34,086,074             34,086,074             35,050,106             36,047,024             37,078,049             38,144,449             39,247,545             

Physician Income Assist % of Revenue 1,531,647               1,490,747               1,974,964               2,002,993               2,002,993               2,059,642               2,118,224               2,178,810               2,241,474               2,306,295               

Insurance

Malpractice Insurance Increase at CPI 3,986,073               7,591,366               6,394,474               5,692,256               5,692,256               5,863,024               6,038,914               6,220,082               6,406,684               6,598,885               

Other Insurance Increase at CPI 676,531                  842,166                  900,543                  949,693                  949,693                  978,184                  1,007,529               1,037,755               1,068,888               1,100,954               

General & Administrative

Advertising Increase at CPI 1,391,452               1,554,035               1,466,182               1,110,287               1,110,287               1,143,596               1,177,903               1,213,241               1,249,638               1,287,127               

Information Technology Increase at CPI 7,562,988               8,179,456               9,697,950               9,480,068               9,480,068               9,764,470               10,057,404             10,359,126             10,669,900             10,989,997             

Charitable Contributions % of Revenue 864,838                  1,145,921               972,447                  1,561,160               1,561,160               1,605,313               1,650,973               1,698,194               1,747,036               1,797,558               

Equipment Rent / Lease Expense % of Revenue 953,797                  1,584,208               1,502,505               1,330,460               1,330,460               1,368,088               1,407,001               1,447,244               1,488,868               1,531,924               

Non-medical Professional Fees Increase at CPI 3,217,597               3,291,038               4,713,103               4,299,393               4,299,393               4,428,375               4,561,226               4,698,063               4,839,005               4,984,175               

Conifer Collection Fees % of Revenue 12,705,711             13,447,841             13,027,365             13,114,847             13,114,847             13,485,765             13,869,336             14,266,029             14,676,334             15,100,758             

License Fees Increase at CPI 858,407                  899,169                  836,289                  769,873                  769,873                  792,969                  816,758                  841,261                  866,499                  892,494                  

Other Controllable Expenses % of Revenue 13,375,934             15,129,997             16,342,488             16,561,992             16,311,992             16,773,333             17,250,411             17,743,810             18,254,139             18,782,029             

Other Non-medical Expenses Increase at CPI 7,705,587               8,261,334               7,421,385               7,713,207               7,713,207               7,944,603               8,182,941               8,428,430               8,681,282               8,941,721               

Repairs & Maintenance Increase at CPI 7,551,948               8,056,848               8,639,898               9,273,933               9,273,933               9,552,151               9,838,716               10,133,877             10,437,893             10,751,030             

Management Fees % of Revenue -                                -                                -                                -                                10,882,668             11,190,454             11,508,740             11,837,916             12,178,386             12,530,571             

Physician Subsidy % of Revenue -                                -                                -                                -                                6,857,648               7,051,598               7,252,164               7,459,592               7,674,137               7,896,065               

Total Operating Expenses $367,253,350 $423,350,259 $426,119,146 $429,861,588 $447,664,904 $464,538,754 $482,106,693 $500,399,255 $519,448,398 $539,287,578

Growth n/a  15.3% 0.7% 0.9% 4.1% 3.8% 3.8% 3.8% 3.8% 3.8%

Operating Expense Per Adj. Patient Day $2,909 $3,062 $3,150 $3,206 $3,340 $3,427 $3,517 $3,609 $3,704 $3,802

Per Adj. Patient Day Growth n/a  5.3% 2.9% 1.8% 4.2% 2.6% 2.6% 2.6% 2.6% 2.6%

Projection Period
EXPENSE ASSUMPTIONS:
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Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5

Capital Expenditures Projection Detail (provided by Hospital Management):

Equipment - Replacement 2,386,000 2,374,000 -

Business Development 2,217,000 1,500,000 3,380,000

Facility Maintenance (Infrastructure) 3,077,000 4,860,000 2,700,000

ALCM (Replacement Equipment and Replacement of Pumps) 3,200,000 3,279,000 4,050,000

Other Capital 3,027,000 2,423,000 3,249,000

Total Capital Expenditures 13,900,000 14,400,000 13,400,000 15,200,000 15,700,000

% of Revenue (Rounded) 2.5% 2.5% 2.3% 2.5% 2.5%

Depreciation Assumptions Terminal Year Capital Expenditures

Net Initial Fixed Assets (Book Value) Less Land $86,897,182

  Straight-line Depreciation Years (Initial Assets) 15.0           

Depreciation of Initial Net Fixed Assets $5,793,145 $5,793,145 $5,793,145 $5,793,145 $5,793,145

Capital Expenditures per Year 13,900,000 14,400,000 13,400,000 15,200,000 15,700,000

  Straight-line Depreciation Yrs (New Assets) 10.0           695,000 1,390,000 1,390,000 1,390,000 1,390,000

720,000 1,440,000 1,440,000 1,440,000

670,000 1,340,000 1,340,000

760,000 1,520,000

785,000

Total Depreciation 6,488,145 7,903,145 9,293,145 10,723,145 12,268,145

Note : Years 2018, 2019 and 2020 Capital Expenditures were provided by Management in the "3.0 DRMC
Capital Plan.pptx" document. Years 2021 forward are projected as a percent of revenue at 2.5%.

Projection Period
DEPRECIATION SCHEDULE:
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FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized Projection Period Terminal   
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 Year

Hospital Operating Revenue

Net Inpatient Revenue 316,619,003 359,609,178 341,380,792 341,573,680 344,227,312 352,867,418 361,724,390 370,803,672 380,110,844 389,651,626 - - - - - - - -

Net Outpatient Revenue 138,745,464 152,970,931 152,711,113 152,242,187 150,372,187 157,214,122 164,367,364 171,846,079 179,665,076 187,839,837 - - - - - - - -

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt 455,364,467 512,580,109 494,091,905 493,815,867 494,599,499 510,081,539 526,091,754 542,649,751 559,775,920 577,491,463 - - - - - - - -

Bad Debt & Other Deductions (14,573,495) (14,301,275) (10,016,605) (2,546,776) (3,132,257) (3,230,786) (3,332,694) (3,438,107) (3,547,156) (3,659,977) - - - - - - - -

Total Net Patient Revenue 440,790,972 498,278,834 484,075,300 491,269,091 491,467,242 506,850,753 522,759,060 539,211,644 556,228,764 573,831,486 - - - - - - - -

Supplemental Payments 44,573,183 46,491,523 53,279,928 71,461,937 52,471,869 52,471,869 52,471,869 52,471,869 52,471,869 52,471,869 - - - - - - - -

Other Revenue $5,699,832 $4,362,188 $839,569 $194,265 $194,265 $200,093 $206,096 $212,279 $218,647 $225,206 - - - - - - - -

Total Net Operating Revenue 491,063,987 549,132,545 538,194,797 562,925,293 544,133,376 559,522,715 575,437,025 591,895,792 608,919,280 626,528,561 645,324,418 664,684,150 684,624,675 705,163,415 726,318,318 748,107,867 770,551,103 793,667,636 817,477,665

Growth % n/a 11.8% (2.0%) 4.6% (3.3%) 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 2.9% 2.9% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%

Operating Expenses:

Employee Salaries & Wages 161,480,723 190,660,210 187,195,604 186,925,096 186,925,096 194,695,301 202,805,516 211,271,423 220,109,460 229,336,865 - - - - - - - -

Employee Benefits 44,147,337 49,674,411 50,873,283 51,262,606 51,575,606 53,719,529 55,957,266 58,293,145 60,731,700 63,277,687 - - - - - - - -

Occupancy Costs 5,857,620 5,376,292 5,647,448 5,610,708 5,610,708 5,779,029 5,952,400 6,130,972 6,314,901 6,504,348 - - - - - - - -

Supplies 70,450,875 77,998,973 75,121,850 76,713,311 76,713,311 79,849,895 83,121,865 86,535,399 90,096,973 93,813,373 - - - - - - - -

Medical Costs 24,465,932 29,656,994 35,366,332 37,492,698 37,492,698 38,553,077 39,649,629 40,783,696 41,956,674 43,170,015 - - - - - - - -

Insurance 4,662,604 8,433,532 7,295,017 6,641,949 6,641,949 6,841,207 7,046,444 7,257,837 7,475,572 7,699,839 - - - - - - - -

General & Administrative 56,188,259 61,549,847 64,619,612 65,215,220 82,705,536 85,100,715 87,573,573 90,126,783 92,763,117 95,485,449 - - - - - - - -

Total Operating Expenses 367,253,350 423,350,259 426,119,146 429,861,588 447,664,904 464,538,754 482,106,693 500,399,255 519,448,398 539,287,578 - - - - - - - -

Growth % n/a 15.3% 0.7% 0.9% 4.1% 3.8% 3.8% 3.8% 3.8% 3.8% (100.0%) n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 

EBITDA 123,810,637 125,782,286 112,075,651 133,063,705 96,468,473 94,983,961 93,330,331 91,496,537 89,470,882 87,240,983 89,858,213 92,553,959 95,330,578 98,190,495 101,136,210 104,170,297 107,295,406 110,514,268 113,829,696

EBITDA % 25.2% 22.9% 20.8% 23.6% 17.7% 17.0% 16.2% 15.5% 14.7% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9%

Depreciation & Amortization Expense 14,211,402 14,814,437 15,734,886 15,442,515 15,442,515 6,488,145 7,903,145 9,293,145 10,723,145 12,268,145 13,859,801 15,497,312 17,183,948 18,226,183 18,600,535 13,260,422 13,728,746 14,139,019 19,757,394

Operating Income 109,599,235 110,967,849 96,340,765 117,621,190 81,025,958 88,495,816 85,427,186 82,203,392 78,747,737 74,972,838 75,998,412 77,056,648 78,146,630 79,964,313 82,535,675 90,909,874 93,566,660 96,375,248 94,072,301

Other Income (Expense) (221,558) (254,082) (107,895) (540) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -                              

Interest Expense 286,732 362,552 395,400 393,811 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -                              

Earnings Before Income Taxes 109,090,945 110,351,215 95,837,470 117,226,839 81,025,958 88,495,816 85,427,186 82,203,392 78,747,737 74,972,838 75,998,412 77,056,648 78,146,630 79,964,313 82,535,675 90,909,874 93,566,660 96,375,248 94,072,301

Federal & State Income Tax Expense @ 28.0% - - - - 22,673,980 24,764,315 23,905,602 23,003,468 22,036,452 20,980,099 21,267,092 21,563,224 21,868,240 22,376,893 23,096,453 25,439,856 26,183,320 26,969,264 26,324,817

Earnings After Income Taxes 109,090,945 110,351,215 95,837,470 117,226,839 58,351,978 63,731,501 61,521,584 59,199,923 56,711,285 53,992,739 54,731,320 55,493,424 56,278,390 57,587,419 59,439,222 65,470,019 67,383,340 69,405,984 67,747,485

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ANALYSIS - INCOME APPROACH
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FINAL REPORT

FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized Projection Period Terminal   
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 Year

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ANALYSIS - INCOME APPROACH

Earnings After Income Taxes 109,090,945         110,351,215         95,837,470           117,226,839         58,351,978           63,731,501                           61,521,584           59,199,923           56,711,285           53,992,739           54,731,320           55,493,424           56,278,390           57,587,419           59,439,222           65,470,019           67,383,340           69,405,984           67,747,485           

Cash Flow Adjustments:

Plus:  Depreciation & Amortization 6,488,145 7,903,145 9,293,145 10,723,145 12,268,145 13,859,801 15,497,312 17,183,948 18,226,183 18,600,535 13,260,422 13,728,746 14,139,019 19,757,394

Less:  Required Annual Capital Expenditures (13,900,000) (14,400,000) (13,400,000) (15,200,000) (15,700,000) (16,133,110) (16,617,104) (17,115,617) (17,629,085) (18,157,958) (18,702,697) (19,263,778) (19,841,691) (19,757,394)

Less:  Incremental Working Capital Requirements (1,231,147) (1,273,145) (1,316,701) (1,361,879) (1,408,742) (1,503,669) (1,548,779) (1,595,242) (1,643,099) (1,692,392) (1,743,164) (1,795,459) (1,849,323) (1,904,802)

Net Discretionary Cash Flow 55,088,499 53,751,585 53,776,367 50,872,552 49,152,142 50,954,342 52,824,853 54,751,479 56,541,417 58,189,407 58,284,580 60,052,849 61,853,990 65,842,682

Terminal Value 731,585,361         

0.5                                         1.5                         2.5                         3.5                         4.5                         5.5                         6.5                         7.5                         8.5                         9.5                         10.5                       11.5                       12.5                       12.5                       

Present Value Factor (mid-point convention) 0.9449                                  0.8437                  0.7533                  0.6726                  0.6005                  0.5362                  0.4787                  0.4274                  0.3816                  0.3407                  0.3042                  0.2716                  0.2425                  0.2425                  

Present Value of Cash Flows 52,053,739 45,348,637 40,508,523 34,215,307 29,516,261 27,320,087 25,288,388 23,402,415 21,578,115 19,827,717 17,732,274 16,312,719 15,001,768 177,435,177

Sum of Present Values (Year 1 to Year 13) 368,105,950

Present Value of Terminal 177,435,177

Fair Market Value Indication (Business Enterprise Level) $545,541,127

Net Fixed Assets & Normalized Working Capital Value 136,600,000

Indicated Intangible Asset Value 408,941,127

Tax Amortization Benefit 63,533,379

Fair Market Value Indication (Business Enterprise Level) with Tax Amortization Benefit $610,000,000 6.4x Year 1 EBITDA 1.1x Year 1 Revenue

610,000,000 11.0% 11.5% 12.0% 12.5% 13.0%

2.5% 670,000,000         630,000,000         600,000,000         570,000,000         540,000,000         

3.0% 690,000,000         650,000,000      610,000,000      580,000,000      550,000,000         

3.5% 700,000,000         660,000,000         620,000,000         590,000,000         560,000,000         Te
rm
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Discount Rate
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FYE FYE FYE TTM Normalized Projection Period Terminal   
2015 2016 2017 2018 Base Year Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 Year

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ANALYSIS - INCOME APPROACH

TIC/ NBY EBITDA Discount Rate

Hospital Operating Revenue

Net Inpatient Revenue 64.5% 65.5% 63.4% 60.7% 63.3% 63.1% 62.9% 62.6% 62.4% 62.2% - - - - - - - -

Net Outpatient Revenue 28.3% 27.9% 28.4% 27.0% 27.6% 28.1% 28.6% 29.0% 29.5% 30.0% - - - - - - - -

Net Patient Revenue before Bad Debt 92.7% 93.3% 91.8% 87.7% 90.9% 91.2% 91.4% 91.7% 91.9% 92.2% - - - - - - - -

Bad Debt & Other Deductions (3.0%) (2.6%) (1.9%) (0.5%) (0.6%) (0.6%) (0.6%) (0.6%) (0.6%) (0.6%) - - - - - - - -

Total Net Patient Revenue 89.8% 90.7% 89.9% 87.3% 90.3% 90.6% 90.8% 91.1% 91.3% 91.6% - - - - - - - -

Supplemental Payments 9.1% 8.5% 9.9% 12.7% 9.6% 9.4% 9.1% 8.9% 8.6% 8.4% - - - - - - - -

Other Revenue 1.2% 0.8% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% - - - - - - - -

Total Net Operating Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Operating Expenses:

Employee Salaries & Wages 32.9% 34.7% 34.8% 33.2% 34.4% 34.8% 35.2% 35.7% 36.1% 36.6% - - - - - - - -

Employee Benefits 9.0% 9.0% 9.5% 9.1% 9.5% 9.6% 9.7% 9.8% 10.0% 10.1% - - - - - - - -

Occupancy Costs 1.2% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% 1.0% - - - - - - - -

Supplies 14.3% 14.2% 14.0% 13.6% 14.1% 14.3% 14.4% 14.6% 14.8% 15.0% - - - - - - - -

Medical Costs 5.0% 5.4% 6.6% 6.7% 6.9% 6.9% 6.9% 6.9% 6.9% 6.9% - - - - - - - -

Insurance 0.9% 1.5% 1.4% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% - - - - - - - -

General & Administrative 11.4% 11.2% 12.0% 11.6% 15.2% 15.2% 15.2% 15.2% 15.2% 15.2% - - - - - - - -

Total Operating Expenses 74.8% 77.1% 79.2% 76.4% 82.3% 83.0% 83.8% 84.5% 85.3% 86.1% - - - - - - - -

EBITDA 25.2% 22.9% 20.8% 23.6% 17.7% 17.0% 16.2% 15.5% 14.7% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9% 13.9%

Depreciation & Amortization Expense 2.9% 2.7% 2.9% 2.7% 2.8% 1.2% 1.4% 1.6% 1.8% 2.0% 2.1% 2.3% 2.5% 2.6% 2.6% 1.8% 1.8% 1.8% 2.4%

Operating Income 22.3% 20.2% 17.9% 20.9% 14.9% 15.8% 14.8% 13.9% 12.9% 12.0% 11.8% 11.6% 11.4% 11.3% 11.4% 12.2% 12.1% 12.1% 11.5%

Other Income (Expense) (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) (0.0%) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Interest Expense 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Earnings Before Income Taxes 22.2% 20.1% 17.8% 20.8% 14.9% 15.8% 14.8% 13.9% 12.9% 12.0% 11.8% 11.6% 11.4% 11.3% 11.4% 12.2% 12.1% 12.1% 11.5%

Federal & State Income Tax Expense @ 28.0% - - - - 4.2% 4.4% 4.2% 3.9% 3.6% 3.3% 3.3% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.4% 3.4% 3.4% 3.2%

Earnings After Income Taxes 22.2% 20.1% 17.8% 20.8% 10.7% 11.4% 10.7% 10.0% 9.3% 8.6% 8.5% 8.3% 8.2% 8.2% 8.2% 8.8% 8.7% 8.7% 8.3%
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US$ in thousands

BETA CALCULATION

Levered Cash & ST Debt/ Debt/ Unlevered

5 Year (1) Investments BEV(2) Equity Beta

Market Risk Premium (RM)(5) 6.0%

CYH Community Health Systems, Inc. 1.058 CCC+ $340,818 $13,715,000 $208,000 $590,000  -                            93.6% 1473.4% n/a x Subject Company Re-levered Beta 0.635

HCA HCA Healthcare, Inc. 0.634 BB+ $44,401,162 $33,192,000 $913,000 $1,864,000  -                            41.8% 71.7% 33.1% 0.423 = Adjusted Market Risk Premium 3.8%

LPNT LifePoint Health, Inc. 0.661 BB- $2,499,732 $2,928,400 $143,800 $135,400  -                            52.6% 111.1% 28.5% 0.342 + Risk-Free Rate of Return (RF)(6) 3.1%

QHC Quorum Health Corporation 0.389 B- $120,236 $1,199,412 $2,822 $17,013  -                            89.7% 873.9% n/a + Size Premium(7) 5.6%

THC Tenet Healthcare Corporation 1.181 B $3,276,718 $14,867,000 $403,000 $2,159,000  -                            73.2% 273.5% 45.0% 0.472 + Specific Company Risk Premium(8) 5.0%

UHS Universal Health Services, Inc. 0.603 BB+ $11,467,395 $3,990,464 $76,886 $78,968  -                            25.7% 34.6% 29.1% 0.480 = Cost of Equity 17.5%

x Equity as a Percent of Total Capital 60.0%

= Cost of Equity Portion 10.5%

Average 0.754 0.429  Cost of Debt(9) 4.8%

Median 0.647 0.448 x Tax Rate(10) 28.0%

= After-Tax Cost of Debt 3.5%

Average Unlevered Beta for Comps 0.429 x Debt as a Percent of Total Capital 40.0%

 D/E, Target Company 66.7% = Cost of Debt Portion 1.4%

Federal & State Income Tax Expense 28.0%

Re-Levered Beta, Subject Company(4) 0.635 WACC 11.9%

            Selected WACC 12.0%

Footnotes:

(1)
0                           40.0% 50.0% 60.0%

(2) 4.0% 11.3% 10.0% 8.7%

(3) 5.0% 11.9% 10.5% 9.1%

(4) 6.0% 12.5% 11.0% 9.5%

(5)
7.0% 13.1% 11.5% 9.9%

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

Capital IQ- Levered Beta 5 Year computed taking the slope of a weekly regression line of the percentage change of the stock relative to the percentage price change in the S&P 500 as of August 22, 2018.
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Capital Structure (Debt to BEV)

Capital IQ- average of public companies debt structure as of August 22, 2018.

Unlevered Beta = Levered Beta / ( 1 + ((D/E) * (1 - T)) + P/E)

Re-levered Beta = Unlevered Beta * ( 1 + ((D/E) * (1 - T)) + P/E)

The equity risk premium of 6.0% was selected based upon VMG’s review of published articles and academic studies that attempt to quantify the expected market risk premium for U.S. common stocks by utilizing both historical and 
forward‐looking sources. The selected 6.0% equity risk premium was considered to reasonably represent a consensus viewpoint of the market equity risk premium.

Yield of 20-year U.S. Treasury securities as of August 22, 2018, as published by Federal Reserve Statistical Release.

Duff & Phelps: 2017 Valuation Handbook, Market Cap

Risk associated with the specific operations of the company or the “unsystematic” risk of the company. 

Moody's yield on seasoned corporate bonds, rating Baa as of August 22, 2018, as published by Capital IQ.

Blended State and Federal Tax rate for California.

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF CAPITAL

S&P Credit Rating Market 
Capitalization

Total
Debt Minority Interest Preferred Equity Effective

Tax RateCompany NameTicker

WACC
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
MARKET APPROACH INDICATION - SUMMARY

FINAL REPORT

Multiple Year 1

Low High Low High

BEV/Revenue 1.1x to 1.3x $506,850,753 $560,000,000 to $660,000,000

BEV/EBITDA 5.5x to 7.5x $94,983,961 $520,000,000 to $710,000,000

Selected Multiple Range 520,000,000$             to 710,000,000$             

Midpoint (BEV/EBITDA) & (BEV/Revenue) $610,000,000

Range of Multiple Selections (Control 
Level) Value Indication (Rounded)
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
SUMMARY OF MERGED & ACQUIRED HOSPITAL TRANSACTION MULTIPLES

FINAL REPORT

VMG Complete Data Set State of California Transactions

Metric Business Enterprise Value / 
Revenue

Business Enterprise Value / 
EBITDA

Business Enterprise Value / 
Revenue

Business Enterprise Value / 
EBITDA

Median 0.6x 8.6x Median 0.7x n/a

Mean 0.7x 8.8x Mean 0.7x n/a

25th Percentile 0.4x 7.0x 25th Percentile 0.7x n/a

75th Percentile 1.0x 9.9x 75th Percentile 0.7x n/a

High 1.7x 20.4x High 0.7x n/a

Low 0.1x 0.8x Low 0.7x n/a
Number of Observations with 
Reported Statistics 119 70 Number of Observations with 

Reported Statistics 1 n/a

EBITDA Margin Greater than 5.0% EBITDA Margin Greater than 10.0%

Metric Business Enterprise Value / 
Revenue

Business Enterprise Value / 
EBITDA

Metric Business Enterprise Value / 
Revenue

Business Enterprise Value / 
EBITDA

Median 0.7x 8.4x Median 1.0x 7.9x

Mean 0.8x 8.2x Mean 1.0x 7.4x

25th Percentile 0.6x 6.7x 25th Percentile 0.8x 6.2x

75th Percentile 1.1x 9.4x 75th Percentile 1.3x 8.9x

High 1.7x 20.4x High 1.7x 10.7x

Low 0.1x 0.8x Low 0.1x 0.8x
Number of Observations with 
Reported Statistics 53 51 Number of Observations with 

Reported Statistics 26 24 

EBITDA Margin Greater than 15.0%

Metric Business Enterprise Value / 
Revenue

Business Enterprise Value / 
EBITDA VMG Observations:

Median 1.3x 7.6x 1) Limited information was available for transactions occurring in California.

Mean 1.1x 6.9x 2)

25th Percentile 0.6x 5.3x

75th Percentile 1.4x 8.7x 3)
High 1.7x 9.6x

Low 0.1x 3.3x 4)

Number of Observations with 
Reported Statistics 10 8 

Notes & Sources

Source: Irving Levin Associates, Capital IQ, online articles and VMG internal data. Data set includes
transactions that occurred from January 01, 2014 to June 30, 2018.

VMG's Complete data set was reviewed and eliminated to determine the impact of the acquired hospital's
EBITDA margin (as reported) on the reported transaction multiples (BEV / Revenue and BEV / EBITDA).

As EBITDA margins increase from at least 5.0%, at least 10.0%, and to at least 15.0%, the BEV / Revenue
multiples show an upward trend.

As EBITDA margins increase from at least 5.0%, at least 10.0%, and to at least 15.0%, the BEV / EBITDA
multiples show a downward trend.
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
PUBLIC GUIDELINE COMPANY COMPARABLES

FINAL REPORT
US$ in thousands

Ticker Market 
Capitalization

Total
Debt Minority Interest Preferred Equity Cash & Short-

Term Investments
Business 

Enterprise Value

Community Health Systems, Inc. CYH $340,818 $13,715,000 $590,000  -                             $208,000 $14,437,818
HCA Healthcare, Inc. HCA $44,401,162 $33,192,000 $1,864,000  -                             $913,000 $78,544,162
LifePoint Health, Inc. LPNT $2,499,732 $2,928,400 $135,400  -                             $143,800 $5,419,732
Quorum Health Corporation QHC $120,236 $1,199,412 $17,013  -                             $2,822 $1,333,839
Tenet Healthcare Corporation THC $3,276,718 $14,867,000 $2,159,000  -                             $403,000 $19,899,718
Universal Health Services, Inc. UHS $11,467,395 $3,990,464 $78,968  -                             $76,886 $15,459,941

Ticker TTM
Revenue

FY + 1
Revenue

FY + 2
Revenue

TTM
EBITDA

FY + 1
EBITDA

FY + 2
EBITDA

Community Health Systems, Inc. CYH $13,975,000 $13,923,850 $13,220,249 $825,000 $1,603,707 $1,552,429
HCA Healthcare, Inc. HCA $45,210,000 $46,199,801 $48,372,743 $8,481,000 $8,768,293 $9,239,939
LifePoint Health, Inc. LPNT $6,239,000 $6,304,101 $6,427,871 $660,700 $741,383 $763,346
Quorum Health Corporation QHC $1,858,462 $1,944,077 $1,982,244 $80,722 $148,978 $169,200
Tenet Healthcare Corporation THC $18,769,000 $18,140,912 $18,028,498 $2,663,000 $2,602,447 $2,655,960
Universal Health Services, Inc. UHS $10,553,520 $10,819,941 $11,348,893 $1,701,019 $1,770,035 $1,872,305

Ticker TTM
Revenue

FY + 1
Revenue

FY + 2
Revenue

TTM
EBITDA

FY + 1
EBITDA

FY + 2
EBITDA

Community Health Systems, Inc. CYH 1.0x 1.0x 1.1x 17.5x 9.0x 9.3x
HCA Healthcare, Inc. HCA 1.7x 1.7x 1.6x 9.3x 9.0x 8.5x
LifePoint Health, Inc. LPNT 0.9x 0.9x 0.8x 8.2x 7.3x 7.1x
Quorum Health Corporation QHC 0.7x 0.7x 0.7x 16.5x 9.0x 7.9x
Tenet Healthcare Corporation THC 1.1x 1.1x 1.1x 7.5x 7.6x 7.5x
Universal Health Services, Inc. UHS 1.5x 1.4x 1.4x 9.1x 8.7x 8.3x

 
Mean: 1.1 x 1.1 x 1.1 x 11.3 x 8.4 x 8.1 x

Median: 1.0 x 1.1 x 1.1 x 9.2 x 8.8 x 8.1 x

Mean: 1.3 x 1.3 x 1.2 x 8.5 x 8.2 x 7.8 x
Median: 1.3 x 1.3 x 1.2 x 8.6 x 8.2 x 7.9 x

Footnotes:
1) Source: Capital IQ as of August 22, 2018.
2) Business Enterprise Value ("BEV") is defined as Market Value of Equity plus Interest‐bearing Debt and minority interest less Cash and Cash Equivalents.

Market Multiples

Market Multiples - Excluding CYH & QHC

Company Name

Capitalization Data

Company Name

Operating Revenue Operating EBITDA

Company Name

Implied Multiples
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
PUBLIC GUIDELINE COMPANY COMPARABLES ANALYSIS

FINAL REPORT

Revenue Growth EBITDA Growth
Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS Mean Median Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS Mean Median
FYE - 2 4.3% 7.5% 16.3% 2.0% 12.2% 10.2% 8.7% 8.8% FYE - 2 (3.7%) 6.6% 16.7% (2.7%) 17.7% 12.4% 7.8% 9.5%
FYE - 1 (5.1%) 4.6% 22.0% (2.2%) 5.3% 8.0% 5.4% 4.9% FYE - 1 (17.0%) 3.8% 8.7% (53.2%) 6.3% 2.4% (8.2%) 3.1%
FYE (16.7%) 5.1% (1.1%) (3.1%) (2.3%) 6.6% (1.9%) (1.7%) FYE (54.8%) 0.2% (8.5%) (12.8%) (1.6%) 1.8% (12.6%) (5.0%)
TTM (9.0%) 3.7% (0.8%) (10.3%) (2.1%) 1.4% (2.9%) (1.5%) TTM (10.0%) 3.0% (1.3%) (16.3%) 10.8% (1.6%) (2.6%) (1.4%)
Year 1 (0.4%) 2.2% 1.0% 4.6% (3.3%) 2.5% 1.1% 1.6% Year 1 94.4% 3.4% 12.2% 84.6% (2.3%) 4.1% 32.7% 8.1%
Year 2 (5.1%) 4.7% 2.0% 2.0% (0.6%) 4.9% 1.3% 2.0% Year 2 (3.2%) 5.4% 3.0% 13.6% 2.1% 5.8% 4.4% 4.2%
Year 3 0.9% 4.7% 1.0% 0.9% 3.9% 4.0% 2.5% 2.4% Year 3 (0.9%) 4.7% (0.4%) 0.8% 3.6% 3.7% 1.9% 2.2%

EBITDA Margins Capital Expenditures as a % of Revenue
Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS Mean Median Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS Mean Median
FYE - 2 12.6% 19.9% 12.9% 10.8% 12.3% 18.3% 14.5% 12.7% FYE - 3 4.6% 5.9% 4.6% 3.2% 5.6% 4.8% 4.8% 4.7%
FYE - 1 11.0% 19.8% 11.5% 5.2% 12.4% 17.4% 12.9% 12.0% FYE - 2 4.9% 6.0% 5.3% 2.7% 4.5% 4.2% 4.6% 4.7%
FYE 6.0% 18.9% 10.6% 4.7% 12.5% 16.6% 11.5% 11.6% FYE - 1 4.0% 6.7% 6.3% 3.7% 4.5% 5.3% 5.1% 4.9%
TTM 5.9% 18.8% 10.6% 4.3% 14.2% 16.1% 11.7% 12.4% FYE 3.7% 6.9% 7.5% 3.0% 3.7% 5.6% 5.1% 4.6%
Year 1 11.5% 19.0% 11.8% 7.7% 14.3% 16.4% 13.4% 13.1% TTM 4.2% 7.3% 7.3% 2.6% 3.3% 6.5% 5.2% 5.4%
Year 2 11.7% 19.1% 11.9% 8.5% 14.7% 16.5% 13.7% 13.3%
Year 3 11.5% 19.1% 11.7% 8.5% 14.7% 16.4% 13.7% 13.2%

Net Working Capital (Including Cash) as a % of Revenue Cash Free Net Working Capital as a % of Revenue
Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS Mean Median Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS Mean Median
FYE - 3 11.9% 10.3% 14.7% 13.9% 3.0% 6.1% 10.0% 11.1% FYE - 3 9.1% 8.6% 10.4% 13.8% 1.9% 5.7% 8.2% 8.8%
FYE - 2 12.0% 10.0% 12.9% 15.6% 5.3% 7.6% 10.6% 11.0% FYE - 2 11.0% 8.0% 7.4% 15.6% 3.4% 6.9% 8.7% 7.7%
FYE - 1 12.1% 8.4% 8.6% 13.0% 7.2% 4.8% 9.0% 8.5% FYE - 1 10.8% 6.7% 7.1% 11.8% 3.6% 4.5% 7.4% 6.9%
FYE 11.4% 9.2% 8.6% 10.7% 7.2% 4.8% 8.7% 8.9% FYE 7.7% 7.4% 6.8% 10.5% 4.0% 4.0% 6.8% 7.1%
TTM 12.0% 9.9% 9.8% 9.9% 5.4% 5.3% 8.7% 9.8% TTM 10.5% 7.8% 7.5% 9.7% 3.3% 4.6% 7.2% 7.7%

Capital Structure - Debt / BEV Additional Comparable Data (as a % of FYE Revenue)
Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS Mean Median Time Period CYH HCA LPNT QHC THC UHS Mean Median
FYE - 3 71.2% 47.1% 39.4% n/a 67.8% 22.5% 49.6% 47.1% SW&B 47.7% 46.1% 48.1% 55.7% 47.5% 48.4% 48.9% 47.9%
FYE - 2 81.6% 51.2% 44.4% n/a 72.3% 22.2% 54.4% 51.2% Supplies n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
FYE - 1 92.2% 51.6% 54.4% 84.1% 77.1% 28.5% 64.6% 65.7% COGS 65.1% 62.8% 67.8% 67.8% 63.8% 59.2% 64.4% 64.4%
FYE 92.8% 50.1% 57.6% 85.5% 78.5% 27.2% 65.3% 68.1% SG&A 2.5% n/a 1.1% 3.2% 1.7% 1.0% 1.9% 1.7%
TTM 93.6% 41.8% 52.6% 89.7% 73.2% 25.7% 62.8% 62.9% D&A 5.4% 4.9% 5.4% 4.0% 4.4% 4.2% 4.7% 4.6%

Footnotes:
1) Source: Capital IQ as of August 22, 2018.
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Guideline Company Company Description

CYH

Community Health Systems, Inc., together with its subsidiaries, owns, leases, and operates general acute care hospitals in the United States. It offers general acute care,
emergency room, general and specialty surgery, critical care, internal medicine, obstetrics, diagnostic, psychiatric, and rehabilitation services, as well as skilled nursing and home
care services. The company also provides outpatient services at urgent care centers, occupational medicine clinics, imaging centers, cancer centers, ambulatory surgery
centers, and home health and hospice agencies. As of December 31, 2016, it owned or leased 155 hospitals, including 152 general acute care hospitals and 3 stand-alone
rehabilitation or psychiatric hospitals with an aggregate of 26,222 licensed beds in 21 states. The company was founded in 1985 and is headquartered in Franklin, Tennessee.

HCA

HCA Healthcare, Inc., through its subsidiaries, provides health care services in the United States and England. The company operates general, acute care hospitals that offer
medical and surgical services, including inpatient care, intensive care, cardiac care, diagnostic, and emergency services; and outpatient services, such as outpatient surgery,
laboratory, radiology, respiratory therapy, cardiology, and physical therapy services. It also operates psychiatric hospitals, which provide therapeutic programs comprising child,
adolescent and adult psychiatric care, and adolescent and adult alcohol and drug abuse treatment and counseling. In addition, the company operates outpatient health care
facilities consisting of freestanding ambulatory surgery centers, freestanding emergency care facilities, urgent care facilities, walk-in clinics, diagnostic and imaging centers,
rehabilitation and physical therapy centers, radiation and oncology therapy centers, physician practices, and various other facilities. As of September 30, 2017, it owned and
operated 177 hospitals and 119 freestanding surgery centers. The company was formerly known as HCA Holdings, Inc. HCA Healthcare, Inc. was founded in 1968 and is
headquartered in Nashville, Tennessee.

LPNT

LifePoint Health, Inc., through its subsidiaries, owns and operates community hospitals, regional health systems, physician practices, outpatient centers, and post-acute facilities
in the United States. Its hospitals offer a range of medical and surgical services, such as general surgery, internal medicine, obstetrics, emergency room care, radiology,
oncology, diagnostic care, coronary care, rehabilitation, and pediatric services, as well as specialized services, including open-heart surgery, skilled nursing, psychiatric care, and
neuro-surgery. The company’s hospitals also provide various outpatient services comprising same-day surgery, laboratory, X-ray, respiratory therapy, imaging, sports medicine,
and lithotripsy. In addition, it owns and operates schools of nursing and other allied health professions. As of December 31, 2016, the company operated 72 hospital campuses,
including 9,424 licensed beds in 22 states. The company was formerly known as LifePoint Hospitals, Inc. and changed its name to LifePoint Health, Inc. in May 2015. LifePoint
Health, Inc. was founded in 1997 and is based in Brentwood, Tennessee.

QHC

Quorum Health Corporation provides hospital and outpatient healthcare services in the United States. Its general hospital and outpatient healthcare services include general
acute care, emergency room, general and specialty surgery, critical care, internal medicine, obstetric, diagnostic, psychiatric, and rehabilitation services. Quorum Health
Corporation offers its healthcare services through its hospitals and affiliated facilities, including urgent care centers, diagnostic and imaging centers, physician clinics, and
surgery centers. The company, through its subsidiary, Quorum Health Resources, LLC, provides management advisory and consulting services to non-affiliated hospitals. As of
January 5, 2018, it owned or leased 31 hospitals with an aggregate of approximately 3,000 licensed beds. The company was incorporated in 2015 and is headquartered in
Brentwood, Tennessee.

THC

Tenet Healthcare Corporation, together with its subsidiaries, operates as a diversified healthcare services company. It operates in three segments: Hospital Operations and
Other, Ambulatory Care, and Conifer. The company’s general hospitals offer acute care services, operating and recovery rooms, radiology and respiratory therapy services,
clinical laboratories, and pharmacies. It also provides intensive and critical care, and coronary care units; physical therapy, orthopedic, oncology, and outpatient services; tertiary
care services, including open-heart surgery, neonatal intensive care, and neurosciences; quaternary care in heart, liver, kidney, and bone marrow transplants areas; tertiary and
quaternary pediatric, and burn services; and limb-salvaging vascular procedures, acute level 1 trauma services, intravascular stroke care, minimally invasive cardiac valve
replacement, imaging technology, and telemedicine access for various medical specialties. In addition, the company offers ambulatory surgery and urgent care centers, imaging
centers, and short-stay surgical hospitals, as well as Aspen’s hospitals and clinics; healthcare business process services in the areas of hospital and physician revenue cycle
management and value-based care solutions; and microhospitals, physician practices, and health plans. Further, it provides accounts receivable and health information
management, and revenue integrity and patient financial services; patient communications and engagement services; and clinical integration, financial risk management, and
population health management services. As of February 27, 2017, the company operated 80 general acute care hospitals, 20 short-stay surgical hospitals, and approximately
470 outpatient centers, as well as 239 ambulatory surgery, 34 urgent care, and 21 imaging centers in the United States; and 9 private hospitals and clinics in the United Kingdom.
Tenet Healthcare Corporation was founded in 1967 and is headquartered in Dallas, Texas.

UHS

Universal Health Services, Inc., through its subsidiaries, owns and operates acute care hospitals, behavioral health facilities, and ambulatory centers. The company’s hospitals
offer general and specialty surgery, internal medicine, obstetrics, emergency room care, radiology, oncology, diagnostic care, coronary care, pediatric services, pharmacy
services, and/or behavioral health services. As of February 28, 2017, it owned and/or operated 26 inpatient acute care hospitals, 4 free-standing emergency departments, 1
surgical hospital, and 319 inpatient and 33 outpatient behavioral health care facilities located in 37 states, Washington, D.C.; the United Kingdom; Puerto Rico; and the U.S. Virgin
Islands. The company was founded in 1978 and is headquartered in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania.

Source: Capital IQ as of August 22, 2018. Page 240 of 417



Supplemental Exhibits

Desert Regional Medical Center

Page 241 of 417



Strictly Private and Confidential Page D │ 44

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
TENET MANAGEMENT SERVICES DESCRIPTION

FINAL REPORT

*The list of services below was provided to VMG by Tenet

Directly Charged Corporate Services - Potentially Included in EBITDA

Accounting & Tax Human Resources
Annual audit support Applicant tracking and background screening
Property taxes and appeals Health insurance and benefit plans
Physical asset inventory Human resources business systems
Records retention Recruitment and retention

Labor relations
Conifer Health Solutions Learning and development tools (includes .edu)

Patient access Worker's compensation
Billing 401(k) matching
Call center and patient communications AIP (non c suite)
Collections Employee surveys
Claim adjudication
Claim follow-up Information Services
Maintenance of systems & applications Core applications - licensing and support for corporate clinical and financial systems
Patient & physician satisfaction management and reporting
Performance analysis and reporting Operations

Accreditation compliance
Contracted Services Business development application and tools

Food and nutrition services (Sodexo or Morrison) Clinical quality program implementation administration costs
Environmental services (Crothall or Aramark) Health Information Patient Protection Act costs
Security (US security or Universal Protection) Insurance (property, auto, earthquake, and other)
Document management (Dex Imaging) Lease administration costs
Dialysis (Davita or Fresenius) Legal fees
Waste management Malpractice expenses
Linen Patient safety survey supply rebates

Dues and subscriptions (AHA, FAH, etc.)
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Corporate Services Included in Pooled Allocation

Accouting / Business Office Internal Audit
Development of accounting policies and procedures Periodic audits/site visits to ensure adherence to policies/procedures and GAAP guidelines
Maintenance of general ledger chart of accounts (additions, deletions, changes)
Maintenance of transaction code (posting) table Legal
Maintenance of corporate Chargemaster (additions, deletions, changes) Routine legal services performed by in-house counsel, but not legal services provided by outside counsel
Maintenance of appropriate Information Decision Support Systems Review and provide language recommendations for non-physician contracts

Draft standard contracts for various services
Accounts Payable

Check printing and distribution to vendors/hospitals Managed Care Contracting
Annual 1099 report preparation Standard contracting for HMOs, PPOs, risk, etc.
Set up of new vendors Evaluation of risk arrangements

Business Development Miscellaneous Other Items
Real estate manager review of purchases and lease terms

Cash Management
Set up new bank accounts Patient Care Operations
Handle any wire transfers Complete outcomes assessments
Sweeping of accounts to corporate concentration account Provide quality assurance support to facility quality assurance personnel
Reconciliation of accounts payable/payroll disbursement accounts
Management of cash flow Payroll

Filing and administration of payment of all payroll taxes: FICA, federal, state, local, FUI, SUI
Communications and Public Relations Generation of W-2s annually

Provide support through all media in crisis situations Check printing and distribution to hospitals
Provide support with local advertising and public relations efforts

Purchasing
Compliance Development and execution of corporate purchasing contracts

Compliance program management and oversight for ethics, training, policies and procedures Provide assistance with IMMS systems problems/issues
Privacy and security program management and oversight
Coding/billing compliance management and oversight Reimbursement (Government Programs)

Preparation and filing of annual Medicare, Medi-Cal, and other cost reports
Construction and Design Provide assistance in maintenance and operation of Medicare log system and monthly contractual allowables

Project oversight and review Recording of receivables/reserves on all cost reports
Physical plant oversight and management Filing and follow-up administration of appeals
Environmental safety and controls Maintenance of corporate chargemaster (additions, deletions, changes)
Utility management
Preventive maintenance Risk Management

Risk manager support on all risk management issues
Human Resources Review of patient and visitor incident reporting, lawsuits, etc.

Hospital C-suite AIP
Employee benefit design, including legal review, evaluation of cost and preparation of commuication materials Tax
Employee benefits administration, including: Preparation and filing of all federal and state tax returns

Payroll/Benefit interface issues Preparation and filing of all franchise tax returns
Processing communication materials Handle procurement of federal tax ID numbers
Claims processing Provide tax advice and research
Retirement processing
Retirement plan non-discrimination testing Fixed Assets

Employee compensation support function, including: Maintain fixed asset system
Market review Reconciliation of fixed asset system to general ledger
Merit process

Answering employee questions and assisting employees with benefit issues Governmental Affairs
Workers compensation risk management consulting Keep facilities apprised of status on state and federal legislative actions
Policies and procedures drafting and production, including employee handbook
Human Resources Customer Services support for general HR operations and policy interpretation
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RIVERSIDE COMMUNITY HOSPITAL Riverside County For Profit HCA  INC. 481,047,690 135,576,014 28.2%
PARADISE VALLEY HOSPITAL San Diego County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC. 138,361,286 (1,845,668) (1.3%)
UC SAN DIEGO HEALTH HILLCREST - HILLCREST MED CTR San Diego County Other UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA 1,553,151,142 177,592,067 11.4%
GROSSMONT HOSPITAL San Diego County Hospital District of Authority SHARP HEALTHCARE 733,270,951 75,784,020 10.3%
EL CENTRO REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER Imperial County Local Government NA 134,611,951 7,518,921 5.6%
SAN GORGONIO MEMORIAL HOSPITAL Riverside County Hospital District of Authority NA 84,854,800 13,918,048 16.4%
ST JOSEPH HOSPITAL Orange County Church ST JOSEPH HEALTH SYSTEM 621,526,486 36,761,717 5.9%
SCRIPPS MERCY HOSPITAL San Diego County Nonprofit SCRIPPS HEALTH 768,710,640 80,700,954 10.5%
COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF SAN BERNARDINO San Bernardino County Nonprofit DIGNITY HEALTH 246,888,612 3,540,754 1.4%
COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF HUNTINGTON PARK Los Angeles County For Profit AVANTI HOSPITALS  LLC 42,932,059 (1,517,497) (3.5%)
WEST COVINA MEDICAL CENTER, INC Los Angeles County For Profit NA 10,561,520 (225,626) (2.1%)
SAN ANTONIO REGIONAL HOSPITAL San Bernardino County Other NA 302,673,469 14,804,584 4.9%
SHARP MEMORIAL HOSPITAL San Diego County Other SHARP HEALTHCARE 1,207,797,609 271,362,235 22.5%
PARKVIEW COMMUNITY HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER Riverside County Nonprofit NA 164,094,073 11,970,332 7.3%
WHITE MEMORIAL MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County Church ADVENTIST HEALTH SYSTEM 428,003,728 51,061,884 11.9%
SAINT FRANCIS MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County Church VERITY HEALTH SYSTEM 458,953,563 47,750,525 10.4%
PALOMAR HEALTH DOWNTOWN CAMPUS San Diego County Hospital District of Authority PALOMAR POMERADO HEALTH 543,078,376 97,925,739 18.0%
TRI-CITY MEDICAL CENTER San Diego County Hospital District of Authority NA 336,628,574 818,613 0.2%
ST BERNARDINE MEDICAL CENTER San Bernardino County Nonprofit DIGNITY HEALTH 355,939,536 (29,984,308) (8.4%)
SAN GABRIEL VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County Physician Ownership AHMC HEALTHCARE INC 180,269,581 5,445,248 3.0%
CITY OF HOPE HELFORD CLINICAL RESEARCH HOSPITAL Los Angeles County Other CITY OF HOPE DEVELOPMENT CENTER 931,465,137 174,664,470 18.8%
ST JUDE MEDICAL CENTER Orange County Church ST JOSEPH HEALTH SYSTEM 495,834,901 39,168,994 7.9%
PRESBYTERIAN INTERCOMMUNITY HOSPITAL Los Angeles County Nonprofit INTERHEALTH 621,726,807 63,248,608 10.2%
ST MARY MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County Church DIGNITY HEALTH 286,693,613 (4,887,066) (1.7%)
SHARP CHULA VISTA MEDICAL CENTER San Diego County For Profit SHARP HEALTHCARE CORPORATION 371,747,006 18,887,790 5.1%
HOAG MEMORIAL HOSPITAL PRESBYTERIAN Orange County Nonprofit ST. JOSEPH HEALTH SYSTEM 971,311,925 126,873,200 13.1%
AHMC ANAHEIM REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER Orange County Nonprofit AHMC HEALTHCARE INC 214,312,233 3,653,539 1.7%
GARDEN GROVE HOSPITAL & MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC 86,282,898 5,040,961 5.8%
POMONA VALLEY HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County Nonprofit NA 535,610,935 67,119,919 12.5%
SHARP CORONADO HOSPITAL AND HLTHCR CTR San Diego County For Profit SHARP HEALTHCARE 96,156,828 13,533,001 14.1%
METHODIST HOSPITAL OF SOUTHERN CA Los Angeles County Nonprofit NA 306,095,350 45,486,196 14.9%
GLENDALE ADVENTIST MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County Nonprofit ADVENTIST HEATLH 410,471,694 8,772,502 2.1%
ARROWHEAD REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER San Bernardino County Local Government NA 626,599,356 106,666,961 17.0%
REDLANDS COMMUNITY HOSPITAL San Bernardino County Federal Government NA 183,972,149 21,300,936 11.6%
HI-DESERT MEDICAL CENTER San Bernardino County Hospital District of Authority TENET HEALTHCARE CORP 58,475,860 3,607,288 6.2%
ALHAMBRA HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County For Profit NAME: 205,828,578 25,943,840 12.6%
RIVERSIDE UNIVERSITY HEALTH SYSTEM-MEDICAL CENTER Riverside County Local Government NA 540,551,729 59,993,060 11.1%
ST MARY MEDICAL CENTER San Bernardino County Nonprofit ST JOSEPH HEALTH SYSTEM 335,525,969 55,514,826 16.5%
SCRIPPS MEMORIAL HOSPITAL LA JOLLA San Diego County Other SCRIPPS HEALTH 584,332,489 136,510,464 23.4%
CORONA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER Riverside County For Profit UHS OF DELAWARE  INC. 170,166,912 12,107,489 7.1%
PIONEERS MEMORIAL HEALTHCARE DISTRICT Imperial County Hospital District of Authority NA 115,922,925 5,993,830 5.2%
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA IRVINE MED CENTER Orange County Local Government THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF CAL 1,044,731,823 94,193,729 9.0%
BEVERLY HOSPITAL Los Angeles County Nonprofit NA 178,624,363 12,430,122 7.0%
CITRUS VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER-IC CAMPUS Los Angeles County For Profit CITRUS VALLEY HEALTH PARTNERS 404,024,601 28,320,155 7.0%
HEMET VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER Riverside County Physician Ownership PHYSICIANS FOR HEALTHY HOSPITALS 151,225,108 9,573,425 6.3%
PIH HOSPITAL - DOWNEY Los Angeles County Nonprofit INTERHEALTH 162,904,938 6,716,725 4.1%
SCRIPPS GREEN HOSPITAL San Diego County Nonprofit SCRIPPS HEALTH 404,408,620 91,378,869 22.6%
WEST ANAHEIM MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC 102,231,617 1,206,929 1.2%

DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
E EXHIBITS - SUPPLEMENTAL ANALYSIS

HOSPITAL EBITDA MARGINS
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DESERT REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER
E EXHIBITS - SUPPLEMENTAL ANALYSIS

HOSPITAL EBITDA MARGINS

LONG BEACH MEMORIAL MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County Other MEMORIAL HEALTH SERVICES 684,899,570 94,142,504 13.7%
SCRIPPS MEMORIAL HOSPITAL - ENCINITAS San Diego County Nonprofit SCRIPPS HEALTH 277,870,528 33,135,249 11.9%
VICTOR VALLEY GLOBAL MEDICAL CENTER San Bernardino County Nonprofit NA 91,465,627 16,509,948 18.1%
HUNTINGTON BEACH HOSPITAL Orange County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC 45,507,938 (2,977,874) (6.5%)
JOHN F KENNEDY MEMORIAL HOSPITAL Riverside County For Profit TENET HEALTHCARE CORP 116,831,585 234,975 0.2%
COLLEGE HOSPITAL COSTA MESA Orange County For Profit COLLEGE HEALTH ENTERPRISES 87,656,691 25,918,740 29.6%
FAIRVIEW DEVELOPMENTAL CENTER Orange County Local Government CA DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENTAL SERVI 132,429,048 (7,256,843) (5.5%)
LOS ALAMITOS MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit TENET HEALTHCARE 213,158,448 31,916,314 15.0%
MISSION HOSPITAL REGIONAL MED CENTER Orange County Nonprofit ST JOSEPH HEALTH SYSTEM 573,294,579 52,902,196 9.2%
FOUNTAIN VALLEY REGIONAL HOSPITAL & MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit TENET HEALTHCARE CORP. 410,711,698 97,650,554 23.8%
EISENHOWER MEDICAL CENTER Riverside County For Profit NA 698,126,344 55,628,333 8.0%
LA PALMA INTERCOMMUNITY HOSPITAL Orange County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC 53,761,232 (1,905,728) (3.5%)
LAKEWOOD REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County For Profit TENET HEALTHCARE CORP 189,897,458 24,990,415 13.2%
CHINO VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER San Bernardino County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC 101,454,090 11,725,803 11.6%
SAN DIMAS COMMUNITY HOSPITAL Los Angeles County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC 63,847,060 4,968,534 7.8%
PLACENTIA LINDA HOSPITAL Orange County For Profit TENET HEALTHCARE CORP 97,997,622 22,811,496 23.3%
FOOTHILL PRESBYTERIAN HOSPITAL Los Angeles County Nonprofit CITRUS VALLEY HEALTH PARTNERS 90,062,423 10,296,187 11.4%
SADDLEBACK MEMORIAL MEDICAL CENTER Orange County Nonprofit MEMORIAL HEALTH SERVICES 371,662,851 56,350,564 15.2%
POMERADO HOSPITAL San Diego County Hospital District of Authority PALOMAR HEALTH 180,982,235 39,596,983 21.9%
EAST LOS ANGELES DOCTORS HOSPITAL Los Angeles County For Profit AVANTI HOSPITALS  LLC 72,491,073 6,254,685 8.6%
LOS ANGELES COMMUNITY HOSPITAL Los Angeles County For Profit ALTA HOSPITALS SYSTEM  LLC 152,068,944 43,855,892 28.8%
ORANGE COAST MEMORIAL MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit MEMORIAL HEALTH SERVICES 306,606,238 28,905,230 9.4%
MENIFEE VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER Riverside County Physician Ownership PHYSICIANS FOR HEALTHY HOSPITALS 39,639,009 (2,141,870) (5.4%)
KECK HOSPITAL OF USC Los Angeles County Other NA 799,378,303 (38,226,216) (4.8%)
SOUTHWEST HEALTHCARE SYSTEM Riverside County For Profit UHS OF DELAWARE  INC. 283,012,754 57,639,224 20.4%
DESERT VALLEY HOSPITAL San Bernardino County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE SERVICES  INC. 138,103,427 16,270,085 11.8%
COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF LONG BEACH Los Angeles County Nonprofit MEMORIAL HEALTH SERVICES 70,234,113 (1,482,862) (2.1%)
WHITTIER HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County For Profit AHMC HEALTHCARE INC 129,000,118 16,533,640 12.8%
MONTEREY PARK HOSPITAL Los Angeles County For Profit AHMC HEALTHCARE INC 108,202,371 17,805,644 16.5%
GARFIELD MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County For Profit AHMC HEALTHCARE  INC. 300,578,013 13,494,534 4.5%
GREATER EL MONTE COMMUNITY HOSPITAL Los Angeles County Nonprofit AHMC HEALTHCARE INC. 78,247,343 10,462,801 13.4%
ANAHEIM GLOBAL MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit KPC HEALTHCARE  INC 69,432,681 5,684,443 8.2%
CHAPMAN GLOBAL MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit INTEGRATED HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS  INC. 49,432,776 6,679,313 13.5%
ORANGE COUNTY GLOBAL MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit INTEGRATED HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS  INC. 189,370,651 45,191,951 23.9%
SOUTH COAST GLOBAL MEDICAL CENTER Orange County For Profit INTEGRATED HEALTHCARE HOLDINGS  INC. 56,344,502 2,282,033 4.1%
ALVARADO HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER San Diego County For Profit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC 134,841,300 (7,148,127) (5.3%)
MONTCLAIR HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER San Bernardino County Nonprofit PRIME HEALTHCARE INC 48,147,032 2,282,523 4.7%
COAST PLAZA HOSPITAL Los Angeles County For Profit AVANTI HOSPITALS  LLC 43,381,532 (3,435,737) (7.9%)
TEMECULA VALLEY HOSPITAL Riverside County For Profit UHS OF DELAWARE  INC. 116,283,061 26,298,270 22.6%
COLLEGE MEDICAL CENTER Los Angeles County For Profit COLLEGE HEALTH ENTERPRISES INC 123,650,526 15,315,941 12.4%
MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR. COMMUNITY HOSPITAL Los Angeles County Nonprofit NA 213,511,423 39,414,408 18.5%

Metric EBITDA % Revenue

Average 9.6%
Median 10.2%

High 29.6%
Low (8.4%)

25th % 4.5%
75th % 14.9%

Source: cms.gov; CMS Cost Report Data and Medicare Provider of Services File. Includes identified hospitals located within a 100 mile radius of Desert Regional Medical Center excluding certain 
outliers when reported EBITDA was below -10% or above +30%, or in instances in which a hospital EBITDA was not reported.
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Population Estimates 1990 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Riverside 1,170,413 1,558,985 1,616,634 1,687,147 1,771,656 1,856,542 1,931,785 2,012,370 2,075,183 2,109,712 2,146,725 2,189,641 2,236,146 2,264,919 2,291,452 2,322,455 2,352,892 2,387,741

*CAGR since 1990 n/a 2.9% 3.0% 3.1% 3.2% 3.4% 3.4% 3.4% 3.4% 3.3% 3.2% 3.2% 3.1% 3.0% 3.0% 2.9% 2.8% 2.8%

*CAGR since 2000 n/a 3.7% 4.0% 4.4% 4.5% 4.4% 4.3% 4.2% 3.9% 3.6% 3.5% 3.3% 3.2% 3.0% 2.9% 2.8% 2.7%

*CAGR = Compounded annual growth rate.

Source: United States Census Bureau Population Finder for Riverside
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October 23, 2018 

CEO Report -    Priorities - Milestones - Progress Measures 

#1 Milestone: Successful Implementation of Strategic Plan 

Staff is currently focused on the following work in support of the strategic plan and Board priorities: 

1. Homelessness Initiative 

2. Behavioral Health Initiative 

3. Implementation of the grant structure and new grant software platform 

4. Policy update and operational process and procedures 

5. Accreditation requirements 

6. Implementation of Communications and Marketing Plan  

7. CVHIP 

 #2 Milestone: Up-to-Date Policy Manual and Timely Review 

Staff has continued its work with Communications Ad Hoc committee and has prepared documentation 

for the October 25, 2018 Workshop.   

Priority: Operations 

#3 Milestone: Successful implementation of public relations program highlighting the work of the 

District and Foundation  

Staff is working from the approved Communications and Marketing plan (September 25, 2018) and is 

building out a comprehensive project timeline for each of the proposed subsections of the overarching 

plan. I.e. website development, brand identification (post-election)  

Priority: Operations 

#4 Milestone: Successful implementation of Office restructuring with support for both new and 

continuing employees  

Staff continues to work through the process of policy review and the implementation of a proposed 

timeline to obtain trainings for both staff and the Board of Directors to achieve the “Certified Healthcare 

District” from  The Association of California Healthcare Districts (ACHD) and  “District of Distinction”  

from Special District Leadership Foundation (SDLF) a division of California Special District Association 

(CSDA) – timeline will be presented at the November Board meeting.  
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"Priority: Operations 

#5 Milestone: Expanded utilization of cvHIP by both residents and professionals throughout the 

Coachella Valley" 

Staff has prepared a report to the Board for review and discussion at the October 23, 2018 Foundation 

meeting.  Staff has met with Inland Empire Health Plan (IEHP) and a request for further guidance will be 

presented during the staff report.   

"Priority: Operations 

#6 Milestone: Complete Association of California Healthcare Districts Certification" 

Staff is working to meet certification requirements concurrently with the implementation of policy 

review, grant Structure, communications and marketing (Website redesign), and Strategic Plan 

Implementation.  As stated above, staff will present timeline at the November Board meeting.  This will 

also be reflective of the decisions made at the October 25, 2018 Workshop meeting. 

"Priority: Strategy and Programs 

#7 Milestone: Implementation of Hospital Governance and Oversight Policy with increased focus on 

quality issues" 

Under the District’s Lease Compliance Policy, a Hospital Governance and Oversight (HGOC) standing 

committee was created in January 2017. Monthly meetings have included current updates from Michele 

Finney, CEO of DRMC, regarding status of any issues, improvements, and developments within the 

hospital. Additionally, hospital rating scores, such as Leapfrog, CMS and Hospital Compare, have been 

presented to the Committee and communicated with the Board, including action plans for improving 

subpar scoring. The Committee will develop a hospital inspection plan to perform quarterly inspections 

of the hospital facilities. The Committee continues to bring transparency to hospital governance and 

oversight issues.  

"Priority: Strategy and Programs 

#8 Milestone: Continued focus on Homelessness Initiative with CVAG and Coachella Valley local 

governments (cities and county), as well as appropriate recognition of DHCD/F efforts" 

Staff has prepared a report of the up-to-date work with Barbara Poppe and Associates (BPA) and 

preparation for the November 7th and 8th onsite meeting.   This report is included in the Foundation 

board package for review.   

"Priority: Strategy and Programs 

#9 Milestone: Development of a strategy to address behavioral health issues in the Coachella Valley with 

primary and expedited focus on inpatient psychiatric resources" 

Staff continues to work with Subject Matter Specials work and Green Ribbon Committee to help identify 

strategies and concepts for both programs, funding and legislation. 

Staff has been reviewing and holding conversations with front line staff to understand the story behind 

the Data.  
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It is the staff’s intent to finalize the work with BPA on homelessness, work as a team to identify 

strengths and weaknesses from the process, and create lessons learned information piece to help guide 

the upcoming Behavioral Health Initiative work.   Timeline proposed is January 2019.  

A staff report for the October 23, 2018 Foundation Board of Directors meeting provides further detail.  

"Priority: Strategy and Programs 

#10 Milestone: Develop a strategy to address acute hospital bed resources throughout the CV with 

specific decisions about how to address seismic of existing facilities and other facilities issues at DRMC" 

Board and Staff have been working with our consultant, Kaufman Hall, to develop guidance to the Board 

for decisions regarding the hospital facility, in light of the underlying seismic retrofit 2030 compliance 

issue. A current seismic ASCE 41 assessment is underway to provide detailed assessment of estimated 

costs and process to meet the compliance issue. Phase 0 (high level assessment) is complete and was 

presented at the September 25, 2018 Board of Directors meeting. Estimated completion of the ASCE 41 

– Phase 1 report - is December 2018. 

"Priority: Strategy and Programs 

#11 Milestone: Develop, with Board, contingency plans for remainder of lease without an extension to 

Tenet Health" 

Through the work and development underway with Kaufman Hall, the District will be developing a 

contingency plan, following the Seismic Assessment and further analysis. Estimated completion of the 

Contingency Plan is May 2019. 

"Priority: Strategy and Programs 

#12 Milestone: Providers, Facilities, Programs, and Services plans for 2018 in light of changing federal 

actions.  Establish sustainable funding for Providers, Facilities, Programs, and Services. " 

The New Providers, Facilities, Programs, and Services Committee and Staff, along with guidance from 

Kaufman Hall, will be developing a plan (Apr-Jun 2019) for how to proceed with the hospital with regard 

to seismic retrofit and to define a transaction with the hospital operator (i.e. new hospital lease) by May 

2027. 

"Priority: Expansion 

#13 Milestone: Establish a sustainable funding mechanism to include in expansion vote with LAFCO 

application" 

Program team work continues to identify potential funding for two Key Initiatives – Homelessness and 

Behavioral Health.   Through this process we are mapping potential funding sources to help supports 

efforts and programs that serve the Coachella Valley as a whole.   

This includes our efforts mentioned above in the Homelessness and Behavioral Health Initiative work.  

Staff is currently focused on the Salton Sea Bond and the allocation of 10 million to Health, Prop 63 

funds and programs being offered by Riverside County in the CV, HEAP funding coming from the state 

that requires either shovel ready capital programs or programs that meet the emergency needs for the 

chronic homeless.   
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"Priority: Expansion 

#14 Milestone: Secure successful LAFCO vote" 

The Annexation was approved at the April 26, 2018 LAFCO meeting and ordered the Board of 

Supervisors to set an election at the November 6, 2018 election. Measure BB, the ballot measure for the 

annexation, was approved and finalized by the Registrar of Voters. 

"Priority: Expansion 

#15 Milestone: Preparation for and successful vote to expand DHCD/F in November 2018" 

Staff has completed Power Point presentations for Board member use to support efforts to bring clarity 

to the community on expansion.  

Staff is working to encourage public attendance and participation at the October Board Meetings (Public 

Forums).  

"Priority: Expansion 

#16 Milestone: Plan for expansion of DHCD/F Board if ballot initiative passes, as well as begin 

preparations for “district” elections." 

At the September 25, 2018 Board meeting, a timeline and process for selection of 2 additional Board 

members and for rezoning to a 7 zone election was approved, should the expansion initiative pass. 
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To the Honorable Board of Directors, of the Desert Healthcare District,  

Desert Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities) 
Palm Springs, California 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the Desert Healthcare District, Desert 
Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities), as of and for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2018, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we 
considered the entities’ internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities’ 
internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities’ internal 
control. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or 
material weaknesses and, therefore, there can be no assurance that all such deficiencies have been identified.  
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  
 
A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
During our audit, we noted no matters involving internal controls and their operations that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards, except for a potential of inadequate segregation of duties due 
to the small staff of the entities.  This appears to be mitigated by the strong oversight of the Board of 
Directors in the operations of the entities. 
 
We have included in this letter a summary of communications with the members of the Board of Directors as 
required by professional auditing standards. We would like to thank the entities’ management and staff for the 
courtesy and cooperation extended to us during the course of our engagement.  
 
The accompanying communications and recommendations are intended solely for the information and use of 
management, the members of the Board of Directors, and others within the entities, and is not intended to be, 
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

 
 
Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, LLP 
Culver City, California 
October 1, 2018 
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To the Honorable Board of Directors, of the Desert Healthcare District,  
Desert Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities) 

Palm Springs, California 
 

We have audited the financial statements of the financial statements of the Desert Healthcare District, Desert 
Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities) of the entities for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2018, and have issued our report thereon dated October 1, 2018. Professional standards require that we 
provide you with the information about our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and Government Auditing Standards, as well as certain information related to the 
planned scope and timing of our audit.  We have communicated such information in our letter dated May 29, 
2018. Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our 
audit. 
 

Significant Audit Findings 
 

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant 
accounting policies used by the entities are described in Note 1 of the notes to the basic financial statements.  
 
We noted no transactions entered into by the entities during the fiscal year for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial 
statements in the proper period. 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on 
management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events.  
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements 
and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  
 
The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were the estimated historical cost and useful lives 
of certain capital assets, the net fair market value of the charitable remainder trusts, the funding progress of the 
District’s RPP plan and OPEB plan, and the estimate of an allowance for uncollectable receivables. 
Management’s estimates of the estimated historical cost and useful lives of certain capital assets are based on 
historical data and industry guidelines, while the funding progress of the RPP plan and OPEB plan, and are 
based on consultants’ estimates. The amount of estimated allowance for uncollectable receivables is based on 
historical data. We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates and determined 
that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were: 
 
 The estimates for the Defined Benefit Pension Plan are in the footnotes to the financial statements. 

The estimates for the OPEB Plan are in the footnotes to the financial statements.   
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We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates and determined that they are 
reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.  The financial statement disclosures are 
neutral, consistent, and clear.   
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
 

We encountered no difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit. 
 
 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
 

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit, 
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.  Management 
has corrected all such misstatements, if any.  In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit 
procedures and corrected by management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion 
unit’s financial statements taken as a whole. 
 

Disagreements with Management 
 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial 
accounting reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to 
the financial statements or the auditor’s report.  We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose 
during the course of our audit. 
 

Management Representations 
 

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management representation 
letter dated October 1, 2018. 
 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations.  If a consultation involves application of 
an accounting principle to the District’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion 
that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check  
with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.  To our knowledge, there were no such 
consultations with other accountants. 
 

Other Audit Findings or Issues 
 

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the entities’ auditors.  However, these discussions 
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our 
retention. 
 

Other Matters 
 

With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made certain 
inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to 
determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate 
and complete in relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary 
information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves.  
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Restriction on Use 
 

This information is intended solely for the use of the members of the Board of Directors and management of the 
entities and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 

 
 

Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, LLP 
Culver City, California 
October 1, 2018 
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CURRENT YEAR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Other Matters 
 

 
None 
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STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR RECOMMENDATION 
 
None 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
To the Honorable Board of Directors, of the Desert Healthcare District,  

Desert Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities) 
Palm Springs, California 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the business activities, the 
fiduciary fund financial statements of the Desert Healthcare District, and the financial statements of the  
Desert Healthcare Foundation and Desert Hospital Retirement Plan (the entities), as of and for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
entities’ basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 1, 2018. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the entities’ internal control 
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities’ internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entities’ 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or, significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that 
have not been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the entities financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entities internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
 
MOSS, LEVY & HARTZHEIM, LLP 
Culver City, California 
October 1, 2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Honorable Board of Directors 
of the Desert Healthcare District  
Palm Springs, California 
 
Report on Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business type activities and the 
fiduciary fund financial statements of the Desert Healthcare District (District) as of and for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.   
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessments of the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the District’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness on the District’s internal control. Accordingly, we 
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions.
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the business type activities and the fiduciary fund financial statements of 
the District as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows for the 
fiscal year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 1, 2018, 
on our consideration of Desert Healthcare District's internal control over financial reporting and on our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Desert Healthcare District's internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 3 through 7 and the Schedule of Changes in the Net 
Pension Liability and Related Ratios on page 37 be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance.  
 
Report on Comparative Summarized Information 
 
We have previously audited the District’s 2017 financial statements, and our report dated October 5, 2017 
expressed unmodified opinions on those audited financial statements. In our opinion, the summarized 
comparative information presented herein as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, is consistent, 
in all material respects, with the audited financial from which it has been derived. 
 

 
 
Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, LLP 
Culver City, California 
October 1, 2018 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

JUNE 2018 AND 2017 
 
 

The Desert Healthcare District (the District) has issued its financial statements for the fiscal years ended June 
30, 2018 and June 30, 2017 in conformity with the format prescribed by the provisions of Government 
Accounting Standards Board Statement 34 (GASB 34).  This report, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, 
is an overview of the financial activities for the fiscal years and is an integral part of the accompanying Basic 
Financial Statements. 
 
ACCOUNTING METHOD 
 
The District’s revenues and expenses are recognized on a full accrual basis; revenues are recognized in the 
period incurred.  All assets and liabilities associated with the activity of the District are included on the 
Statement of Net Position.   
 
THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The Basic Financial Statements reflect the activities of two funds. The Financial Statements include the 
Statement of Net Position, Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (Income Statement) 
and Statement of Cash Flows, and the Agency Fund, which is the Desert Healthcare Foundation’s Statement of 
Fiduciary Net Position and Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. Together with this report, these 
Financial Statements provide information about the significant events, assumptions and decisions which 
resulted in the financial performance reflected in those statements. 
 
The Statement of Net Position provides information regarding the financial position of the District, including 
its capital assets and debts.  
 
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (Income Statement) provide information 
regarding the revenues received by the District, and the expenses incurred in carrying out the District’s 
programs.   
 
The Statement of Cash Flows provides information regarding the sources and uses of the cash which flowed 
into and out of the District as a result of its operations and financing decisions. 
 
 
FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES & FISCAL YEAR 2018 HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Desert Healthcare District (“the District”) is a government entity operating under the Local Health Care 
District Law.  The District was created by the state of California in 1948 for the purpose of providing hospital 
services to the residents of the District.  The District was responsible for building Desert Hospital, now known 
as Desert Regional Medical Center.  In 1997, the Board of Directors voted to lease the hospital to Tenet Health 
System Desert, Inc. for 30 years. 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
  

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

JUNE 2018 AND 2017 
 
The Statement of Net Position 
A condensed version of the Statements of Net Position is presented in Table A below and the changes which 
occurred between Fiscal Year 2018 and 2017. 

Table A
Assets: 6/30/2018 6/30/2017 Change

   Cash and cash equivalents 2,004,735$         1,431,371$         573,364$            

Investments 54,326,412         54,644,090         (317,678)             

Capital assets, net 12,382,164         12,792,784         (410,620)             

All Other Assets 235,775              340,068              (104,293)             

Total Assets 68,949,086$       69,208,314$       (259,228)$           

Deferred Outflows:

GASB 68 Reporting for Pension Plans 1,057,842$         1,234,531$         (176,689)$           

GASB 75 Reporting for OPEB Plans 22,144$              -$                        22,144$              
Total Deferred Outflows 1,079,986$         1,234,531$         (154,545)$           

Liabilities:

Grants payable 11,654,099$       12,449,038$       (794,939)$           

Net Pension Liability 3,277,793           2,883,995           393,799              

All Other Liabilities 1,920,142           590,996              1,329,145           

Total Liabilities 16,852,034$       15,924,029$       928,005$            

Deferred Inflows:

GASB 68 Reporting for Pension Plans 2,222,190$         3,242,061$         (1,019,871)$        
Total Deferred Inflows 2,222,190$         3,242,061$         (1,019,871)$        

Net Assets:

Net investment in capital assets 12,382,164$       12,792,784$       (410,620)$           

Unrestricted 38,572,684         37,474,591         1,098,093           
     Restricted -                         1,000,000           (1,000,000)          

Total Net Position 50,954,848$       51,267,375$       (312,527)$           

 
 

The $312,527 decrease in Total Net Position is due to the net loss of $312,527 for the current fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2018.  This compares to a net income of $1,754,472 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017.  The 
decrease is primarily due to a net combination of increased property tax revenue of $477,409, increased grant 
expenses of $1,622,290 and increased professional fees and legal expense of $897,850. The $317,678 decrease 
in Investments is due primarily to increase in Cash and cash equivalents of $573,364 available for payment of 
current liabilities. The $410,620 decrease in Capital Assets is due primarily to depreciation of capital assets. 
The $104,293 decrease in All Other Assets is due primarily to a decrease in property tax and grants 
receivables. The $176,689 decrease in Deferred Outflows is due to timing difference in the actuarial valuation 
for GASB 68 reporting for the Retirement Protection Plan (RPP). The $794,939 decrease in Grants Payable is 
due primarily to higher grant disbursements than new accrued grants. The $393,799 increase in Net Pension 
Liability is due primarily to a change in actuarial assumptions. The $1,307,002 increase in All Other Liabilities 
is due primarily to a $1,000,000 transfer to the Foundation. The $1,019,871 decrease in Deferred Inflows is 
due to a timing difference in the actuarial valuation for GASB 68 reporting for the RPP. 
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 DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  

 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
JUNE 2018 AND 2017 

 
 
The Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position 
 
The District’s business is comprised of two major segments: 
 

 Revenues – The District receives from the County of Riverside an apportionment of the 
property taxes paid by the residents of the District.   Additional revenues include, the 
investment income the District receives from the Facility Replacement Fund, which was 
established to provide working capital in the event that the lease with Tenet Health System 
Desert, Inc. is terminated prematurely; and rental income from the Las Palmas Medical 
Plaza which is owned and managed by the District. 

 
 

 Grant Program – The District administers a grant and preventative health initiatives 
programs that donate a significant portion of the District’s annual property tax revenues to 
health-related programs serving residents of Desert Hot Springs, Thousand Palms, Palm 
Springs, Cathedral City, Rancho Mirage and Palm Desert (West of Cook Street) and 
unincorporated areas of the County that are within the District’s boundaries.  

 
 
 
Table B, below, is a condensed version of the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position; 
it summarizes the District’s revenue and expenses, and compares Fiscal Year 2018 results to Fiscal Year 2017.   

 
Table B                                                                          

 

6/30/18 6/30/17 Change

Revenue:

Property Tax Revenue 6,559,800$         6,082,391$         477,409$            

Rental income 1,113,241           1,178,485           (65,244)               

All other income 166,904              213,133              (46,229)               

Total Revenue 7,839,945$         7,474,009$         365,936$            

Expenses:

Grants program 5,076,039$         3,453,749$         1,622,290$         

Administrative Expense 3,068,696           2,177,287           891,409              

Total Expense 8,144,735$         5,631,036$         2,513,700$         

Nonoperating Income(Expenses) (7,737)$               (88,501)$             80,765                

Net Income (Loss) (312,527)$           1,754,472$         (2,066,999)$        
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

JUNE 2018 AND 2017 
 
 
Revenue 
Property taxes are the District’s primary source of operating revenues.  The property tax revenue for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2018 was $6,559,800 which was an increase of $477,409 from the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2017.   
  
Rental income of $1,113,241 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 was $65,244 lower than the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2017. 
 
All other income for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 decreased $46,229 compared to the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2016. The decrease was due primarily to a decrease in NEOPB grant income and solar rebate.  
 
The Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position (Continued) 
 
Expenses 
Grant Program expense for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 increased by $1,622,290 compared to the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2017. This is due primarily to increased approved grants. Grants are recorded in the fiscal 
year that they are approved by the District’s Board of Directors.   
 
Administrative expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 increased $891,409 from the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2017. The increase is due to various expenses including higher professional fees expense of $764,069 
for consulting services for expansion, future planning, hospital seismic and appraisal assessments; and higher 
legal expense of $133,782.  
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
At June 30, 2018, the District had $22,121,177 in capital assets and $9,739,013 accumulated depreciation, 
resulting in $12,382,164 net capital assets.  At June 30, 2017, the District had $21,939,868 in capital assets and 
$9,147,084 in accumulated depreciation, resulting in $12,792,784 net capital assets. 
 
A summary of the activity and balances in capital assets is presented in Table C:  
 

Table C 
  

Balance Net Net Balance Net Net Balance

6/30/16 Additions Retirements 6/30/17 Additions Retirements 6/30/18

Cost 21,936,462$           4,929$               (1,523)$              21,939,868$           233,243$           (51,934)$            22,121,177$           

Acc. Depreciation (8,514,981)              (632,916)            812                    (9,147,084)              (643,863)            51,934               (9,739,013)              

Capital Assets, Net 13,421,481$           (627,987)$          (711)$                 12,792,784$           (410,620)$          -$                       12,382,164$           
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 

JUNE 2018 AND 2017 
 
 
DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
The District has no outstanding debt. 
 
ECONOMIC OUTLOOK AND MAJOR INITIATIVES 
 
The Fiscal Year 2019 budget reflects revenues of $8,019,542 and operating expenses of $7,975,519.  Capital 
expenditures are budgeted at $495,396. The Desert Healthcare District/Foundation adopted a new 3-Year 
Strategic Plan in fiscal year 2018, with four Community Health Focus Areas: Homelessness; Primary Care and 
Behavioral Health Access; Healthy Eating and Active Living; and Quality, Safety, Accountability, and 
Transparency. The District/Foundation continues to work on connecting District residents to programs and 
services to meet their healthcare needs. 
 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the District awarded $3,958,624 in new grants and distributed grants 
in the amount of $4,666,084.  Projected new grants to be awarded for the fiscal year 2018–2019 amount to 
$3,500,000 and distributions for grants could possibly total $15,087,491 due to the existing grant liability as of 
June 30, 2018 and the projected grant awards.  
 
The District has also established a reserve fund of approximately $55,000,000 to cover grant liabilities, hospital 
operating expenses for a short period should the lease with Tenet Health System Desert, Inc. terminate prior to 
May 30, 2027, and seismic or other related facilities costs.  
 
The Hospital will be required to meet SB 1953 and OSHPD regulations for seismic retrofit standards by 2030.  
The District is conducting due diligence to assess the seismic retrofit needs and costs, which may be substantial, 
and reviewing options for timely completion of the seismic upgrades. 
 
Termination Assets are assets constructed or installed by Tenet Health System in the hospital during the lease 
period with a net book value or fair market value at the termination of the lease.  In accordance with the 1997 
Lease, the District is required to purchase the Termination Assets at the lesser of net book value or fair market 
value.  The 1997 Lease provides that the purchase can be satisfied with a 5-year promissory note and also 
provides the option of a possible extension of the lease if the Termination Assets exceed $10,000,000.  
  
 
CONTACTING THE DISTRICT’S MANAGEMENT 
 
Desert Healthcare District 
1140 N. Indian Canyon Drive 
Palm Springs, CA  92262 
(760) 323-6113 Office 
(760) 323-6825 Fax 
www.dhcd.org  Website 
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2018 2017
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,004,735     $ 1,431,371       
Investments 10,036,100   17,257,100     
Accounts receivable - net 190,048        293,905         
Prepaid items and deposits 45,727 46,164

Total current assets 12,276,610 19,028,540

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments 44,290,312 37,386,990
Capital assets, net 12,382,164 12,792,784

Total non-current assets 56,672,476 50,179,774

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
Deferred Outflows of Resources: 

Pension plans 1,057,842 1,234,531
OPEB 22,144 -                 
Total deferred outflows of resources 1,079,986 1,234,531

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS 70,029,072 70,442,845

CURRENT LIABILITIES
  Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrual liabilities 1,646,607 317,854
Grants payable 1,506,453 1,993,397
Compensated absences 39,785 46,835
Disability claims, reserve, current portion 14,803 14,803
Retired directors medical benefits, current portion -                 23,000

Total current liabilities 3,207,648 2,395,889

NON-CURRENT LIABLILITIES
Grants payable 10,147,646 10,455,641
Long-term disability claims reserve 51,743 62,215
Long-term retired director's medical benefits -                 72,250
Net pension liability 3,277,793 2,883,995
Net OPEB liability 108,687 -                 
Deposits payable 58,517 54,039

Total non-current liabilities 13,644,386 13,528,140

DEFERRED INFLOWS
Deferred Inflows of Resources: 

Pension plans 2,222,190 3,242,061
Total deferred inflows of resources 2,222,190 3,242,061

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS 19,074,224 19,166,090

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 12,382,164   12,792,784     
Restricted -                 1,000,000       
Unrestricted 38,572,684   37,483,971     

TOTAL NET POSITION $ 50,954,848 $ 51,276,755

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS AS OF JUNE 30, 2017

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
8
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2018 2017
OPERATING REVENUES

Property taxes $ 6,559,800     $ 6,082,391      
Rental income 1,113,241     1,178,485      
Other income 166,904        213,133         

Total revenues 7,839,945     7,474,009      

OPERATING EXPENSES
Grant allocations 5,076,039     3,453,749      
General expenses 1,187,283     436,175         
Rental expenses 904,904        894,421         
Salaries and benefits 329,056        190,859         
Legal fees 250,443        117,593         
Depreciation 194,483        194,979         
Other 199,606        146,333         
Election fees -               196,467         
Security 2,921            460                

Total expenditures 8,144,735     5,631,036      

Income (loss) from operations (304,790)      1,842,973      

NONOPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Investment income 111,318        30,049           
Investment expenses (119,055)      (118,550)       

Total nonoperating income (loss) (7,737)            (88,501)         

Increase (decrease) in net position (312,527)      1,754,472      

NET POSITION
Beginning of fiscal year 51,276,755   49,522,283    

Prior period adjustments (9,380)          -                

Net position at beginning of fiscal year, restated 51,267,375   49,522,283    

End of fiscal year $ 50,954,848   $ 51,276,755    

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
9
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2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from County $ 6,614,964        $ 6,080,531    
Cash received from Grantor 156,209           134,297       
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services  (766,587)         (1,406,821)    
Cash payments to unfunded pension liability -                  (3,400,000)    
Cash payments to employees for services and benefits (814,049)         (657,184)       
Cash payments to grantee (5,870,978)      (5,030,622)    
Rental and other operating revenues 1,177,107        1,601,291      

   Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 496,666           (2,678,508)    
                                      

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of capital assets (233,243)         (4,929)           

(233,243)         (4,929)           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment earnings 579                  100                
Net investment sales (purchases) 309,362           2,783,726      

   Net cash provided by investing activities 309,941           2,783,826      

   Net increase in cash 573,364           100,389         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF FISCAL YEAR 1,431,371       1,330,982    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF FISCAL YEAR $ 2,004,735       $ 1,431,371    

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
 TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,004,735       $ 1,431,371    

   Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
10
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RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO 
 NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2018 2017

Income from operations $ (304,790)         $ 1,842,973    

Adjustments to reconciliation of income from operations to
  net cash provided (used) by operating activities:

  Depreciation 643,863           632,916       
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 103,857           348,140       
Prepaid items and deposits 437                  22,269         
Deferred outflow-pension 176,689           413,468       
Deferred outflow-OPEB 443                  -               
Net pension liabilities 393,798           (6,760,707)    
Net OPEB liabilities (18,530)           -               
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,328,753        (66,413)         
Grants payable (794,939)         (1,576,873)    
Deposits payable 4,478               (6,031)           
Compensated absences (7,050)             (33,973)         
Gain on disposition of fixed assets -                  710              
Long-term disability claims reserve (10,472)           (9,863)           
Deferred inflow - pension (1,019,871)      2,524,751    
Retired director's medical liability -                  (9,875)           

    Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 496,666          $ (2,678,508)  

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
11
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2018 2017
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,447,997     $ 2,017,563      
Grants receivable 1,030,829     14,477           
Prepaid items 3,540            2,500             
Accrued interest and dividend receivable 13,787          11,532           

Total current assets 4,496,153     2,046,072      

OTHER ASSETS
Contributions receivable - charitable remainder trusts 188,929        185,939         
Assets held in charitable remainder trusts -                86,207           
Investments 2,499,286       2,410,881       

Total other assets 2,688,215     2,683,027      

TOTAL ASSETS 7,184,368     4,729,099      

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 83,980          16,312           
Deferred grant income -                2,000,000      
Grants payable - current portion 3,621,167     217,292         

Total current liabilities 3,705,147     2,233,604      

Long-term liabilities:
Grants payable - long-term 1,200,000     200,000                               

Total long-term liabilities 1,200,000     200,000         

Total liabilities 4,905,147     2,433,604      

NET POSITION $ 2,279,221     $ 2,295,495      

JUNE 30, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS AS OF JUNE 30, 2017

Private- Purpose Trust Fund

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
DESERT HEALTHCARE FOUNDATION

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
12
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2018 2017

ADDITIONS

Contributions $ 226,403           $ 4,980               
Grants 5,339,347      120,306          
Interest and dividends 65,341           57,334            
Investment gains and losses (49,499)         58,111            
Sale of mineral rights -                 55,000            
Miscellaneous income -                 18,406            
Change in value - charitable trusts 3,506             (10,605)          

   Total support and revenue 5,585,098      303,532          

DEDUCTIONS

  Grants and services 5,314,610        60,590             
Management and general 286,762         54,617            

   Total expenses 5,601,372      115,207          

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION (16,274)         188,325          

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF FISCAL YEAR 2,295,495      2,107,170       

NET POSITION, END OF FISCAL YEAR $ 2,279,221      $ 2,295,495       

Private-Purpose Trust Fund

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
DESERT HEALTHCARE FOUNDATION

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
13
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The basic financial statements of the Desert Healthcare District (District) have been prepared in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental 
agencies. The Governmental Accounting Standards Boards (GASB) is the accepted standard setting 
body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more 
significant of the District's accounting policies are described below. 
 
Financial Reporting Entity  
The District was organized on December 14, 1948, by a Resolution adopted by the Board of 
Supervisors, County of Riverside, under the provisions of The Local Hospital District Law (Sections 
32000-32314 of the California Health and Safety Code) to provide and operate health care facilities 
within the area known as the Western Coachella Valley. 
 
Each of the five members of the District's Board of Directors holds office for a four-year term, which 
is staggered against the other terms. Elections are by popular vote of the constituents within the 
District's boundaries. 
 
Effective June 29, 1986, the District transferred control of Desert Hospital and all related assets and 
liabilities to Desert Health Systems, Inc. (System) under the terms of a master lease agreement. The 
purpose of the transfer was to permit the hospital to operate more competitively and efficiently by 
becoming a private not-for-profit entity. On December 8, 1988, the System merged with Desert 
Hospital Corporation (Corporation), the surviving entity. This transaction had no impact with respect 
to the District. 
 
Until June 1, 1997, the District served as a pass-through entity between the Corporation and the 
trustee of Hospital Revenue Certificates of Participation issued in 1990 and 1992 and as a recipient of 
District tax revenues. The District annually pledged the tax revenues it received to the Corporation to 
be utilized for general corporate purposes. Historically, tax revenues were used to support capital 
improvement programs. 
 
Effective May 30, 1997, the District entered into a 30-year lease of Desert Hospital with Tenet Health 
System Desert, Inc. (Tenet). Terms of the lease included payment by Tenet of the Hospital Revenue 
Certificates of Participation issued in 1990 and 1992 (approximately $80,000,000) as prepaid rent. 
Tenet also paid the District $15,400,000 cash, representing additional prepaid rent. (See Note 2) 
 
The District has and continues to assess the healthcare needs of the Western Coachella Valley. The 
District makes grants to healthcare providers who provide needed healthcare services. 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

Financial Reporting Entity — Continued 
As required by U.S. GAAP, these financial statements present the District and its component unit 
entity for which the District is considered to be financially accountable. Blended component 
units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the District's operations and so 
data from these units are combined with data of the District. Component units should be included 
in the reporting entity financial statement using blending method if either of the following 
criteria are met: 
 

 The component unit's governing body is the same as the governing body of the District 
 The component unit provides services entirely, or almost entirely, to the District or otherwise 

exclusively, or almost exclusively, benefits the District even though it does not provide 
services directly to it. 
 

Included within the reporting entity as a blended component unit is the following:  
  
 Desert Healthcare Foundation (Foundation) 
 

The Foundation is a health and welfare organization created to identify the health care needs of the 
Desert Healthcare District and to work toward alleviating those needs through various programs 
and services. The Foundation operates primarily in the Coachella Valley area of Southern 
California and, as such, is subject to market conditions, which could affect charitable giving and 
the realization of recorded assets values at various times. 
 
The foundation’s condensed financial statements are included in these financial statements 
as a Private-Purpose Trust Fund fiduciary fund type. 
 
Complete financial statements of the Foundation can be requested from the District, 1140 North 
Indian Canyon Drive, Palm Springs, California 92262. 
 

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus   
 
Business-Type Activities 
 
The basic financial statements include a Statement of Net Position, Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows. These statements present 
summaries of business-type activities for the District. 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018  
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued  
 
 Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus – Continued 
 

These basic financial statements are presented on an "economic resources" measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, all of the District's assets and liabilities, 
including capital assets and long-term liabilities, are included in the accompanying Statement of 
Net Position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents 
changes in net position for the year. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are 
recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in 
which the liability is incurred. All proprietary funds are accounted for on a cost of services of 
"economic resources" measurement focus. This means that all assets and liabilities (whether 
current or noncurrent) associated with the activity are included on the Statement of Net Position. 
Their reported fund equity presents total net position. The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position present increases (revenues) and decreases (expenses) in total net 
position. The Statement of Cash Flows is presented with cash, cash equivalents and investments. 
 
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements 
 
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position and a Statement of 
Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. The District’s Fiduciary fund includes Private Purpose Trust 
Funds, which account for resources that are being held for the benefit of the District. The 
Fiduciary fund is accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Use of Restricted/Unrestricted Net Position  
When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net assets are 
available, the Foundation's policy is to apply restricted net assets first. 
 
Cash, Cash Equivalent and Investments  
All cash and cash equivalents are considered to be demand deposits, money market funds and short-
term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
Investments are stated at fair value. Highly liquid market investments with maturities of one year or 
less at time of purchase are stated at amortized cost. All other investments are stated at fair value. 
Market value is used as fair value for those securities for which market quotations are readily 
available. 
 
Prepaid Items and Deposits  
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items. 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 
1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

Capital Assets  
Capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost was not 
available. Donated fixed assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the date donated. 
Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 
 

Buildings and Improvements 40 – 50 years 
Furniture and Equipment                         3 – 7 years 

 
Compensated Absences  
Employees have vested interests in varying levels of vacation and sick leave based on their length of 
employment. Sick leave is payable only when an employee is unable to work due to personal or 
family illness. Unused sick leave does not vest and is forfeited upon termination. 
 
Property Tax 
The County of Riverside (the County) bills and collects property taxes on behalf of numerous special 
districts and incorporated cities, including the District. The District's collections of current year's taxes 
are received through periodic apportionments from the County. 
 
The County's tax calendar is from July 1 to June 30. Property taxes attach as a lien on property on 
January 1. Taxes are levied on July 1 and are payable in two equal installments on November 1 and 
February 1, and become delinquent after December 10 and April 10, respectively. 
 
Since the passage of California's Proposition 13, beginning with fiscal year 1978-79 general property 
taxes are based either on a flat 1% rate applied to the 1975-1976 full value of the property or on 1% of 
the sales price of any property sold or of the cost of any new construction after the 1975-1976 
valuation. Taxable values on properties (exclusive of increases related to sales and new construction) 
can rise at a maximum of 2% per year. 
 
The Proposition 13 limitation on general property taxes does not apply to taxes levied to pay the debt 
service on any indebtedness approved by the voters prior to June 6, 1978 (the date of passage of 
Proposition 13). 
 
Property tax revenue is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes have been levied. Property 
taxes received after this date are subject to accrual and considered available as a resource that can be 
used to finance the current year operations of the District. 
 
Income Taxes  
The District is a political subdivision of the State of California and, as such, is exempt from federal 
and state income taxes. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 

 
1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued 
 

Use of Estimates  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and 
disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Fair Value Measurement  
The District and Foundation apply Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP) for fair 
value measurements of financial assets that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial 
statements on a recurring basis in accordance with GASB Statement Nos. 31 and 40. 
 
Net Assets  
Net Investment in Capital Assets — this amount consists of capital assets net of accumulated 
depreciation and reduced by outstanding debt that attributed to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of the assets. 
 

Restricted Net Assets — This amount is restricted by external creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws 
of regulations of other governments. 
 

Unrestricted Net Assets — This amount is all net assets that do not meet the definition of "net 
investment in capital assets”, or "restricted net assets." 
 

Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
 
Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 65, the District recognizes deferred outflows of resources. A 
deferred outflow of resources is defined as a consumption of net position by the government that is 
applicable to a future reporting period. Refer to Note 15 for a detailed listing of the deferred outflow 
of resources that the District has recognized. 
 
Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 65, the District recognizes deferred inflows of resources. A deferred 
inflow of resources is defined as an acquisition of fund balance by the government that is applicable to 
a future reporting period. Refer to Note 15 for a detailed listing of the deferred outflow of resources 
that the District has recognized. 
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2. LEASE AGREEMENT — TENET HEALTH SYSTEM DESERT, INC. 
 

The District, as described in Note 1, entered into a thirty (30) year lease agreement for Desert 
Regional Medical Center (Hospital) with Tenet Health System Desert, Inc. (Tenet). In the event that 
Tenet or the District decide to terminate the lease, the District would be responsible for operating the 
Hospital, which would require upfront operating capital of approximately $72,000,000 to maintain the 
operations without interruption during the transition period. The District, recognizing this obligation, 
established an investment fund, with a net value of $55,344,906 as of June 30, 2018, identified as the 
Facility Replacement Fund. The lease agreement contains provisions in the event the lease terminates 
prior to May 30, 2021. If the lease terminates for reasons such as default by the lessor to perform 
obligations within a sixty day period or the premises are totally destroyed and repairs are not feasible 
between the dates of June 1, 2018 and May 30, 2021, the District may be obligated to repay Tenet 
beginning June 1, 2018 the unamortized prepaid rent as defined in the lease agreement which 
decreases annually through May 2021. However, the District does not expect these conditions to occur 
during the term of the lease and therefore, recorded the full amount of the payments received to 
income in fiscal year ended June 30, 1997. The lease agreement was previously amended to allow the 
District to provide the funding for the cost of preapproved capital improvements that will reduce the 
amount of the prepaid rent schedule by a ratio of $3 for each $1 spent, and in some cases a ratio of 
$3.50 for each $1 spent. 

 
The $4,680,743 construction cost and credit received from Desert Regional Medical Center for lower 
electrical costs of the hospital parking lot provided for a $3 for $1 reduction amounting to $14,042,229 
to the prepaid rent schedule. An additional $4,589,200 reduction to the prepaid lease schedule was due 
to a $3.50 for $1 reduction per a 10 year facility lease agreement between the District and Hospital for 
facility space at the District's medical office building to be occupied by the Hospital. 
 
As of June 30, 2018, the prepaid lease balance is $8,968,564. This amount will decrease annually by 
$3,066,667 per terms of the lease agreement. Should the lease terminate early, the prepaid lease 
repayment may be made in full or over a period of five years. 
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3.   CASH AND INVESTMENTS   
  

The cash and investments are classified in the financial statements as shown below: 
 

June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

District's Statement of Net Position:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,004,735$        1,431,371$        

Investments 54,326,412        54,644,090        

Fiduciary Statement of Net Position:

Cash and cash equivalents 3,447,997          2,017,563          

Investments 2,499,286          2,410,881          

Total Cash and Investments 62,278,430$      60,503,905$      

Cash and Investments consist

   of the following:

Cash on Hand 700$                  700$                  

Cash in Bank-District 985,741             231,484             

Cash in Bank-Foundation 3,421,500          1,984,693          

Money Market Funds 1,044,791          1,232,057          

Investments 56,825,698        57,054,971        

Total Cash and Investments 62,278,430$      60,503,905$      
 

 
 

Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the District’s Investment Policy 
 

The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for the Desert Healthcare District 
(District) by the California Government Code (or the District’s investment policy, where more restrictive). 
The table also identifies certain provisions of the California Government Code (or the District’s 
investment policy, where more restrictive) that address interest rate risk, credit risk, and concentration of 
risk. This table does not address investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustee that are governed by 
the provisions of debt agreements of the District, rather than the general provisions of the California 
Government Code or the District’s investment policy. 
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3.  CASH, AND INVESTMENTS - Continued  
 

Investments Authorized by the California Government Code and the District’s Investment Policy 
(Continued) 

Maximum Maximum
Maximum Percentage Investment
Maturity of Portfolio in One Issuer

Local Agency Bonds 5 years None None
Local Agency Investment Fund (State Pool) N/A None $65 million
U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 years None None
U.S. Government Agency Issues 5 years None None
Reverse Repurchase Agreements 92 days 20% of base None
Repurchase Agreements 1 year None None
Bankers' Acceptance (must be dollar
     denominated) 180 days 40% 30%
Commercial Paper - Pooled Funds 270 days 40% 10%
Commercial Paper - Non-Pooled Funds 270 days 25% 10%
Negotiable Time Certificates of Deposit 5 years 30% None
Non-negotiable Time Certificates of Deposit 5 years None None
State of California and Local Agency
     Obligations 5 years None None
Placement Service Certificates of Deposit 5 years 30% None
Medium-Term Notes 5 years 30% None
Mutual Funds and Money Market Mutual Funds N/A 20% None
Collateralized Bank Deposits 5 years None None
Mortgage Pass-Through Securities 5 years 20% None
County Pooled Investment Funds N/A None None
Joint Powers Authority Pool N/A None None
Voluntary Investment Program Fund N/A None None
Supranational Obligations 5 years 30% None

Authorized
Investment Type

 
 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of 
an investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its 
fair value to changes in the market interest rates.  One of the ways that the District manages its 
exposure to interest rate risk is by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term 
investments and by timing cash flows from maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or 
coming closer to maturity evenly over time as necessary to provide the cash flow and liquidity needed 
for distributions. 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 
3.  CASH, AND INVESTMENTS - Continued  
 

Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk (Continued) 
 

Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the District’s investments to market interest 
rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the District’s 
investments by maturity: 

 
As of June 30, 2018 

Carrying 12 Months 13 to 24 25-36 37-48 More than
Amount Or Less Months Months Months 49 Months

Corporate Bonds* 999,329$          89,873$            -$                  41,882$            19,265$            848,309$          
U.S. Government Agencies 24,864,624       4,055,362         7,515,586         5,417,235         6,858,290         1,018,151         
U.S. Treasury Notes 30,015,893       6,010,220         2,991,450         7,960,870         7,658,902         5,394,451         
Municipal Bonds 205,182            10,000              19,876              39,920              14,859              120,527            

740,670            740,670            
Total 56,825,698$     10,906,125$     10,526,912$     13,459,907$     14,551,316$     7,381,438$       

* Held by Foundation

Investment Type

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

Domestic Common Stock*

 
As of June 30, 2017 

Carrying 12 Months 13 to 24 25-36 37-48 More than
Amount Or Less Months Months Months 49 Months

Corporate Bonds* 891,720$          44,204$            35,215$            37,712$            91,133$            683,456$          
U.S. Government Agencies 26,678,586       9,185,840         4,109,620         7,620,245         2,582,706         3,180,175         
U.S. Treasury Notes 28,664,630       8,071,240         6,204,884         2,145,900         6,127,190         6,115,416         
Municipal Bonds 94,228              20,101              74,127              

725,807            725,807            
Total 57,054,971$     18,027,091$     10,369,820$     9,803,857$       8,801,029$       10,053,174$     

* Held by Foundation

Investment Type

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

Domestic Common Stock*
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018  

 
3.  CASH AND INVESTMENTS - Continued  
 

Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk 
 
 Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the 

holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by the California 
Government Code and the Plan’s investment policy, and the actual rating as of fiscal year end for each 
investment type. 

 
 As of June 30, 2018: 

Investment Type
Carrying
Amount

Minimum
Legal 
Rating

Exempt From
Disclosure AAA AA A Not Rated

Corporate Bonds* 999,329$         A -$                 35,005$           96,961$           867,363$         -$                 
U.S. Government Agencies 24,864,624      A 24,864,624      
U.S. Treasury Notes 30,015,893      N/A 30,015,893      
Municipal Bonds 205,182           N/A 57,737             147,445           
Domestic Common Stock* 740,670           N/A 740,670           

Total 56,825,698$    30,015,893$   24,957,366$   244,406$        867,363$         740,670$        

* Held by Foundation

Rating as of Fiscal Year End

 
 

As of June 30, 2017: 

Investment Type
Carrying
Amount

Minimum
Legal 
Rating

Exempt From
Disclosure AAA AA A Not Rated

Corporate Bonds* 891,720$         A -$                 -$                 142,370$         749,350$         -$                 
U.S. Government Agencies 26,678,585      A 26,678,585      
U.S. Treasury Notes 28,664,630      N/A 28,664,630      
Municipal Bonds 94,229             N/A 10,682             63,566             19,981             
Domestic Common Stock* 725,807           N/A 725,807           

Total 57,054,971$    28,664,630$   26,689,267$   205,936$        769,331$         725,807$        

* Held by Foundation

Rating as of Fiscal Year End
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018  

 
3.  CASH AND INVESTMENTS - Continued  

 
 Concentration of Credit Risk 

 
The investment policy of the District contains limitations on the amount that can be invested in any 
one issuer.  There are three investments at June 30, 2018 that represent 5% or more of total District 
investments (other than U.S. Treasury Notes). These investments are: 
 

Federal Home Loan Banks: $7,544,505 with various maturity dates through June 30, 2023, 
and interest rates of 1.375-4.500%. 

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation:  $4,953,650 with various maturity dates through June 
30, 2022, and interest rates of 1.250-3.750%. 

Federal National Mortgage Association:   $12,263,445 with various maturity dates through June 
30, 2022, and interest rates of 1.250-2.000%. 

 
There are three investments at June 30, 2017 that represent 5% or more of total District investments 
(other than U.S. Treasury Notes). These investments are: 
 

Federal Home Loan Banks: $6,702,445 with various maturity dates through June 30, 2020, 
and interest rates of 1.375-5.000%. 

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation:  $9,155,460 with various maturity dates through June 
30, 2022, and interest rates of 1.250-5.500%. 

Federal National Mortgage Association:  $10,556,105 with various maturity dates through June 
30, 2022, and interest rates of 1.250-4.600%. 

Custodial Credit Risk 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The California Government Code 
and the District’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the 
exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other than the following provision for deposits:  The 
California Government Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by state or local 
governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository 
regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit).  The fair value of the pledged 
securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the total amount deposited by the public 
agencies.  California law also allows financial institutions to secure the District’s deposits by pledging 
first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits. 

 
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the District’s deposits with financial institutions in excess of federal 
depository insurance limits are legally required by the California Government Code, to collateralize 
the District’s deposits as noted above. 

 

 

Page 292 of 417



25 
 

 

DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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3.  CASH AND INVESTMENTS – Continued 
 

Fair Value Measurements 
 
The District categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. These principles recognize a three-tiered fair value 
hierarchy, as follows 
 

 Level 1: Investments reflect prices quoted in active markets; 
 Level 2: Investments reflect prices that are based on a similar observable asset either 

directly or indirectly, which may include inputs in markets that are not considered active;  
 Level 3: Investments reflect prices based upon unobservable sources. 

 
The District has the following recurring fair value measurements; 
 
As of June 30, 2018

Total

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs (Level 3)

Debt Securities

   Corporate Bonds 999,329$       999,329$           -$                    -$                 

   U.S. Government Agencies 24,864,624    24,864,624        

   U.S. Treasury Notes 30,015,893    30,015,893        

   Municipal Bonds 205,182         205,182              

Domestic Common Stock 740,670         740,670              

56,825,698$  56,825,698$      -$                    -$                 

As of June 30, 2017

Total

Quoted Prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

(Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs (Level 3)

Debt Securities

   Corporate Bonds 891,720$       891,720$           -$                    -$                 

   U.S. Government Agencies 26,678,586    26,678,586        

   U.S. Treasury Notes 28,664,630    28,664,630        

   Municipal Bonds 94,228            94,228                

Domestic Common Stock 725,807         725,807              

57,054,971$  57,054,971$      -$                    -$                 

Investments by fair value

Fair Value Measurement Using

Fair Value Measurement Using

Investments by fair value
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS  
 
Business-Type Activities  
 
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the capital assets of the business-type activities consisted of the 
following: 

 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2017 Additions Deletions June 30, 2018

Non-depreciable assets
Land 3,988,650$    -$              -$         3,988,650$    
   Total non-depreciable assets 3,988,650                                              3,988,650      

Depreciable assets:
Buildings and improvements 17,779,595    228,320        (51,934)   17,955,981    
Furniture and equipment 171,623         4,923             176,546         

Total 17,951,218    233,243        (51,934)   18,132,527    

Less accumulated depreciation (9,147,084)    (643,863)       51,934     (9,739,013)    

   Total depreciable assets, net 8,804,134      (410,620)                        8,393,514      

   Total Capital Assets, Net 12,792,784$ (410,620)$    -$         12,382,164$ 

June 30, 2018

 

Balance Balance
July 1, 2016 Additions Deletions June 30, 2017

Non-depreciable assets
Land 3,988,650$    -$              -$         3,988,650$    
   Total non-depreciable assets 3,988,650                                              3,988,650      

Depreciable assets:
Buildings and improvements 17,777,623    1,972                              17,779,595    
Furniture and equipment 170,189         2,957             (1,523)      171,623         

Total 17,947,812    4,929             (1,523)      17,951,218    

Less accumulated depreciation (8,514,981)    (632,916)       813          (9,147,084)    

   Total depreciable assets, net 9,432,831      (627,987)       (710)         8,804,134      

   Total Capital Assets, Net 13,421,481$ (627,987)$    (710)$       12,792,784$ 

June 30, 2017
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5. RESTRICTED NET POSITION 
 

The District had $1,000,000 of restricted net position at June 30, 2017 consisting of a contribution 
received during the June 30, 2012 year restricted to pulmonary research and rehabilitation and/or for 
the purchase and/or construction of facilities used for these purposes.  The $1,000,000 was contributed 
during the current fiscal year, to the Foundation, for similar use.  The balance of restricted net position 
at June 30, 2018 is $0. 

 
6.  SPLIT INTEREST AGREEMENTS – FOUNDATION 
 

At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the split interest agreements of the fiduciary fund consisted of the 
following: 

 2018  2017 
Contributions receivable - charitable remainder trusts $  188,929  $  185,939
Assets held in charitable remainder trust -    86,207
      Total $  188,929  $  272,146
    

Charitable Remainder Trusts 
 
The Foundation was named trustee in one charitable remainder unitrust in which the trustee has a 
fiduciary responsibility to maintain and invest the trust assets prudently. 

 
Trust 1 (dated April 12, 1989): Upon the death of the donor, 100% of the principal and income of the 
trust that is not required to have been distributed to the life beneficiary shall become the property of 
the Foundation.  The donor passed away on May 30, 2015.  The Foundation may use these assets for 
general purposes, as outlined in the trust agreement.  

 
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the estimated fair value of the trust was approximately $0 and $86,207, 
respectively.  

 
The Foundation was named beneficiary to two additional charitable remainder unitrusts (whose 
trustees are someone other than the Foundation), all of which are recorded at fair market value. The 
general terms of the two trusts are as follows: 
 
Trust 4 (dated October 3, 1989): The lesser of the trust income or 8% of the net fair market value of 
trust assets is to be distributed to the life beneficiary annually. Upon the death of the life beneficiary, 
50% of the principal and income not required to have been distributed to the life beneficiary shall 
become the property of the Foundation, to be used for cancer treatment, or for general purposes if a 
cure for cancer has been found. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, which is the most current 
information available, the estimated present value of future cash flows was $122,540 and $119,011, 
respectively. 
 
Trust 7 (dated May 17, 1990): 8.5% of the net fair market value of trust assets is to be distributed to 
the life beneficiary annually. Upon the death of the life beneficiary, all of the principal and income not 
required to have been distributed to the life beneficiary shall become the property of the Foundation, 
to be used for general purposes. The estimated present value of future cash flows at June 30, 2018 and 
2017 was $66,389 and $66,928, respectively. 
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7. GRANTS 
 

The District has granted awards to various healthcare providers that provide needed healthcare 
services. Awards not fully funded in the current fiscal year are carried over to the subsequent fiscal 
year. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the total grant awards payable were $11,654,099 and $12,449,038, 
respectively. Total grant expense for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 amounted to 
$5,076,039 and $3,453,749, respectively. 

 
The Foundation has granted awards to various healthcare providers that provide needed healthcare 
services. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the total grant awards payable were $4,821,167 and $417,292, 
respectively. Total grants and services expense for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 amounted 
to $5,314,610 and $60,590, respectively. 

 
 
8. LONG-TERM DISABILITY CLAIMS RESERVE 

 
Long-term disability claims were self-insured by the Corporation. Claimants’ payments are 
administered internally and made pursuant to the plan. Claimants are paid either to age 65 or until they 
return to work. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the long-term disability claims reserves were as follows: 
 
          

Balance at Claims Changes in Balance at Due Within
July 1, 2017 Paid Estimates June 30, 2018 One Year

Claims payable 77,018$              (14,803)$            4,331$               66,546$              14,803$             

Balance at Claims Changes in Balance at Due Within
July 1, 2016 Paid Estimates June 30, 2017 One Year

Claims payable 86,881$              (14,803)$            4,940$               77,018$              14,803$             
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9.  POSTEMPLOYMENT (HEALTH INSURANCE) BENEFITS 

 
A. General Information about the OPEB Plan  
 
Plan Description – The District’s defined benefit OPEB plan, provides OPEB for the three retired 
Board of Directors of the District. The plan is a single employer defined benefit OPEB plan 
administered by the District.  No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 
of Statement 75.  
 
Benefits Provided – Following is a description of the current retiree benefit plan: 

  
 Board Members 
 Benefit types provided Medical and dental 
 Duration of benefits Lifetime 
 Dependent coverage Yes 
 District contribution % 100% 
 District cap None 

 
Employees Covered by Benefit Terms – At June 30, 2018, the following employees were covered by 
the benefit terms: 
  
 Inactive employees receiving benefits 3 
 Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits payments 0 
 Active employees 0 
 
B. Total OPEB Liability  

The District’s total OPEB liability of $108,687 was measured as of June 30, 2017 and was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  

Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs – The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2017 actuarial 
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to 
all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

 
Inflation  2.75 percent  
Investment return/discount rate 3.50 percent net of expenses.  Based on the Bond 
Buyer 20 Bond Index 
Healthcare cost trend rates  4.00 percent 
Payroll increase 2.75 percent  
The mortality assumptions are based on the 2009 CalPERS Mortality for Retired 
Miscellaneous Employees table created by CalPERS. CalPERS periodically studies 
mortality for participating agencies and establishes mortality tables that are modified 
versions of commonly used tables. This table incorporates mortality projection as deemed 
appropriate based on CalPERS analysis.  
Cost for retiree coverage are based on actual employer contribution. Liabilities for 
active participants are based on the first year costs. Subsequent years’ costs are based on 
first year costs adjusted for trend and limited by any District contribution caps. 
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9.  POSTEMPLOYMENT (HEALTH INSURANCE) BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 

C. Changes in the Total OPEB Liability  
 
Balance at June 30, 2017  $ 127,217 
 Changes for the fiscal year  

Service cost  - 
Interest  4,057 
Changes of benefit terms  - 
Differences between expected and actual experience  - 
Changes in assumptions or other inputs  - 
Benefit payments   (22,587) 

Net changes  (18,530) 
Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 108,687 

  
No plan assets at June 30, 2018 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – The following presents 
the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total OPEB liability would be 
if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point 
higher than the current discount rate: 
  
 Discount Rate  Valuation  Discount Rate 
 1% Lower Discount Rate 1% Higher 
Net OPEB liability $111,842 $108,687 $105,727 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates – The 
following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District’s total 
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1 
percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rate: 
  
 Trend  Valuation  Trend 
 1% Lower Trend 1% Higher 
Net OPEB liability $105,713 $108,687 $111,796 
 

D. OPEB Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB  
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the District recognized OPEB expense of $4,057. At June  
30, 2017, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 Deferred Outflows 
  Of Resources  
Benefit payments subsequent to measurement date $ 22,144   
 
There were no amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expenses in the future. 
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10.  INSURANCE 
 

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of 
assets; error and omissions; and natural disasters for which the District carries commercial insurance. 
The District purchases commercial insurance to cover the risk of loss for property, business liability, 
and medical payments. 

 
11.  RENTAL INCOME 
 

The District rents commercial office suites subject to lease terms ranging from three to five years. 
Rental income includes the base monthly rental payments plus the common area maintenance fee. 
Rental income consisted of the following for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017: 

                    
The five year fiscal year minimum rental schedule follows: 

                 

 
 
12.  COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENCIES  
 

Earthquake Retrofit  
Senate Bill 1953 imposes certain requirements that acute care hospitals would be required to meet 
within a specified time. These requirements include conducting seismic evaluations. The deadline was 
extended to January 1, 2030. After January 1, 2030, all hospitals must be determined to be in 
compliance. 

 
  

Base rent $ 798,450 $ 854,111
Common area maintenance 314,791 324,374

     Total Rental Income $ 1,113,241 $ 1,178,485

2018 2017

Base rent $ 858,530 $ 706,523 $ 660,092 $ 671,862 $ 545,255
Common area maintenance 339,641 276,188 252,385 249,210 199,673

2021 2022 20232019 2020
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 
13. DESERT HOSPITAL RETIREMENT PROTECTION PLAN  
 

Effective July 1, 1971, Desert Hospital Corporation (Corporation) established a defined benefit 
pension plan (Plan) covering eligible employees of Desert Hospital. The Corporation was dissolved 
as of May 31, 1997 and the Plan has been frozen as of that date. The Desert Healthcare District (the 
"District") has assumed sponsorship of the Plan.  Refer to the Plan’s separate financial statements for 
more detailed information. 
 
Vesting 
All participants of the Plan have been 100% vested since May 31, 1997. 
 
Account Balances  
All participants of the Plan are eligible to request a distribution or rollover of their account balance 
upon retirement or termination of their employment from Desert Regional Medical Center. 

 
Contributions  
There have been no contribution requirements by the District since May 31, 1997. Participant 
contributions to the Plan are not permitted.  In the most recent actuarial valuation (dated as of June 
30, 2018), the Plan's independent actuary determined that the actuarial value of the Plan's net pension 
liability was $3,277,793 at June 30, 2018 and $2,883,995 at June 30, 2017.  In the report it was 
recommended that an actuarially determined contribution of $288,378 as of June 30, 2018 and 
$928,460 as of June 30, 2017, should be made. The District's board of directors elected not to fund 
the Plan during 2018.  The plan was funded in the amount of $3,400,000 during 2017. 
 
Administration and Trustee  
The Plan is administered by the District's Finance and Administrative Committee (the Committee). 
The Committee is selected by the District's board of directors. All administrative expenses are paid by 
the Plan or at the discretion of the District. 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the District entered into a trust agreement with US Bank N.A. to 
provide for the investment, reinvestment, administration and distribution of contributions made under 
the Plan. 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 
13. DESERT HOSPITAL RETIREMENT PROTECTION PLAN – Continued 
 

Schedule of Funding Progress  
 

 
No actuarial report or estimation using actuarial methodology was prepared for June 30, 2012, 
2010, and 2007. 
  
 

14. 401(K) RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
The District converted from a 401(k) retirement plan to a 457(B) and 401(A) retirement plans. A 
457(B) (employee contribution) and 401(A) (employer contribution) retirement plans were determined 
to be more appropriate for a governmental agency. The 401(K) plan was terminated during the fiscal 
year and the 457(B) and 401(A) retirement plans became effective October 1, 2014.   
 
The District contributes a dollar for dollar match for the first 4% of employee salary deferral and two 
dollars match for each additional dollar of the next 2% of employee salary deferral. The District's 
match contribution for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 were $55,242 and $39,173, 
respectively.

Actuarial UAAL 
Actuarial Accrued Unfunded as a % of 

Actuarial Value of Liability AAL Funded Covered Covered 
Valuation Assets (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
Date (1) (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) ( c) ((b-a)/c)

6/30/2006 5,236,383$   9,566,663$   (4,330,280)$ 55% N/A N/A
6/30/2007 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
6/30/2008 4,552,074     9,312,581     (4,760,507)   49% N/A N/A
6/30/2009 3,351,366     9,141,403     (5,790,037)   37% N/A N/A
6/30/2010 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
6/30/2011 3,522,125     7,921,342     (4,399,217)   45% N/A N/A
6/30/2012 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
6/30/2013 2,797,614     7,357,700     (4,560,086)   38% N/A N/A
6/30/2014 2,656,607     10,603,012   7,946,405     25% N/A N/A
6/30/2015 2,405,256     10,149,205   7,743,949     24% N/A N/A
6/30/2016 1,924,238     11,568,940   9,644,702     17% N/A N/A
6/30/2017 5,344,173     8,219,294     2,875,121     65% N/A N/A
6/30/2018 5,189,834     8,467,627     3,277,793     61% N/A N/A
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018  
 
15.  PENSION PLAN 
 

General Information about the Desert Hospital Retirement Protection Plan (Plan) Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description 
The Plan was originally established in 1971 as a defined benefit plan covering all eligible employees of 
Desert Hospital. The plan has been frozen since May 31, 1997. 
 
Employees Covered 
At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

 
Contributions 
There have been no contribution requirements by the District since May 31, 1997.  Participant 
contributions to the Plan are not permitted. 
 
Net Pension Liability 
 
The District’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the total pension liability, less the 
pension plan’s fiduciary net position. A summary of principal assumptions and methods used to 
determine the net pension liability is shown below. 

 
Actuarial Assumptions 
The total pension liability in the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuations were determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions: 
 

 

2018 2017

Inactive plan members if beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 16 16
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 60 60
Active plan members 141 141
                  Total Employees Covered 217 217

Miscellaneous

Inflation 2.75%
Discount rate 4.70%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation.
Measurement date June 30, 2018, based on a valuation date of June 30, 2017.
Ad hoc cost-of-living increases Not applicable
Mortality Pre-Retirement: None      Post-Retirement: 2017 Annuitant Mortality Table
Experience study Given the size of the plan, there is not enough data available to conduct a credible 

experience study.  The assumptions are not anticipated to produce significant 
cumulative actuarial gains or losses over time.  The liabilities and data are analyzed  

each year in order to identify any trends of experience deviating from the actuarial 
assumptions. The plan is frozen to new participants and benefit accruals.

Retirement 100% retirement at age 65.
Termination Participants* are assumed to work for the Desert Regional Medical Center operated 

by Tenet Health System Desert, Inc. until Normal Retirement Age.
Other assumptions See actuarial assumptions provided in the June 30, 2017 funding valuation for

other relevant assumptions.

* Former Desert Hospital employees employed with Tenet Health System Desert, Inc.
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15.  PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
Net Pension Liability (Continued)  
       
Discount Rate 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 4.70 percent. To determine whether 
the municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of a discount rate for each plan, the Plan 
stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that would be different from the 
actuarially assumed discount rate. Based on the testing, none of the tested plans run out of assets. 
Therefore, the current 4.70 percent discount rate is adequate and the use of the municipal bond rate 
calculation is not necessary. The long-term expected discount rate of 4.82 percent is applied to all 
plans in the Plan. The stress test results are presented in a detailed report called “GASB Crossover 
Testing Report” that can be obtained at the Districts’ website under the GASB 68 section.  

 
According to Paragraph 30 of Statement 68, the long-term discount rate should be determined 
without reduction for pension plan administrative expense. The 4.70 percent investment return 
assumption used in this accounting valuation is net of administrative expenses. Administrative 
expenses are assumed to be 15 basis points. An investment return excluding administrative expenses 
would have been 4.85 percent. Using this lower discount rate has resulted in a slightly higher total 
pension liability and net pension liability. The Plan checked the materiality threshold for the 
difference in calculation and did not find it to be a material difference.  
 
The Plan expects to continue using a discount rate net of administrative expenses for GASB 67 and 
68 calculations through the 2017-18 fiscal year. The Plan will continue to check the materiality of the 
difference in calculation until such time as they have changed their methodology. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
Plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.  
 
In determining the long-term expected rate of return, staff took into account both short-term and 
long-term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Such cash 
flows were developed assuming that both members and employers will make their required 
contributions on time and as scheduled in all future years. Using historical returns of all the funds’ 
asset classes, expected compound (geometric) returns were calculated over the long-term (11-60 
years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both short-term and 
long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. The expected rate of return was 
set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at the same present value of 
benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-term returns. The 
expected rate of return was then set equivalent to the single equivalent rate calculated above and 
rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent 
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15.  PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 

Net Pension Liability (Continued) 
 

Expected Rate of Return 
The table below reflects long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset 
allocation. These geometric rates of return are net of administrative expenses. 

 
 

Asset Class 
 

Target 
Allocation

Long-term 
expected real 
rate of return 

Domestic fixed income securities 36.0% 2.50% 

Domestic equities 45.0 5.50 

International equities 15.0 6.50 

International Fixed Income Securities 2.0 2.50 

Cash 2.0 0.00 

 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 
The changes in the Net Pension Liability for the Plan follows: 

 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Liability Net Position Liability/(Asset)

(a) (b) (c) = (a) - (b)
Balance, June 30, 2017 (VD) 8,219,294$       5,344,173$       2,875,121$       
Changes in Recognized for the Measurement Period:
    Employer Contributions

    Interest on the Total Pension Liability 399,298               399,298               

    Differences between Expected and Actual Experience
    Changes in Assumptions 315,705               315,705               
    Net Investment Income ** 347,969               (347,969)              
    Benefit Payments, including Refunds of 
          Employee Contributions (466,670)              (466,670)              -                            
    Administrative Expenses (35,638)                35,638                 
Net Changes during 2017-18 248,333               (154,339)              402,672               
Balance, June 30, 2018 (MD) * 8,467,627$       5,189,834$       3,277,793$       

* The fiduciary net position includes receivables for employee service buybacks, deficiency reserves, fiduciary
self-insurance and OPEB expenses.  This may differ from the plan assets reported in the funding actuarial
valuation report.
** Net of administrative expenses.

Increase (Decrease)
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15.  PENSION PLAN (Continued) 

 
Changes in the Plan’s Net Pension Liability 
 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
The following presents the net pension liability/(asset) of the Plan as of the measurement date, calculated 
using the discount rate of 4.70 percent, as well as what the net pension liability/(asset) would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage-point lower (3.70 percent) or 1 percentage-point 
higher (5.70 percent) than the current rate: 
 

 
Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
financial reports. 
 
The Plan’s Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the District recognized pension expense of $(440,510).  At June 
30, 2018, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be 
recognized in future pension expense as follows: 
 

 

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase 
(3.70%) Rate (4.70%) (5.70%)

Net pension liability 4,568,608$       3,277,793$       2,217,791$       

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience -$                  (523,443)$       
Net differnces between projected and actual 
     earnings on pension plan investments 1,014,623         (1,426,081)       
Changes in assumptions 43,219              (272,666)           
          Total 1,057,842$     (2,222,190)$    

Deferred
Fiscal Year Outflows (Inflows)

Ended June 30, of Resources
2019 (620,794)$            
2020 (519,151)                 
2021 (5,741)                      
2022 (18,662)                   

Total (1,164,348)$         
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16.  PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 
 

Prior period adjustments in the amount of $9,380 are due to implementation of GASB statement No. 
75 OPEB liabilities. 
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DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 
JUNE 30, 2018 

 
 
 

Prepared for the Desert Healthcare District, a Single-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan as of 
June 30, 2018 
 
Note 1 – Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios – Last 10 Years* 
 

2018 2017 2016 2015
Measurement Period 2017-2018 2016-2017 2014-2015 2013-2014
Total Pension Liability
Interest on total pension liability 399,298$             321,990$             397,980$             418,035$             
Differences between expected and actual experience (437,093)              (493,455)              (537,276)              
Changes in assumptions 315,705               (2,852,163)          1,944,607            
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee
    contributions (466,670)              (382,380)              (459,397)              (304,566)              
Net change in total pension liability 248,333               (3,349,646)          1,389,735            (423,807)              
Total pension liability - beginning 8,219,294            11,568,940          10,179,205          10,603,012          
Total pension liability - ending (a) 8,467,627            8,219,294            11,568,940          10,179,205          

Plan fiduciary net position 
Employer contributions 3,400,000            
Net investment income 347,969               426,828               (6,638)                  71,101                 
Benefit payments (466,670)              (382,380)              (459,397)              (304,566)              
Administrative expenses (35,638)                (24,513)                (14,983)                (17,886)                
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (154,339)              3,419,935            (481,018)              (251,351)              
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 5,344,173            1,924,238            2,405,256            2,656,607            
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 5,189,834            5,344,173            1,924,238            2,405,256            

Net pension liability - ending (a) - (b) 3,277,793$          2,875,121$          9,644,702$          7,773,949$          

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
   total pension liability 61.29% 65.02% 16.63% 23.63%

Covered - employee payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered - 
   employee payroll N/A N/A N/A N/A

 
 
Notes to Schedule 
 
Changes in Assumptions: 

2017 to 2018 Investment rate of return, including inflation, and net of investment expenses changed from 5.00 % to 4.70%. 
 
2017 to 2018 Discount Rate changed from 5.00% to 4.70%. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
*Fiscal year 2015 was the first year of implementation, therefore only four years are shown. 

Page 308 of 417



40 
 

 
DESERT HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
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Note 2 – Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios – Last 10 Fiscal Years* 
 

 
*Fiscal year 2018 was the first year of implementation, therefore only one year is shown. 
 

Measurement period 6/30/2017

Total OPEB Liability
Services Cost -$                
Interest on the Total Pension Liability 4,057              
Benefit Payments (22,587)         
Net Change in Total Pension Liability (18,530)           
Total OPEB Liability - Beginning 127,217           
Total OPEB Liability - Ending (a) 108,687$         

Plan Fiduciary Net Position
Contribution from the Employer 22,587$           
Net investment income -                  
Benefit Payments (22,587)           
Administrative Expenses -                  
Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position -                  
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning -                  
Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Ending (b) -$                

Net OPEB Liability - Ending (a)-(b) 108,687$         

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of 
the Total OPEB Liability 0.00%

Covered - Employee Payroll N/A

Net OPEB Liability as Percentage of Covered-
Employee Payroll N/A

Notes to Schedule:

Changes of Assumption: There were no changes of assumption
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Board of Directors 
Desert Healthcare District 
Palm Springs, California 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Desert Hospital Retirement Protection 
Plan (the Plan) which comprise the statements of fiduciary net position as of June 30, 2018 and the 
related statement of changes in fiduciary net position for the fiscal year then ended, and the related 
notes to the financial statements.  
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards accepted in the United 
States of America, and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Plan's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design  
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
 
Basis for Qualified Opinion 
 
Due to the Plan's status as a "frozen plan" as of May 31, 1997 (Note 1), certain disclosures and 
supplemental schedules required for the financial statements to be in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America are not included in the 
accompanying financial statements. 
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Qualified Opinion 
 
In our opinion, except for the omission of the information discussed in the preceding paragraph, the 
financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the fiduciary net 
position of the Plan as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in fiduciary net position for the fiscal year 
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Other Report Required by Government Auditing Standards  
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 1, 
2018 on our consideration of the Plan’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
compliance with laws and regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The 
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not provide an opinion on internal 
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Plan’s internal 
control over financial reporting.  
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require the Schedule of 
Funding Progress be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such information, although 
not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of the financial statements, for placing the financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. We have applied certain 
limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on the information because limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance.  
 
Report on Comparative Summarized Information 
 
We have previously audited the Plan’s 2017 financial statements, and our report dated October 5, 
2017 expressed a qualified opinion on those audited financial statements. In our opinion, the 
summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2017, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has 
been derived. 

 
 
Moss, Levy & Hartzheim, LLP 
Culver City, California 
October 1, 2018 
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DESERT HOSPITAL RETIREMENT PROTECTION PLAN 
 

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

2018 2017

Cash 47,112$         64,991$         

Investments, at fair value
U.S. Government securities 947,425        755,911         
Corporate equity securities 377,175        462,385         
Corporate debt securities 899,038        927,457         
Mutual funds 2,911,510     3,121,560       

Total investments 5,135,148     5,267,313       

Interest and dividends receivable 16,220          11,869           

Accrued trustee fees 8,645            8,874             

NET POSITION RESTRICTED FOR PENSION

Net position restricted for pension 5,189,835$    5,335,299$     

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements) 
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DESERT HOSPITAL RETIREMENT PROTECTION PLAN 
 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 
 

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 
 
 

2018 2017
ADDITIONS:

Contributions -$                3,400,000$      
Investment income:

Net appreciation in fair value of Plan assets 226,431           347,913           
Interest, dividends, and other investment income 130,184           78,916             

Net income 356,615           3,826,829        

DEDUCTIONS:

Distributions of benefits  466,670           382,380           
Administrative expenses 35,409             33,388             

Total deductions 502,079           415,768           

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION (145,464)          3,411,061        

NET POSITION RESTRICTED FOR PENSION:

BEGINNING OF THE FISCAL YEAR 5,335,299        1,924,238        

END OF THE FISCAL YEAR 5,189,835$      5,335,299$      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements) 
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DESERT HOSPITAL RETIREMENT PROTECTION PLAN 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

 
1.   PLAN STATUS  
 

From June 1986 to May 1997, the Desert Hospital Corporation (the Corporation), a 
California not for profit public benefit corporation, operated Desert Hospital under a lease 
agreement with the Desert Healthcare District (the District). The District is a hospital district 
under California law, created under California's Health and Safety Code. 
 
On May 31, 1997, after the Corporation and the District discontinued their lease agreement 
for the operation of Desert Hospital, the Corporation dissolved, and the District entered 
into a lease agreement with Tenent Health System Desert, Inc., concerning the operation of 
Desert Hospital, which is now known as Desert Regional Medical Center. As part of the 
dissolution process, the Corporation transferred certain assets and liabilities to the District, 
and the District assumed sponsorship of the Desert Hospital Retirement Protection Plan 
(the Plan). The Plan has been frozen since May 31, 1997. 
 
The District is a political subdivision of the State of California, as identified in section 
4021(b)(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Savings Act (ERISA). Accordingly, the 
Plan is excluded from coverage under section 4021(b)(2) of ERISA. 
 
A final Form 5500 was filed for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998. 
 
The Plan has reported to the California State Controller’s Office beginning with the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 1999. 

 
2.  PLAN DESCRIPTION  

 
General  
 
As discussed in Note 1 above, the Plan has been frozen since May 31, 1997. The Plan was 
originally established in 1971 as a defined benefit plan covering all eligible employees of 
Desert Hospital. 
 
Vesting 
 
All participants of the Plan have been 100% vested since May 31, 1997.  
 
Account Balances  
 
All participants of the Plan are eligible to request a distribution or rollover of their account 
balance upon retirement or termination of their employment from Desert Regional Medical 
Center. 
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DESERT HOSPITAL RETIREMENT PROTECTION PLAN  

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018  

 
2.    PLAN DESCRIPTION (Continued)   
 
 Contributions 
 

There have been no contribution requirements by the District since May 31, 1997. Participant 
contributions to the Plan are not permitted. The most recent actuarial valuation as of June 30, 
2018 by the Plan's independent actuary determined that the actuarial value of the Plan's net 
pension liability was $3,277,793 at June 30, 2018 and $2,875,121 at June 30, 2017 and 
recommended to the District an actuarially determined contribution of $288,378 as of June 30, 
2018 and $928,460 as of June 30, 2017. 
 
Administration and Trustee  
 
The Plan is administered by the District's Finance and Administrative Committee (the 
Committee). The Committee is selected by the District's board of directors. All administrative 
expenses are paid by the Plan or at the discretion of the District. 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, the District entered into a trust agreement with U.S. Bank N. A. to 
provide for the investment, reinvestment, administration and distribution of contributions made under 
the Plan. 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In that respect, the statements are presented on an 
accrual basis. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of the Plan's financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and changes therein, and 
when applicable, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. Management believes that the estimates are reasonable. 
 

 Federal Income Taxes  
 

The Committee obtained an updated determination letter in March 2007 from the Internal 
Revenue Service stating that the Plan and its amendments are exempt from Federal income taxes 
under section 410(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the IRC) as a qualified plan. Therefore, no 
provision for income taxes has been provided in the Plan's financial statements. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018  
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)  
 

 Reporting 
 
Due to the Plan's status as a "Frozen Plan", certain disclosures and supplemental schedules have been 
omitted from the accompanying financial statements. 
 

4.  CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 

Cash and securities held in the investment portfolio are in the custody of U.S. Bank, N.A., the 
Plan's trustee. State statute and Board policies allow investments consisting of government, 
corporate and international bonds, domestic and international equities, mutual funds and other 
investments. 
 
Investments of the Plan are stated at fair value as confirmed by the trustee as of the date of the 
statement of plan net assets. 
 
The Plan's investments are categorized below: 

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Cash 47,112$      47,112$      64,991$      64,991$      

Investments
U.S. Government securities 973,848      947,425      756,073      755,911      
Corporate equity securities 307,499      377,175      418,008      462,385      
Corporate debt securities 929,318      899,038      929,318      927,457      
Mutual funds 2,494,392    2,911,510    2,800,692    3,121,560    

   Investments total 4,705,057    5,135,148    4,904,091    5,267,313    

Total cash and investments 4,752,169$  5,182,260$  4,969,082$  5,332,304$  

20172018

Investment Type

 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment.  Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair 
value to changes in the market interest rates.  One of the ways that the Plan manages its exposure to 
interest rate risk is by purchasing a combination of shorter term and longer term investments and by 
timing cash flows from maturities so that a portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming closer to 
maturity evenly over time as necessary to provide the cash flow and liquidity needed for distributions. 
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4.  CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 

 
Disclosures Relating to Interest Rate Risk (Continued) 

 
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Plan’s investments to market interest rate 
fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of the Plan’s investments by 
maturity: 

 
  As of June 30, 2018 

Carrying 12 Months 13 to 24 25-36 37-48 More than
Amount Or Less Months Months Months 49 Months

2,722,118$    2,722,118$    -$           -$         -$           -$            
Fixed Income Mutual Funds 189,392         189,392         
Corporate Bonds 899,038         99,863           99,376       300,808   149,646     249,345       
U.S. Government Agencies 648,935         1,170             49,344       598,421       
U.S. Treasury Note 298,490         50,017           49,578       49,500     49,434       99,961         
Foreign Stock 18,185           18,185           

358,990         358,990         
Total 5,135,148$    3,439,735$   148,954$  350,308$ 248,424$   947,727$    

Investment Type

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

Equity Based Mutual Funds

Domestic Common Stock

 
  As of June 30, 2017 

Carrying 12 Months 13 to 24 25-36 37-48 More than
Amount Or Less Months Months Months 49 Months

2,737,981$    2,737,981$    -$           -$         -$           -$             
Fixed Income Mutual Funds 383,579         383,579         
Corporate Bonds 927,457         100,940     101,605   310,242     414,670        
U.S. Government Agencies 553,136         1,199             4,232         547,705        
U.S. Treasury Note 202,775         50,494       50,359     50,971       50,951          
Foreign Stock 29,307           29,307           

433,078         433,078         
Total 5,267,313$    3,585,144$   155,666$  151,964$ 361,213$   1,013,326$  

Investment Type

Remaining Maturity (in Months)

Equity Based Mutual Funds

Domestic Common Stock
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4.  CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
 Disclosures Relating to Credit Risk 
 
 Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the 

holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of rating by a nationally recognized 
statistical rating organization. Presented below is the minimum rating required by the California 
Government Code and the Plan’s investment policy, and the actual rating as of fiscal year end for 
each investment type. 

 
 As of June 30, 2018: 

Investment Type
Carrying
Amount

Minimum
Legal 
Rating

Exempt From
Disclosure AAA AA A Not Rated

Equity Based Mutual Funds 2,722,118$  N/A -$             -$         -$         -$            2,722,118$  
Fixed Income Mutual Funds 189,392      N/A 189,392      
Corporate Bonds 899,038      A 350,225    548,813       
U.S. Government Agencies 648,935      A 648,935       
U.S. Treasury Note 298,490      N/A 298,490        
Foreign Stock 18,185        N/A 18,185        
Domestic Common Stock 358,990      N/A 358,990      

Total 5,135,148$  298,490$      -$         350,225$  1,197,748$  3,288,685$  

Rating as of Fiscal Year End

 
 
 As of June 30, 2017: 

Investment Type
Carrying
Amount

Minimum
Legal 
Rating

Exempt From
Disclosure AAA AA A Not Rated

Equity Based Mutual Funds 2,737,981$  N/A -$             -$         -$         -$            2,737,981$  
Fixed Income Mutual Funds 383,579      N/A 383,579      
Corporate Bonds 927,457      A 310,600    616,857      
U.S. Government Agencies 553,136      A 51,049     502,087      
U.S. Treasury Note 202,775      N/A 202,775        
Foreign Stock 29,307        N/A 29,307        
Domestic Common Stock 433,078      N/A 433,078      

Total 5,267,313$  202,775$      51,049$    310,600$  1,118,944$  3,583,945$  

Rating as of Fiscal Year End
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JUNE 30, 2018  

 
4.  CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
 Concentration of Credit Risk 

 
The investment policy of the Plan contains limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one 
issuer.  There are three investments at June 30, 2018 that represent 5% or more of total Plan 
investments. These investments are: 
 
             1,695 Shares of IShares S&P 500 Growth Etf valued at $275,624 
             3,245 Shares of IShares S&P 500 Value Etf valued at $357,372 
             4,615 Shares of IShares Msci Eafe Etf valued at $309,067 

 
There are six investments at June 30, 2017 that represent 5% or more of total Plan investments. These 
investments are: 
 

 
 
 
 Custodial Credit Risk 

 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  The California Government Code 
and the Plan’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the 
exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other than the following provision for deposits:   
 
As of June 30, 2018, there were no District deposits with financial institutions in excess of federal 
depository insurance limits. 
 
The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty 
(e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its 
investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party.  The California 
Government Code and the Plan’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that 
would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for investments.  With respect to investments, 
custodial credit risk generally applies only to direct investments in marketable securities.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4,375 Shares of IShares S&P 500 Growth ETF valued at $324,334. 
 3,100 Shares of IShares S&P 500 Value ETF valued at $325,376. 
 5,750 Shares of IShares Msci Eafe ETF valued at $374,900. 
 1,575 Shares of IShares Russell 2000 ETF valued at $221,949. 
 3,900 Shares of IShares Msci Eafe Value ETF valued at $201,630. 

 2,750 Shares of IShares Msci Eafe Growth ETF valued at $203,390 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2018 
 

4. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

Fair Value Measurements 
 

The Plan categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 
generally accepted accounting principles. These principles recognize a three-tiered fair value 
hierarchy, as follows 
 

 Level 1: Investments reflect prices quoted in active markets; 
 Level 2: Investments reflect prices that are based on a similar observable asset either directly 

or indirectly, which may include inputs in markets that are not considered active; and, 
 Level 3: Investments reflect prices based upon unobservable sources. 

 

The Plan has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2018: 
 

 
 

The Plan has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2017: 
 

 

Investment by fair value Total

Quoted prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets (Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs (Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs (Level 3)

Debt Securities
   US Government Issues 947,425$       298,490$          648,935$        -$                
   Corporate Issues 899,038         899,038          
   Mutual Funds- Equity 2,722,118       2,722,118         
   Mutual Funds- Fixed Income 189,392         189,392          
Domestic Common Stock 358,990         358,990            
Foreign Stock 18,185           18,185              

Total 5,135,148$     3,397,783$        1,737,365$      -$                

Fair Value Measurement Using

Investment by fair value Total

Quoted prices in 
Active Markets 

for Identical 
Assets (Level 1)

Significant 
Other 

Observable 
Inputs (Level 2)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs (Level 3)

Debt Securities
   US Government Issues 755,911$       755,911$          -$               -$                
   Corporate Issues 927,457         927,457          
   Mutual Funds- Equity 2,737,981       2,737,981         
   Mutual Funds- Fixed Income 383,579         383,579          
Domestic Common Stock 433,078         433,078            
Foreign Stock 29,307           29,307              

Total 5,267,313$     3,956,277$        1,311,036$      -$                

Fair Value Measurement Using
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JUNE 30, 2018  

 
5.  ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
 
 The total pension liability as of June 30, 2018 was determined using the following actuarial 
 assumptions:  
 
 

Inflation 2.75%
Discount rate 4.70%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation.
Measurement date June 30, 2018, based on a valuation date of June 30, 2017.
Ad hoc cost-of-living Not applicable
increases
Mortality Pre-Retirement: None      Post-Retirement: 2017 Annuitant Mortality Table
Experience study Given the size of the plan, there is not enough data available to conduct a credible 

experience study.  The assumptions are not anticipated to produce significant 
cumulative actuarial gains or losses over time.  The liabilities and data are analyzed  
each year in order to identify any trends of experience deviating from the actuarial 
assumptions. The plan is frozen to new participants and benefit accruals.

Retirement 100% retirement at age 65.
Termination Participants* are assumed to work for the Desert Regional Medical Center operated 

by Tenet Health System Desert, Inc. until Normal Retirement Age.
Other assumptions See actuarial assumptions provided in the June 30, 2017 funding valuation for

other relevant assumptions.

* Former Desert Hospital employees employed with Tenet Health System Desert, Inc.
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JUNE 30, 2018 

 
6. NET PENSION LIABILITY OF THE PLAN  
 
 Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios 
 
 
Total pension liability: 2018 2017
Service cost -$                  -$                  
Interest 399,298         321,990         
Changes of benefit terms 
Differences between expected and actual experience (437,093)        
Changes of assumptions 315,705         (2,852,163)     
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (466,670)        (382,380)        
Net change in total pension liability 248,333         (3,349,646)     

Total pension liability - beginning 8,219,294      11,568,940     
Total pension liability - ending (a) 8,467,627$     8,219,294$     

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer -$                  3,400,000$     
Net investment income 347,969         426,828         
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (466,670)        (382,380)        
Administrative expenses (35,638)          (24,513)          
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (154,339)        3,419,935      

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 5,344,173      1,924,238      
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) 5,189,834      5,344,173      

Net pension liability - ending (a) - (b) 3,277,793$     2,875,121$     

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension 61.29% 65.02%
liability

Covered - employee payroll N/A N/A

Net pension liability as percentage of covered - employee payroll N/A N/A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

JUNE 30, 2018  

 
6. NET PENSION LIABILITY OF THE PLAN (Continued) 
 
 Discount Rate and Net Pension Liability Sensitivity 
 
 1. Discount Rate  
 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 4.70%.  The projection 
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member 
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that contributions will be 
made at rates equal to the difference between the actuarially determined contribution 
rates and the member rate. Professional judgement on  future contributions has been 
applied in those cases where contribution patterns deviate from the actuarially 
determined rates. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position 
was projected to be depleted for current members during the 2037 fiscal year. Therefore, 
the long-term expected rate of return 6.82% was used to discount funded projected 
benefit payments and the municipal bond rate 3.50% was used to discount unfunded 
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The single effective 
discount rate was 4.70%.   

 
 2. Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
 

The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 
4.70%, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (3.70%) or 1-percentage-point higher 
(5.70%) than the current rate:      

 
 

 

1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase 
(3.70%) Rate (4.70%) (5.70%)

Net pension liability 4,568,608$      3,277,793$        2,217,791$      
 

 
 Summary 
 

Plan membership
The total pension liability was determined based on the plan
membership as of June 30, 2018 2017

Inactive plan members if beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 16 16
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 60 60
Active plan members* 141 141

217 217
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6. NET PENSION LIABILITY OF THE PLAN (Continued) 
 
 Summary (Continued) 
 

Net Pension Liability
The components of the net pension liability at June 30, 2018 2017

Total pension liability 8,467,627$     8,219,294$     
Plan fiduciary net position (5,189,834)      (5,344,173)      
Net pension liability 3,277,793$     2,875,121$     

Plan fiduciary net position as a % of the total pension liability 61.29% 65.02%

Actuarial Assumptions
The total pension liability was determined using the following
actuarial assumptions. 2018 2017

Inflation 2.75% 2.75%
Salary increases NA NA
Investment rate of return 6.82% 6.82%
Discount rate 4.70% 5.00%
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SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS  

JUNE 30, 2018  

 
 

Actuarial UAAL 
Actuarial Accrued Unfunded as a % of 

Actuarial Value of Liability AAL Funded Covered Covered 
Valuation Assets (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
Date (1) (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) ( c) ((b-a)/c)

6/30/2006 5,236,383$   9,566,663$ (4,330,280)$ 55% N/A N/A
6/30/2007 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
6/30/2008 4,552,074     9,312,581   (4,760,507)   49% N/A N/A
6/30/2009 3,351,366     9,141,403   (5,790,037)   37% N/A N/A
6/30/2010 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
6/30/2011 3,522,125     7,921,342   (4,399,217)   45% N/A N/A
6/30/2012 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
6/30/2013 2,797,614     7,357,700   (4,560,086)   38% N/A N/A
6/30/2014 2,656,607     10,603,012 7,946,405     25% N/A N/A
6/30/2015 2,405,256     10,149,205 7,743,949     24% N/A N/A
6/30/2016 1,924,238     11,568,940 9,644,702     17% N/A N/A
6/30/2017 5,344,173     8,219,294   2,875,121     65% N/A N/A
6/30/2018 5,189,834     8,467,627   3,277,793     61% N/A N/A

 
 
No actuarial report or estimation using actuarial methodology was prepared for June 30, 2012, 2010, 
and 2007. 
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Date: October 23, 2018 

 

To: Board of Directors 

 

Subject: Lease Agreement – Desert Family Medical Center 2W 203 

 
 

 

Staff recommendation: Consideration to approve the draft lease agreement for Desert 

Family Medical Center at the Las Palmas Medical Plaza. 

 

Background: 

• Desert Family Medical Center has been a long standing tenant of the Las Palmas 

Medical Plaza 

• Desert Family Medical Center would like to renew a 5 year lease with base rent of 

$1.74/sf. 

• Tenant Improvement of $15/sf ($22,200). 

• At the October 9, 2018 F&A Committee meeting, the Committee recommended 

forwarding to the Board for approval.  

• Staff recommends approval of the draft lease agreement  

• Draft lease agreement is attached for your review. 

 
Fiscal Impact: 

Estimated revenue from Rent and CAMs for life of the lease - $219,121 

 

Estimated cost of Tenant Improvement Allowance ($15.00/sf) - $22,200 
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OFFICE BUILDING LEASE 

 
This Lease between Desert Healthcare District, doing business as Las Palmas Medical Plaza hereinafter referred to 
as “Landlord”, and Erik G. Palmer, D.O., a Medical Corporation d.b.a. Desert Family Medical Center, referred to as 

“Tenant”, and is dated January 1, 2019. 
 
1. LEASE OF PREMISES. 
 
In consideration of the Rent (as defined at Section 5.4) and the provisions of this Lease, Landlord leases to Tenant and 
Tenant leases from Landlord the Premises described in Section 2L.  The Premises are located within the Building and 
Project described in Section 2m. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right (unless otherwise provided herein) in common 
with Landlord, other tenants, subtenants, and invitees, to use of the Common Areas (as defined at Section 2e). 
 
2. DEFINITIONS.   
 
As used in this Lease, the following terms shall have the following meanings: 
 

a. Base Rent (Initial):  $ __Thirty-Thousand Nine-Hundred Two & 40/100 (30,902.40) per year. 
 
b. Base Year:  The calendar year of ___January 1 to December 31 ______________________________________. 

 
c. Broker(s): 

 

  Landlord’s: N/A__________________________________________________________________________________________________. 
   
  Tenant’s: N/A___________________________________________________________________________________________________. 
 

In the event that N/A___________________________. represents both Landlord and Tenant, Landlord and 
Tenant hereby confirm that they were timely advised of the dual representation and that they consent to the 
same, and that they do not expect said broker to disclose to either of them the confidential information of the 
other party. 

 
d. Commencement Date:  _____January 1, 2019___________. 
 
e. Common Areas:  The building lobbies, common corridors and hallways, restrooms, parking areas, stairways, 

elevators and other generally understood public or common areas. Landlord shall have the right to regulate or 
restrict the use of the Common Areas. 

 
f. Expiration Date: ______________________________December 31, 2023__________________________, unless otherwise 

sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Lease. 
 

g. Landlord's Mailing Address: __1140 N. Indian Cayon Dr. Palm Springs, CA 92262__________________________________. 
 

 Tenant's Mailing Address: ____555 E. Tachevah Dr. 2W-203 Palm Springs, CA 92262     ___________________________.  
 

h. Monthly Installments of Base Rent (initial): $ _Two-Thousand, Five-Hundred Seventy-Five and 20/100 Dollars 
($2,575.20) per month. 

 
i. Project Operating Costs (CAMS): Currently   Sixty-two Cents ($.62)         per square foot per month. 

 
j. Tenant Improvement Allowance (TI): Fifteen Dollars ($15.00) per square foot or Twenty-Two Thousand two 

hundred & 00/100 Dollars ($22,200.00)_. 
 

k. Parking:  Tenant shall be permitted, to park ____7___ cars on a non-exclusive basis in the area(s) designated by 
Landlord for parking (for Staff - generally in the back of the parking area, perimeter streets, and Wellness Park 
parking lot). Tenant shall abide by any and all parking regulations and rules established from time to time by 
Landlord or Landlord's parking operator.  

 
l. Premises:  That portion of the Building containing approximately ____1480__  square feet of Rentable Area, located 

in Building __2W___ and known as Suite _203_____. 
 

m. Project:  The building of which the Premises are a part (the "Building") and any other buildings or improvements 
on the real property (the "Property") located at 555 E. Tachevah Drive, Palm Springs, California 92262. The 
Project is known as The Las Palmas Medical Plaza . 

 
n. Rentable Area:  As to both the Premises and the Project, the respective measurements of floor area as may from time 

to time be subject to lease by Tenant and all tenants of the Project, respectively, as determined by Landlord and 
applied on a consistent basis throughout the Project. 
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o. Security Deposit (Section 7): $ ___ Tenant will carry over from previous lease in the amount of Two-Thousand Four-

Hundred Forty-Two Dollars and 00/100 ($2,442.00). 
 

p. State:  the State of California. 
 

q. Tenant’s First Adjustment Date (Section 5):  The first day of the calendar month following the Commencement Date 
plus 12 months. 

 
r. Tenant’s Proportionate Share:  __3.00___%.  Such share is a fraction, the numerator of which is the Rentable Area of 

the Premises and the denominator of which is the Rentable Area of the Project, as determined by Landlord from 
time to time.  The Project consists of six building(s) containing a total Rentable Area of __49,356__  square feet. 

 
s. Tenant’s Use Clause (Article 8): General office use consistent with and use the City may allow under the City of 

Palm Springs zoning, subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval. 
 

t. Term:  The period commencing on the Commencement Date and expiring at midnight on the Expiration Date. 
 
3. EXHIBITS AND ADDENDA. 
 
The exhibits and addenda listed below (unless lined out) are incorporated by reference in this Lease: 

a. Exhibit “A” Rules and Regulations. 
b. Addenda* 

 
 *See Addendum attached hereto and by this reference made a part hereof. 
 
4. DELIVERY OF POSSESSION. 
 
If for any reason Landlord does not deliver possession of the Premises to Tenant on the commencement Date, Landlord 
shall not be subject to any liability for such failure, the Expiration Date shall not change and the validity of this Lease 
shall not be impaired, but Rent shall be abated until delivery of possession, “Delivery of possession” shall be deemed to 
occur on the date Landlord completes Landlord’s Work as defined in Addendum.  If Landlord permits Tenant to enter 
into possession of the Premises before the Commencement Date, such possession shall be subject to the provisions of this 
Lease, including, without limitation, the payment of Rent. 
 
5. RENT. 
 
5.1 Payment of Base Rent:  Tenant agrees to pay the base rent for the premises.  Monthly installments of Base Rent shall be 

payable in advance on the first day of each calendar month of the term.  If the term begins (or ends) on other than the 
first (or last) day of a calendar month, the Base Rent for the partial month shall be prorated on a per diem basis.  
Tenant shall pay Landlord the first Monthly Installment of Base Rent when Tenant executes the Lease. 

 
5.2 Adjusted Base Rent:  

a. The Base Rent (and the corresponding monthly installments of Base Rent) set forth at Section 2a shall be 
adjusted annually (the “Adjustment Date”), commencing on Tenant’s First Adjustment Date.   

b. Such adjustment shall be the greater of 3% over the preceding year or Consumer Price Index. 
c.  

 
5.3 Project Operating Costs(CAMs): 

a. In order that the Rent payable during the Term reflect Project Operating Costs, Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord 
as Rent, Tenant’s Proportionate Share of all costs, expenses and obligations attributable to the Project and its 
operation as set forth in 2i, all as provided below. 

  

b. If, during any calendar year during the Term, Project Operating Costs exceed the Project Operating Costs for the 
Base Year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, in addition to the Base Rent and all other payments due under this lease, 
an amount equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of such excess Project Operating Costs in accordance with the 
provisions of this Section 5.3b. 

 
(1.) The term “Project Operating Costs” shall include all those items described in the following subparagraphs (a) 

and (b). 
 

(a.) All taxes, assessments, water and sewer charges and other similar governmental charges levied on or 
attributable to the Building or Project or their operation, including without limitation, (i) real property 
taxes or assessments levied or assessed against the Building or Project, (ii) assessments or charges levied 
or assessed against the Building or Project by any redevelopment agency, (iii) any tax measured by gross 
rentals received from the leasing of the Premises, Building or Project, excluding any net income, franchise, 
capital stock, estate or inheritance taxes imposed by the State or federal government  or their agencies, 
branches or departments; provided that if at any time during the Term any governmental entity levies, 
assesses or imposes on Landlord any (1) general or special, ad valorem or specific, excise, capital levy or 
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other tax, assessment, levy or charge directly on the Rent received under this lease or on the rent received 
under any other leases of space in the Building or Project, or (2) and license fee, excise or franchise tax, 
assessment, levy or charge measured by or based, in whole or in part, upon such rent, or (3) any transfer, 
transactions, or similar tax, assessment, levy or charge based directly or indirectly upon the transaction 
represented by this Lease or such other leases, or (4) any occupancy, use, per capita or other tax, 
assessment, levy or charge based directly or indirectly upon the use or occupancy of the Premises or other 
premises within the Building or Project, then any such taxes, assessments, levies and charges shall be 
deemed to be included in the term Project Operation Costs.  If at any time during the Term the assessed 
valuation of, or taxes on, the Project are not based on a completed Project having at least eighty-five 
percent (85%) of the Rentable Area occupied, then the “taxes” component of Project Operating Costs 
shall be adjusted by Landlord to reasonably Approximate the taxes, which would have been payable if 
the Project were completed and at least eighty-five percent (85%) occupied. 

 
(b.) Operating costs incurred by Landlord in maintaining and operating the Building and Project, including 

without limitation the following:  costs of (1) utilities; (2) supplies; (3) insurance (including public 
liability, property damage, earthquake, and fire and extended coverage insurance for the full replacement 
cost of the Building and Project as required by Landlord or its lenders for the Project; (4) services of 
independent contractors; (5) compensation (including employment taxes and fringe benefits) of all 
persons who perform duties connected with the operation, maintenance, repair or overhaul of the 
Building or Project, and equipment, improvements and facilities located within the Project, including 
without limitation engineers, janitors, painters, floor waxers, window washers, security and parking 
personnel and gardeners (but excluding persons performing services not uniformly available to or 
performed for substantially all Building or Project tenant); (6) operation and maintenance of a room for 
delivery and distribution of mail to tenants of the Building or Project as required by the U.S. Postal 
Service (including, without limitation, an amount equal to the fair market rental value of the mail room 
premises); (7) management of the Building or Project, whether managed by Landlord or an independent 
contractor (including, without limitation, an amount equal to the fair market value of any on-site 
manager’s office); (8) rental expenses for (or a reasonable depreciation allowance on) personal property 
used in the maintenance, operation or repair of the Building or Project; (9) costs, expenditures or charges 
(whether capitalized or not) required by any governmental or quasi-governmental authority; (10) 
amortization of capital expenses (including financing costs) (i) required by a governmental entity for 
energy conservation or life safety purposes, or (ii) made by landlord to reduce Project Operating Costs; 
and (11) any other costs or expenses incurred by Landlord under this Lease and not otherwise reimbursed 
by tenants of the Project. If at any time during the Term, less than eighty-five percent (85%) of the 
Rentable Area of the Project is occupied, the “operating costs” component of Project Operating Costs 
shall be adjusted by Landlord to reasonably approximate the operating costs which would have been 
incurred if the Project had been at least eighty-five percent (85%) occupied. 

 
  (2.)  Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Project Operating Costs shall be payable by Tenant to Landlord as follows: 

 
(a.) Beginning with the calendar year following the Base Year and for each calendar year thereafter 

(“comparison Year”), Tenant shall pay Landlord an amount equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the 
Project Operating Costs incurred by Landlord in the Comparison Year which exceeds the total amount of 
Project Operating Costs payable by Landlord for the Base Year.  This excess is referred to as the “Excess 
Expenses.” 

 
(b.) To provide for current payments of Excess Expenses, Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, pay as 

additional rent during each Comparison Year, an amount equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the 
Excess Expenses payable during such Comparison Year, as estimated by Landlord from time to time.  
Such payments shall be made in monthly installments, commencing on the first day of the month 
following the month in which Landlord notifies Tenant of the amount it is to pay hereunder and 
continuing until the first day of the month following the month in which Landlord gives Tenant a new 
notice of estimated Excess Expenses.  It is the intention hereunder to estimate from time to time the 
amount of the Excess Expense for each Comparison Year and Tenant’s Proportionate Share thereof, and 
then to make an adjustment in the following year based on the actual Excess Expenses incurred for that 
Comparison Year. 

 
(c.) On or before April 1 of each Comparison Year after the first Comparison Year (or as soon thereafter as is 

practical), Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a statement setting forth Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the 
Excess Expenses for the preceding Comparison Year.  If Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the actual 
Excess Expenses for the previous Comparison Year exceeds the total of the estimated monthly payments 
made by Tenant for such year, Tenant shall pay Landlord the amount of the deficiency within ten (10) 
days of the receipt of the statement.  If such total exceeds Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the actual 
Excess Expenses for such Comparison Year, then Landlord shall credit against Tenant’s next ensuing 
monthly installment(s) of additional rent an amount equal to the difference until the credit is exhausted.  
If the credit is due from Landlord on the Expiration Date, Landlord shall pay Tenant the amount of the 
credit.  The obligations of Tenant and Landlord to make payments required under this Section 5.3 shall 
survive the Expiration Date. 
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(d.) Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Excess Expenses in any Comparison Year having less than 365 days shall 
be appropriately prorated. 

 
(e.) If any dispute arises as to the amount of any additional rent due hereunder, Tenant shall have the right 

after reasonable notice and at reasonable times to inspect Landlord’s accounting records at Landlord’s 
accounting office and, if after such inspection Tenant still disputes the amount of additional rent owed, a 
certification as to the proper amount shall be made by Landlord’s certified public accountant, which 
certification shall be final and conclusive.  Tenant agrees to pay the cost of such certification unless it is 
determined that Landlord’s original statement overstated Project Operating Costs by more than five 
percent (5%). 

 
(f.) If this Lease sets forth an Expense Stop at Section 2f, then during the Term, Tenant shall be liable for 

Tenant’s Proportionare Share of any actual Project Operating Costs which exceed the amount of the 
Expense Stop. Tenant shall make current payments of such excess costs during the Term in the same 
manner as is provided for payment of Excess Expenses under the applicable provisions of Section 
5.3(2)(b) and (c) above. 

 
5.4 Definition of Rent: The Rent shall be paid to the Building manager (or other person) and at such place, as Landlord may 
from time to time designate in writing, without any prior demand therefore and without deduction or offset, in lawful 
money of the United States of America.   
 
5.5 Rent Control: If the amount of Rent or any other payment due under this Lease violates the terms of any governmental 
restrictions on such Rent or payment, then the Rent or payment due during the period of such restrictions shall be the 
maximum amount allowable under those restrictions.  Upon termination of the restrictions, Landlord shall, to the extent 
it is legally permitted, recover from Tenant the difference between the amounts received during the period of the 
restrictions and the amounts Landlord would have received had there been no restrictions. 
 
5.6 Taxes Payable by Tenant: In addition to the Rent and any other charges to be paid by Tenant hereunder, Tenant shall 
reimburse Landlord upon demand for any and all taxes payable by Landlord (other than net income taxes) which are not 
otherwise reimbursable under this Lease, whether or not now customary or within the contemplation of the parties, 
where such taxes are upon, measured by or reasonably attributable to (a) the cost or value of Tenant’s equipment, 
furniture, fixtures and other personal property located in the Premises, or the cost or value of any leasehold 
improvements made in or to the Premises by or for Tenant, other than Building Standard Work made by Landlord, 
regardless of whether title to such improvements is held by Tenant or Landlord; (b) the gross or net Rent payable under 
this Lease, including, without limitation, any rental or gross receipts tax levied by any taxing authority with respect to 
the receipt of the Rent hereunder; (c) the possession, leasing , operation, management, maintenance, alteration, repair, 
use or occupancy by Tenant of the Premises or any portion thereof; or (d) this transaction or any document to which 
Tenant is a party creating or transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises.  If it becomes unlawful for Tenant to 
reimburse Landlord for any costs as required under this Lease, the Base Rent shall be revised to net Landlord the same net 
Rent after imposition of any tax or other charge upon Landlord as would have been payable to Landlord but for the 
reimbursement being unlawful. 
 
5.7 Tenant Improvement Allowance: In recognition for Tenant completing all improvements, including fire sprinklers, to the 
premises as mutually agreed by Landlord and Tenant, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a total Tenant improvement 
allowance not to exceed that set forth in Section 2j upon completion of agreed tenant improvements.  This allowance will 
be reimbursed to tenant upon satisfactory receipt of paid invoices and inspection by Property Management that work has 
been satisfactorily completed.  Any additional tenant improvements will be at the sole expense of the Tenant.  
Improvements shall conform to a high quality of design approved by Landlord prior to commencement of work, and shall 
be performed by a licensed General Contractor approved by Landlord in advance.  Tenant shall submit plans and 
specifications for any and all improvements to Landlord, and where necessary, the City of Palm Springs and other 
applicable government agencies for their required approval (if any) prior to commencement of work.  Tenant and the 
General Contractor shall indemnify and hold Landlord and it officers, agents and employees harmless from any liability 
resulting from the tenant improvement work and shall be named as an additional insured on the insurance policy of both 
the Tenant and the General Contractor.  All costs shall be subject to prevailing wages and if construction costs exceed 
$25,000, then the tenant improvements shall also be subject to California competitive bid statutes. 
 
 
6. INTEREST AND LATE CHARGES. 
 
If Tenant fails to pay when due any Rent or other amounts or charges which Tenant is obligated to pay under the terms of 
this Lease, the unpaid amounts shall bear interest at the maximum rate then allowed by law.  Tenant acknowledges that 
the late payment of any Monthly Installment of Base Rent will cause Landlord to lose the use of that money and incur 
costs and expenses not contemplated under this Lease, including without limitation, administrative and collection costs 
and processing and accounting expenses, the exact amount of which is extremely difficult to ascertain.  Therefore, in 
addition to interest, if any such installment is not received by Landlord within five (5) days from the date it is due, 
Tenant shall pay Landlord a late charge equal to ten percent (10%) of such installment.  Landlord and Tenant agree that 
this late charge represents a reasonable estimate of such costs and expenses and is fair compensation to Landlord for the 
loss suffered from such nonpayment by Tenant.  Acceptance of any interest or late charge shall not constitute a waiver of 
Tenant’s default with respect to such nonpayment by Tenant nor prevent Landlord from exercising any other rights or 
remedies available to Landlord under this Lease. 
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7. SECURITY DEPOSIT. 
 
Tenant agrees to deposit with Landlord the Security Deposit set forth at Section 2.0 upon execution of this Lease, as 
security for Tenant’s faithful performance of its obligations under this Lease.  Landlord and Tenant agree that the 
Security Deposit may be commingled with funds of Landlord and Landlord shall have no obligation or liability for 
payment of interest on such deposit.  Tenant shall not mortgage, assign, transfer or encumber the Security Deposit 
without the prior written consent of Landlord and any attempt by Tenant to do so shall be void, without force or effect 
and shall not be binding upon Landlord. 
 
If Tenant fails to pay Rent or other amount when due and payable under this Lease, or fails to perform any of the terms 
hereof, Landlord may appropriate and apply or use all or any portion of the Security Deposit for Rent payments or any 
other amount then due and unpaid, for payment of any amount for which Landlord has become obligated as a result of 
Tenant’s default or breech, and for any loss or damage sustained by Landlord as a result of Tenant’s default or breach, and 
Landlord may so apply or use this deposit without prejudice to any other remedy Landlord may have by reason of 
Tenant’s default or breach.  If Landlord so uses any of the Security Deposit, Tenant shall, within ten (10) days after 
written demand therefore, restore the Security Deposit to the full amount originally deposited; Tenant’s failure to do so 
shall constitute an act of default hereunder and Landlord shall have the right to exercise any remedy provided for at 
Article 27 hereof.  Within fifteen (15) days after the Term (or any extension thereof) has expired or Tenant has vacated 
the Premises, whichever shall last occur, and provided Tenant is not then in default on any of its obligations hereunder, 
Landlord shall return the Security Deposit to Tenant, or, if Tenant has assigned its interest under this Lease, to the last 
assignee of Tenant.  If Landlord sells its interest in the Premises, Landlord may deliver this deposit to the purchaser of 
Landlord’s interest and thereupon be relieved of any further liability or obligation with respect to the Security Deposit. 
 
8. TENANT’S USE OF THE PREMISES 
 
Tenant shall use the Premises solely for the purposes set forth in Tenant’s Use Clause.  Tenant shall not use or occupy the 
Premises in violation of law or any covenant, condition or restriction affecting the Building or Project or the certificate of 
occupancy issued for the Building or Project, and shall, upon notice from Landlord, immediately discontinue any use of 
the Premises which is declared by any governmental authority having jurisdiction to be a violation of law or the 
certificate of occupancy.  Tenant, at Tenant’s own cost and expense, shall comply with all laws, ordinances, regulations, 
rules and/or any directions of any governmental agencies or authorities having jurisdiction which shall, by reason of the 
nature of Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises, impose any duty upon Tenant or Landlord with respect to the 
Premises or its use or occupation.  A judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction or the admission by Tenant in any 
action or proceeding against Tenant that Tenant has violated any such laws, ordinances, regulations, rules and/or 
directions in the use of the Premises shall be deemed to be a conclusive determination of that fact as between Landlord 
and Tenant.  Tenant shall not do or permit to be done anything, which will invalidate or increase the cost of any fire, 
extended coverage or other insurance policy covering the Building or Project and/or property located therein, and shall 
comply with all rules, orders, regulations, requirements and recommendations of the Insurance Services Office or any 
other organization performing a similar function.  Tenant shall promptly upon demand reimburse Landlord for any 
additional premium charged for such policy by reason of Tenant’s failure to comply with the provisions of this Article.  
Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises which will in any way obstruct or interfere 
with the rights of other tenants or occupants of the Building or Project, or injure or annoy them, or use or allow the 
Premises to be used for any improper, immoral, unlawful or objectionable purpose, nor shall Tenant cause, maintain or 
permit any nuisance in, on or about the Premises.  Tenant shall not commit or suffer to be committed any waste in or 
upon the Premises. 
 
9. SERVICES AND UTILITIES. 
 
Provided that Tenant is not in default hereunder, Landlord agrees to furnish to the Premises during generally recognized 
business days, and during hours determined by Landlord in its sole discretion, and subject to the Rules and Regulations 
of the Building or Project, electricity for normal desk top office equipment and normal copying equipment, and heating, 
ventilation and air conditioning (”HVAC”) as required in Landlord’s judgment for the comfortable use and occupancy of 
the Premises.  If Tenant desires HVAC at any other time, Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to furnish such service 
upon reasonable notice from Tenant and Tenant shall pay Landlord’s charges therefore on demand.  Landlord shall also 
maintain and keep lighted the common stairs, common entries and restrooms in the Building.  Landlord shall not be in 
default hereunder or be liable for any damages directly or indirectly resulting from, nor shall the Rent be abated by reason 
of (I) the installation, use or interruption of use of any equipment in connection with the furnishing of any of the 
foregoing services, (ii) failure to furnish or delay in furnishing any such services where such failure or delay is caused by 
accident or any condition or event beyond the reasonable control of Landlord, or by the making of necessary repairs or 
improvements to the Premises, Building or Project, or (iii) the limitation, curtailment or rationing of, or restrictions on, 
use of water, electricity, gas or any other form of energy serving the Premises, Building or Project.  Landlord shall not be 
liable under any circumstances for a loss of or injury to property or business, however occurring, through or in connection 
with or incidental to failure to furnish any such services.  If Tenant uses heat generating machines or equipment in the 
Premises which affect the temperature otherwise maintained by the HVAC system, Landlord reserves the right to install 
supplementary air conditioning units in the Premises and the cost thereof, including the cost of installation, operation 
and maintenance thereof, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord upon demand by Landlord. 
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Tenant shall not, without the written consent of Landlord, use any apparatus or devise in the Premises, including 
without limitation, electronic data processing machines, punch card machines or machines using in excess of 120 volts, 
which consumes more electricity than is usually furnished or supplied for the use of premises as general office space, as 
determined by Landlord.  Tenant shall not connect any apparatus with electric current except through existing electrical 
outlets in the Premises.  Tenant shall not consume water or electric current in excess of that usually furnished or supplied 
for the use of premises as general office space (as determined by Landlord), without first procuring the written consent of 
Landlord, which Landlord may refuse, and in the event of consent, Landlord may have installed a water meter or electrical 
current meter in the Premises to measure the amount of water or electric current consumed.  The cost of any such meter 
and of its installation, maintenance and repair shall be paid for by the Tenant and Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord 
Promptly upon demand for all such water and electric current consumed as shown by said meters, at the rates charged for 
such services by the local public utility plus any additional expense incurred in keeping account of the water and electric 
current so consumed.  If a separate meter is not installed, the excess cost for such water and electric current shall be 
established by an estimate made by a utility company or electrical engineer hired by Landlord at Tenant’s expense. 
 
Nothing contained in this Article shall restrict Landlord’s right to require at any time separate metering of utilities 
furnished to the Premises.  In the event utilities are separately metered, Tenant shall pay promptly upon demand for all 
utilities consumed at utility rates charged by the local public utility plus any additional expense incurred by Landlord in 
keeping account of the utilities so consumed.  Tenant shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of any such 
meters at it sole cost. 
 
Landlord shall furnish elevator service, lighting replacement for building standard lights, restroom supplies, window 
washing and janitor services of common area in a manner that such services are customarily furnished to comparable 
office buildings in the area. 
 
10. CONDITION OF THE PREMISES. 
 
Tenant’s taking possession of the Premises shall be deemed conclusive evidence that as of the date of taking possession of 
the Premises are in good order and satisfactory condition, except for such matters as to which Tenant gave Landlord 
notice on or before the Commencement Date.  No promise of Landlord to alter, remodel, repair or improve the Premises, 
the Building or the Project and no representation, express or implied, respecting any matter or thing relating to the 
Premises, Building, Project or this Lease (including, without limitation, the condition of the Premises, the Building or the 
Project) have been made to Tenant by Landlord or its Broker or Sales Agent, other than as may be contained herein or in a 
separate exhibit or addendum signed by Landlord and Tenant. 
 
11. CONSTRUCTION, REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE. 
 

a. Landlord’s Obligations:  Landlord shall maintain in good order, condition and repair the Building and all other 
portions of the Premises not the obligation of Tenant or of any other tenant in the Building. 

 
b. Tenant’s Obligations: 

(1.)  Tenant shall perform Tenant’s Work to the Premises as described in an exhibit specific to Tenant 
Improvements, if applicable.” 
 
(2.) Tenant at Tenant’s sole expense shall, except for services furnished by Landlord pursuant to Article 9 hereof, 

maintain the Premises in good order, condition and repair, including the interior surfaces of the ceilings, 
walls and floors, all doors, all interior windows, all plumbing, pipes and fixtures, electrical wiring, switches 
and fixtures, Building Standard furnishings and special items and equipment installed by or at the expense of 
Tenant. 

 
(3.) Tenant shall be responsible for all repairs and alterations in and to the Premises, Building and Project and the 

facilities and systems thereof, the need for which arises out of (i) Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises, 
(ii) the installation, removal, use or operation of Tenant’s Property (as defined in Article 13) in the Premises, 
(iii) the moving of Tenant’s Property into or out of the Building, or (iv) the act, omission, misuse or 
negligence of Tenant, its agents, contractors, employees or invitees. 

 
(4.) If Tenant fails to maintain the Premises in good order, condition and repair, Landlord shall give Tenant notice 

to do such acts as are reasonably required to so maintain the Premises.  If Tenant fails to promptly commence 
such work and diligently prosecute it to completion, then Landlord shall have the right to do such acts and 
expend such funds at the expense of Tenant as are reasonably required to perform such work.  Any amount 
so expended by Landlord shall be paid by Tenant promptly after demand with interest at the prime 
commercial rate then being charged by Bank of America NT & SA plus two percent (2%) per annum, from 
the date of such work, but not to exceed the maximum rate then allowed by law.  Landlord shall have no 
liability to Tenant for any damage, inconvenience, or interference with the use of the Premises by Tenant as a 
result of performing any such work. 

 
c. Compliance with Law: Landlord and Tenant shall each do all acts required to comply with all applicable laws, 

ordinances, and rules of any public authority relating to their respective maintenance obligations as set forth 
herein. 
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d. Waiver by Tenant: Tenant expressly waives the benefits of any statute now or hereafter in effect which would 
otherwise afford the Tenant the right to make repairs at Landlord’s expense or to terminate this Lease because of 
Landlord’s failure to keep the Premises in good order, condition and repair. 

 
e. Load and Equipment Limits: Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Premises which exceeds the load per 

square foot which such floor was designed to carry, as determined by Landlord or Landlord’s structural engineer.  
The cost of any such determination made by Landlord’s structural engineer shall be paid for by Tenant upon 
demand.  Tenant shall not install business machines or mechanical equipment which cause noise or vibration to 
such a degree as to be objectionable to Landlord or other Building tenants. 

 
f. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Lease, Landlord shall have no liability to Tenant nor shall Tenant’s 

obligations under this Lease be reduced or abated in any manner whatsoever by reason of any inconvenience, 
annoyance, interruption or injury to business arising from Landlord’s making any repairs or changes which 
Landlord is required or permitted by this Lease or by any other tenant’s lease or required by law to make in or to 
any portion of the Project, Building or the Premises.  Landlord shall nevertheless use reasonable efforts to 
minimize any interference with Tenant’s business in the Premises. 

 
g. Tenant shall give Landlord prompt notice of any damage to or defective condition in any part or appurtenance of 

the Building’s mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HVAC or other systems serving, located in, or passing through 
the Premises. 

 
h. Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall return the Premises to Landlord clean and 

in the same condition as on the date Tenant took possession, except for normal wear and tear.  Any damage to the 
Premises, including any structural damage, resulting from Tenant’s use or from the removal of Tenant’s fixtures, 
furnishings and equipment pursuant to Section 13b shall be repaired by Tenant at Tenant’s expense. 

 
12. ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS. 
 

a. Tenant shall not make any additions, alterations or improvements to the Premises without obtaining the prior 
written consent of Landlord.  Landlord’s consent may be conditioned on Tenant’s removing any such additions, 
alterations or improvements upon the expiration of the term and restoring the Premises to the same condition as 
on the date Tenant took possession.  All work with respect to any addition, alteration or improvement shall be 
done in a good and workmanlike manner by properly qualified and licensed personnel approved by Landlord, and 
such work shall be diligently prosecuted to completion.  Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, require that any 
such work be performed by Landlord’s contractor in which case the cost of such work shall be paid for before 
commencement of the work.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord upon completion of any such work by Landlord’s 
contractor, an administrative fee of fifteen percent (15%) of the cost of the work. 

 
b. Tenant shall pay the costs of any work done on the Premises pursuant to Section 12a, and shall keep the Premises, 

Building and Project free and clear of liens of any kind.  Tenant shall indemnify, defend against and keep Landlord 
free and harmless from all liability, loss, damage, costs, attorneys’ fees and any other expense incurred on account 
of claims by any person performing work or furnishing materials or supplies for Tenant or any person claiming 
under Tenant. 

 
Tenant shall keep Tenant’s leasehold interest, and any additions or improvements which are or become the 
property of Landlord under this Lease, free and clear of all attachment or judgment liens.  Before the actual 
commencement of any work for which a claim or lien may be filed, Tenant shall give Landlord notice of the 
intended commencement date a sufficient time before that date to enable Landlord to post notices of non-
responsibility or any other notices which Landlord deems necessary for the proper protection of Landlord’s 
interest in the Premises, Building or the Project, and Landlord shall have the right to enter the Premises and post 
such notice at any reasonable time. 

 
c. Landlord may require, at Landlord’s sole option, that Tenant provide to Landlord, at Tenant’s expense, a lien and 

completion bond in an amount equal to at least one and one-half (1.5) times the total estimated cost of any 
additions, alterations or improvements to be made in or to the Premises, to protect Landlord against any liability 
for mechanic’s and material men’s liens and to insure timely completion of the work.  Nothing contained in this 
Section 12c shall relieve Tenant of its obligations under Section 12b to keep the Premises, Building and Project 
free of all liens. 

 
d. Unless their removal is required by Landlord as provided in Section 12a, all additions, alterations and 

improvements made to the Premises shall become the property of Landlord and be surrendered with the Premises 
upon the expiration of the Term; provided, however, Tenant’s equipment, machinery and trade fixtures which 
can be removed without damage to the Premises shall remain the property of Tenant and may be removed, 
subject to the provisions of Section 13b. 

 
13. LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS; TENANT’S PROPERTY. 
 

a. All fixtures, equipment, improvements and appurtenances attached to or built into the Premises at the 
commencement of or during the Term, whether or not by or at the expense of Tenant (“Leasehold 
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Improvements”), shall be and remain a part of the Premises, shall be the property of Landlord and shall not be 
removed by Tenant, except as expressly provided in Section 13b. 

 
b. All movable partitions, business and trade fixtures, machinery and equipment, communications equipment and 

office equipment located in the Premises and acquired by or for the account of Tenant, without expense to 
Landlord, which can be removed without structural damage to the Building, and all furniture, furnishings and 
other articles of movable personal property owned by Tenant and located in the Premises (collectively “Tenant’s 
Property”) shall be and shall remain the property of Tenant and may be removed by Tenant at any time during the 
Term; provided that if any of Tenant’s Property is removed, Tenant shall promptly repair any damage to the 
Premises or to the Building resulting from such removal. 

 
14. RULES AND REGULATIONS. 
 
Tenant agrees to comply with (and cause its agents, contractors, employees and invitees to comply with) the rules and 
regulations attached hereto as Exhibit “D” and with such reasonable modifications thereof and additions thereto as 
Landlord may from time to time make.  Landlord shall not be responsible for any violation of said rules and regulations by 
other tenants or occupants of the Building of Project. 
 
15. CERTAIN RIGHTS RESERVED BY LANDLORD. 
 
Landlord reserves the following rights, exercisable without liability to Tenant for (a) damage or injury to property, 
person or business, (b) causing an actual or constructive eviction from the Premises, or (c) disturbing Tenant’s use or 
possession of the Premises: 
 

a. To name the Building and Project and to change the name or street address of the Building or Project; 
 

b. To install and maintain all signs on the exterior and interior of the Building and Project; 
 

c. To have pass keys to the Premises and all doors within the Premises, eluding Tenant’s vaults and safes; 
 

d. At any time during the Term, and on reasonable prior notice to Tenant, to inspect the Premises, and to show the 
Premises to any prospective purchaser or mortgagee of the Project, or to any assignee of any mortgage on the 
Project, or to others having an interest in the Project or Landlord, and during the last six months of the Term, to 
show the Premises to prospective tenants thereof; and 

 
e. To enter the Premises for the purpose of making inspections, repairs, alterations, additions or improvements to 

the Premises or the Building (including, without limitation, checking, calibrating, adjusting or balancing controls 
and other parts of the HVAC system), and to take all steps as may be necessary or desirable for the safety, 
protection, maintenance or preservation of the Premises or the Building or Landlord’s interest therein, or as may 
be necessary or desirable for the operation or improvement of the Building or in order to comply with laws, 
orders or requirements of governmental or other authority.  Landlord agrees to use its best efforts (except in an 
emergency) to minimize interference with Tenant’s business in the Premises in the course of any such entry. 

 
16. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. 
 
No assignment of this Lease or sublease of all or any part of the Premises shall be permitted, except as provided in this 
Article 16. 
 

a. Tenant shall not, without the prior written consent of Landlord, assign or hypothecate this Lease or any interest 
herein or sublet the Premises or any part thereof, or permit the use of the Premises by any party other than 
Tenant.  Any of the foregoing acts without such consent shall be void and shall, at the option of Landlord, 
terminate this Lease.  This Lease shall not, nor shall any interest of Tenant herein, be assignable by operation of 
law without the written consent of Landlord. 

 
b. If at any time or from time to time during the Term Tenant desires to assign this Lease or sublet all or any part of 

the Premises, Tenant shall give notice to Landlord setting forth the terms and provisions of the proposed 
assignment or sublease, and the identity of the proposed assignee or subtenant.  Tenant shall promptly supply 
Landlord with such information concerning the business background and financial condition of such proposed 
assignee or subtenant as Landlord may reasonably request.  Landlord shall have the option, exercisable by notice 
given to Tenant within twenty (20) days after Tenant’s notice is given, either to sublet such space from Tenant at 
the rental and on the other terms set forth in this Lease for the term set forth in Tenant’s notice, or, in the case of 
an assignment, to terminate this Lease.  If Landlord does not exercise such option, Tenant may assign the Lease or 
sublet such space to such proposed assignee or subtenant on the following further conditions: 

 
(1.) Landlord shall have the right to approve such proposed assignee or subtenant, which approval shall not be   

unreasonably withheld; 
 

(2.) The assignment or sublease shall be on the same terms set forth in the notice given to Landlord; 
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(3.) No assignment or sublease shall be valid and no assignee or sub lessee shall take possession of the Premises 
until an executed counterpart of such assignment or sublease has been delivered to Landlord; 

 
(4.) No assignee or sub lessee shall have a further right to assign or sublet except on the terms herein contained; 

and  
 

(5.) Any sums or other economic consideration received by Tenant as a result of such assignment or subletting, 
however denominated under the assignment or sublease, which exceed, in the aggregate, (i) the total sums 
which Tenant is obligated to pay Landlord under this Lease (prorated to reflect obligations allocable to any 
portion of the Premises subleased), plus (ii) any real estate brokerage commissions or fees payable in 
connection with such assignment or subletting, shall be paid to Landlord as additional rent under this Lease 
without affecting or reducing any other obligations of Tenant hereunder. 

 
c. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs a and b above, Tenant may assign this Lease or sublet the Premises 

or any portion thereof, without Landlord’s consent and without extending any recapture or termination option 
to Landlord, to any corporation which controls, is controlled by or is under common control with Tenant, or to 
any corporation resulting from a merger or consolidation with Tenant, or to any person or entity which acquires 
all the assets of Tenant’s business as a going concern, provided that (i) the assignee or sub lessee assumes, in full, 
the obligations of Tenant under this Lease, (ii) Tenant remains fully liable under this Lease, and (iii) the use of 
the Premises under Article 8 remains unchanged. 

 
d. No subletting or assignment shall release Tenant of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease or alter the primary 

liability of Tenant to pay the Rent and to perform all other obligations to be performed by Tenant hereunder.  The 
acceptance of Rent by landlord from any other person shall not be deemed to be a waiver by Landlord of any 
provision hereof.  Consent to one assignment or subletting shall not be deemed consent to any subsequent 
assignment or subletting.  In the event of default by an assignee or subtenant or any successor of Tenant in the 
performance of any of the terms hereof, Landlord may proceed directly against Tenant without the necessity of 
exhausting remedies against such assignee, subtenant or successor.  Landlord may consent to subsequent 
assignments of the Lease or sub lettings or amendments or modifications to the Lease with assignees of tenant, 
without notifying Tenant, or any successor of Tenant, and without obtaining its or their consent thereof and any 
such actions shall not relieve Tenant of liability under this Lease. 

 
e. If Tenant assigns the Lease or sublets the Premises or requests the consent of Landlord to any assignment or 

subletting or if Tenant requests the consent of Landlord for any act that Tenant proposes to do, then Tenant 
shall, upon demand, pay Landlord an administrative fee of One Hundred Fifty and No/100 Dollars ($150.00) plus 
any attorney’s fees reasonably incurred by Landlord in connection with such act or request. 

 
17. HOLDING OVER. 
 
If after expiration of the Term, Tenant remains in possession of the Premises with Landlord’s permission (express or 
implied), Tenant shall become a tenant from month to month only, upon all the provisions of this Lease (except as to 
term and Base Rent), but the “Monthly Installments of Base Rent” payable by Tenant shall be increased to one hundred 
fifty percent (150%) of the Monthly Installments of Base Rent payable by Tenant at the expiration of the Term.  Such 
monthly rent shall be payable in advance on or before the first day of each month.  If either party desires to terminate 
such month-to-month tenancy, it shall give the other party not less than thirty (30) days advance written notice of the 
date of termination. 
 
18. SURRENDER OF PREMISES. 
 

a. Tenant shall peaceably surrender the Premises to Landlord on the Expiration Date, in broom-clean condition and 
in as good condition as when Tenant took possession, except for (i) reasonable wear and tear, (ii) loss by fire or 
other casualty, and (iii) loss by condemnation.  Tenant shall, on Landlord’s request, remove Tenant’s Property on 
or before the Expiration Date and promptly repair all damage to the Premises or Building caused by such removal. 

 
b. If Tenant abandons or surrenders the Premises, or is dispossessed by process of law or otherwise, any of Tenant’s 

Property left on the Premises shall be deemed to be abandoned, and, at Landlord’s option, title shall pass to 
Landlord under this Lease as by a bill of sale.  If Landlord elects to remove all or any part of such Tenant’s 
Property, the cost of removal, including repairing any damage to the Premises or Building caused by such 
removal, shall be paid by Tenant.  On the Expiration Date Tenant shall surrender all keys to the Premises. 

 
19. DESTRUCTION OR DAMAGE. 
 

a. If the Premises or the portion of the Building necessary for Tenant’s occupancy is damaged by fire, earthquake, 
act of God, the elements, or other casualty, Landlord shall, subject to the provisions of this Article, promptly 
repair the damage, if such repairs can, in Landlord’s opinion, be completed within ninety (90) days.  If Landlord 
determines that repairs can be completed with ninety (90) days, this Lease shall remain in full force and effect, 
except that if such damage is not the result of the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant or Tenant’s agents, 
employees, contractors, licensees, or invitees, the Base Rent shall be abated to the extent Tenant’s use of the 
Premises is impaired, commencing with the date of damage and continuing until completion of the repairs 
required of Landlord under Section 19d. 
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b. If in Landlord’s opinion, such repairs to the Premises or portion of the Building necessary for Tenant’s occupancy 

cannot be completed within ninety (90) days, Landlord may elect, upon notice to Tenant given within thirty (30) 
days after the date of such fire or other casualty, to repair such damage, in which event this Lease shall continue 
in full force and effect, but the Base Rent shall be partially abated as provided in Section 19a.  If Landlord does not 
so elect to make such repairs, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such fire or other casualty. 

 
c. If any other portion of the Building or Project is totally destroyed or damaged to the extent that in Landlord’s 

opinion repair thereof cannot be completed within ninety (90) days, Landlord may elect upon notice to Tenant 
given within thirty (30) days after the date of such fire or other casualty, to repair such damage, in which event 
this Lease shall continue in full force and effect, but the Base Rent shall be partially abated as provided in Section 
19a.  If Landlord does not so elect to make such repairs, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such fire or 
other casualty. 

 
d. If the Premises are to be repaired under this Article, Landlord shall repair at its cost any injury or damage to the 

Building and Building Standard Work in the Premises.  Tenant shall be responsible at its sole cost and expense 
for the repair, restoration, and replacement of any other Leasehold Improvements and Tenant’s Property.  
Landlord shall not be liable for any loss of business, inconvenience or annoyance arising from any repair or 
restoration of any portion of the Premises, Building, or Project as a result of any damage from fire or other 
casualty. 

 
e. This Lease shall be considered an express agreement governing any case of damage to or destruction of the 

Premises, Building, or Project by fire or other casualty, and any present or future law which purports to govern 
the rights of Landlord and Tenant in such circumstances in the absent of express agreement, shall have no 
application. 

 
20. EMINENT DOMAIN. 
 

a. If the whole of the Building or Premises is lawfully taken by condemnation or in any other manner for any public 
or quasi-public purpose, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such taking, and Rent shall be prorated to 
such date.  If less than the whole of the Building or Premises is so taken, this Lease shall be unaffected by such 
taking, provided that (i) Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease by notice to Landlord given within 
ninety (90) days after the date of such taking if twenty percent (20%) or more of the Premises is taken and the 
remaining area of the Premises is not reasonably sufficient for Tenant to continue operation of its business, and 
(ii) Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease by notice to Tenant given within ninety (90) days after 
the date of such taking.  If either Landlord or Tenant so elects to terminate this Lease, the Lease shall terminate 
on the thirtieth (30th) day after either such notice.  The Rent shall be prorated to the date of termination.  If this 
Lease continues in force upon such partial taking, the Base Rent and Tenant’s Proportionate Share shall be 
equitably adjusted according to the remaining Rentable Area of the Premises and Project. 

 
b. In the event of any taking, partial or whole, all of the proceeds of any award, judgment, or settlement payable by 

the condemning authority shall be the exclusive property of Landlord, and Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord all 
of its right, title, and interest in any award, judgment, or settlement from the condemning authority.  Tenant, 
however, shall have the right, to the extent that Landlord’s award is not reduced or prejudiced, to claim from the 
condemning authority (but not from Landlord) such compensation as may be recoverable by Tenant in its own 
right for relocation expenses and damage to Tenant’s personal property. 

 
c. In the event of a partial taking of the Premises which does not result in a termination of this Lease, Landlord shall 

restore the remaining portion of the Premises as nearly as practicable to its condition prior to the condemnation 
or taking, but only to the extent of Building Standard Work.  Tenant shall be responsible at its sole cost and 
expenses for the repair, restoration, and replacement of any other Leasehold improvements and Tenant’s 
Property. 

 
21. INDEMNIFICATION. 
 

a. Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless against and from liability and claims of any kind for loss or 
damage to property of Tenant or any other person, or for any injury to or death of any person, arising out of:  
(1) Tenant’s use and occupancy of the Premises, or any work, activity, or other things allowed or suffered by 
Tenant to be done in, on, or about the Premises; (2) any breach or default by Tenant of any of the Tenant’s 
obligations under this Lease; or (3) any negligent or otherwise tortuous act or omission of Tenant, its agents, 
employees, invitees, or contractors.  Tenant shall at Tenant’s expense and by counsel satisfactory to Landlord, 
defend Landlord in any action or proceeding arising from any such claim and shall indemnify Landlord against all 
costs, attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, and any other expenses incurred in such action or proceeding.  As a 
material part of the consideration for Landlord’s execution of this Lease, Tenant hereby assumes all risk of 
damage or injury to any person or property in, on, or about the Premises from any cause. 

 
b. Landlord shall not be liable for injury or damage which may be sustained by the person or property of Tenant, its 

employees, invitees, or customers or any other person in or about the Premises, caused by or resulting from fire, 
steam, electricity, gas, water, or rain which may leak or flow from or into any part of the Premises, or from the 
breakage, leakage, obstruction, or other defects of pipes, sprinklers, wires, appliances, plumbing, air conditioning, 
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or lighting fixtures, whether such damage or injury results from conditions arising upon the Premises or upon 
other portions of the Building or Project or from other sources.  Landlord shall not be liable for any damages 
arising from any act or omission of any other tenant of the Building or Project. 

 
22. TENANT’S INSURANCE. 
 

a. All insurance required to be carried by Tenant hereunder shall be issued by responsible insurance companies 
acceptable to Landlord and Landlord’s lender and qualified to do business in the State.  Each policy shall name 
Landlord, and at Landlord’s request any mortgagee of Landlord, as an additional insured, as their respective 
interests may appear.  Each policy shall contain (i) a cross-liability endorsement, (ii) a provision that such policy 
and the coverage evidenced thereby shall be primary and non-contributing with respect to any policies carried by 
Landlord and that any coverage carried by Landlord shall be excess insurance, and (iii) a waiver by the insurer of 
any right of subrogation against Landlord, its agents, employees, and representatives, which arises or might arise 
by reason of any payment under such policy or by reason of any act or omission of Landlord, its agents, 
employees, or representatives.  A copy of each paid up policy (authenticated by the insurer) or certificate of the 
insurer evidencing the existence and amount of each insurance policy required hereunder shall be delivered to 
Landlord before the date Tenant is first given the right of possession of the Premises, and thereafter within thirty 
(30) days after any demand by Landlord therefore.  Landlord may, at any time and from time to time, inspect 
and/or copy any insurance policies required to be maintained by Tenant hereunder.  No such policy shall be 
cancelable except after twenty (20) days written notice to Landlord and Landlord’s lender.  Tenant shall furnish 
Landlord with renewals or “binders” of any such policy at least ten (10) days prior to the expiration th4ereof.  
Tenant agrees that if Tenant does not take out and maintain such insurance, Landlord may (but shall not be 
required to) procure said insurance on Tenant’s behalf and charge the Tenant the premiums together with a 
twenty-five percent (25%) handling charge, payable upon demand.  Tenant shall have the right to provide such 
insurance coverage pursuant to blanket policies obtained by the Tenant, provided such blanket policies expressly 
afford coverage to the Premises, Landlord, Landlord’s mortgagee, and Tenant as required by this Lease. 

 
b. Beginning on the date Tenant is given access to the Premises for any purpose and continuing until expiration of 

the Term, Tenant shall procure, pay for and maintain in effect policies of casualty insurance covering (i) all 
Leasehold Improvements (including any alterations, additions, or improvements as may be made by Tenant 
pursuant to the provisions of Article 12 hereof), and (ii) trade fixtures, merchandise, and other personal property 
from time to time in, on, or about the Premises, in an amount not less than one hundred percent (100%) of their 
actual replacement cost from time to time, providing protection against any peril included within the 
classification “Fire and Extended Coverage” together with insurance against sprinkler damage, vandalism, and 
malicious mischief.  The proceeds of such insurance shall be used for the repair or replacement of the property so 
insured.  Upon termination of this Lease following a casualty as set forth herein, the proceeds under (i) above be 
paid to Landlord, and the proceeds under (ii) above be paid to Tenant. 

 
c. Beginning on the date Tenant is given access to the Premises for any purpose and continuing until expiration of 

the Term, Tenant shall procure, pay for, and maintain in effect worker’s compensation insurance as required by 
law and comprehensive public liability and property damage insurance with respect to the construction of 
improvements on the Premises, the use, operation, or condition of the Premises, and the operations of Tenant in, 
on, or about the Premises, providing broad form property damage coverage for not less than Five Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($500,000) per person and  One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) each occurrence, and property 
damage liability insurance with a limit of not less than Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) each 
accident. 

 
d. Not less than every three (3) years during the Term, Landlord and Tenant shall mutually agree to increases in all 

of Tenant’s insurance policy limits for all insurance to be carried by Tenant as set forth in this Article.  In the 
event Landlord and Tenant cannot mutually agree upon the amounts of said increases, then Tenant agrees that all 
insurance policy limits as set forth in this Article shall be adjusted for increases in the cost of living in the same 
manner as is set forth in Section 5.2 hereof for the adjustment of the Base Rent. 

 
23. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION. 
 
Landlord and Tenant each hereby waive all rights or recovery against the other and against the officers, employees, 
agents, and representatives of the other, on account of loss by or damage to the waiving party of its property or the 
property of others under its control, to the extent that such loss or damage is insured against under any fire and extended 
overage insurance policy which either may have in force at the time of the loss or damage.  Tenant shall, upon obtaining 
the policies of insurance required under this Lease, give notice to its insurance carrier or carriers that the foregoing 
mutual waiver of subrogation is contained in this Lease. 
 
24. SUBORDINATION AND ATTORNMENT. 
 
Upon written request of Landlord, or any first mortgagee or first deed of trust beneficiary of Landlord, or ground lessor of 
Landlord, Tenant shall, in writing, subordinate its rights under this Lease to the lien of any first mortgage or first deed of 
trust, or to the interest of any lease in which Landlord is lessee, and to all advances made or thereafter to be made 
thereunder.  However, before signing any subordination agreement, Tenant shall have the right to obtain from any lender 
or lessor or Landlord requesting such subordination, an agreement in writing providing that, as long as Tenant is not in 
default hereunder, this Lease shall remain in effect for the full Term.  The holder of any security interest may, upon 
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written notice to Tenant, elect to have this Lease prior to its security interest regardless of the time of the granting or 
recording of such security interest. 
 
In the event of any foreclosure sale, transfer in lieu of foreclosure, or termination of the lease in which Landlord is lessee, 
Tenant shall attorn to the purchaser, transferee, or lessor, as the case may be, and recognize that party as Landlord under 
this Lease provided such party acquires and accepts the Premises subject to this Lease. 
 
25. TENANT ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE. 
 
Within ten (10) days after written request from Landlord, Tenant shall execute and deliver to Landlord or Landlord’s 
designee, a written statement certifying (a) that this lease is unmodified and in full force and effect, or is in full force and 
effect as modified and stating the modifications; (b) the amount of Base Rent and the date to which Base Rent and 
additional rent have been paid in advance; (c) the amount of any security deposited with Landlord; and (d) that Landlord 
is not in default hereunder or, if Landlord is claimed to be in default, stating the nature lf any claimed default.  Any such 
statement may be relied upon by a purchaser, assignee, or lender.  Tenant’s failure to execute and deliver such statement 
within the time required shall at Landlord’s election be a default under this Lease and shall also be conclusive upon 
Tenant that:  (1) this Lease is in full force and effect and has not been modified except as represented by Landlord; 
(2) there are no uncured defaults in Landlord’s performance and that Tenant has not right of offset, counter-claim, or 
deduction against Rent; and (3) not more than one month’s Rent has been paid in advance. 
 
26. TRANSFER OF LANDLORD’S INTEREST. 
 
In the event of any sale or transfer by Landlord of the Premises, Building, or Project, and assignment of this Lease by 
Landlord, Landlord shall be and is hereby entirely freed and relieved of any and all liability and obligations contained in 
or derived from this Lease arising out of any act, occurrence, or omission relating to the Premises, Building, Project, or 
Lease occurring after the consummation of such sale or transfer, providing the purchaser shall expressly assume all of the 
covenants and obligations of Landlord under this Lease.  If any security deposit or prepaid Rent has been paid by Tenant, 
Landlord may transfer the security deposit or prepaid Rent to Landlord’s successor and upon such transfer, Landlord 
shall be relieved of any and all further liability with respect thereto. 
 
27. DEFAULT. 
 
27.1. Tenant’s Default.  The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute a default and breach of 
this Lease by Tenant: 
 

a. If Tenant abandons or vacates the Premises; or 
 

b. If Tenant fails to pay any Rent or any other charges required to be paid by Tenant under this Lease and such 
failure continues for five (5) days after such payment is due and payable; or  

 
c. If Tenant fails to promptly and fully perform any other covenant, condition, or agreement contained in this lease 

and such failure continues for thirty (30) days after written notice thereof from Landlord to Tenant; or 
 

d. If a writ of attachment or execution is levied on this Lease or on any of Tenant’s Property; or 
 

e. If Tenant makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or provides for an arrangement, composition, 
extension or adjustment with its creditors; or  

 
f. If Tenant files a voluntary petition for relief or if a petition against Tenant in a proceeding under the federal 

bankruptcy laws or other insolvency laws is filed and not withdrawn or dismissed within forty-five (45) days 
thereafter, or if under the provisions of any law providing for reorganization or winding up of corporations, any 
court of competent jurisdiction assumes jurisdiction, custody, or control of Tenant or any substantial part of its 
property and such jurisdiction, custody, or control remains in force unrelinquished, unstayed, or unterminated 
for a period of forty-five (45) days; or 

 
g. If in any proceeding or action in which Tenant is not a party, a trustee, receiver, agent, or custodian is appointed 

to take charge of the Premises or Tenant’s Property (or has the authority to do so) for the purpose of enforcing a 
lien against the Premises or Tenant’s Property; or 

 
h. If Tenant is a partnership or consists of more than one (1) person or entity, if any partner of the partnership or 

other person or entity is involved in any of the acts or events described in subparagraphs d through g above. 
 
27.2. Remedies.  In the event of Tenant’s default hereunder, then, in addition to any other rights or remedies Landlord 

may  have under any law, Landlord shall have the right, at Landlord’s option, without further notice or demand of 
any kind to do the following: 

 
a. Terminate this Lease and Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises and re-enter the Premises and take 

possession thereof, and Tenant shall have no further claim to the Premises or under this Lease; or 
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b. Continue this Lease in effect, re-enter and occupy the Premises for the account of Tenant, and collect any unpaid 
Rent or other charges which have or thereafter become due and payable; or 

 
c. Re-enter the Premises under the provisions of subparagraph b and thereafter elect to terminate this Lease and 

Tenant’s right to possession of the Premises. 
 

If Landlord re-enters the Premises under the provisions of subparagraph b or c above, Landlord shall not be 
deemed to have terminated this Lease or the obligation of Tenant to pay any Rent or other charges thereafter 
accruing, unless Landlord notifies Tenant in writing of Landlord’s election to terminate this Lease.  In the event 
of any re-entry or retaking of possession by Landlord, Landlord shall have the right, but not the obligation, to 
remove all or any part of Tenant’s Property in the Premises and to place such property in storage at a public 
warehouse at the expense and risk of Tenant.  If Landlord elects to relet the Premises for the account of Tenant, 
the rent received by Landlord from such reletting shall be applied as follows:  first, to the payment of any 
indebtedness other than Rent due hereunder from Tenant to Landlord; second, to the payment of any costs of 
such reletting; third, to the payment of the cost of any alterations or repairs to the Premises; fourth, to the 
payment of Rent due and unpaid hereunder; and the balance, if any, shall be held by Landlord and applied in 
payment of future Rent as it becomes due.  If that portion of rent received from the reletting, which is applied 
against, the Rent due hereunder is less than the amount of the Rent due, Tenant shall pay the deficiency to 
Landlord promptly upon demand by Landlord.  Such deficiency shall be calculated and paid monthly.  Tenant 
shall also pay to Landlord, as soon as determined, any costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection 
with such reletting or in making alterations and repairs to the Premises, which are not covered by the rent 
received from the reletting. 

 
Should Landlord elect to terminate this Lease under the provisions of subparagraph a or c above, Landlord may 
recover as damages from Tenant the following: 

 
 (1.) Past Rent.  The worth at the time of the award of any unpaid Rent which had been earned at the time of 

termination; plus 
 

 (2.) Rent Prior to Award.  The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent which 
would have been earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that 
Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus 

 
 (3.) Rent After Award.  The worth at the time of the award of the amount by which the unpaid Rent for the balance 

of the Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of the rental loss that Tenant provides could be 
reasonably avoided; plus 

 
 (4.) Proximately Caused Damages.  Any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all detriment 

proximately caused by Tenant’s failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary 
course of things would be likely to result therefrom including, but not limited to, any costs or expenses 
(including attorneys’ fees) incurred by Landlord in (a) retaking possession of the Premises, (b) maintaining 
the Premises after Tenant’s default, (c) preparing the Premises for reletting to a new tenant, including any 
repairs or alterations, and (d) reletting the Premises, including broker’s commissions. 

 
“The worth at the time of the award@ as used in subparagraphs 1 and 2 above is to be computed by allowing 
interest at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum.“ The worth at the time of the award@ as used in 
subparagraph 3 above is to be computed by discounting the amount at the discount rate of the Federal 
Reserve Bank situated nearest to the Premises at the time of the award plus one percent (1%). 

 
The waiver by Landlord of any breach of any term, covenant, or condition of this Lease shall not be deemed a 
waiver of such term, covenant, or condition or of any subsequent breach of the same or any other term, 
covenant, or condition.  Acceptance of Rent by Landlord subsequent to any breach hereof shall not be 
deemed a waiver of any preceding breach other than the failure to pay the particular Rent so accepted, 
regardless of Landlord’s knowledge of any breach at the time of such acceptance of Rent.  Landlord shall not 
be deemed to have waived any term, covenant, or condition unless Landlord gives Tenant written notice of 
such waiver. 

 
27.3  Landlord’s Default.  If Landlord fails to perform any covenant, condition, or agreement contained in this Lease 

within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice from Tenant specifying such default, or if such default 
cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days, if Landlord fails to commence to cure within that thirty (30) 
day period, then Landlord shall be liable to Tenant for any damages sustained by Tenant as a result of Landlord’s 
breach; provided, however, it is expressly understood and agreed that if Tenant obtains a money judgment 
against Landlord resulting from any default or other claim arising under this Lease, that judgment shall be 
satisfied only out of the rents, issues, profits, and other income actually received on account of Landlord’s right, 
title, and interest in the Premises, Building, or Project, and no other real, personal, or mixed property of Landlord 
(or of any of the partners which comprise Landlord, if any) wherever situated, shall be subject to levy to satisfy 
such judgment.  If, after notice to Landlord of default, Landlord (or any first mortgagee or first deed of trust 
beneficiary of Landlord) fails to cure the default as provided herein, then Tenant shall have the right to cure that 
default at Landlord’s expense.  Tenant shall not have the right to terminate this Lease or to withhold, reduce, or 
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offset any amount against any payments of Rent or any other charges due and payable under this Lease, except as 
otherwise specifically provided herein. 

 
 
28. BROKERAGE FEES. 
 
Tenant warrants and represents that it has not dealt with any real estate broker or agent in connection with this Lease or 
its negotiation except those noted in Section 2.c.  Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any cost, 
expenses, or liability (including costs of suit and reasonable attorneys’ fees) for any compensation, commission, or fees 
claimed by any other real estate broker or agent in connection with this Lease or its negotiation by reason of any act of 
Tenant. 
 
 
29. NOTICES. 
 
All notices, approvals, and demands permitted or required to be given under this Lease shall be in writing and deemed 
duly served or given if personally delivered or sent by certified or registered U.S. mail, postage prepaid, and addressed as 
follows:  (a) if to Landlord, to Landlord’s Mailing Address and to the Building manager, and (b) if to Tenant, to Tenant’s 
Mailing Address; provided, however, notices to Tenant shall be deemed duly served or given if delivered or mailed to 
Tenant at the Premises.  Landlord and Tenant may from time to time by notice to the other designate another place for 
receipt of future notices. 
 
 
30. GOVERNMENT ENERGY OR UTILITY CONTROLS. 
 
In the event of imposition of federal, state, or local government controls, rules, regulations, or restrictions on the use or 
consumption of energy or other utilities during the Term, both Landlord and Tenant shall be bound thereby.  In the event 
of a difference in interpretation by Landlord and Tenant of any such controls, the interpretation of Landlord shall prevail, 
and Landlord shall have the right to enforce compliance therewith, including the right of entry into the Premises to effect 
compliance. 
 
31. RELOCATION OF PREMISES. 
 
Landlord shall have the right to relocate the Premises to another part of the Building in accordance with the following: 
 

a. The new premises shall be substantially the same in size, dimension, configuration, decor and nature as the 
Premises described in this Lease, and if the relocation occurs after the Commencement Date, shall be placed in 
that condition by Landlord at its cost. 

 
b. Landlord shall give Tenant at least thirty (30) days written notice of Landlord’s intention to relocate the 

Premises. 
 

c. As nearly as practicable, the physical relocation of the Premises shall take place on a weekend and shall be 
completed before the following Monday.  If the physical relocation has not been completed in that time, Base 
Rent shall abate in full from the time the physical relocation commences to the time it is completed.  Upon 
completion of such relocation, the new premises shall become the “Premises” under this Lease. 

 
d. All reasonable costs incurred by Tenant as a result of the relocation shall be paid by Landlord. 

 
e. If the new premises are smaller than the Premises as it existed before the relocation, Base Rent shall be reduced 

proportionately. 
 

f. The parties hereto shall immediately execute an amendment to this Lease setting forth the relocation of the 
Premises and the reduction of Base Rent, if any. 

 
 
32.  QUIET ENJOYMENT. 
 
Tenant, upon paying the Rent and performing all of its obligations under this Lease, shall peaceably and quietly enjoy the 
Premises, subject to the terms of this Lease and to any mortgage, lease, or other agreement to which this Lease may be 
subordinate. 
 
33.  OBSERVANCE OF LAW. 
 
Tenant shall not use the Premises or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises which will in any way conflict 
with any law, statute, ordinance or governmental rule or regulation now in force or which may hereafter be enacted or 
promulgated.  Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, promptly comply with all laws, statutes, ordinances and 
governmental rules, regulations or requirements now in force or which may hereafter be in force, and with the 
requirements of any board of fire insurance underwriters or other similar bodies now or hereafter constituted, relating to, 
or affecting the condition, use or occupancy of the Premises, excluding structural changes not related to or affected by 
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Tenant’s improvements or acts.  The judgment of any court of competent jurisdiction or the admission of Tenant in any 
action against Tenant, whether Landlord is a party thereto or not, that Tenant has violated any law, ordinance or 
governmental rule, regulation or requirement, shall be conclusive of that fact as between Landlord and Tenant. 
 
34.  FORCE MAJEURE. 
 
Any prevention, delay or stoppage of work to be performed by Landlord or Tenant which is due to strikes, labor disputes, 
inability to obtain labor, materials, equipment or reasonable substitutes therefore, acts of God, governmental restrictions 
or regulations or controls, judicial orders, enemy or hostile government actions, civil commotion, fire or other casualty, or 
other causes beyond the reasonable control of the party obligated to perform hereunder, shall excuse performance of the 
work by that party for a period equal to the duration of that prevention, delay or stoppage.  Nothing in this Article 34 
shall excuse or delay Tenant’s obligation to pay Rent or other charges under this Lease. 
 
35.  CURING TENANT’S DEFAULTS. 
 
If Tenant defaults in the performance of any of its obligations under this Lease, Landlord may (but shall not be obligated 
to) without waiving such default, perform the same for the account at the expense of Tenant.  Tenant shall pay Landlord 
all costs of such performance promptly upon receipt of a bill therefore. 
 
 
 
36.  SIGN CONTROL. 
 
Tenant shall not affix, paint, erect or inscribe any sign, projection, awning, signal or advertisement of any kind to any part 
of the Premises, Building or Project, including without limitation, the inside or outside of windows or doors, without the 
written consent of Landlord.  Landlord shall have the right to remove any signs or other matter, installed without 
Landlord’s permission, without being liable to Tenant by reason of such removal, and to charge the cost of removal to 
Tenant as additional rent hereunder, payable within ten (10) days of written demand by Landlord. 
 
37. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 

a. Accord and Satisfaction; Allocation of Payments: No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than 
the Rent provided for in this Lease shall be deemed to be other than on account of the earliest due Rent, nor shall 
any endorsement or statement on any check or letter accompanying any check or payment as Rent be deemed an 
accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right 
to recover the balance of the Rent or pursue any other remedy provided for in this Lease.  In connection with the 
foregoing, Landlord shall have the absolute right in its sole discretion to apply any payment received from Tenant 
to any account or other payment of Tenant then not current and due or delinquent. 

 
b. Addenda: If any provision contained in an addendum to this Lease is inconsistent with any other provision herein, 

the provision contained in the addendum shall control, unless otherwise provided in the addendum. 
 

c. Attorneys’ Fees: If any action or proceeding is brought by either party against the other pertaining to or arising out 
of this Lease, the finally prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all costs and expenses, including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees, incurred on account of such action or proceeding. 

 
d. Captions, Articles and Section Numbers: The captions appearing within the body of this Lease have been inserted as a 

matter of convenience and for reference only and in no way define, limit or enlarge the scope or meaning of this 
Lease.  All references to Article and Section numbers refer to Articles and Sections in this Lease. 

 
e. Changes Requested by Lender: Neither Landlord or Tenant shall unreasonably withhold its consent to changes or 

amendments to this Lease requested by the lender on Landlord’s interest, so long as these changes do not alter 
the basic business terms of this Lease or otherwise materially diminish any rights or materially increase any 
obligations of the party from whom consent to such charge or amendment is requested. 

 
f. Choice of Law: This Lease shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California. 

 
g. Consent: Notwithstanding anything contained in this Lease to the contrary, Tenant shall have no claim, and 

hereby waives the right to any claim against Landlord for money damages by reason of any refusal, withholding or 
delaying by Landlord of any consent, approval or statement of satisfaction, and in such event, Tenant’s only 
remedies therefore shall be an action for specific performance, injunction or declaratory judgment to enforce any 
right to such consent, etc. 

 
h. Corporate Authority: If Tenant is a corporation, each individual signing this Lease on behalf of Tenant represents 

and warrants that he is duly authorized to execute and deliver this lease on behalf of the corporation, and that 
this Lease is binding on Tenant in accordance with its terms.  Tenant shall, at Landlord’s request, deliver a 
certified copy of a resolution of its board of directors authorizing such execution. 
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 i. Counterparts: This Lease may be executed in multiple counterparts, all of which shall constitute one and the same 
Lease. 

 
 j. Execution of Lease; No Option: The submission of this Lease to Tenant shall be for examination purposes only, and 

does not and shall not constitute a reservation of or option for Tenant to lease, or otherwise create any interest of 
Tenant in the Premises or any other premises within the Building or Project.  Execution of this Lease by Tenant 
and its return to Landlord shall not be binding on Landlord notwithstanding any time interval, until Landlord 
has in fact signed and delivered this Lease to Tenant. 

 
k.   Furnishing of Financial Statements; Tenant’s Representations: In order to induce Landlord to enter into this Lease, Tenant 

agrees that it shall promptly furnish Landlord, from time to time, upon Landlord’s written request, with financial 
statements reflecting Tenant’s current financial condition.  Tenant represents and warrants that all financial 
statements, records and information furnished by Tenant to Landlord in connection with this Lease are true, 
correct and complete in all respects. 

 
l.   Further Assurances: The parties agree to promptly sign all documents reasonably requested to give effect to the 

provisions of this Lease. 
 

m.   Mortgagee Protection: Tenant agrees to send by certified or registered mail to any first mortgagee or first deed of 
trust beneficiary of Landlord whose address has been furnished to Tenant, a copy of any notice of default served 
by Tenant on Landlord.  If Landlord fails to cure such default within the time provided for in this Lease, such 
mortgagee or beneficiary shall have an additional thirty (30) days to cure such default; provided that if such 
default cannot reasonably be cured within that thirty (30) day period, then such mortgagee or beneficiary shall 
have such additional time to cure the default as is reasonably necessary under the circumstances. 

 
n.   Prior Agreements; Amendments: This Lease contains all of the agreements of the parties with respect to any matter 

covered or mentioned in this Lease, and no prior agreement or understanding pertaining to any such matter shall 
be effective for any purpose.  No provisions of this Lease may be amended or added to except by an agreement in 
writing signed by the parties or their respective successors in interest. 

 
o.   Recording: Tenant shall not record this Lease without the prior written consent of Landlord.  Tenant, upon the 

request of Landlord, shall execute and acknowledge a “short form” memorandum of this Lease for recording 
purposes. 

 
p.   Severability: A final determination by a court of competent jurisdiction that any provision of this Lease is invalid 

shall not affect the validity of any other provision, and any provision so determined to be invalid shall, to the 
extent possible, be construed to accomplish its intended effect. 

 
q.   Successors and Assigns: This Lease shall apply to and bind the heirs, personal representatives, and permitted 

successors and assigns of the parties. 
 

r.   Time of the Essence: Time is of the essence of this Lease. 
 

s.   Waiver: No delay or omission in the exercise of any right or remedy of Landlord upon any default by Tenant shall 
impair such right or remedy or be construed as a waiver of such default. 

 
t.   Compliance: The parties hereto agree to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws, regulations, codes, 

ordinances and administrative orders having jurisdiction over the parties, property or the subject matter of this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 1964 Civil Rights Act and all amendments thereto, the Foreign 
Investment In Real Property Tax Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability 
Act, and The Americans With Disabilities Act. 

 
The receipt and acceptance by Landlord of delinquent Rent shall not constitute a waiver of any other default; it shall 
constitute only a waiver of timely payment for the particular Rent payment involved. 
 
No act or conduct of Landlord, including, without limitation, the acceptance of keys to the Premises, shall constitute an 
acceptance of the surrender of the Premises by Tenant before the expiration of the Term.  Only a written notice from 
Landlord to Tenant shall constitute acceptance of the surrender of the Premises and accomplish a termination of the 
Lease. 
 
Landlord’s consent to or approval of any act by Tenant requiring Landlord’s consent or approval shall not be deemed to 
waive or render unnecessary Landlord’s consent to or approval of any subsequent act by Tenant. 
 
Any waiver by Landlord of any default must be in writing and shall not be a waiver of any other default concerning the 
same or other provision of the Lease. 
 
The parties hereto have executed this Lease as of the dates set forth below. 
 
 Date:  __________________    Date:  ________________________   
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 Landlord: _Desert Healthcare District   Tenant:  _________________________________      
 
    dba: Las Palmas Medical Plaza__  
 
 By:    _Chris Christensen______________               By:   __________________                                   
 
        
 Signature:       __                                     Signature: ___________                                   
 
 Title:  Interim CEO     Title:   _____________    

 

CONSULT YOUR ADVISORS This document has been prepared for approval by your attorney.  No representation or 
recommendation is made as to the legal sufficiency or tax consequences of this document or the transaction to which 
it relates.  These are questions for your attorney. 

In any real estate transaction, it is recommended that you consult with a professional, such as a civil engineer, industrial 
hygienist or other person, with experience in evaluating the condition of the property, including the possible presence of 
asbestos, hazardous materials and underground storage tanks. 
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 EXHIBIT “A” 
 
 RULES AND REGULATIONS 
 
1.  No sign, placard, pictures, advertisement, name or notice shall be inscribed, displayed or printed or affixed on or 

to any part of the outside or inside of the Building without the written consent of Landlord first had and obtained 
and Landlord shall have the right to remove any such sign, placard, picture, advertisement, name or notice 
without notice to and at the expense of Tenant. 

 
All approved signs or lettering on doors shall be printed, painted, affixed, or inscribed at the expense of Tenant 
by a person approved by Landlord outside the Premises; provided, however, that Landlord may furnish and install 
a Building standard window covering at all exterior windows.  Tenant shall not, without prior written consent of 
Landlord, cause or otherwise sunscreen any window. 

 
2.  The sidewalks, halls, passages, exits, entrances, elevators and stairways shall not be obstructed by any of the 

tenants or used by them for any purpose other than for ingress and egress from their respective Premises. 
 
3. Tenant shall not alter any lock or install any new or additional locks or any bolts on any doors or windows of the 

Premises. 
 
4.  The toilet rooms, urinals, wash bowls and other apparatus shall not be used for any purpose other than that for 

which they were constructed and no foreign substance of any kind whatsoever shall be thrown therein and the 
expense of any breakage, stoppage or damage resulting from the violation of the rule shall be borne by the Tenant 
who, or whose employees or invitees, shall have caused it. 

 
5.  Tenant shall not overload the floor of the Premises or in any way deface the Premises or any part thereof. 
 
6.  No furniture, freight or equipment of any kind shall be brought into the Building without the prior notice to 

Landlord and all moving of the same into or out of the Building shall be done at such time and in such manner as 
Landlord shall designate.  Landlord shall have the right to prescribe the weight, size and position of all safes and 
other heavy equipment brought into the Building and also the times and manner of moving the same in and out of 
the Building.  Safes or other heavy objects shall, if considered necessary by Landlord, stand on supports of such 
thickness as is necessary to properly distribute the weight.  Landlord will not be responsible for loss of or damage 
to any such safe or property from any cause and all damage done to the Building by moving or maintaining any 
such safe or other property shall be repaired at the expense of Tenant. 

 
7.  Tenant shall not use, keep or permit to be used or kept any foul or noxious gas or substances in the Premises, or 

permit or suffer the Premises to be occupied or used in a manner offensive or objectionable to the Landlord or 
other occupants of the Building by reason of noise, odors and/or vibrations, or interfere in any way with other 
tenants or those having business therein, nor shall any animals or birds be brought in or kept in or about the 
Premises of the Building. 

 
8.  No cooking shall be done or permitted by any Tenant on the Premises, nor shall the Premises be used for storage 

of merchandise, for washing clothes, for lodging or for any improper, objectionable or immoral purposes. 
 
9.  Tenant shall not use or keep in the Premises or the Building any kerosene, gasoline or inflammable or 

combustible fluid or material, or use any method of heating or air conditioning other than that supplied by 
Landlord. 

 
10.  Landlord will direct electricians as to where and how telephone and telegraph wires are to be introduced.  No 

boring or cutting for wires will be allowed without the consent of the Landlord.  The location of telephones, call 
boxes and other office equipment affixed to the Premises shall be subject to the approval of Landlord. 

 
11.  On Saturdays, Sundays and legal holidays, and on other days between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 8:00 a.m. the 

following day, access to the Building or to the halls, corridors, elevators or stairways in the Building, or to the 
Premises may be refused unless the person seeking access is known to the person or employee of the Building in 
charge and has a pass or is properly identified.  The Landlord shall in no case be liable for damages for any error 
with regard to the admission to or exclusion from the Building of any person.  In case of invasion, mob, riot, 
public excitement, or other commotion, the Landlord reserves the right to prevent access to the Building during 
the continuance of the same by closing of the doors or otherwise, for the safety of the tenants and protection of 
property in the Building and the Building. 

 
12.  Landlord reserves the right to exclude or expel from the Building any person who, in the judgment of Landlord, is 

intoxicated or under the influence of liquor or drugs, or who shall in any manner do any act in violation of any of 
the rules and regulations of the Building. 

 
13.  No vending machine or machines of any description shall be installed, maintained or operated upon the Premises 

without the written consent of the Landlord. 
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14.  Landlord shall have the right, exercisable without notice and without liability to Tenant, to change the name and 
street address of the Building of which the Premises are a part. 

 
15.  Tenant shall not disturb, solicit, or canvass any occupant of the Building and shall cooperate to prevent same. 
 
16.  Without the written consent of Landlord, Tenant shall not use the name of the Building in connection with or in 

promoting or advertising the business of Tenant except as Tenant’s address.  
 
17.  Landlord shall have the right to control and operate the public portions of the Building, and the public facilities, 

and heating and air conditioning, as well as facilities furnished for the common use of the tenants, in such manner 
as it deems best for the benefit of the tenants generally. 

 
18.  All entrance doors in the Premises shall be left locked when the Premises are not in use, and all doors opening to 

public corridors shall be kept closed except for normal ingress and egress from the Premises. 
 
 
 
 
  _____________________     ______________________ 
  Landlord’s Initials     Tenant’s Initials 
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ADDENDUM 
 

Addendum to that certain Office Building Lease dated ________ by and between Desert Healthcare District doing 
business as the Las Palmas Medical Plaza, as Landlord and _Erik G. Palmer, D.O., a Medical Corporation d.b.a. Desert 
Family Medical Center_, as Tenant for the property commonly known as Las Palmas Medical Plaza located 555 E. 

Tachevah Drive, Palm Springs, California 92262. 
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 In the event of any inconsistency between the Addendum language and the body of the Lease, the Addendum 

language shall prevail. 
 
 
1. Commencement Date:  January 1, 2019     
 
2. Expiration Date:  December 31, 2023  

 
3. Rent Schedule:   1/1/2019-12/31/2019 $2575.20 

     1/1/2020-12/31/2020 $2652.46 Greater of 3% or CPI 
     1/1/2021-12/31/2021 $2732.03 Greater of 3% or CPI 
     1/1/2022-12/31/2022 $2813.99 Greater of 3% or CPI  
     1/1/2023-12/31/2023 $2898.41 Greater of 3% or CPI 
  
    

4. CAMs:    Currently $.62 per square foot.  
 

5. Security Deposit:  Carryover from previous lease in the amount of Two-Thousand Four-Hundred Forty-
Two Dollars and 00/100 ($2,442.00). 

 
      
 

 
 
 

 
 

The foregoing is hereby agreed to and accepted: 
 
 
 Date:      __________________                                     Date:  __________________                             __  
 
 Landlord:    _Desert Healthcare District                    Tenant:  Erik G. Palmer, D.O. a Medical Corporation 
 
    dba: Las Palmas Medical Plaza_    dba: Desert Family Medical Center  
 
 By:  _Chris Christensen                                        By:   ____                                                         
 
        
 Signature:   _________                                         Signature:             __________                        
       
 Title:  Interim CEO             ______               Title:  __         ____________________________________ 
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Date: October 23, 2018 

 

To: Board of Directors 

 

Subject: Addendum #2 – Dr. Ramy Awad 2W-107 – Early Termination 

 Addendum #2 – Dr. Ramy Awad 3W-105 – Commencement Date 

 
 

 

Staff recommendation: Consideration to approve the draft addenda for Dr. Ramy Awad 

at the Las Palmas Medical Plaza. 

 

Background: 

• Dr. Ramy Awad is a current tenant of the Las Palmas Medical Plaza 

• Dr. Awad entered into a 3-year lease for suite 2W-107 on December 1, 2017 

• On July 24, 2018, District Board approved Dr. Awad’s lease agreement to lease suite 

3W-105 with a commencement date of October 1, 2018 

• Dr. Awad is requesting an early termination for suite 2W-107, effective December 31, 

2018 to relocate into Suite 3W-105 

• Dr. Awad is requesting the Commencement Date be revised to January 1, 2019 

• At the October 9, 2018 Committee meeting, the Committee recommended allowing the 

CEO the discretion to handle minor lease changes with lessee without formal 

presentation to the Committee 

• At the October 9, 2018 F&A Committee meeting, the Committee recommended 

forwarding to the Board for approval 

• Staff recommends approval for both addenda  

• Draft addenda for corresponding leases are attached for your review 

 
Fiscal Impact: 

 

Suite 2W-107: Suite will not provide rental income until new tenant is found (current 

monthly rent $2,325) 

 

Suite 3W-105: Foregone rent (1 month) due to commencement date change - $3,180 
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ADDENDUM #2 
 

Addendum to that certain Office Building Lease dated _December 1, 2017__ by and between Desert Healthcare 
District doing business as the Las Palmas Medical Plaza, as Landlord and Dr. Ramy Awad, as Tenant for the 

property commonly known as Las Palmas Medical Plaza located 555 E. Tachevah Drive, Palm Springs, California 
92262. 

 
 
 
Page 1                               
 

 
 
 In the event of any inconsistency between the Addendum language and the body of the Lease, the Addendum 

language shall prevail. 
 

Dr. Awad is leasing Suite 3W-105, which is a larger suite, with a Commencement Date November 1, 2018 and will 
terminate the lease in Suite 2W-107 early. 

 
1. Early Termination Date: Termination of lease December 31, 2018.  

 
  
 
   
 

    
 

 
      
 

 
 
 

 
 

The foregoing is hereby agreed to and accepted: 
 
 
 Date:      __________________                                     Date:  __________________                             __  
 
 Landlord:    Desert Healthcare District                      Tenant:  ___________________________________________ 
 
   dba: Las Palmas Medical Plaza_ 
 
 By:  D. Chris Christensen                             By:   Dr. Ramy Awad          ________                     
 
        
 Signature:   _________                                        Signature:             __________                        
       
 Title:  Interim CEO          ____                    Title:  ___________________________________________ 
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ADDENDUM #2 
 

Addendum to that certain Office Building Lease dated _August 1, 2018__ by and between Desert Healthcare 
District doing business as the Las Palmas Medical Plaza, as Landlord and Dr. Ramy Awad, as Tenant for the 

property commonly known as Las Palmas Medical Plaza located 555 E. Tachevah Drive, Palm Springs, California 
92262. 
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 In the event of any inconsistency between the Addendum language and the body of the Lease, the Addendum 

language shall prevail. 
 
 
1. Commencement Date: Revised Commencement Date to read “The earlier of Certificate of Occupancy or October 

1, 2018 January 1, 2019.    
 

    
 

 
      
 

 
 
 

 
 

The foregoing is hereby agreed to and accepted: 
 
 
 Date:      __________________                                     Date:  __________________                             __  
 
 Landlord:    Desert Healthcare District                      Tenant:  ___________________________________________ 
 
   dba: Las Palmas Medical Plaza_ 
 
 By:  D. Chris Christensen                             By:   Dr. Ramy Awad          ________                     
 
        
 Signature:   _________                                        Signature:             __________                        
       
 Title:  Interim CEO          ____                    Title:  ___________________________________________ 
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Date: October 23, 2018 

 

To: Board of Directors 

 

Subject: Proposed One-Time Vacation Cash Out for One Employee  

 
 

 

Staff Recommendation: Consideration to approve a One-Time vacation cash payout for 

one employee. 

 

Background: 

• The Desert Healthcare District’s policy in the Employee Handbook - Section (g) in the 

approved vacation policy states: “No employee will be eligible to have more than a 

maximum of four (4) weeks of accrued vacation at any time. Once an employee 

reaches the four (4) week maximum, the employee will cease accruing any additional 

vacation pay.” 

• Additionally, Section (c) in the vacation policy states: “Full-time employees with ten 

(10) years or more employment can take four (4) weeks of paid vacation per year. 

Accrual rate of 6.16 hours per pay period.” 

• District employees are encouraged to use the opportunity to enjoy time away from 

work to help balance their lives. However, during the present time where many 

activities are requiring staff time, it is difficult to schedule vacation time. 

• Presently, one employee has reached the 160 hour maximum and is forced to take time 

off, to avoid losing vacation accrual. 

• A one-time payout would reduce the accrued vacation hours to a manageable level. 

• Management will encourage staff to utilize their future vacation time. 

• Staff requests consideration to approve a One-Time vacation cash out of 80 hours. 

• At the October 9, 2018 F&A Committee meeting, the Committee recommended 

forwarding to the Board for approval.  

 
Fiscal Impact:  

One-Time payout for 80 hours = $4,316 
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Date: October 23, 2018 

 

To: Board of Directors 

 

Subject: Proposed Alternative Workweek Schedule Policy  

 
 

 

Staff Recommendation: Consideration to approve an Alternative Workweek Schedule 

policy. 

 

Discussion: 

• The Desert Healthcare District and Foundation’s current hours of operation are 

Monday-Friday and a 40 hour workweek. 

• At the September 25, 2018, a request for consideration to convert to a 4/10 alternative 

workweek schedule was presented. 

• The request was tabled and staff was directed to prepare a policy to bring back to the 

Board. 

• California Labor Code Section 511 allows an alternative workweek schedule to be 

adopted, if approved by at least a two-thirds written vote of the District’s employees. 

• Staff is currently conducting an internal secret ballot survey to allow staff to vote for an 

alternative workweek schedule to include a 4/10 work week or a 9/80 work cycle. A 

14-day notice period is required. 

• Once the survey is completed on October 23, 2018, Staff will develop the guidelines 

for an alternative workweek schedule and avoid closure of the office during any 

weekday. 

• Staff requests consideration for approval of the Alternative Workweek Schedule policy 

included in the packet. 

• At the October 9, 2018 F&A Committee meeting, the Committee recommended 

forwarding to the Board for approval. 

 
Fiscal Impact:  

None 
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 Policy # DHD Page 1 of 1 

Title: Alternative Work Schedule 

Human Resources Policies and Procedures  
Desert Healthcare District 

Latest Revision Date:  __/__/2018 

 

 

Alternative Workweek Schedule 
 

 

All District employees, including non-exempt employees who are subject to the Fair 

Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) wage and hour laws and are eligible for overtime 

compensation, shall be allowed to work an alternative workweek schedule.  The 

alternative workweek schedule shall comply with all State and Federal FLSA laws and 

shall be adopted only if approved by at least a two-thirds written vote of the District 

employees in accordance with California Labor Code §511.   

 

The CEO shall have the discretion to allow an employee to work a traditional five (5) 

day, eight (8) hour work schedule if the adopted alternative workweek schedule would 

conflict with a religious belief, cause a significant hardship, or due to extenuating 

circumstances for the affected employee.    
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 LAW OFFICES 
 SCOTT & JACKSON 
 16935 WEST BERNARDO DRIVE, SUITE 170 
 SAN DIEGO, CA  92127 

 

 (858) 675-9896 
JEFFREY G. SCOTT FAX (858) 675-9897 Of Counsel 
BLAISE J. JACKSON JAMES R. DODSON 
 
 
DATE: October 23, 2018 
 
 TO: Board of Directors 
  Chris Christensen, Interim CEO 
  Desert Healthcare District 
 
FROM: Jeffrey G. Scott, General Counsel 
 
 RE: AB 2329 Related to Directors Compensation & 
  Ribakoff Case Related to Public Comments  

 
 
AB 2329 (Obernolte):  The bill was passed, signed by the Governor, and will be 
effective January 1, 2019.  The bill affects the compensation of healthcare district 
directors in the future. 
 
As enacted, the bill amends Health & Safety Code section 32103 and provides for an 
increase in the number of compensable meetings for board members from five to six.  In 
order to take advantage of the increase, the board on an annual basis would need to adopt 
a written policy describing, based on findings supported by substantial evidence, why 
more than five meetings per month are necessary for the effective operation of the 
district. 
 
Most importantly, the bill incorporates provisions in the Water Code that allows for an 
increase of 5% per year in the compensation amount.  In order to implement AB 2329, 
the board would need to consider adopting a resolution increasing compensable meetings 
from 5 to 6 and annually adopt a policy substantiating the increase in the number of 
eligible activities. 
 
The incorporated provisions of the Water Code allow the board to adopt 5% per year 
increases, provided notice of the public hearing at which the increase will be considered 
is published in a local newspaper, and the board approves the increase by passage of an 
ordinance that is also published in a local newspaper after the increase is approved.  The 
5% increase can be cumulative and will not be effective until 60 days after the passage of 
the ordinance.   
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Board of Directors  
Chris Christensen, Interim CEO 
Desert Healthcare District 
October 23, 2018 
Page 2 

 
 
Ribakoff case:  A California appellate court recently held that a transit board’s restriction 
of public comment to three minutes per person, per agenda item, does not violate the 
Brown Act open meeting requirements.  The decision in Ribakoff v. City of Long Beach, 
(2018) 27 Cal.App. 5, 150, seeks to balance the public’s right to attend and participate in 
meetings of public agencies, while also considering the ability of a public entity to manage 
meetings in an efficient manner.  Accordingly, special districts may place a reasonable 
time restriction on public comment at meetings, so long as the time restriction is content 
neutral and simply limits the amount of time an individual may speak and not what is said 
by that person. 
 
Joe Ribakoff, a frequent attendee at meetings of the Long Beach Transit Company Board of 
Directors, filled out a public speaker’s card and spoke on agenda item 10 at the board’s 
August 24, 2015, meeting for the three minutes allowed each public speaker on an agenda 
item.  When he rose to speak a second time on the same agenda item it was during the 
board’s deliberation and voting period.  He was not permitted to speak, and, after a short 
exchange with the chair of the board, left the speaker’s podium with the verbal assistance of 
a Long Beach Police Officer who routinely provided security for meetings.  Later, Ribakoff 
filed suit, alleging that the board’s three-minute limit on public speakers is contrary to the 
Brown Act and First Amendment free speech principles. 
 
The Second District Court of Appeal held that the three-minute time restriction, in 
accordance with the transit board’s adopted policy, was reasonable and did not violate the 
Brown Act or the First Amendment.  The court looked at the express authorization under 
the Brown Act to place reasonable restrictions on the amount of time a speaker may 
comment at a meeting (Gov. Code, § 54954.3), and concluded that the three-minute 
restriction is reasonable.  Moreover, the restriction does not violate the First Amendment 
because it is “content neutral” and does not restrict what the speaker may say.  
 
Additionally, the court held that the board had reasonable justification for treating invited 
staff and invited speakers differently.  Limiting presentations by staff and guests who are 
invited to speak based on their expertise to the same extent as members of the public 
ignores the information function served by staff and invited experts.  The court noted that, 
“the number of staff and invited guests speaking on a topic will clearly be limited; the 
potential for public speakers is potentially extensive and needs some reasonable limitation.”  
Lastly, the court concluded that speech at government meetings is not unlimited and public 
entities can limit speech at meetings based on time and even certain limited types of content, 
such as requiring a speaker to address only the topic or agenda item at issue. 
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Date: October 10, 2018 
 
DHCD Progress Report #2018-3 for reporting period: July 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018 
 
Grantee: Coachella Valley Association of Governments (CVAG) 
 
Project Title: CV Link Project 
 
Project Manager/ Contact: Martin Magaña, Director of Transportation (mmagana@cvag.org)   
 

 
 
1. Provide a brief summary of the organization and the objectives of the project.  
 
The Coachella Valley Association of Governments (CVAG) is a regional Joint Powers Authority 
that serves the nine cities, the County of Riverside, and three Indian Tribes within the Coachella 
Valley. CVAG's jurisdiction stretches across eastern Riverside County, and its membership 
includes the City of Blythe on the California-Arizona border. Blythe is not part of this project.  
 
CV Link is an alternative transportation corridor that runs generally along the levee of the 
Whitewater River that will ultimately stretch from the northwest corner of the CVAG area (Desert 
Hot Springs) to the southeast corner (the Salton Sea). The core project that is going through 
design, engineering and environmental will stretch from the City of Palm Springs to the City of 
Coachella. The project approved under the Final Environmental Impact Report is approximately 
40 miles but, does not extend through the Cities of Rancho Mirage or Indian Wells. It will provide 
significant environmental, health, and economic benefits to generations of current and future 
residents and visitors. CV Link will connect users to employment centers, shopping centers, 
schools, and recreational opportunities. Dual paths are planned to accommodate bicycles, low-
speed electric vehicles and pedestrians. This alternative transportation corridor will enable 
healthier lifestyles, spur economic innovation, and make the Coachella Valley a more sustainable 
and appealing place to live, work and play. 
 

2. Summarize work completed during reporting period. 
 
Construction is ninety-five percent complete on the 2.3 mile stretch of CV Link between 
Vista Chino in Palm Springs and Ramon Road in Cathedral City. All furnishings (shade 
structures, benches, trash cans, water fountains and landscaping) have been installed.  
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CVAG continues to work with Cathedral City staff to complete a punch list of items on the 
path. One of the biggest items is the construction of fencing around a well site adjacent to 
the CV Link path near Ramon Road in Cathedral City. The material was scheduled to be 
delivered in August and installed in September 2018. However, the manufacturer was late 
in meeting the delivery schedule due to a shortage of fencing material, so the delivery date 
was pushed back. The fencing material was delivered in early October 2018 and is 
currently being installed. Once the fence is constructed, a final walk through will take place    
 
In the last quarterly report, it was mentioned that the City of Palm Springs was going to 
rebid the Tahquitz Creek Levee Reconstruction Project to change the path from its original 
design of asphalt to meet CV Link standards. CVAG agreed to pay for the difference in 
cost between the original design and the CV Link design. The City rebid the project and 
the City Council awarded a construction contract to Spiess Construction in May 2018. The 
City held a pre-construction meeting in June 2018 and it was anticipated that construction 
would start by the end of July 2018. However, due to construction scheduling conflicts and 
operations related to Tahquitz Creek Golf Course, construction started in late August 2018. 
The path in this area is approximately 50% complete and is anticipated to be completed 
in November 2018. 
 
CVAG continues to work with the County of Riverside Economic Development Agency 
(EDA) on right-of-way services. In the last quarterly report, it was reported that EDA had 
obtained appraisals and was with CVAG’s legal counsel to draft offer packages to property 
owners. On September 24, 2018, CVAG’s Executive Committee authorized the Executive 
Director to be delegated as the official representative to take any and all actions required, 
pursuant to federal and state law, to complete the Right-of-Way acquisition process and 
license agreement process for construction for CV Link. The Executive Director was also 
authorized to spend up to $50,000 for expenditures related to Right-of-Way and 
construction activities for CV Link. Since then, EDA has sent out offer packages to property 
owners for right-of-way acquisition. EDA is awaiting responses to the offer packages. It is 
anticipated that by the next progress report, substantial Right-of-Way will be acquired in 
hope to record easements and pursue construction of CV Link.  
 
CVAG staff and consultants continue to work with member jurisdictions, especially Palm Desert 
and Palm Springs, to finalize the design of the approved project route, including meeting with local 
stakeholders to evaluate the regional and local access points. The 100% plans are anticipated to 
be completed by late 2018.  
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In the last quarterly report, it was mentioned that the additional progress had been made on 
the environmental review documents needed to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act 
(NEPA). CVAG has been working with Caltrans to finalize the NEPA document. In late July 2018, 
Caltrans approved the NEPA document which allows CVAG to proceed and complete final design 
and complete construction documents and specifications for construction bidding of CV Link. Part 
of finalizing the NEPA document entailed finalizing the mitigation for impacts to the survey area for 
Casey's June Beetle (CJB). The beetle, which is federally listed as an endangered species is not 
one of the twenty-seven (27) species covered by the Coachella Valley Multiple Species Habitat 
Conservation Plan. As outlined in the certified CV Link Environmental Impact Report, a CJB Habitat 
Conservation Plan has been submitted to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) that 
proposes establishing restoration and conservation easements in the City of Palm Springs. 
USFWS has reviewed the Habitat Conservation Plan and provided comments to CVAG. CVAG 
has addressed USFW’s concerns. The USFWS has issued a favorable Biological Opinion related 
to Casey’s June Beetle on CV Link. In addition, a Federal Register Notice was published by the 
USFWS on the Habitat Conservation Plan for CJB and no comments were received. CVAG is 
working with USFWS to complete the process. 
 
3. What challenges and opportunities have you encountered in accomplishing this portion of your 

Scope of Work?  
 
The acquisition of Right-of-Way continues to be challenging due to multiple property owners 
(private, public and tribal) but CVAG and EDA continue to work on additional appraisals and in 
preparing offer packages since the CVAG Executive Committee approved the appraisals and 
authorized the Executive Director to send out offer packages to property owners for the acquisition 
of Right-of-Way for CV Link. As part of the action taken on September 24, 2018, the license 
agreements for property owned and operated by the Coachella Valley Water District (CVWD) and 
Riverside County Flood Control and Water Conservation District (RCFC&WCD) were also 
approved. It is anticipated that CVWD and RCFC&WCD will take these license agreements to their 
respective boards for approval by the end of October 2018. This will be a major milestone in that 
it will provide a significant amount of Right-of-Way for construction of CV Link. It is anticipated that 
significant Right-of-Way will be acquired by early 2019 and CVAG will not have to request an 
extension on the Right-of-Way funds and instead, request an allocation for construction funds from 
the California Transportation Commission (CTC) in the Spring of 2019.   
 
4. Is your project on schedule? 
 
There was a delay in the schedule due to Caltrans’ process in approving the NEPA document. As 
mentioned above, now that the NEPA document has been approved by Caltrans, this presents 
another major milestone in that CVAG can proceed with final design of CV Link and complete 
construction and specifications documents for construction bidding. 
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Right-of-way activities continue, as scheduled, as additional appraisals are prepared. Offer 
packages will continue to be sent out to property owners to acquire the Right-of-Way for CV Link 
construction. 
 
5. Provide an update on the financial report for the project. 
 
CVAG has received funding from various sources related to CV Link (Strategic Growth Council, 
Riverside County Parks Department, ATP, SB1, South Coast Air Quality Management District, 
Congestion Air Quality & Management, Desert Healthcare District, State Transportation 
Improvement Program, State Bicycle Transportation account, CVAG). To date, CVAG has 
received approximately $100 million in funding for CV Link. To date, CVAG has received 
approximately $100 million in funding for CV Link.  
 
6. Work planned for next reporting period.  
 
In the next reporting period, CVAG anticipates near completion of the 4,100 lineal foot segment of 
CV Link in the City of Palm Springs along the top of the Tahquitz Creek Levee between Demuth 
Park and Gene Autry Trail.  
 
CVAG will continue to work with Cathedral City on completing the punch list of outstanding items 
on the 2.3-mile CV Link segment in the cities of Cathedral City and Palm Springs by late 2018. 
 
CVAG will continue to send out offer packages and acquire the necessary Right-of-Way for CV 
Link. In addition, CVAG will continue to work with Alta Planning & Design to complete final design, 
construction documents and specifications for bidding of CV Link in early 2019. 
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State of the State
Behavioral Health

ACHD
September 12 – 14, 2018
Pismo Beach, CA
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So What’s New?

• Everyone Cares

• Political Pressure to Do Something

• Opioid Epidemic

• Homelessness

• Mass Shootings

• Jail/Prison Reform

• Suicide Rate

2
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Incidence and Prevalence

• 1 in 5 adults experience a mental health 
issue in any given year

• 1 in 25 adults live with serious mental 
illness

• 1 in 10 young people experience a major 
episode of depression in any given year

• ½ of all chronic mental illness begins by 
age 14; ¾ by age 24

3
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Incidence and Prevalence

• California suicide rate in 2016 was 12.1 
per 100,000 and 50% had no known 
mental health condition

• 13% of adults live with substance 
dependence or abuse

• 18% of adults live with anxiety disorder

• 5% of adults live with major depression

• 25% of adults living in shelters have a 
serious mental illness

4
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Barriers to Care

• Lack of Understanding

• Lack of Hope

• Lack of Knowledge

• Stigma

5
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Barriers to Care

• People cannot connect to the right care in 
the right place when they need it

• Fragmentation and health care silos

• Disparities and inequities in geographic 
service availability

• Available care is not always delivered 
optimally

6
Page 387 of 417



Moving Forward

• California Psychiatric Bed Report

• Behavioral Health Action

• Resources for Hospitals

• Key Legislative Bills – End of Session

7
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California Psychiatric Data

8

• Handout
• Will be updated 

with 2017 data in 
early 2019.
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Recommended Actions

• California’s fragmented behavioral health delivery system leads to 
unequal access to care

• Recommended Action: California should implement a comprehensive, 
statewide approach for delivering behavioral health services, including 
the appointment of a behavioral health “czar.”

• The availability of acute-care inpatient behavioral health services 
must be balanced by an adequate and robust array of community-
based outpatient programs

• Recommended Action: A statewide inventory of all community-based 
behavioral health programs should be developed.

• The stigma and misunderstandings that surround a behavioral health 
diagnosis must end

• Recommended Action: Lawmakers must develop a plan to improve 
access to care and ensure effective treatments for the behavioral health 
needs of all Californians.

9
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Current Affairs

440 Hospitals in California

• Inpatient Psychiatric Bed Data
• 2016 OSHPD Data

• www.calhospital.org/PsychBedData

• 6702 beds for 39.3 million people

• 2650 beds in 32 Acute Psychiatric Hospitals (APH) – no 
physical health medical services

• 3584 beds in 79 dedicated psych units in General Acute 
Care Hospitals (GACH)

• 468 beds in 26 Psychiatric Health Facilities (PHF) – no 
physical health medical services

• Does not include approximately 2000 beds in State 
Hospitals

10
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Psychiatric Bed Loss/Gain

Between 1995 and 2016:

• Decrease of 20.4% in facilities

• Decrease of 28.3% in beds

• Increase of 24% in population

Since 2013

• New beds opened: 781

• New beds planned/projected: 737
11
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County Breakdown

12
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County Breakdown

• 25 Counties have 0 Adult beds (45% of state)

• 42 Counties have 0 Child/Adolescent beds (72%)

• 56 Counties have 0 Gero-Psych beds (97%)

• 55 Counties have 0 Psych Intensive Care beds (95%)

• 48 Counties have 0 Chemical Dependency beds (83%)

• 25 Counties have NO inpatient psych services 
(45% of state)

13
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California’s District Hospitals

14

43 District Hospitals

6 with 189 inpatient psychiatric beds

37 without inpatient psychiatric beds
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Behavioral Health Action (BHA): 

A Conversation Begins

• Co-leaders: CHA / NAMI CA

• Facilitator: Sacramento Mayor Steinberg

15
Page 396 of 417



BHA: A Coalition is Born

• Purpose & 
Objectives

• Elevate

• Educate

• Innovate

16
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BHA: A Coalition is Born

50+ Statewide 
Organizations

17
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BHA Common Agenda –

Three Priorities

• Prevention and Early Intervention

• Crisis Prevention and Response

• Workforce Development

18
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Behavioral Health Action

19
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Behavioral Health Action

20
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Elevate: Statewide Voter Polling

METHODOLOGY

• David Binder Research surveyed 800 
California voters, estimated as likely to vote 
in November 2018

• The Survey was conducted June 6 – 11, 
2018
• 53% of interviews were conducted by landline and 47% 

by cell phone

• Interviews were conducted in English and Spanish

21
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Elevate: Statewide Voter Polling

22

Forty-two percent of voters say they know quite a bit about mental illness 
and drug and alcohol use disorders

Q7. How much do you know about mental illness and drug and alcohol use disorders –
quite a bit, some, just a little, or not much at all?

39
45
45

47
35

23
39

41
48

41
35

36
48

Democrat
Republican

NPP

White
Latino
Asian

Black*

Millennials (18-37)
Generation X (38-53)

Boomers (54-72)
Silent (73+)

Not College Graduate
College Graduate

Quite a bit

Whites, Gen Xers, and College Graduates 
are most likely to say they know quite a bit

42
34

13 10

Quite a bit Some Just a little Not much at all
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Around 3 in 4 voters say several mental health and substance abuse 

disorder issues are either very or somewhat serious

52

49

47

45

38

24

30

31

29

38

76

79

78

74

76

Drug abuse

Mental illness

Depression

Alcohol abuse

Anxiety

Very serious Somewhat serious

Q8-Q12. Thinking about people you know and work with in your community, how serious are the following mental illness and substance use 
disorder issues?  Are these issues very serious, somewhat serious, not very serious, or not serious at all?  

Elevate: Statewide Voter Polling
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Elevate: Statewide Voter Polling

Drug abuse is a top concern across most groups; Millennials and Bay 

Area voters are slightly more likely to say mental illness and depression 

are very serious

% Very serious Democrat Republican No Party 
Preference Female Male White Latino Asian Black*

Drug Abuse 53 56 50 58 46 53 58 36 64

Mental Illness 52 46 49 57 41 47 55 37 47

Depression 53 37 48 53 39 44 56 29 58

Alcohol Abuse 48 43 45 52 38 44 54 29 50

Anxiety 43 30 41 47 29 37 45 29 36

% Very serious
Millennials 

(18-37)
Generation 

X (38-53)
Boomers 
(54-72) Silent (73+) Bay Area So Cal Sac/ Valley <$75K $75K+ Not College 

Graduate
College 

Graduate
Drug Abuse 48 58 53 49 42 54 57 56 50 53 51

Mental Illness 53 55 47 35 44 50 53 51 48 51 48

Depression 54 53 41 32 44 49 43 49 43 46 46

Alcohol Abuse 46 47 45 43 35 47 51 51 40 49 42

Anxiety 48 40 34 25 40 40 32 40 36 38 38

Q8-Q12. Thinking about people you know and work with in your community, how serious are the following mental illness and substance use 
disorder issues?  Are these issues very serious, somewhat serious, not very serious, or not serious at all?  
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Elevate: Statewide Voter Polling

Seven in ten say it is very important for California to address mental health and drug 
and alcohol use disorders

Q13. Compared to other issues facing voters, how important is it for California to 
address mental health and drug and alcohol use disorders?

74
61

74

77
62

68
79

55
78

71
73

65
72

74
64

Democrat
Republican

NPP

Female
Male

White
Latino
Asian

Black*

Millennials (18-37)
Generation X (38-53)

Boomers (54-72)
Silent (73+)

<$75K
$75K+

Very important

70

22

4 3

Very important Somewhat
important

Not very
important

Not important at
all
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Elevate: Statewide Voter Polling

15

31

46

8

Making progress Losing ground About the same Don't know

Only 15% say California is making progress in dealing with these issues; 
31% say the state is losing ground

Whites and Republicans are among the 
most likely to say the state is losing ground

26
48

24

37
29

8
25

17
37
39

33

Democrat

Republican

NPP

White

Latino

Asian

Black*

Millennials (18-37)

Generation X (38-53)

Boomers (54-72)

Silent (73+)

Losing groundQ14. In dealing with mental illness and drug and alcohol use disorders, do you think California 
is making progress, losing ground, or are things about the same as they have been?

Page 407 of 417



27

Elevate: Statewide Voter Polling

Nine in ten voters say mental illness, drug abuse and alcohol use 

disorder, and depression or anxiety are important issues facing the 

state

Q15-Q24. Thinking of various issues facing California, please tell me how important you think each is.  Is it very important, 
somewhat important, not very important, or not important at all?

87

75

75

72

64

64

65

61

53

43

10

21

20

23

29

28

25

29

37

39

97

96

95

95

93

92

90

90

90

82

Education and schools

Crime and public safety

Homelessness

Jobs and the economy

Mental illness

Drug abuse and alcohol use disorder

The environment

Tax rates people pay

Depression or anxiety

Traffic and parking

Very important Somewhat important
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Educate: Website

28

www.behavioralhealthaction.org
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Innovate

• Continued coalition leadership

• Identify best practices

• Incubate new ideas

• Remove legal and regulatory barriers

29
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BHA: Next Steps

• Candidate Outreach

• Engage Gavin Newsom, Lt. Governor

• Behavioral health-focused event

• Engage legislative leaders

• Speaker: Anthony Rendon

• Senate President Pro Tem: Toni Atkins

• Assembly Republican Leader: Brian 
Dahle

• Senate Republican Leader: Pat Bates
30

Page 411 of 417



BHA: Next Steps

• Outreach to every state
• Senate, Assembly, Statewide and Federal candidates –

approximately 300

• Urge candidates to provide their views on behavioral 
health for BHA website

• Op-eds in major newspapers

• Editorial boards at top 30 major daily newspapers

• Social media
• Our Health California – www.ourhealthcalifornia.org

31
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2017-2018 Legislative Session

• There is political interest

• Problem: “Band-Aids on Amputations”

• Flurry of bills:

32

• Homeless
• Grave Disability
• Alternate 

Destination
• Bed Registry
• Involuntary Holds

• Gun 
Ownership

• Maternal Mental 
health 

• Crisis Funding 
Grants

• MHSA Prop 63 
Funding 
Transparency

• Mental health in 
Workplace

• Safe Inspection 
Sites

• Early Intervention
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CHA 2018 Legislative Highlights

33
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Resources & Educational 

Opportunities

• www.calhospital.org/education

• CHA Behavioral Health Care Symposium

• Dec. 10-11, 2018, Riverside, CA

• CHA Ligature Webinar

• Oct. 2, 2018 – 10:00 – 11:30 a.m. Pacific

• www.calhospital.org/manuals

• Mental Health Law Manual

• EMTALA Manual

34
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Questions
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Thank You – Contact Info

Sheree Lowe 

Vice President, Behavioral Health

California Hospital Association

(916) 552-7576 

slowe@calhospital.org
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